The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care 1998

The Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences

Dartmouth Medical School



AHA books are published by American Hospital Publishing, Inc., an American Hospital Association company

The views expressed in this publication are strictly those of the authors and do not necessarily represent official positions of the American Hospital Association.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Dartmouth Medical School. Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences. The Dartmouth atlas of health care 1998 / the Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences, Dartmouth Medical School. cm. p. ISBN 1-55648-217-5 1. Medical care—United States—Marketing—Maps. 2. Health facilities—United States—Statistics. I. Title. G1201.E5D3 1996 (G&M) 362.1'0973'022-dc2096-11510

> CIP MAP

Catalog no. 044400

©1998 The Trustees of Dartmouth College

All rights reserved. The reproduction or use of this book in any form or in any information storage or retrieval system is forbidden without the express written permission of the publisher.

Printed in the USA

is a service mark of the American Hospital Association used under license by American Hospital Publishing, Inc.

The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care in the United States

John E. Wennberg, M.D., M.P.H., Principal Investigator and Series Editor

Megan McAndrew Cooper, M.B.A., M.S., Editor

and other members of the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Working Group

John D. Birkmeyer, M.D. Kristen K. Bronner, M.A. Thomas A. Bubolz, Ph.D. Elliott S. Fisher, M.D., M.P.H. Alan M. Gittelsohn, Ph.D. David C. Goodman, M.D., M.S. Katherine W. Herbst, M.S. Jack E. Mohr James F. Poage, Ph.D. Sandra M. Sharp, S.M. Jonathan S. Skinner, Ph.D. Thérèse A. Stukel, Ph.D.



Medical School 1797-1997

Dartmouth Medical School

The release of the 1998 Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care coincides with the celebration of Dartmouth Medical School's bicentennial. We take this opportunity to thank the many men and women of Dartmouth Medical School who have supported our work, and also to acknowledge the pioneering role in American medicine of the medical school's founder, Nathan Smith, M.D. Our work goes forward within the context of a curriculum that has honored for two hundred years the importance of excellent teaching, compassionate patient care, and significant research.

The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care Working Group dedicates the 1998 edition of the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care in the United States to the faculty, students, friends and supporters of the Dartmouth Medical School.

The research on which the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care is based was made possible by a grant from

The Robert Wood Johnson Foundation

The Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences

Dartmouth Medical School Hanover, New Hampshire 03756 (603) 650-1820 http://www.dartmouth.edu/~atlas/

Published in cooperation with The Center for Health Care Leadership of the American Hospital Association

American Hospital Publishing, Inc. Chicago, Illinois

Table of Contents

Map List	X
Figure List	xiii
Table List	xvi
Chapter One:	Overview and Introduction 1
	Overview 2
	The Geography of Health Care in the United States 10
	About Rates in the Atlas 11
	Making Fair Comparisons Between Regions 12
	About the Dartmouth Atlas on CD-ROM 13
	Communicating With Us About the Atlas 13
Chapter Two:	Variations in Hospital Resources, Medicare Spending and the Physician Workforce 15
	Acute Care Hospital Beds 18
	Acute Care Hospital Employees 20
	Registered Nurses Employed in Acute Care Hospitals 22
	Medicare Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare 26
	Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services 28
	Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services 30
	Medicare Reimbursements for Outpatient Services 32
	Medicare Reimbursements for Home Health Services 34
	The Physician Workforce Active in Patient Care 38
	Physicians in Primary Care 40
	Specialist Physicians 42
	Chapter Two Table: Acute Care Hospital Resources (1995), Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements (1995) and the Physician Workforce Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996) 45

Chapter Three:	Variation, Practice Style and Hospital Capacity 53
	Variation, Practice Style and Hospital Capacity 54
	Practice Style and Hospitalization for Hip, Ankle, and Forearm Fractures 55
	Variation in Rates of Hospitalization 60
	Discharges for Surgical and Medical Conditions 62
	The Surgical Signature 64
	The Medical Signature 68
	The Association Between Hospital Beds and Hospitalizations for Hip Fracture and Medical and Surgical Conditions 70
	Chapter Three Table: Hospitalizations for Total, All Surgical, All Medical, and Selected Medical Conditions Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95) 73
Chapter Four:	The American Experience of Death 81
	The American Experience of Death 82
	The Likelihood That Death Will Occur in a Hospital, Rather Than Elsewhere 84
	The Likelihood of Intensive Care Treatment During the Last Six Months of Life 86
	Days in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life 88
	Days in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life 90
	Reimbursements for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life 92
	Report Card on the American Experience of Death 94
	Level of Acute Hospital Care Resources and the Likelihood of a Hospitalized Death 97
	Chapter Four Table: Hospitalization Rates and Medicare Reimbursements During the Last Six Months of Life Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95) 99
Chapter Five:	The Surgical Treatment of Common Diseases 107
	Coloractal Cancer 112
	Coronary Artery Disease 114
	Farly Stage Broast Cancer 116
	Banign Prostatic Hyperplasia 118
	Degeneration of the Knee Joint 120
	Back Pain 122
	Carotid Artery Disease 124
	Perinheral Vascular Disease 126
	Early Stage Prostate Cancer 128
	Chapter Five Table: Rates of Common Surgical Procedures Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees
	Chapter Five Table: Rates of Common Surgical Procedures Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95) 131

Chapter Six: Illness, Resources and Utilization 139

Illness, Resources and Utilization 139

Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting, Percutaneous Transluminal Coronary Angioplasty, and the Incidence of Acute Myocardial Infarction 142

Carotid Endarterectomy, Lower Extremity Bypass, and the Incidence of Stroke and Related Illnesses 144

Cardiovascular Disease and the Surgical Signature 146

Sicker People Use More Health Care 150

Differences in Average Illness Do Not Explain Differences in Utilization of Hospital Beds 152

Both the Sick and the Less Sick, If They Live in Regions With Higher Supplies of Hospital Beds, Use More Hospital Care 154

Differences in Health Status Do Not Explain Differences in Health Care Spending 156

Chapter Six Table: Actual, Price Adjusted, and Price and Illness Adjusted Total Medicare Reimbursements Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees for All Services by Hospital Referral Region (1995) 159

Chapter Seven: Which Rate Is Right? How Much Is Enough? and What Is Fair? 165

Which Rate is Right? How Much Is Enough? and What Is Fair? 166

I. Islands of Rationality 170

Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia171Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Coronary Artery Disease174Shared Decision Making: The Diagnosis of Prostate Cancer176Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Prostate Cancer176

II. Setting Limits on Hospital Capacity 178

Acute Care Hospital Resources Allocation: The New Haven, Connecticut Benchmark 179 Is More Acute Hospital Care Better? 180

Acute Hospital Care: Benchmarking the American Experience 182

III. Setting Limits on the Physician Workforce 184

The Physician Workforce: The Health Maintenance Organization Benchmark 186 The Physician Workforce: Benchmarking the American Experience 187

IV. Medicare Spending and Equity 192

Medicare Spending: Is More Better? 195

Medicare's AAPCC: Equity, Managed Care and the Minneapolis Benchmark 196

V. Focusing the Debate: A Summary Statement 204

Chapter Seven Table: Estimated 1997 Average Adjusted Per Capita Costs (AAPCC) and Related Statistics for Medicare by Hospital Referral Region (in Dollars) 207

Appendix on Methods 215

Appendix on The Geography of Health Care in the United States251Appendix on The Physician Workforce in the United States270

Endnote 301

Maps

Number	Map Title	PAGE
2.1	Acute Care Hospital Beds	19
2.2	Acute Care Hospital Employees	21
2.3	Registered Nurses Employed in Acute Care Hospitals	23
2.4	Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare	27
2.5	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services	29
2.6	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services	31
2.7	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Outpatient Services	33
2.8	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Home Health Care Services	35
2.9	The Physician Workforce	39
2.10	Physicians in Primary Care	41
2.11	Specialist Physicians	43
3.1	Ratio of Rates of Hospitalization for Hip Fracture to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	58
3.2	Ratio of Rates of Hospitalization for Ankle Fracture to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	59
3.3	Ratio of Rates of Hospitalization for Forearm Fracture to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	59
3.4	Ratio of Rates of Discharges for Surgical Conditions to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	63
3.5	Ratio of Rates of Discharges for Medical Conditions to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	63
3.6	Southwest Florida Hospital Referral Regions	65
4.1	Percent of Medicare Deaths Occurring in Hospitals (1994-95)	85
4.2	Percent of Medicare Enrollees Experiencing Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	87
4.3	Average Number of Days Spent in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	89

4.4	Average Number of Days Spent in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	91
4.5	Average Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	93
5.1	Colectomy for Colorectal Cancer	113
5.2	Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting	115
5.3	Mastectomy for Breast Cancer	117
5.4	Transurethral Prostatectomy for BPH	119
5.5	Knee Replacement Surgery	121
5.6	Back Surgery	123
5.7	Carotid Endarterectomy	125
5.8	Lower Extremity Bypass	127
5.9	Radical Prostatectomy	129
7.1	Per Enrollee Annual Payment to Managed Care Companies in Excess of the Amount for Enrollees Living in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1997)	201
7.2	Price and Illness Adjusted Per Enrollee Annual Payment to Managed Care Companies in Excess of the Amount for Enrollees Living in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1997)	203
А	ZIP Codes Assigned to the Windsor, Vermont, Hospital Service Area	253
В	Hospital Service Areas According to the Number of Acute Care Hospitals	255
С	Hospital Service Areas Assigned to the Evansville, Indiana, Hospital Referral Region	257
D	New England Hospital Referral Regions	259
Е	Northeast Hospital Referral Regions	260
F	South Atlantic Hospital Referral Regions	261
G	Southeast Hospital Referral Regions	262
Н	South Central Hospital Referral Regions	263
Ι	Southwest Hospital Referral Regions	264
J	Great Lakes Hospital Referral Regions	265
Κ	Upper Midwest Hospital Referral Regions	266
L	Rocky Mountains Hospital Referral Regions	267

Number	MAP TITLE	PAGE
М	Pacific Northwest Hospital Referral Regions	268
Ν	Pacific Coast Hospital Referral Regions	269
A.1	Generalists	272
A.2	Selected Specialists	273
A.3	Cardiologists	274
A.4	Neurologists	274
A.5	Emergency Medicine Physicians	275
A.6	Orthopedic Surgeons	276
A.7	General Surgeons	276
A.8	Neurosurgeons	277
A.9	Urologists	278
A.10	Obstetrics/Gynecologists	278
A.11	Ophthalmologists	279
A.12	Anesthesiologists	280
A.13	Radiologists	280
A.14	Pathologists	281

Figures

Number	List of Figures	PAGE
1.1	Age, Sex, Race, Illness and Price Adjusted Medicare Spending for Medicare Residents Living in the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	3
1.2	Acute Hospital Care During the Last Six Months of Life Among Medicare Residents of the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	4
1.3	Age, Sex and Race Adjusted Surgical Rates Among Medicare Residents of the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	6
1.4	Projected Medicare Trust Fund Balances Under Current Levels of Spending and Under Spending Reduced to the Levels of Expenditures per Enrollee in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1995-2005)	9
2.1	Acute Care Hospital Beds Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	18
2.2	Hospital Employees Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	20
2.3	Hospital-Based Registered Nurses Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	22
2.4	Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	26
2.5	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	28
2.6	Price Adjusted Part B Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	30
2.7	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Outpatient Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	32
2.8	Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Home Health Care Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)	34
2.9	Physicians Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)	38
2.10	Physicians in Primary Care Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions in the United States (1996)	40
2.11	Specialist Physicians Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)	42
3.1	Ratios of Hospitalization Rates for Hip, Ankle and Forearm Fractures to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	56
3.2	Percent of Hospitalizations for Medical and Surgical Major Diagnosis- Related Groups According to Degree of Variation (1994-95)	61

3.3	The Urological Surgical Signature of Seven Southwest Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	66
3.4	The Surgical Signatures of Seven Southwestern Florida Hospital Referral Regions for Prostate Surgery and Five Additional Common Procedures (1994-95)	67
3.5	Acute Care Hospital Resources and the Medical Signatures of the Boston and New Haven Hospital Service Areas (1994-95)	69
3.6	The Association Between Allocated Hospital Beds and Medicare Hospitaliza- tions for Medical and Surgical Care and for Hip Fracture (1994-95)	71
4.1	Percent of Medicare Deaths Occurring in Hospitals (1994-95)	84
4.2	Percent of Medicare Enrollees With One or More Admissions to Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	86
4.3	Average Number of Days Spent in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	88
4.4	Average Number of Days Spent in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	90
4.5	Average Reimbursements per Enrollee for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)	92
4.6	The Association Between Percent of Deaths Occurring in Hospitals and the Supply of Hospital Beds (1994-95)	97
5.a	Ratios of Rates of Common Surgery to the U.S. Average (1994-95)	109
5.1	Colectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	113
5.2	CABG Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	115
5.3	Mastectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	117
5.4	TURP for BPH Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	119
5.5	Knee Replacement Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	121
5.6	Back Surgery Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	123
5.7	Carotid Endarterectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	125
5.8	Lower Extremity Bypass Procedures Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	127
5.9	Radical Prostatectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	129
6.1	The Association Between CABG Procedures and Discharges for Acute Myocardial Infarction (1994-95)	142
6.2	The Association Between Discharges for Acute Myocardial Infarction and PTCA Procedures (1994-95)	143
6.3	The Association Between Discharges for Stroke and Carotid Endarterectomy (1994-95)	145
6.4	The Association Between Rates of Discharges for Stroke and Rates of Lower Extremity Bypass Procedures (1994-95)	145

6.5	Stroke, Carotid Endarterectomy and Lower Extremity Bypass Among Selected Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	147
6.6	Acute Myocardial Infarction, CABG and PTCA Among Selected Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	148
6.7	Average Hospital Days Stratified by Self-Reported Health (1993)	151
6.8	Self-Reported Health Status and Hospital Days Segmented by Regions with High and Low Supplies of Hospital Beds (1993)	155
6.9	Distribution of Medicare Spending Rates (1995) Unadjusted and Adjusted for Various Factors	157
7.1	Distribution of Transurethral Prostatectomies for Benign Prostatic Hyperpla- sia Among Hospital Referral Regions (1992-93) Compared to Shared Decision Making Benchmark in Two Staff Model HMOs	173
7.2	Distribution of Rates of Coronary Artery Revascularization Procedures (CABG and PTCA) for Coronary Artery Disease Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95) Compared to the Ontario, Canada Benchmark (1995)	175
7.3	Illness and Age and Sex Adjusted Acute Care Hospital Beds per 1,000 Residents in Selected Hospital Referral Regions and Cumulative Number of Hospital Beds in Excess of Benchmark in Regions with Higher Rates	183
7.4	Ratio of Clinically Active Physicians per 100,000 Residents of the United States (1996) to Physicians per 100,000 Enrollees in a Large Staff Model HMO (1993)	188
7.5	Selected Specialist Physicians per 100,000 Residents in Selected Hospital Referral Regions and Cumulative Number of Physicians in Excess of Benchmark in Regions with Higher Rates	189
7.6	Generalist Physicians per 100,000 Residents in Selected Hospital Referral Regions and Cumulative Numbers of Physicians in Excess of Benchmark in Regions with Higher Rates	191
7.7	Medicare Spending for Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona by Program Component (1995)	192
7.8	Admissions to Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life and Acute Care Hospital Utilization for Medical Conditions and Among Medicare Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona (1994-95)	193
7.9	Selected Surgical Procedures for Medicare Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona (1994-95)	194
7.10	Estimated Dollars per Enrollee Available Under Medicare Risk Contracts for New Benefits and/or Managed Care Company Profit if Managed Care Companies in Selected Regions Achieved the Minneapolis Benchmark for Efficient Health Care Delivery (1997)	198
7.11	Estimated Revenues (in Millions of Dollars) Under Medicare Risk Contracts for New Benefits and/or Managed Care Company Profit in Selected Hospital Referral Regions (1997)	199
А	Cumulative Percentage of Population of the United States According to the Hospital Service Area Localization Index (1992-93)	254

Tables

LIST OF TABLES		Page
Chapter Two Table	Acute Care Hospital Resources (1995), Price Adjusted Medicare Reimburse- ments (1995) and The Physician Workforce Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)	45
Table 3.1	Measures of Variation in Hospitalization Rates for Hip, Ankle and Forearm Fractures (1994-95)	57
Chapter Three Table	Hospitalizations for Total, All Surgical, All Medical, and Selected Medical Conditions Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)	75
Table 4.1	Report Card on the Hospital Experiences of Medicare Enrollees During the Last Six Months of Life	94
Table 4.2	Report Card on Hospital Resources Allocated to Medicare Enrollees During the Last Six Months of Life	96
Chapter Four Table	Hospitalization Rates and Medicare Reimbursements During the Last Six Months of Life Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)	99
Table 5.1	Quantitative Measures of Variability of Low, High, and Very High Variation Procedures Among the 306 Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)	110
Chapter Five Table	Rates of Common Surgical Procedures Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)	131
Table 6.1	Actual and Predicted Days in Hospitals (1993)	153
Chapter Six Table	Actual, Price Adjusted, Illness Adjusted and Price and Illness Adjusted Total Medicare Reimbursements Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees for All Services by Hospital Referral Region (1995)	159
Table 7.1	Estimated Excess Resources Allocated to Bostonians Compared to the New Haven, Connecticut Benchmark (For Hospital Service Areas, 1995)	180
Chapter Seven Table	Estimated 1997 Average Adjusted Per Capita Costs (AAPCC) and Related Statistics for Medicare by Hospital Referral Region (in dollars)	207
Methods Appendix Table 1	Data Files Used in Analysis	217
Methods Appendix Table 2	Definitions for Categories of Reimbursement	225
Methods Appendix Table 3	Categories of Clinically Active Physicians	229
Methods Appendix Table 4	Definitions of Procedures and Conditions	235
Methods Appendix Table 5	MDRG Definitions	237
Physician Appendix Table A	Benchmarks for Clinically Active Generalists and Selected Specialists in the 306 Hospital Referral Regions in the United States (1996)	283
Physician Appendix Table B	Number of Specialists per 100,000 Residents of Hospital Referral Regions (1996)	293

Chapter One

Overview and Introduction

Overview and Introduction

The 1998 edition of the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care in the United States is organized into seven chapters, three appendices; and an endnote which includes references. The Appendix on Methods provides a detailed description of the methods used in the Atlas. The Appendix on the Geography of Medical Care in the United States provides reference maps that describe the boundaries of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. The Appendix on the Physician Workforce provides additional information on the supply of specialists in the United States.

Overview

The Atlas shows once again that in health care, geography is destiny. The amount of care consumed by Americans is highly dependent on where they live — on the capacity of the health care system where they live, and on the practice styles of local physicians. Variations in the intensity of use of hospitals, the striking differences in the way terminal care is delivered, and the idiosyncratic patterns of elective surgery raise significant questions about the outcomes and value of health care. The fundamental questions posed by the Atlas are Which rate is right? How much is enough? and What is Fair?

Chapter Two documents the wide variations in Medicare spending and in the supply of acute care hospital resources and physicians among the nation's hospital referral regions. In Chapter Three, the Atlas examines the patterns of hospitalization for several medical conditions in order to demonstrate the relationship between rates of admissions to hospitals, physicians' practice styles, and hospital capacity. While the incidence of illness determines the rates of hospitalizations for a few conditions (such as hip fractures), hospitalization rates for most medical conditions, including heart failure, pneumonia and gastroenteritis, vary substantially among regions. In Chapter Three, we examine the close correlation between the incidence of hospitalization for these "high variation" conditions and the numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents.



How Much is Enough?

Medicare Spending in Miami and Minneapolis

Medicare Spending, adjusted for illness and price, is substantially higher for the Medicare population living in the Miami hospital referral region than for those living in Minneapolis. On a per capita basis, overall spending for Miami residents is more than twice that for residents of Minneapolis. Miami is well above the national average, and Minneapolis is well below it. Home health payments for residents of Miami are more than four times higher than for residents of Minneapolis; payments for physician services and diagnostic laboratory services are more than three times higher; and 52% more is spent on inpatient care.

Figure 1.1. Age, Sex, Race, Illness and Price Adjusted Medicare Spending for Medicare Residents Living in the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

The figure gives the ratio of rates of age, sex, race, illness and price adjusted spending for Medicare residents of Miami and Minneapolis to the national average and the ratio of spending for Miami residents to spending for Minneapolis residents.

Likewise, the amount and intensity of hospital care that Americans receive during the last six months of their lives varies remarkably from region to region, and also correlates with hospital capacity. Chapter Four examines a number of measures of the variations in the intensity of resources deployed during the last six months of life, including the average number of days in acute care hospitals, the average number of days in intensive care, and levels of expenditures. Although the rates for most surgical procedures also vary substantially among regions, hospital capacity is not the most important determining factor in surgical variations. Procedures such as coronary artery bypass grafting, back surgery, and prostatectomy for benign and cancerous prostate disease vary in idiosyncratic ways. A given region may have high rates for one of these procedures, but low rates for another, resulting in "surgical signatures." Chapter Five provides a clinical explana-



How Much is Enough?

The Likelihood of Hospitalization During the Last Six Months of Life in Miami and Minneapolis

Miami residents are much more likely to be admitted to hospitals as they near death than the national average; Minneapolis residents are much less likely than average to be admitted to hospitals. Price adjusted spending for inpatient care during the last six months of life is nearly twice as much per death in the Miami region (\$14,212) than spending per death in Minneapolis (\$7,246). During this period of their lives, residents of Miami receive much more care in intensive care units (ICUs): 45.7% were admitted to the ICU one or more times, compared to 23.1% of Minneapolis residents. During the last six months of life, Miami residents spent an average of 4.8 days in ICUs, more than twice the national average; Minneapolis residents spent an average of only 1.6 days, about half the national average.

Figure 1.2. Acute Hospital Care During the Last Six Months of Life Among Medicare Residents of the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

The figure compares the rates of hospitalizations during the last six months of life among Medicare residents of Miami and Minneapolis to the national average, and gives the ratio of Miami to Minneapolis. Included are age, sex, race, illness and price adjusted spending for acute hospital care, the percent of Medicare enrollees experiencing one or more admissions to an intensive care unit and the average number of days spent in an ICU during the last six months of life.

tion for the surgical signature phenomenon, showing that they do not result from differences in patient demand, but instead result from scientific uncertainty and the failure of physicians — and, increasingly, health plans — to involve patients in a systematic and meaningful way in the surgical decision making process.

The role of illness in determining the allocation of resources and the use of medical care is examined in Chapter Six. While sick people do indeed use health services more often than the less sick, the rates of use of health care for all members of society — the sick and the not so sick — are higher in regions with more resources and more spending. Predicted demand (based on measures of illness) explains only a small part of the higher than average hospitalization rates in regions with higher than average per capita supplies of hospital beds. The need for medical care, as estimated by an index of community health, has very little to do with the level of Medicare spending.

The information in this Atlas points to the need for reform. The failure of illness rates to explain much of the regional variation in resources and utilization points once again to the questions of fairness and value. The subliminal effect of hospital capacity on the admission "threshold" — on the decision whether or not to admit a patient — determines the rates of hospitalizations in regions and the intensity of care in the last six months of life. This raises the question of whether more is better: are the benefits of greater use of hospital and intensity of care worth the associated risks and costs?

The "surgical signature" phenomenon points to the need to improve the scientific basis of medicine and to reform the way treatment choices are made so that the choice among treatment options primarily reflects the patient's, rather than the physician's or the health plan's, priorities and preferences.

Chapter Seven is a concluding essay that focuses on the debate over what should be done to address unwanted variations in health care delivery. The chapter deals with

Which Rate is Right? The "Surgical Signatures" of Miami and Minneapolis

Miami residents and Minneapolis residents have approximately the same overall rates of surgery, but surgical resources are allocated very differently within each region, and the rates are often very different from the national average — sometimes well above the average, sometimes well below it. The rates of revascularization procedures used to treat coronary artery disease (coronary bypass surgery and percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty) and lower extremity bypass operations are higher among residents of Miami than among residents of Minneapolis. Rates of prostate cancer surgery and knee replacements are higher among Medicare residents of Minneapolis than among residents of Miami. Rates of carotid endarterectomy are well below the national average in both hospital referral regions.



Figure 1. 3. Age, Sex and Race Adjusted Surgical Rates Among Medicare Residents of the Miami and Minneapolis Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95) The figure compares rates of surgery among residents of Miami and Minneapolis to the national average for all surgical discharges and for selected procedures. The rate of revascularization procedures is the combined rates of coronary bypass surgery and percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty.

Medicare fairness and the equity implications of current Medicare formulas for reimbursing managed care health plans. In brief, the policy problem is that Medicare's method of determining payment for capitated care is calculated at the county level (the AAPCC or average adjusted per capita costs). It reflects historical patterns of spending under fee-for-service health care delivery systems in local markets. One result is that differences in spending that cannot be attributed to differences in illness or in prices create unfair subsidies, which are in some cases substantial. For example, on a price and illness adjusted basis, managed care companies enrolling a resident of the Miami hospital referral region received \$8,117 in 1997; managed care companies enrolling residents of the Minneapolis region received only \$4,478 per enrollee. The higher spending for the residents of Miami is funded by taxes collected from residents of all hospital referral regions, including Minneapolis and other regions where Medicare spending is below the national average.

An unintended consequence of the federal government's AAPCC-based reimbursement policy is that managed health plans being reimbursed at Miami's rate could provide benefits at a reasonable level (such as the level currently provided in Minneapolis) and still have money available to expand the benefit package to include such additional services as prescription drugs, hearing aids and exercise programs. In Chapter Seven, we estimate that managed care companies providing services for residents of Miami could realize a surplus of more than \$3,400 per enrollee for distribution as additional benefits, or retain that amount as profit, simply by achieving the efficiencies of fee-for-service medicine in Minneapolis.

In a statement contained in The 1998 Budget Resolution, the United States Senate recognized that while "all Americans pay the same payroll tax of 2.9 percent to the Medicare trust funds and they deserve the same choices and services regardless of where they retire," some regions "receive 2.5 times more in Medicare reimbursements than others." In addressing the issue of fairness the Congress inevitably faces the questions, Which rate is right? and How much is enough? In its "Sense of the Senate Resolution," the Senate appears to implicitly accept the national average as the "right"

rate. The statement calls on the Finance Committee to implement policy to reduce the geographic variation in risk plan payment rates by raising "the lower payment areas closer to the average while taking into account actual differences in input costs."

But which rate is right? How much is enough? The national average, whether for coronary bypass grafting, the use of hospitals for medical conditions, the amount of money spent in the last six months of life, or overall Medicare spending, has no normative value. It is simply the average of the many different ways of practicing medicine documented in the Atlas, as for example the patterns of practice and Medicare spending seen in Minneapolis and Miami (Figures 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3).

Ideally, resource allocation decisions would be guided at the patient level by need, by knowledge of outcomes, and by the tradeoffs patients make between the costs, risks and benefits of care. At the population level, resource allocation decisions would be made based on society's beliefs about cost effectiveness and social justice. The Medicare program's spending would reflect these goals of efficiency, effectiveness and equity.

In Chapter Seven, we propose a two-part strategy to move the nation closer to this ideal. The first part of the strategy is a patient-level approach to the question of Which rate is right? It is based on outcomes research and the creation of the opportunity for patients to participate actively in the choice among treatments — for example, the choice between lumpectomy and mastectomy for breast cancer, and the choice between surgery and medical management for coronary artery disease. Choices among these options involve significant tradeoffs that only patients are qualified to make (Chapter Five). When patients participate in medical decisions (shared decision making) local rates reflect what informed patients actually want. Areas with such patient-driven rates might well have lower rates of surgery than the current national average. Studies of shared decision making suggest that the demand for invasive treatment by fully informed patients is actually less than the amount now being provided in most markets in the United States.

The second part of the strategy is a macro-level approach, one based on answering the question How much is enough? The strategy involves "benchmarking;" that is, comparing regions with high levels of resource allocation and spending to areas where resources and spending are more constrained. By using benchmarking, the outcomes question can be approached from the perspective of the population living in such regions. What is the evidence that greater investments in resources improve population health? Other research has found no evidence that mortality rates are lower, after adjustment for differences in demographics and illness, in regions with higher levels of spending for acute hospital care. We argue in Chapter Seven that benchmarks based on the experience of low rate regions do not represent

health care rationing — services recognized as necessary for improving life expectancy and well being are not being withheld in those regions.

The importance for health policy of coming to terms with the questions of Which rate is right? and How much is enough? is clearly important in terms of the solvency of the Medicare trust fund. If, on a price and illness adjusted basis, the level of Medicare spending for all hospital referral regions with higher rates were brought down to the level of spending in the Minneapolis region, the impending bankruptcy of the Medicare program (currently predicted for the year 2,005) would be averted (Figure 1.4).



Figure 1.4. Projected Medicare Trust Fund Balances Under Current Levels of Spending and Under Spending Reduced to the Levels of Expenditures per Enrollee in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1995-2005)

The lower curve, labeled "Actual" and "Current Projection," shows the actual and projected balances of the combined Part A (hospital) and Part B (physician services) Medicare Trust Fund using intermediate assumptions. The upper curve shows the projected balances of the Medicare Trust Fund under the assumption that all hospital referral regions with price- and illness-adjusted per enrollee Medicare spending above the amount in Minneapolis adjust their spending downward in 1998 to the level of Minneapolis. Medicare spending then continues to grow through 2005 using the Trust Fund intermediate assumptions. (Source: Skinner, J. and Fisher, E., "Regional Disparities in Medicare Expenditures: An Opportunity for Reform" National Tax Journal (1997).

The nature of the relationship between supply and utilization; the lack of evidence that more is better in improving life expectancy; and the finding that fully informed patients actually want less invasive care than they are currently receiving, all suggest that from the point of view of both patients and populations, price and illness adjusted spending at the level of fee-for-service care in Minneapolis is a reasonable goal for all Americans. Indeed, achieving on a national basis the health care delivery efficiencies demonstrated in this region could help resolve a pressing issue of fairness: it would generate savings to address the very real problems in social justice posed by the nation's uninsured.

The Geography of Health Care in the United States

Most of the tools used to measure and explore variation in this edition of the Atlas will be familiar to most readers. We have again based our measurements on the experience of populations — how health care is used by defined populations, rather than the physical location of health care resources. This methodology, which is generally known as small area analysis, is at the core of our work. Readers who are unfamiliar with the strategies of studying population-based rates of resource distribution and utilization are urged to read the Appendix on Methods. The endnote provides references for further reading.

The first task of the Atlas project, undertaken in 1993, was to establish the geographic boundaries of naturally occurring health care markets in the United States. Based on a study of where Medicare patients were hospitalized, 3,436 geographic hospital service areas were defined. The hospital service areas were then grouped into 306 hospital referral regions on the basis of where Medicare patients were hospitalized for major cardiovascular surgical procedures and neurosurgery, markers for regionalization. The Appendix on the Geography of Medical Care in the United States, which is reprinted in part from the first edition of the Atlas, describes how this was done, and contains a series of maps that detail each hospital referral region in the United States. One important finding was that most hospital service areas and hospital referral regions, as defined by where patients actually receive their care, correspond poorly to political configurations, such as counties, which have traditionally been used to measure health care resources and utilization.

About Rates in the Atlas

In order to make comparisons easier, all rates in the Atlas are expressed in terms that result in at least one digit to the left of the decimal point (e.g., 1.6 cardiologists per hundred thousand residents, 3.9 hospital beds per thousand residents). In order to achieve this result, different denominators were used in calculating rates.

The levels of supply of hospital beds and hospital full time equivalent employees are expressed as beds and employees per thousand residents of the hospital referral region, based on American Hospital Association and Medicare data.

Reimbursements are expressed as dollars per capita, or per resident of the hospital referral region, based on Medicare claims data and census calculations.

The numbers of physicians providing services to residents of hospital referral regions are expressed as physicians per hundred thousand residents, based on American Medical Association and American Osteopathic Association data and census calculations.

The numbers of surgical and diagnostic procedures performed are expressed as procedures per thousand Medicare enrollees in the hospital referral region, or as procedures per thousand male or female Medicare enrollees in the region (for procedures like prostatectomy or mastectomy that apply only to one sex) based on Medicare claims data.

Patient day rates are expressed as total inpatient days per thousand Medicare enrollees.

Making Fair Comparisons Between Regions

Some areas of the country have greater needs for health care services and resources than others; for example, in some communities in Florida, as many as 60% of residents are over 65. Other parts of the country — including some with large college populations, or ski resorts — have much larger proportions of younger people. To ensure fair comparisons between areas, all rates in the Atlas have been adjusted to remove the differences that might be due to the different age and sex composition of local populations. This adjustment avoids identifying some areas as having high rates of utilization simply because of their larger proportions of elderly residents. When data were available, rates have also been adjusted for differences in race.

This edition of the Atlas provides an important new method for adjusting for differences in illness based on a community health index. The index is used to adjust for differences in mortality and for the incidence of certain diseases, such as coronary artery disease and stroke.

Some areas, such as major urban centers, have higher costs of living than others. Such areas are likely to have high health care expenditures because the costs of personnel, real estate, and supplies are higher, and not necessarily because they are providing more services. Adjusting for such variation provides a more comparable measure of differences in real health care spending that is not simply due to differences in costs of living among areas. Medicare reimbursement rates were adjusted to take into account the differences between hospital service areas in costs of living.

The methods used to adjust for age, sex, race, illness and price of medical care are detailed in the Appendix on Methods.

About the Dartmouth Atlas on CD-ROM

A sophisticated CD-ROM data viewer has been developed which makes it possible to query, manipulate, and display the Dartmouth Atlas data base using point-andclick techniques. The viewer contains both the hospital referral region and hospital service area levels of data used to create the Dartmouth Atlas. For more information about the CD-ROM, contact AHA Order Services at 1-800-242-2626.

Communicating With Us About the Atlas

Our Atlas Home Page on the World Wide Web contains Atlas information, including a summary of Dartmouth-related research and electronic copies of some hard-to-find references. Please send us your comments on the Atlas, particularly suggestions on how to improve it in the future.

We are at http://www.dartmouth.edu/~atlas.

Chapter Two

Variations in Hospital Resources, Medicare Spending and the Physician Workforce

This chapter provides measures of the allocation of hospital resources, Medicare reimbursements, and the physician workforce to the populations living in the nation's 306 hospital referral regions. The estimates have been adjusted for differences in age and sex, and, in the case of reimbursements, regional differences in prices. The allocation method adjusts for patient migration to hospitals and physicians located outside of the hospital referral region where the patient resides. (See the Appendix on Methods.)

Acute Care Hospital Resources

The dramatic differences in levels of acute care hospital resources that were documented in the 1996 edition of the Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care (data for 1992-93) are demonstrated in this section to have persisted through 1994-95, although the health care industry was undergoing a period of profound change. The numbers of acute care hospital beds, intensive care hospital beds, hospital employees, and registered nurses employed by hospitals varied substantially among regions, and in many cases within states. Generally the supply of hospital resources was higher in the East, South, and Midwest than in the West and on the West Coast; but the idiosyncratic nature of the distribution of resources remained a constant attribute of the American health care system.

Data from the American Hospital Association and the Medicare Program were used to estimate the numbers of staffed acute care hospital beds, full time equivalent hospital employees, and registered nurses employed in acute care hospitals allocated to care for the population of each region.

Acute Care Hospital Beds

There were more than 779,000 acute care hospital beds in the United States in 1995, an average of 3.0 beds per thousand residents. In 1993, there were more than 827,000 acute care hospital beds, an average of 3.3 per thousand residents. Reduction in hospital bed capacity per thousand residents was observed in hospital referral regions with both high and low rates of allocated beds. The supply of beds in the Bronx, New York, for example, fell from 4.9 per thousand to 4.8; but the supply in San Jose, California, fell from 2.1 in 1993 to 1.7 in 1995, an even larger decrease. The numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents of hospital referral regions in 1995, after adjusting for differences in age and sex, varied by a factor of about 3, from fewer than 1.6 to 5.0 per thousand residents.

Among the hospital referral regions with large populations, those with the highest numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents included the Bronx, New York (4.8); Newark, New Jersey (4.7); Jackson, Mississippi (4.6); and Chicago (4.4).



Figure 2.1. Acute Care Hospital Beds Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

The number of hospital beds per thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in the age and sex of the local population, ranged from fewer than 1.6 to more than 5.0. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Regions with more than one million residents that had comparatively low numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents were San Jose, California (1.7); Seattle, Washington (1.8); Austin, Texas (1.8); Portland, Oregon (1.9); and Sacramento, California (1.9).



Map 2.1. Acute Care Hospital Beds

The Great Plains states, the Midwest, parts of Texas and much of the South had higher supplies of hospital beds than most states in the West, on the West Coast, or in the Northeast.

Acute Care Hospital Beds per 1,000 Residents

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

3.55 to 5.05 (62)
3.08 to <3.55 (63)
2.78 to <3.08 (55)
2.38 to <2.78 (64)
1.58 to <2.38 (62)
Not Populated









Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Acute Care Hospital Employees

There were more than 3.58 million workers employed in acute care hospitals in the United States in 1995. This represented a slight increase from the 3.56 million hospital employees in 1993, in spite of the fact that the number of acute care beds declined in the same period. The numbers of full time equivalent hospital employees per thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in population age and sex, varied by a factor of about 4.0, from fewer than 7.5 to almost 28.

Among large hospital referral regions, the numbers of full-time equivalent hospital employees allocated to local populations were exceptionally high in the Bronx, New York (27.6); Chicago (21.8); Manhattan (21.6); New Orleans (21.3); and Newark, New Jersey (19.6).

The number of full-time equivalent hospital employees allocated to the residents of the San Diego hospital referral region (8.1) was less than one-third the number



Figure 2.2. Hospital Employees Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

The number of full time equivalent hospital employees per thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in the age and sex of the local population, ranged from fewer than 7.5 to more than 27. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. allocated to residents of the Bronx. Other large hospital referral regions with relatively low numbers of allocated full-time equivalent hospital employees were Arlington, Virginia (8.2); Austin, Texas (8.4); Orange County, California (8.7); and San Jose, California (8.7).


Map 2.2. Acute Care Hospital Employees

There were relatively large supplies of hospital employees per thousand residents in parts of the Great Plains and Mountain states, the Midwest, the South, and parts of Texas; some areas in the Southeast and Northeast also had large workforces devoted to acute care. The West Coast and the Western states generally had smaller per capita workforces than other areas of the country.

Hospital Employees per 1,000 Residents

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)









New York



Washington-Baltimore



San Francisco

Chicago

Registered Nurses Employed in Acute Care Hospitals

There were more than 882,000 full time equivalent registered nurses employed in acute care hospitals in the United States in 1995. The numbers of hospital-based registered nurses per thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in age and sex of the local populations, varied by a factor of 2.7, from 1.9 per thousand allocated to residents of the Austin, Texas hospital referral region, to 5.1 per thousand allocated to residents of the hospital referral region in the Bronx, New York.

Large hospital referral regions with relatively high numbers of registered nurses employed by acute care hospitals included, in addition to the Bronx, Chicago (5.1); New Orleans (4.8); Detroit (4.7); Manhattan (4.7); Newark, New Jersey (4.5); Toledo, Ohio (4.4); and Dayton, Ohio (4.3).

Among large hospital referral regions with lower numbers of hospital-based registered nurses allocated to the population of the hospital referral regions were, in addition to



Figure 2.3. Hospital-Based Registered Nurses Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

The acute care hospital-employed registered nurse workforce varied from 1.9 per thousand residents to 5.1. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Austin, Contra Costa County, California (2.1); Arlington, Virginia (2.2); San Jose, California (2.3); and Orange County, California (2.4).



Map 2.3. Registered Nurses Employed in Acute Care Hospitals

The distribution of the registered nurse workforce resembled that of acute care hospital employees, with some exceptions, including central Oregon, parts of Maine, and some parts of Nevada. The West Coast generally had lower numbers of registered nurses per thousand residents than other areas of the country.

Registered Nurses per 1,000 Residents

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)







New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

Medicare Spending

In 1995, most Americans over the age of 65 were enrolled in the Medicare program. Most received their care from "traditional" Medicare — that is, from providers who charged on a fee-for-service basis, either as independent practitioners or as members of health maintenance organizations that were not capitated. In 1995, according to HCFA records, \$163.1 billion — over 92.5% of Medicare outlays for people over 65 — was reimbursed on a fee-for-service basis.

There were large differences in these reimbursements between hospital referral regions. Total program outlays per capita varied by a factor of about 3.0, even after adjusting for differences in prices among regions. Price adjusted reimbursements for acute hospital care varied more than 2.5-fold, professional and laboratory services by more than 4.7-fold, and home health services by a factor of more than 30.0. The uneven distribution of reimbursements raises the question of whether areas with lower levels of acute care hospital services might have been achieving their inpatient savings by substituting outpatient care, hospice care, or home health services. However, research shows very little evidence of substitution; the opposite is often the case. Regions with higher reimbursements for acute care hospital services tended also to have higher reimbursements for hospital-based outpatient care, as well as higher reimbursements for physician services and for home health services (see endnote).

Estimates of Medicare reimbursements are based on a 5% sample of the Medicare population as recorded in the Continuous Medicare History File. Fee-for-service reimbursements have been price adjusted to take into account differences in the cost of living among hospital referral regions.

Medicare Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare

In 1995, Medicare payments for Americans enrolled in both Medicare parts A and B over the age of 65 for services reimbursed on a fee-for-service basis (including non-risk bearing health maintenance organizations) amounted to about \$163.6 billion. The average per enrollee reimbursement for those enrolled in both the Part A and Part B programs was \$4,790. This represented a 22% increase over 1993 payments of \$115.9 billion (\$3,929 per enrollee). Price adjusted per enrollee reimbursements varied remarkably among hospital referral regions. The rate in the region with the highest rate of Medicare reimbursement was more than 2.9 times higher than the rate in the region with the lowest rate of reimbursements.

Among the hospital referral regions with the highest per capita Medicare reimbursements for all services were Miami (\$7,955); New Orleans (\$7,205); San Antonio, Texas (\$6,434); Houston (\$6,216); Nashville, Tennessee (\$6,000); and Los Angeles (\$5,900).



Figure 2.4. Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

Per enrollee reimbursements by the Medicare program for all services varied by a factor of 2.8, from less than \$3,000 to more than \$8,300. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Among the large hospital referral regions with lower price adjusted Medicare reimbursements per capita were Honolulu (\$3,332); Minneapolis (\$3,528); Portland, Oregon (\$3,680); Madison, Wisconsin (\$3,812); and Arlington, Virginia (\$3,871).



Map 2.4. Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Noncapitated Medicare Total Medicare reimbursements were higher in the South, most of Texas, parts of the Midwest, Florida, and Southern California than in most of the Northeast, the Great Plains, and the Northwest.

Total Medicare Reimbursements per Medicare Enrollee

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

\$5465 to	8385	(61)
4923 to	< 5465	(60)
4451 to	< 4923	(61)
4053 to	< 4451	(62)
2928 to	< 4053	(62)
Not Pop	ulated	









Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Washir

Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services

In 1995, Medicare reimbursements to hospitals for acute, short-stay care for Americans over age 65 whose care was paid for on a fee-for-service basis totaled \$77.7 billion. The average per enrollee reimbursement for those enrolled in both Part A and Part B programs was \$2,279, an increase of about 13% from 1993. These payments represented 47.5% of the Medicare program's total outlays for traditional Medicare. Price adjusted reimbursements to hospitals per Medicare enrollee were more than 2.5 times higher in the highest rate hospital referral region than in the lowest rate region.

Among the large hospital referral regions with the highest rates of per enrollee reimbursements for acute hospital care were Manhattan (\$3,318); the Bronx, New York (\$3,289); and New Orleans (\$3,178). Other areas where per enrollee reimbursements for hospital care were high included Miami (\$3,056); Chicago (\$3,010);



Figure 2.5. Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

Per enrollee Medicare reimbursements for acute care hospital services varied by a factor of more than 2.5, from less than \$1,500 to more than \$3,700. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Houston (\$2,894); Baltimore (\$2,829); and Pittsburgh (\$2,785).

Other large metropolitan hospital referral regions had relatively low per enrollee payments for acute hospital care; they included Honolulu (\$1,656); Austin, Texas (\$1,711); Fresno, California (\$1,740); Salt Lake City, Utah (\$1,747); and Portland, Oregon (\$1,802).



Map 2.5. Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Inpatient Hospital Services

Medicare reimbursements for inpatient hospital services were generally lower in the Western states, parts of the Great Lakes states, and parts of the Northeast than in the Midwest, South, Texas and California. Medicare spending for inpatient services varied widely even in contiguous areas, such as Western Texas and Eastern New Mexico.

Inpatient Hospital Services per Medicare Enrollee

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

\$2516 to	3723	(61)
2321 to -	< 2516	(60)
2117 to -	< 2321	(61)
1893 to -	< 2117	(62)
1483 to -	< 1893	(62)
Not Popu	lated	







New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services

Professional services reimbursements include payments to surgeons and medical doctors for activities such as office consultations, vaccinations, and open heart surgery. Among the more common laboratory services are biopsy evaluations and blood tests. In 1995, reimbursements for professional and laboratory services for Americans over age 65 paid for on a fee-for-service basis totaled \$33.2 billion. The average per enrollee reimbursement for those enrolled in both the Part A and Part B programs was \$1,002, an increase of about 20% from 1993. These payments represented 20.3% of Medicare outlays for traditional Medicare.

With price adjusted reimbursements for professional and laboratory services of \$2,141 per enrollee, Miami had the highest rate in the United States. Los Angeles (\$1,488) was substantially lower than Miami, but was still more than 3.2 times higher than the lowest-rate region. Other regions with high per enrollee reimburse-



Figure 2.6. Price Adjusted Part B Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995) Reimbursements for professional and laboratory services varied by a factor of more than 4.7, from \$454 per Medicare enrollee to \$2,141. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

ments included Orange County, California (\$1,414); Takoma Park, Maryland (\$1,345); Manhattan (\$1,326); and Las Vegas, Nevada (\$1,298).

Among the large hospital referral regions with relatively low per capita reimbursements for professional and laboratory services were Minneapolis (\$618); St. Paul, Minnesota (\$623); Salt Lake City (\$658); Portland, Oregon (\$680); and Rochester, New York (\$747).



Map 2.6. Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Professional and Laboratory Services

Reimbursements for fee-for-service professional and laboratory services were highest in the South and on the West Coast; parts of the Midwest and most of Florida and the Middle Atlantic States also had high reimbursements. Some areas, including Texas and Missouri, had wide variations among hospital referral regions within the state. Professional and Laboratory Services per Medicare Enrollee by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

\$1081 to	2141	(63)
975 to <	1081	(59)
877 to <	975	(62)
794 to <	877	(57)
454 to <	794	(65)
Not Popula	ited	







New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

Medicare Reimbursements for Outpatient Services

In 1995, Medicare reimbursements for the use of outpatient services paid for on a fee-for-service basis totaled \$15.2 billion. The average per enrollee reimbursement for those enrolled in both the Part A and Part B programs was \$396, an increase of about 13% from 1993. These reimbursements represented 15.8% of total outlays for traditional Medicare.

Price adjusted reimbursements varied by a factor of 3 between the lowest rate hospital referral region and the highest rate region. Among the hospital referral regions with the highest rates of price adjusted Medicare reimbursements for outpatient services per enrollee were Miami (\$583); Wichita, Kansas (\$541); Ann Arbor, Michigan (\$540); Baltimore, Maryland (\$513); and Albuquerque, New Mexico (\$509).

Among the hospital referral regions with relatively low per enrollee rates of reim-



Figure 2.7. Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Outpatient Services Among Hospital Referral Regions (1995)

Price adjusted Medicare reimbursements for outpatient services varied by a factor of 3, from less than \$220 per enrollee to more than \$670. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. bursement for outpatient services in 1995 were Las Vegas, Nevada (\$219); New Brunswick, New Jersey (\$236); Mesa, Arizona (\$255); Newark, New Jersey (\$281); San Jose, California (\$283); White Plains, New York (\$285); Richmond, Virginia (\$316); and Albany, New York (\$320).







by Hospital Referral Region (1995)







Chicago



New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Medicare Reimbursements for Home Health Services

In 1995, Medicare reimbursements for home health care services for enrollees over age 65 paid for on a fee-for-service basis totaled \$15.6 billion. The average per enrollee reimbursement for those enrolled in both the Part A and Part B programs was \$495. These reimbursements represented 9.5% of noncapitated Medicare program outlays. Variations in the levels of Medicare reimbursements for home health care services were extreme. The highest price adjusted reimbursement rate per Medicare enrollee was almost 30 times higher than reimbursements in the region with the lowest rate. In general, the rate of reimbursements for home health services grew substantially between 1993 and 1995.

The per capita reimbursement for Medicare enrollees in the Chattanooga, Tennessee hospital referral region in 1993 was 25% higher than the next highest region. By 1995, although Chattanooga's rate (\$1,522) was 18% higher than in 1993,





Price adjusted Medicare reimbursements for home health care services varied by a factor of almost 30, from \$83 per enrollee to almost \$2,400. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Chattanooga's rate was no longer the highest in the country. Per capita reimbursements were higher in Baton Rouge, Louisiana (\$1,948) and several other areas in the South. Other hospital referral regions with high reimbursement rates for home health care included New Orleans (\$1,320); Nashville, Tennessee (\$1,258); and Knoxville, Tennessee (\$1,181).

Among the hospital referral regions with the lowest per capita rates of reimbursement were Sioux Falls, South Dakota (\$159); Minneapolis (\$169); and Milwaukee, Wisconsin (\$175).



Map 2.8. Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements for Home Health Care Services

Per-enrollee reimbursements for home health services were far higher in the South than in the Great Plains and in most of the East. Texas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Alabama, and Tennessee, as well as most of Florida, were almost uniformly in the highest quintile of reimbursements for home health.

Home Health Services per Medicare Enrollee

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)











Washington-Baltimore



San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Detroit

The Physician Workforce

This section examines the physician workforce in the nation's 306 hospital referral regions. The data come from the American Medical Association, the American Osteopathic Association, and the Medicare program, and are for 1996. A clinically active physician is defined as one who reported that he or she spent at least 20 hours a week in patient care. The population count is the Claritas® estimate for 1995.

The estimates of the number of physicians allocated to populations per 100,000 residents take into account patient migration across the boundaries of the regions, using a method similar to that used for hospital beds. For example, medical specialists and primary care physicians were allocated on the basis of medical admissions.

The estimates have been adjusted for differences in the age and sex of the population. (See the Appendix on Methods.)

The Physician Workforce Active in Patient Care

In 1970, there were 235,241 physicians active in patient care in the United States. By 1993, the number had increased to 469,603, an increase that was largely attributable to growth in medical schools, an increase in class sizes, and policies that encouraged international medical graduates to enter the professional workforce in the United States. In 1996, there were 495,510 physicians in active practice, an increase of 5.5% from 1993.

The distribution of the physician workforce did not change in any dramatic way between 1993 and 1996; there was some growth in the number of physicians per hundred thousand residents of parts of the Western and Mountain states, but for the most part the workforce remained concentrated in urban areas.

Among the hospital referral regions with the highest total numbers of active physicians per hundred thousand residents in 1996 were White Plains, New York



Figure 2.9. Physicians Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)

The number of physicians in active practice per hundred thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in age and sex of the local population, ranged from fewer than 90 to more than 330. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

(333.5); Hackensack, New Jersey (299.6); Royal Oak, Michigan (288.5); San Francisco (282.2); and Takoma Park, Maryland (277.8). Some regions of the United States had fewer than half as many physicians per hundred thousand residents; the McAllen, Texas hospital referral region had the lowest supply (88.2). Other regions with fewer than average physicians per hundred thousand residents included Provo, Utah (131.5); San Bernardino, California (144.7); Wichita, Kansas (147.5); and Dayton, Ohio (147.7).



Map 2.9. The Physician Workforce

In 1996, there were higher than average numbers of physicians per hundred thousand residents of the East and West Coasts, parts of the Mountain and Southwestern States, and in the Pacific Northwest. Some regions with very high supplies of physicians were contiguous with areas that had much lower supplies, as in Nebraska, New Mexico, and Idaho.

Physician Workforce Active in Patient Care per 100,000 Residents by Hospital Referral Region (1995)











Washington-Baltimore



San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Detroit

Physicians in Primary Care

The number of active physicians in primary care practice increased by 62% between 1970 and 1993, and by 3.9% between 1993 and 1996. The proportion of physicians who were in primary care, 35% of the workforce, did not change between 1993 and 1996. Among hospital referral regions, the supply of physicians clinically active in primary care in 1966 varied from 33.8 in McAllen, Texas, to 105.1 in White Plains, New York; the national average among hospital referral regions was 65.0 per hundred thousand residents.

Among hospital referral regions with the highest number of primary care physicians per hundred thousand residents were Royal Oak, Michigan (102.9); San Francisco (102.1); Hackensack, New Jersey (99.9); Evanston, Illinois (98.1); Philadelphia (89.4); and Napa, California (89.0).



Figure 2.10. Physicians in Primary Care Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions in the United States (1996) The number of primary care physicians in active practice per hundred thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in age and sex of the local population, ranged from fewer than 34 to more than 105. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Few hospital referral regions with large populations had lower than average supplies of physicians in primary care; the exceptions included El Paso, Texas (41.6); Las Vegas, Nevada (47.4); Shreveport, Louisiana (47.9); Fort Wayne, Indiana (48.2); and Salt Lake City (48.3).



Map 2.10. Physicians in Primary Care

In 1996, the numbers of primary care physicians per hundred thousand residents were greatest in the Northeast, the Mountain States, the Pacific Northwest, northern California, Alaska and Hawaii. There were relatively few primary care physicians in the Southeastern United States, Texas, southern Idaho, western Wyoming, Utah, and eastern Nevada. Primary Care Physicians per 100,000 Residents

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

69.2 to 105.1 (61)
63.0 to <69.2 (60)
57.9 to <63.0 (63)
53.2 to <57.9 (59)
33.7 to <53.2 (63)
Not Populated









Washington-Baltimore



San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Detroit

Specialist Physicians

In 1970, there were 130,784 clinically active physicians who were identified as specialists; by 1993 the number had increased to 302,511, representing about 65% of the physician workforce. Between 1993 and 1996, the number of specialists (medical and surgical) increased 6.6%, in spite of growing efforts to encourage medical graduates to enter primary care. The population ratio increased by about 1%, from 121.7 specialists per hundred thousand in 1993 to 122.9 in 1996.

Among the areas with the highest numbers of specialists per hundred thousand residents were White Plains, New York (227.0); Hackensack, New Jersey (198.3); Royal Oak, Michigan (185.2); Takoma Park, Maryland (184.7); Washington, D.C. (182.7); and Metairie, Louisiana (181.8). The per capita number of specialists serving the population of White Plains was about 85% higher than the national average of 122.9.

The number of specialists allocated to the McAllen, Texas hospital referral region (53.3) actually declined slightly between 1993 and 1996. Other areas with lower than



Figure 2.11. Specialist Physicians Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)

The number of specialist physicians per hundred thousand residents, after adjusting for differences in age and sex of the local population, ranged from about 50 to more than 225. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. average numbers of specialists included Fort Wayne, Indiana (82.4); Wichita, Kansas (84.9); Springfield, Illinois (87.3); and Springfield, Missouri (87.6).



Map 2.11. Specialist Physicians

In 1996, the supply of specialists per hundred thousand residents was highest on the East and West Coasts and lowest in the Midwest, the East South Central States, and the Upper Midwest. The Northeast and California also had very high supplies of specialists.

Specialist Physicians per 100,000 Residents

by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

126.7 to	227.0	(62)
112.5 to	<126.7	(59)
102.7 to	<112.5	(62)
94.5 to	<102.7	(59)
53.2 to	<94.5	(64)
Not Pop	ulated	









Washington-Baltimore



San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Detroit

Chapter Two Table All measures of allocated hospital resources are expressed in rates per thousand residents. Reimbursements are expressed in rates per person, and are adjusted for regional differences in prices and race. The physician supply is expressed in rates per hundred thousand residents. All rates are adjusted for differences in the age and sex composition of the population. Estimates of allocated hospital employees and registered nurses are expressed as full time equivalents (FTEs). Medicare data exclude enrollees who were members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations.

See the Appendix on Methods for details on the methods used for allocating resources, estimating populations and adjusting rates, and for other details concerning the rates in these tables.

CHAPTER TWO TABLE

Acute Care Hospital Resources (1995), Price Adjusted Medicare Reimbursements (1995) and The Physician Workforce Allocated to Hospital Referral Regions (1996)

		~				\$	ments	TRATS	mentsices	ments	ments		.0.
Region		5 (1995)	0951			elistered	eindurseicare	eintuiservice	house set	einfourser	einburges	/	Sall Call
Referral	Enoles	Julation		beds Employ	an mase	Re- insted	ated h. instead	osoliai justed pe	and	Service used	alth Set cians	Sin	entr. Physica
HOSOIRA	Medicate	Total POP	Acute Ca.	HOSPITAL	HOSPHAIL	Price Non-Cat	Price horient	Price Professio	Price Outpaties	orice Home H	All Physic	onysician	Specialist
×.	*		x.	×.	Au	,401	`44'	`tot.	'w'	,401.	۲.		5.
Alabama													
Birmingham	264,920	2,067,166	4.2	16.1	4.3	5,650	2,765	1,051	387	769	157.5	54.9	101.8
Dothan	44,420	341,377	3.8	14.1	3.6	5,390	2,342	1,016	388	901	145.6	53.0	91.6
Huntsville	51,660	512,335	3.3	12.6	3.4	4,842	2,326	927	338	635	145.2	54.3	90.0
Mobile	80,880	735,828	3.8	14.8	3.9	5,606	2,449	1,018	394	1,061	164.1	51.3	111.8
Montgomery	46,840	420,205	3.6	12.9	3.5	5,153	2,349	1,109	248	658	142.7	49.6	92.3
luscaloosa	27,660	233,184	3.6	14.8	2.9	5,103	2,455	1,005	322	730	156.4	56.6	98.7
Alaska	00.000	045 404		40.0		4 700	0.000	700	440	004	400.0	70.0	440.0
Anchorage	26,620	615,424	3.2	16.9	4.1	4,739	2,802	763	442	321	186.9	73.0	112.2
Arizona	54.040	750.050	47			4 7 4 7	0.450	4.447	055	040	454.0	50.0	07.0
Mesa	51,640	759,053	1.7	8.0	2.3	4,/1/	2,159	1,117	255	313	151.2	53.0	97.2
Phoenix	178,580	2,230,182	2.4	11.4	2.8	4,763	2,044	1,056	3//	429	177.9	59.5	117.5
Sun City	45,580	162,537	2.1	7.9	2.1	3,950	1,663	1,254	256	207	201.0	64.3	135.7
Arkanaaa	72,620	935,802	2.1	10.3	2.5	4,856	2,068	983	426	381	179.9	63.3	115.7
Arkdrisds	44.000	246 244	2.5	40.4	2.0	6.026	0.447	055	220	4 4 4 4	145.0	E7 7	96.0
Fort Smith	44,000	310,211	3.5	13.1	3.2	5,020	2,417	900	338	1,441	140.9	57.7	70.7
Jonesboro	29,300	207,404	3.4	14.0	2.0	5,700	2,800	1,007	400	230	100.0	53.9	105.2
Springdolo	45.460	244 972	2.7	12.2	2.0	4 229	1,925	796	271	492 502	146.0	59.4	96.5
Toyarkana	40,400	251 /19	2.3	12.3	2.9	4,320	2,696	016	425	094	140.0	52.4	00.0
California	33,900	231,410	4.4	15.0	5.9	0,143	2,000	910	423	904	137.7	55.4	05.5
	127 060	2 732 562	23	8.7	2.4	5 564	2 288	1 / 1 /	355	/30	211.8	73.1	137.0
Bakersfield	58 280	841 548	2.3	11.8	2.4	5,826	2,200	1 290	395	544	145.9	49.5	95.5
Chico	33 920	263 211	2.0	12.6	2.5	4 452	1 879	866	408	553	171 9	55.3	115.6
Contra Costa Co	56 760	862 123	1.7	8.1	2.0	4 204	2 005	774	318	384	214.9	69.2	144.6
Fresno	75 840	974 617	21	11.8	2.1	4 164	1 740	953	420	379	152.4	54.6	96.7
Los Angeles	448 600	9 230 785	27	11.1	2.8	5 900	2 678	1 488	369	502	197.6	64.9	131.9
Modesto	56 760	717 600	2.5	10.7	3.0	5 209	2,327	1 038	367	472	148.9	54.3	93.5
Napa	35.220	250.705	2.6	13.3	2.9	5,365	2.435	943	526	579	243.9	89.0	154.2
Alameda Co.	93,540	1.348.508	2.1	10.8	3.0	4,444	2.311	827	290	314	223.9	82.2	141.1
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	28,960	248,351	2.2	9.1	2.3	5,982	2,343	1,550	392	608	197.5	55.5	141.0
Redding	42,160	314.477	2.4	11.7	3.5	5,142	2.550	1.045	447	500	185.8	68.4	116.4
Sacramento	168.680	1.987.776	1.9	9.5	2.4	4.523	2.167	901	318	437	184.2	64.9	118.3
Salinas	30,820	337,282	1.9	10.6	2.5	5,263	2,396	1,008	343	751	192.5	60.4	131.4
San Bernardino	83,660	2,306,438	2.2	9.1	2.7	5,868	2,580	1,228	353	568	144.7	49.8	93.9
San Diego	156,340	3,006,551	1.9	8.1	2.4	5,685	2,452	1,225	396	616	194.1	61.1	132.1
San Francisco	104,260	1,323,898	2.3	13.7	3.2	4,085	2,023	756	329	389	282.2	102.1	180.0
San Jose	86,520	1,525,072	1.7	8.7	2.3	4,140	2,041	826	283	303	196.2	69.2	126.1
San Luis Obispo	21,260	213,259	2.1	7.3	2.4	3,919	1,838	1,049	296	165	227.7	77.6	149.3
San Mateo Co.	54,680	761,040	1.9	10.7	2.3	3,603	1,830	737	295	314	234.7	72.3	161.2
Santa Barbara	30,360	393,410	1.8	7.6	2.0	4,130	1,780	1,131	301	271	215.2	73.3	140.9

<u>_</u> .«		(15	/	/	1. sted	/ 15ements	/ 15ements	Isenentsices	usements	usements	/	/s [%]
ALA POOL	olles	5 (N)	(1995)	alla la	N ⁴⁶	Registe	Reinburgico de	Reinital Service Pe	mbulab.	emplues d	Reinburger		Ainary visioar
rita Refe	AICAIO ETIT	Populati	18 Cale	oitalEnt	2. coltalibase	Adius a	Matt Rouser	AOST Adjusteriona	e Adjustent	St Adjuster	att. onysciant	sidansin	cialistens
HOST	Med	TOTO	ACUL	HOST	HOST SES	Price Nor	Prictupe	PricePro	PilcOutr	Price Holi	Alle	8442	SQRE
Santa Cruz	21,400	245,459	1.7	7.7	2.0	4,472	2,131	1,042	237	476	223.6	73.9	149.0
Santa Rosa	37,800	419,080	1.8	8.4	2.3	4,461	1,907	890	271	480	228.2	84.1	143.0
Stockton	36,180	452,439	2.3	11.7	2.7	5,264	2,584	1,019	429	394	149.8	50.3	98.8
Ventura	41,920	744,436	2.0	9.0	2.5	4,735	1,966	1,288	373	364	203.5	68.4	134.2
Colorado													
Boulder	14,220	238,607	1.6	10.1	2.8	4,408	1,946	722	372	475	231.8	85.0	145.7
Colorado Springs	57,580	643,355	2.3	11.0	3.0	4,074	1,667	725	426	413	174.9	59.0	115.0
Denver	145,020	2,124,949	2.4	11.9	3.0	4,830	1,985	859	481	563	203.2	69.1	133.1
Fort Collins	24,540	261,453	2.0	10.9	2.5	4,502	1,747	830	509	561	169.4	61.8	106.5
Grand Junction	29,380	237,226	2.1	12.0	3.3	3,756	1,851	454	391	411	182.1	71.3	109.7
Greeley	28,680	257,786	2.7	12.8	3.4	4,721	2,060	829	462	443	169.4	62.6	105.7
Pueblo	17,720	140,345	2.9	13.8	3.2	4,905	2,057	829	449	695	193.4	/0.9	121.5
Bridgeport	02.000	607.047	2.2	10.5	0.5	4 205	1.090	1.000	200	F F 7	250.0	00.0	174.4
Hortford	03,000	1 204 445	2.2	10.5	2.5	4,395	1,980	1,030	300	007	200.0	03.2	1/4.4
Harilord New Heyer	171,000	1,364,440	2.1	12.0	2.9	4,282	1,933	000	413	452	217.0	74.6	148.2
Dolowaro	171,220	1,302,404	2.2	11.0	2.1	4,390	2,000	999	390	401	230.0	74.0	101.0
Wilmington	74 990	672 127	2.2	1/1	2.7	4 110	1.042	1.057	240	201	186.0	65.5	120.4
District of Columbia	74,000	072,137	2.3	14.1	5.7	4,110	1,942	1,057	340	291	100.9	05.5	120.4
Washington	203 960	2 254 795	2.8	14 1	33	4 330	2 189	1 081	386	204	268.6	84.5	182 7
Florida	200,000	2,201,100	2.0		0.0	1,000	2,100	1,001	000	201	200.0	01.0	102.1
Bradenton	46.860	210.696	2.5	8.3	2.3	4.671	1.836	1,168	330	501	163.4	48.3	114.1
Clearwater	89.560	468.567	2.6	8.7	2.3	5.586	2,171	1,365	337	649	190.7	63.9	125.7
Fort Lauderdale	313,740	2,147,234	2.7	10.0	2.8	5,500	2,006	1,616	456	639	215.4	68.4	145.8
Fort Myers	168,540	717,985	2.6	10.7	2.6	5,311	2,111	1,333	384	677	171.4	54.5	115.9
Gainesville	47,640	445,145	2.7	12.1	3.0	5,746	2,467	1,085	413	875	170.1	61.8	107.3
Hudson	83,640	310,353	2.6	9.4	2.2	5,638	2,312	1,411	338	706	166.2	55.0	110.1
Jacksonville	117,200	1,240,525	3.1	14.6	3.7	5,533	2,353	1,244	449	635	181.0	59.9	120.2
Lakeland	42,700	302,262	2.7	11.2	2.8	5,241	2,404	1,176	291	521	146.7	48.8	97.2
Miami	214,520	2,513,109	3.2	12.8	3.3	7,955	3,056	2,141	583	830	229.7	83.0	146.3
Ocala	81,220	341,901	2.2	9.8	2.4	5,032	2,066	1,187	328	490	147.1	45.6	100.5
Orlando	349,420	2,535,044	2.7	12.4	3.1	5,351	2,103	1,255	360	738	162.8	54.0	107.9
Ormond Beach	44,900	290,820	2.9	10.5	2.5	4,848	1,850	1,112	473	635	160.2	54.9	104.4
Panama City	22,560	179,736	3.3	12.8	2.9	6,288	2,419	1,218	500	931	148.2	45.2	102.5
Pensacola	71,500	647,155	3.6	12.7	3.1	5,689	2,419	1,084	397	936	174.3	58.5	114.8
Sarasota	95,980	339,490	2.3	10.0	2.7	5,115	1,997	1,325	358	697	205.4	61.4	142.4
St Petersburg	66,980	402,889	3.0	12.3	3.1	5,859	2,321	1,349	476	674	202.9	69.0	132.9
Tallahassee	69,920	672,896	3.6	14.1	3.1	5,161	2,097	1,018	481	571	155.8	57.7	97.1
Tampa	86,240	933,943	2.8	12.5	2.9	5,720	2,338	1,273	411	624	181.4	60.0	120.4
Georgia													
Albany	20,980	208,867	3.9	14.9	3.1	4,962	2,436	907	507	656	124.1	40.6	83.1
Atlanta	352,220	4,200,842	2.9	13.3	3.9	4,822	2,310	1,016	355	584	173.0	56.6	115.5
Augusta	62,940	594,919	3.8	17.4	3.9	4,750	2,280	925	429	490	179.0	56.6	121.6
Columbus	33,420	316,092	4.3	12.7	2.9	4,183	1,724	897	370	539	144.7	52.0	91.8
Macon	69,460	633,839	3.9	16.3	3.9	5,119	2,398	969	440	657	167.5	58.3	108.2
Rome	30,300	231,352	3.3	13.4	3.3	4,977	2,305	935	403	797	159.9	63.2	95.7

1.0		1.5	,	,	/	1.80	sements	Ceenents	L sements ces	(sements	cements	,	10 ¹⁰
, Regol		1,999 (1)	395	*	Nee ⁵	Register	emburedical	empuiservice per	moliab. St. P	empurs	einburses		inally contract
Referre	aleEnton	20Pulation.	Cale	et alt mp	10110858	s. Nilised	ated Adjusted H	osp. "diustedia	al billsted	Sel Ndingled	aith sicans	iansin	alist Physic
HOSPIL	Nedicc	Totalt	Acute	HOSPILL	HOSPILLES	Price None	Price inpatie	Price Profes	Price outpar	Price Home	PILLUN	Physic	Specia
Savannah	69 860	656 550	3.6	16.3	4.3	5 253	2 431	1 078	511	693	169.9	54.2	115 1
Hawaii	,	,				-,	_,	.,					
Honolulu	86,860	1,190,170	2.0	11.2	2.8	3,332	1,656	752	343	187	208.7	75.8	132.0
Idaho													
Boise	69,800	605,996	2.2	11.2	3.0	3,980	1,768	752	421	403	156.8	51.0	105.0
Idaho Falls	17,220	181,481	2.8	10.0	2.8	3,776	1,565	701	375	574	127.6	37.9	89.6
Illinois													
Aurora	16,920	200,393	2.5	11.0	2.4	3,755	2,042	745	283	264	136.9	45.1	91.3
Blue Island	90,560	855,979	2.9	14.4	3.5	5,302	2,724	1,044	390	443	184.7	67.0	116.7
Chicago	221,300	2,590,942	4.4	21.8	5.1	5,280	3,010	988	333	414	225.4	84.5	140.2
Elgin	41,400	617,504	2.1	10.2	2.5	4,498	2,104	913	361	440	150.7	51.8	98.1
Evanston	111,200	908,751	2.4	13.3	3.0	4,534	2,298	1,050	359	265	276.1	98.1	177.4
Hinsdale	31,620	394,729	1.9	10.3	2.8	4,923	2,292	982	416	507	253.5	89.0	163.8
Joliet	46,680	461,271	3.5	14.8	3.4	5,116	2,712	1,009	420	427	166.6	54.7	111.0
Melrose Park	128,440	1,261,491	2.6	13.9	3.3	4,695	2,361	938	361	380	223.2	81.2	141.2
Peoria	95,480	606,294	3.1	15.4	4.1	4,567	2,172	905	504	356	148.0	53.3	93.7
Rockford	82,740	655,790	2.9	13.6	3.8	4,096	2,034	876	369	307	154.9	52.8	101.3
Springfield	123,540	828,552	3.3	15.0	3.3	4,532	2,368	895	439	333	140.3	52.0	87.3
Urbana	54,800	425,820	3.0	13.4	3.2	4,267	2,064	870	423	299	159.5	56.5	102.1
Bloomington	19,520	174,433	2.4	14.4	3.2	3,930	1,933	903	473	248	143.7	50.2	92.7
Indiana													
Evansville	96,560	658,585	3.5	14.8	3.7	4,737	2,178	787	489	531	143.4	53.8	88.5
Fort Wayne	98,700	791,565	2.7	12.4	3.1	3,938	1,637	787	389	508	131.5	48.2	82.4
Gary	54,860	498,010	4.3	16.2	4.1	5,852	3,219	1,076	407	626	146.0	50.6	94.5
Indianapolis	283,160	2,448,580	2.9	16.1	3.8	4,717	2,233	882	464	398	170.4	58.9	110.6
Lafayette	22,320	208,245	2.3	12.1	3.3	4,253	2,179	725	357	356	141.8	46.4	94.6
Muncie	21,700	169,763	2.8	13.1	3.2	4,783	2,678	860	380	202	160.8	59.0	101.0
Munster	38,760	306,380	4.3	18.0	5.0	5,397	2,843	1,039	434	497	159.6	58.4	100.3
South Bend	80,100	640,771	2.7	11.8	3.3	4,204	2,074	813	380	354	147.0	55.9	90.1
Terre Haute	25,100	179,192	3.1	16.3	3.7	4,739	2,195	968	389	493	153.2	55.2	96.8
Iowa													
Cedar Rapids	33,380	263,391	3.5	13.8	4.0	3,511	1,696	805	521	118	143.3	51.3	91.1
Davenport	68,960	496,950	3.3	14.1	3.5	3,946	1,834	808	481	303	155.0	52.9	101.3
Des Moines	137,620	955,106	3.4	15.2	3.5	3,974	1,973	843	476	276	155.9	63.3	91.6
Dubuque	21,380	148,398	3.3	13.3	4.1	3,524	1,886	599	447	255	152.4	48.9	102.7
Iowa City	40,820	318,164	3.3	15.2	4.1	4,038	1,989	808	594	250	174.0	58.5	114.5
Mason City	27,160	141,892	3.0	13.6	3.1	3,896	1,735	701	555	353	147.0	64.1	81.8
Sioux City	39,620	260,316	3.1	14.6	4.2	3,691	1,675	806	442	192	127.7	52.4	74.0
Waterloo	31,800	206,613	3.3	14.5	3.6	3,627	1,751	690	532	178	149.5	60.2	88.4
Kansas		100		10.5									101.1
lopeka	54,880	432,709	2.8	13.8	3.4	3,823	1,804	757	442	248	154.0	52.1	101.1
Wichita	174,560	1,196,236	3.7	15.0	3.9	4,960	2,437	966	541	297	147.5	61.2	84.9
Kentucky	05 500	000.004	0.0	40.0	0.0	4.400	0.444		000	005	450.4	F0 7	00.1
Covington	35,560	339,291	2.9	12.8	3.3	4,430	2,114	841	398	325	159.1	58.7	99.4
Lexington	152,400	1,359,503	3.6	13.9	3.6	4,872	2,513	862	349	455	153.0	57.4	94.5
Louisville	184,080	1,527,661	3.3	14.1	3.7	5,105	2,482	1,021	361	460	1/6.0	59.6	115.5

with the second s	/	(19 ⁸⁶⁾	1	/	/	stered	bursements	tursements	busenents ces	oursements	bursenents	/	1 Cale
28tertal Ress	Enoles	ast utation	1953 (S	seds in	OVEES 5	A Regis	Reinfundt.	keinin St. Isterne	and at usted	services sed	ans service	SIL	Printal , Physican
Hospital	Nedicate	Total POP	AcuteCar	Hospitalt	Hospitalio	Price Non Ca	Price Adjunt	Price Professio	Price Aditatien	Price Adu He	All Physic	Physicianu	Specialist
Owensboro	17,840	135,989	2.9	13.3	4.0	5,146	2,574	1,072	485	420	134.8	40.9	93.2
Paducah	55,220	354,665	3.9	15.5	3.8	5,131	2,408	1,043	489	523	141.5	50.2	90.3
Louisiana													
Alexandria	32,780	274,229	4.4	17.4	3.7	7,178	3,526	973	479	1,233	164.1	59.5	103.5
Baton Rouge	66,340	775,757	3.5	15.1	3.7	7,227	2,651	1,099	521	1,948	152.5	52.7	99.0
Houma	23,580	251,883	3.9	17.9	4.0	6,959	3,205	1,186	559	1,399	132.2	37.0	95.3
Lafayette	58,240	560,865	4.2	15.3	3.3	5,739	2,646	932	360	939	141.3	48.2	92.3
Lake Charles	24,400	255,156	4.5	19.1	3.9	6,032	3,070	934	371	766	138.7	43.9	94.0
Metairie	40,740	416,838	4.1	17.5	4.3	7,013	3,062	1,233	621	1,376	251.8	68.5	181.8
Monroe	33,080	271,786	5.0	18.8	3.6	7,385	3,014	995	457	1,824	137.4	49.9	86.5
New Orleans	79,100	834,289	5.0	21.3	4.8	7,205	3,178	1,215	492	1,320	220.4	59.4	159.6
Shreveport	82,800	657,767	3.9	17.6	3.3	6,167	3,250	994	461	742	157.4	47.9	108.6
Slidell	15,600	160,715	3.7	15.4	4.2	7,019	3,377	1,137	480	1,118	164.9	46.7	117.5
Maine													
Bangor	55,000	397,915	2.8	14.9	4.0	4,022	1,779	721	488	596	170.3	65.4	103.9
Portland	127,580	970,466	2.6	13.0	3.2	4,094	1,961	793	366	497	200.8	73.0	126.9
Maryland													
Baltimore	270,160	2,309,251	3.0	16.0	4.2	5,240	2,829	1,118	513	264	250.3	82.6	166.7
Salisbury	53,520	330,541	3.0	14.4	3.2	4,820	2,475	1,008	430	224	189.1	62.6	125.5
Takoma Park	61,700	818,509	2.3	10.4	2.6	4,697	2,254	1,345	360	181	277.8	92.2	184.7
Massachusetts													
Boston	536,340	4,456,609	2.6	16.1	3.5	5,564	2,587	975	490	668	260.4	84.7	174.7
Springfield	97,520	718,474	2.6	12.7	2.9	4,322	1,998	781	378	493	202.0	71.9	129.2
Worcester	67,820	721,916	2.3	12.1	3.0	5,377	2,570	907	517	547	215.6	81.2	133.5
Michigan													
Ann Arbor	129,920	1,263,300	2.6	14.2	3.2	5,079	2,508	1,123	540	381	189.7	66.3	122.4
Dearborn	72,500	517,047	3.5	16.8	3.8	5,372	2,771	1,216	484	381	174.0	60.9	112.2
Detroit	225,400	1,874,979	3.8	20.0	4.7	5,321	2,734	1,289	441	350	1/5.8	61.2	113.6
FIINT	57,500	564,745	3.5	17.3	4.0	5,460	2,802	1,279	469	388	163.8	71.6	90.7
	75,000	620.070	2.2	12.0	3.1	3,989	1,902	769	417	2/4	154.1	57.4	95.0
	10,020	030,370	2.8	12.5	3.3	4,477	2,293	841	403	298	100.8	00.2	105.0
Marquette	32 990	204 047	2.9	1/.3	3.7	4,000	2,440	694	014 460	434	174.9	50.5	02.5
Muskegon	35,000	204,947	0.0	14.0	2.1	3 950	1,934	707	409	240	155.0	62.7	92.0 80.0
Petoskey	25 200	162 090	2.1	12.0	2.1	3,000	1,070	101	420	540	169.0	65.2	101.6
Pontiac	36 160	430 414	2.0	14.9	3.4	4,009 5,792	3 128	1 252	425	372	252.5	84.2	167.1
Royal Oak	80,860	667 417	2.0	16.0	4 0	5 452	2 658	1 341	457	424	288.5	102.0	185.2
Saginaw	92 200	644 015	3.3	16.4	3.5	4 489	2,000	919	490	414	155.7	59.9	94.8
St Joseph	19 780	147.378	3.0	14.3	3.4	4 611	2 170	929	524	536	164 1	58.1	105.0
Traverse City	31 660	192.826	2.7	15.1	3.6	3 038	1,830	929	479	372	180.1	70.1	109.0
Minnesota	01,000	132,020	2.1	10.1	5.0	0,000	1,003	000	413	512	100.1	10.1	100.1
Duluth	54 520	333 442	31	11 9	2.8	3 369	1 843	538	354	227	167.0	69.4	96.5
Minneapolis	276 540	2 761 315	2.6	11.0	2.0	3 528	1 917	618	390	169	169.7	68.0	100.5
Rochester	54 480	373 148	2.0	10.6	3.2	3,881	2 234	751	321	112	205.0	70.4	133.6
St Cloud	24.380	215.944	2.8	12.2	3.0	3,539	1.860	719	359	195	150.3	64.6	83.9
St Paul	73 160	897 880	2.0	10.8	2.7	3,771	2 067	623	371	182	188.4	80.4	106.6
0.1 001	10,100	001,000	2.7	10.0	2.1	0,111	2,001	020	011	102	100.4	50.4	100.0

		1	,	,	,	6	sements	cenents	Cenents ces	sements	cements	,	1 alle
Region		5 199 ⁵	99 ⁵)		JE ²	Redisterie	empursticate	einduservill	mbu120.50	empurs	empurstes	/ /	manyCo
Reletion	Enolle	ulaion.	, AND	eds Engli	Nº 1988	iusted	aled I used H	ospite justed ha	and instead	Servi used	att Se cians	nsing	nt Physic
LIDSPITAL	Medicate	Total Pol	AcuteCo	LUDSPITAL	LIOSPERS	Pile Non Con	orice horient	OTICE PTORESSI	Girce Autoatile	orice Home H	NI PHYSIC	onysicial	(Speciality)
`	, i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	`	`	Ì	Ann	, 40,	<i>.</i> 6.	,401.	`40'	,101,	(Ì	5.
Mississippi													
Gulfport	18,880	190,269	4.0	15.2	4.3	7,023	3,147	1,063	500	1,300	173.7	46.1	126.7
Hattiesburg	30,960	269,497	4.7	17.8	4.2	5,595	2,569	1,042	461	850	137.7	42.6	94.5
Jackson	117,660	1,008,214	4.6	16.2	3.6	5,354	2,101	855	476	1,149	149.0	52.3	95.8
Meridian	25,840	196,424	4.7	20.2	5.0	5,574	2,420	1,007	385	934	140.1	54.3	84.5
Oxford	17,480	131,140	4.8	18.9	4.1	5,121	2,247	887	370	1,158	139.7	50.2	88.6
Tupelo	45,080	367,620	4.2	14.4	3.5	5,202	2,469	810	449	985	123.3	46.1	76.3
Missouri						((00.0	10.1	
Cape Girardeau	36,760	256,947	3.1	14.6	3.3	4,383	2,015	763	477	518	136.8	48.4	87.4
Columbia	86,360	614,064	3.0	14.9	3.4	5,776	2,987	888	646	594	157.3	59.4	96.9
Joplin	49,340	323,324	3.6	17.4	4.2	5,432	2,778	909	525	443	150.2	58.4	90.6
Kansas City	231,380	2,115,460	3.1	15.0	3.9	5,205	2,393	1,005	487	469	180.1	65.1	114.1
Springfield	106,080	685,835	3.0	14.6	3.4	4,389	2,119	/84	508	380	144.3	55.7	87.6
St Louis	404,240	3,202,811	3.6	15.6	3.8	4,809	2,422	873	449	401	182.3	63.5	117.9
Montana													
Billings	61,040	500,410	3.0	15.2	3.4	4,351	2,035	804	503	322	177.7	65.0	111.7
Great Falls	20,000	151,554	3.5	18.4	4.1	4,349	2,376	691	474	259	175.4	61.8	112.5
Missoula	41,000	322,927	2.8	12.1	3.0	4,809	2,479	833	406	450	191.7	64.3	126.5
Nebraska													
Lincoln	76,160	527,095	3.2	11.9	3.1	3,550	1,689	749	465	183	134.4	56.3	76.8
Omaha	150,640	1,151,585	3.4	15.9	3.9	4,328	2,244	813	498	238	160.2	58.6	100.6
Nevada	=0.040							(000					(00.0
Las Vegas	78,240	1,039,539	2.2	9.4	2.4	5,278	2,320	1,298	219	653	148.8	47.4	100.6
Reno	61,400	539,845	2.8	11.8	3.1	4,155	1,834	903	346	258	179.9	59.6	119.3
New Hampshire													
Lebanon	52,420	374,665	3.0	14.7	3.6	3,819	1,865	585	506	491	200.8	74.2	125.6
Manchester	81,120	747,835	2.4	11.8	2.6	3,583	1,766	748	343	271	186.3	64.4	120.9
New Jersey													
Camden	349,480	2,544,746	3.1	14.5	3.6	4,562	2,246	1,219	355	268	218.8	73.5	144.2
Hackensack	152,200	1,142,994	3.4	14.7	3.7	4,107	2,004	1,194	302	216	299.6	99.9	198.3
Morristown	104,380	930,015	2.7	11.4	2.5	3,914	1,884	1,110	285	223	249.2	83.7	164.3
New Brunswick	98,200	883,173	2.9	13.8	3.3	4,140	2,156	1,151	236	217	236.4	82.8	152.7
Newark	165,940	1,450,943	4.7	19.6	4.5	4,183	2,162	1,222	281	206	216.6	74.7	141.0
Paterson	40,080	378,389	3.7	15.6	3.2	4,123	2,084	1,166	284	159	189.2	69.0	119.2
Ridgewood	42,460	386,390	2.7	11.8	3.2	3,946	1,893	1,148	277	172	263.2	84.6	177.5
New Mexico													
Albuquerque	106,580	1,384,541	2.4	15.2	3.6	4,382	1,876	780	509	445	194.6	71.0	122.5
New York													
Albany	231,580	1,749,451	3.0	13.3	3.4	4,079	2,067	976	320	239	201.4	66.2	134.1
Binghamton	56,320	378,203	2.7	13.2	2.8	3,626	1,856	781	399	220	172.7	58.5	113.3
Bronx	95,280	1,205,120	4.8	27.6	5.1	5,473	3,289	1,183	399	231	201.1	66.7	133.5
Buffalo	202,440	1,445,723	3.4	15.6	3.7	3,997	2,063	923	350	241	189.9	67.1	121.9
Elmira	53,840	345,998	3.4	15.0	3.6	4,126	2,145	977	410	217	185.7	59.1	125.7
East Long Island	458,840	4,303,545	3.3	14.6	3.6	4,806	2,594	1,301	289	241	2/3.7	96.4	1/6.6
New York	422,100	4,574,772	4.3	21.6	4.7	5,649	3,318	1,326	355	305	260.5	84.6	175.0
Rochester	146,540	1,274,455	2.8	15.2	3.7	3,944	2,161	747	354	336	195.6	72.6	122.1

							ents	-ents	anti-ces	oents	ents		
a jor	/	(1995)	No Contraction of the second	/	1	istered	nousericare	inturservices	Thusen Service	mbursen	nbursent	/	-WCale
alera he	indles	ailon	No.	BERE A	OVEES 25	Pers led	Reill Mer ted	ellinal de pe	and Lo ted	Services ted	Reflicerent ons		nintan onysio
silaRe	hicate L.	al POPULE	11e Care	soitalEll	solia loar	Republication of the second	and ce Adjust t	n endussion	ce Adiustien	Adjuste	or physician	usicians.	cialist
403.	Mec	1000	ACU	HOST	HOUSE	Prior NO	Prio Inp.	840 Pro	Prio On.	Prio Ho.	(b))	844	698
Syracuse	128,300	1,091,054	2.9	13.4	2.7	3,940	2,039	951	324	203	173.2	57.7	114.5
White Plains	120,940	1,063,794	3.3	14.1	3.8	4,551	2,366	1,227	285	207	333.5	105.1	227.0
North Carolina													
Asheville	90,640	522,456	2.6	13.9	3.5	4,051	1,746	869	405	459	181.8	67.6	113.5
Charlotte	194,000	1,689,258	2.8	13.2	3.5	4,466	2,283	881	370	419	158.0	53.2	103.9
Durham	143,580	1,112,805	2.9	15.4	3.5	4,176	2,182	828	397	304	167.0	53.6	112.2
Greensboro	62,220	503,135	2.6	12.0	3.5	3,862	1,956	834	306	260	160.6	55.2	104.4
Greenville	81,940	721,867	3.2	14.3	3.9	4,698	2,498	964	416	336	155.7	52.0	102.9
Hickory	30,060	250,356	3.0	14.2	3.9	4,313	2,290	865	323	305	137.1	47.7	88.6
Raleigh	132,340	1,416,777	2.7	12.8	3.3	4,669	2,431	948	398	394	157.5	53.9	102.7
Wilmington	40,360	315,710	3.1	15.1	3.7	5,290	2,490	1,062	368	637	164.7	54.0	109.9
Winston-Salem	119,000	931,839	2.8	14.0	3.7	4,436	2,367	848	348	342	147.3	49.1	97.3
North Dakota													
Bismarck	31,220	203,420	4.9	20.0	4.5	4,577	2,454	876	515	278	154.5	54.4	98.9
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	69,360	481,267	3.0	12.3	3.1	3,713	1,929	728	421	205	138.7	60.4	76.5
Grand Forks	24,980	178,360	3.9	17.4	4.0	4,404	2,174	725	584	327	147.2	65.8	79.0
Minot	19,260	124,656	5.0	17.6	4.3	4,384	2,360	814	627	181	170.8	69.1	100.7
Ohio													
Akron	86,120	682,339	2.9	17.8	3.4	5,003	2,643	973	400	363	182.0	65.3	115.8
Canton	84,480	621,016	3.0	12.2	2.9	4,261	2,116	960	376	286	148.6	54.2	93.5
Cincinnati	183,500	1,576,226	2.9	14.3	3.6	4,453	2,168	870	458	277	192.8	64.8	127.1
Cleveland	274,040	2,115,071	3.4	16.5	3.8	5,084	2,508	1,028	430	389	210.2	71.0	138.1
Columbus	294,480	2,661,834	3.0	14.5	3.7	4,451	2,269	869	396	294	158.2	57.9	99.3
Dayton	137,400	1,118,493	3.1	16.1	4.3	4,479	2,259	951	402	277	147.7	55.3	91.4
Elyria	29,360	246,230	3.2	13.7	3.4	4,682	2,245	1,050	327	314	162.1	56.6	104.7
Kettering	46,600	376,920	2.6	13.1	3.3	4,302	2,082	967	382	327	210.5	76.7	133.0
Toledo	126,200	993,905	3.1	16.6	4.4	5,099	2,625	1,009	474	308	179.6	63.6	115.1
Youngstown	118,500	696,849	3.5	16.7	4.6	5,218	2,656	1,090	477	392	175.6	66.1	108.6
Oklahoma													
Lawton	23,380	199,870	3.9	14.7	2.4	5,558	2,528	864	539	894	154.1	62.6	90.0
Oklahoma City	198,700	1,624,681	3.5	15.0	3.1	5,488	2,308	910	416	1,168	160.9	58.0	101.8
Tulsa	141,720	1,198,154	3.2	13.8	3.0	5,406	2,246	887	481	1,148	161.9	62.8	98.0
Oregon	00.000	400.400	0.5	40.0		4.044	4 70 4	740	000	740	474.4	00.0	440.0
Bend	20,360	139,460	2.5	10.8	3.9	4,014	1,734	746	336	710	1/1.1	60.2	110.0
Eugene	83,260	643,098	1.9	10.1	3.0	3,533	1,735	680	294	309	1/9.1	/0.1	107.9
	59,100	380,925	2.1	10.4	2.7	3,815	1,802	726	370	400	100.4	62.5	103.0
Poitiand	149,800	2,117,067	1.9	10.2	3.3	3,680	1,802	680	409	265	190.4	68.U	121.4
Salem	26,840	254,854	1./	8.9	2.1	3,410	1,641	632	3/3	238	169.3	57.4	111.0
Allenteur	140.040	1.040.407	0.7	10.0	0.4	4 000	0.044	4.450	204	000	400.7	64.0	445.0
Allentown	149,240	1,046,197	2.7	13.0	3.4	4,802	2,241	1,150	394	369	180.7	64.0	04.2
Alloona	45,500	302,509	3.1	13.3	3.1	5,073	2,434	865	464	532	148.4	53.2	94.3
Danville	74,020	548,307	3.0	13.3	3.0	4,566	2,220	936	558	312	170.3	60.9	108.6
Elle	124,290	139,828	3.3	14.5	3.7	4,870	2,412	9/1	420	3/5	159.8	54.2	104.7
lobostown	124,300	220,027	2.2	10.0	2.3	4,017	2,200	9/0	41/ 62F	210	172.0	66.4	111.2
	42,040	200,917	0.0	10.0	4.0	0,704	3,020	31Z	406	020	1/0.2	50.2	07.5
Landaster	09,400	003,018	2.2	11.1	2.5	4,204	2,090	1,000	400	207	157.8	59.5	97.5

701		1985)	10	/	/	, ered	wisements	wisements	/ 11-Sements ces	Jusements	wirsements	/	Cale
1810 Res	Molles	s (11	(3 ⁹³⁷	sets a	DIRES EL	Peder Let	Reinfundio red	Leining Ser red h	and ab. red	Reinices ed	Reinforticer HITServicer		Aimary anysicat
Hestid Re	NedicaleEL	Total Populo	AcuteCare	HospitalEnn	Hospital-Das	Price Adjust	Price Adjust t	Price Adjussione Price Professione	Price Adjuster	Price Adjust He	All Physical	Physicians I	Specialist
Philadelphia	458,740	3,913,956	3.3	16.6	4.3	5,402	2,782	1,291	372	304	263.5	89.4	173.1
Pittsburgh	509,880	3,057,775	3.6	16.4	4.1	5,545	2,785	1,104	426	495	191.9	64.5	126.4
Reading	81,060	525,543	2.6	12.0	2.8	4,510	2,074	1,008	408	241	166.0	62.4	102.8
Sayre	27,540	196,822	3.3	12.4	3.4	4,053	2,181	776	377	247	158.3	58.1	99.1
Scranton	55,400	299,324	2.9	12.5	3.3	4,779	1,986	1,128	378	528	190.2	69.6	119.7
Wilkes-Barre	44,620	255,080	3.1	13.3	3.0	5,495	2,274	1,131	437	719	200.1	78.6	120.9
York	49,380	359,300	2.1	11.8	3.0	3,683	1,763	812	344	186	161.7	64.3	96.4
Rhode Island													
Providence	145,220	1,151,437	2.4	13.2	2.8	4,511	2,181	956	367	481	209.6	72.4	136.3
South Carolina													
Charleston	81,400	767,555	3.4	16.0	4.8	4,707	2,155	967	464	469	180.0	57.9	121.2
Columbia	111,640	1,036,171	3.0	13.6	3.4	4,000	1,882	846	386	316	163.4	55.1	107.4
Florence	39,820	355,153	4.0	16.2	4.0	4,966	2,412	967	388	574	132.7	50.9	80.4
Greenville	85,700	724,640	2.8	12.1	3.3	4,192	2,108	878	341	316	164.9	58.8	105.2
Spartanburg	43,160	321,110	3.2	14.6	3.3	4,297	2,256	856	357	374	146.2	51.4	93.9
South Dakota													
Rapid City	21,920	194,449	3.7	14.1	3.3	4,335	2,082	775	394	597	172.0	71.6	98.9
Sioux Falls	113,760	715,918	3.9	14.3	4.1	4,081	2,124	783	505	159	149.6	63.6	84.5
Tennessee													
Chattanooga	74,520	587,633	3.3	14.0	3.9	6,012	2,405	937	484	1,522	161.2	55.8	104.6
Jackson	45,660	296,452	3.5	13.6	3.0	5,408	2,289	991	534	1,019	135.0	55.0	79.0
Johnson City	30,680	228,757	3.5	13.7	3.7	5,222	2,503	838	419	808	189.9	72.0	117.3
Kingsport	66,780	475,243	3.9	15.0	3.4	5,343	2,529	781	465	868	160.8	62.5	97.5
Knoxville	148,520	1,147,521	3.3	14.5	3.2	5,431	2,406	911	414	1,181	164.7	60.1	103.7
Memphis	179,440	1,656,593	3.8	15.7	3.5	5,176	2,399	998	361	776	149.9	49.5	99.6
Nashville	240,580	2,132,830	3.4	13.5	3.6	6,000	2,579	936	470	1,258	168.4	57.7	109.8
Abilana	42,000	270.004	2.4	45.0	2.4	E 705	2 2 2 2	960	400	4 000	454.0	55.0	07.0
Abliene	43,860	279,801	3.4	15.2	3.4	5,735	2,339	002	490	1,289	154.0	50.8	97.2
Amannio	77.090	1 014 297	4.0	9.4	1.0	3,403	2,300	045	422	977	170.2	54.0	97.0
Resument	F9 690	444.002	1.0	16.0	1.9	4,470	2 1 2 2	1 1 2 2	500	1 620	162.9	02.0 55.7	106.2
Brian	17,760	109 122	4.0	10.9	2.9	4 702	1 770	902	169	707	145.2	59.7	95.7
Corous Christi	48.020	527 470	2.3	15.3	3.1	6,875	2 694	1 107	400	1 501	145.5	55 1	100.8
Dallas	280.040	3 350 616	2.9	13.3	3.6	5 546	2,034	1,107	430	870	168.3	54.0	113 /
El Paso	70 1/10	027.060	2.5	10.3	2.5	5 215	2,321	832	364	847	1/1 7	41.6	00.8
Fort Worth	126 140	1 543 710	2.0	12.3	3.2	5 783	2,393	950	437	1 029	152.8	53.0	99.0
Harlingen	42 320	433 491	2.0	11.1	2.6	7 264	3 324	1 052	407	1,023	100.4	34.0	65.8
Houston	325 460	4,654 165	3.4	15.6	3.5	6 216	2 894	1 074	497	827	171.3	53.4	117 1
Longview	23,360	178 258	2.8	13.4	3.7	5,319	2 333	968	469	755	138.0	48.9	88.1
Lubbock	76 480	654 516	4.5	15.3	3.5	6.039	2,000	987	481	1 013	153.0	54.5	97.3
Mcallen	32 800	419 177	2.3	8.3	2.3	8,384	3 723	1,141	434	2,380	88.2	33.8	53.3
Odessa	31,000	318 045	3.5	14.2	3.0	5 791	2 516	1 079	346	889	124.3	36.4	87.6
San Angelo	21 680	154 120	3.8	13.6	3.3	5 445	2 464	916	562	904	156.5	50.7	104.9
San Antonio	163.060	2,005.038	2.7	11.9	2.8	6,434	2.490	1.058	496	1,445	182.7	55.9	126.0
Temple	30.360	369.253	2.2	11.9	2.4	4,345	2.170	650	431	561	124.1	44.9	78.1
Tyler	70,720	452,122	3.3	15.9	3.5	6,294	2,532	1,083	673	1,050	164.1	57.9	105.1

digt		(198 ⁵⁾	1	/	/	stered	bursements	tursements	Jursements ces	oursements	bulsenents	/	, Cale
Referral Ress	e End	iless	(1951	Beds	01885	Regis insted	Reinfunedu	sential se dee dee dee dee dee dee dee dee dee	and Lat wisted	Services used	am Service	nsin	ninally st Physics
Hestiga	Nedicate	TotaPor	AcuteCo	Hospital	Hospital	Price Non-Co	Price ACTient	Price Professiv	Price ACC alle	Price Aone Fr	AIIPMSI	Physicia	Speciality
Victoria	18,340	140,251	4.0	15.2	3.6	5,818	2,479	919	466	1,114	156.7	54.9	101.0
Waco	41,020	292,850	2.6	11.4	2.3	3,761	1,609	708	408	515	151.4	54.9	95.7
Wichita Falls	28,560	196,171	3.4	12.8	2.5	5,415	2,117	919	435	888	172.2	60.1	111.1
Utah													
Ogden	27,380	343,189	2.3	11.2	2.9	3,980	1,582	637	330	943	137.1	41.7	95.3
Provo	25,700	352,423	2.3	11.0	2.8	4,474	1,852	669	368	1,002	131.5	43.5	87.6
Salt Lake City	134,000	1,553,931	2.6	13.3	3.5	4,165	1,747	658	370	737	155.6	48.3	107.1
Vermont													
Burlington	68,420	617,328	2.7	14.4	3.2	4,035	2,108	773	450	389	192.7	74.0	117.7
Virginia													
Arlington	100,640	1,653,868	1.9	8.2	2.2	3,871	1,820	1,015	317	241	208.3	70.2	137.1
Charlottesville	58,780	462,687	2.6	13.8	3.8	4,185	2,171	784	466	254	188.2	63.1	124.0
Lynchburg	30,060	220,257	2.8	10.5	3.7	2,929	1,483	675	322	144	145.6	53.6	91.1
Newport News	50,760	511,940	2.7	11.0	2.5	3,961	1,791	969	340	380	181.0	62.3	117.7
Norfolk	108,020	1,194,664	2.9	12.6	3.5	4,539	2,222	1,049	405	335	192.7	63.1	128.8
Richmond	152,100	1,356,790	3.0	13.2	3.9	4,072	2,102	957	316	282	174.7	63.7	110.1
Roanoke	94,860	669,247	3.5	14.0	3.6	4,234	2,193	/86	334	412	1//.1	63.0	113.2
Winchester	38,040	323,755	2.9	11./	3.2	4,133	2,264	//2	302	356	159.1	51.2	107.0
wasnington	40.500	500.000	4.0	0.0	0.4	4.070	4.000	000	400	070	470.0	05.4	400.0
Everen	40,520	010,893	1.0	9.3	2.4	4,072	1,808	810	483	270	173.3	62.0	100.9
Civilipia	109,460	313,308	1.0	9.0	2.2	4,021	1,800	019	301	308	210.2	80.0	100.0
Spakana	144 990	2,323,430	1.0	10.7	2.0	4,000	1,002	031	272	290	172.2	65.9	105.0
	56 160	654 629	2.0	10.2	2.1	4,010	1,040	956	425	297	172.2	50.9	110.0
Yakima	27 800	254 946	2.3	10.4	2.2	4,200	2 025	891	420	334	161.4	63.7	96.0
West Virginia	21,000	234,340	2.5	10.4	2.1	4,230	2,025	031	331	334	101.4	05.7	30.0
Charleston	125 280	868 182	3.8	15.7	3.7	5.085	2 685	819	433	483	167.0	65.5	100.5
Huntington	49 920	355 646	3.8	15.4	4.3	4 701	2,000	978	325	218	167.3	61.5	104.9
Morgantown	57,720	386.430	3.0	14.0	3.2	5,156	2,660	811	480	380	174.1	64.9	108.5
Wisconsin	0.,.20	100,.00	0.0		5.2	2,100	_1000			500			
Appleton	37,000	282,642	2.4	10.0	2.5	3,323	1,550	690	432	83	142.4	58.4	82.7
Green Bay	66,920	471,256	2.6	11.7	3.0	3,671	1,746	723	460	207	143.0	51.9	90.2
La Crosse	47,560	332,104	2.8	11.7	3.0	3,215	1,743	624	292	165	159.2	60.8	97.4
Madison	110,940	935,588	2.6	12.3	3.0	3,812	1,980	669	351	272	168.7	69.1	98.7
Marshfield	53,320	356,526	3.1	10.7	2.9	3,768	1,934	805	341	227	174.5	68.2	105.2
Milwaukee	280,300	2,405,169	2.8	12.9	3.2	4,231	2,108	877	434	175	190.3	64.4	124.9
Neenah	28,400	212,358	2.7	11.6	3.0	4,339	2,172	831	465	197	163.7	57.0	105.9
Wausau	27,340	179,319	2.5	11.7	2.9	3,988	1,816	872	434	249	168.4	65.0	102.5
Wyoming													
Casper	21,060	170,887	4.2	17.0	4.5	4,889	2,475	730	502	640	177.3	69.6	106.6
United States													
United States	28,341,260	262,306,124	3.0	13.7	3.4	4,878	2,315	1,004	408	495	188.9	65.0	122.9

CHAPTER THREE

Variation, Practice Style and Hospital Capacity

Variation, Practice Style and Hospital Capacity

Medical science and medical opinion narrowly constrain clinical decisions about some conditions. For example, the severity of the illness dictates that patients with hip fracture are almost always hospitalized. But in treating other conditions, physicians have a good deal of discretion; for example, not all patients who break their arms are hospitalized. In these cases, physicians differ in their propensity to treat patients either in or outside the hospital and in their inclination to use surgery or to treat the fracture with a cast. Differences in clinical decision making such as these are the immediate source of a good deal of the variation in rates of service among hospital referral regions. Although the patterns of practice vary across regions, they are to a remarkable degree constant within a region from year to year. These patterns of practice create practice profiles. Health service researchers have dubbed these patterns the region's surgical and medical signatures.

This chapter asks several questions:

- How much variability is there in the rates of hospitalization?
- Do most conditions have the low variation pattern of hospitalization exhibited by hip fracture? Or are most conditions highly variable, suggesting the influence of practice style on rates of hospitalization?
- How much of the variation in the rates of hospitalization is associated with hospital capacity?

Most hospitalizations are for conditions that have high or very high patterns of variation in their discharge rates. Medical discharges are more variable than surgical discharges. For medical conditions, the majority of variation is associated with hospital capacity (as measured by the per capita supply of hospital beds).

Practice Style and Hospitalization for Hip, Ankle and Forearm Fractures

Medical decision making about treatment for patients with hip fractures is narrowly constrained by the dictates of medical science and patient needs.

- It is virtually certain that patients will seek care. Hip fractures are very painful, and patients whose hips are fractured cannot walk. The need for immediate medical help is easily recognized.
- Correct diagnosis of hip fracture, by physical examination or X-ray, is virtually certain.
- The likelihood that the attending physician will recommend hospitalization for a patient with hip fracture is a virtual certainty, both because hip fracture is a lifethreatening injury, and because the medical profession agrees unanimously on the need for hospitalization for treatment.

As a result, the probability that physicians will accurately diagnose and prescribe hospitalization for patients with fractured hips approaches 100%.

Similarly, all patients with ankle or forearm fractures will seek care, and the correct diagnosis will be made. But the conditions themselves are not so severe that all patients suffering with them need to be hospitalized. Moreover, physicians differ in their opinions about the benefits of available treatments, some preferring to treat with surgery, which requires hospitalization, others preferring to use a cast, which can be applied in an outpatient setting. Consequently, the probability that a given physician will prescribe hospitalization for a patient with ankle or forearm fracture is less than 100%.

In a study of hip fractures among the Medicare population, 99% of cases were hospitalized, and the hospitalization rate and the incidence rate were closely correlated (R^2 =.99). But among patients with ankle fractures, only 41% were hospitalized, and only about one-third of the variation in hospitalization rates among regions was explained by variation in incidence (R^2 = .33). Only 35% of patients with forearm fractures were hospitalized, and a little more than 25% of the variation in hospitalization was associated with incidence (R^2 =.27).

The Pattern of Variation In Hospitalizations for Hip, Ankle, and Forearm Fractures

Figure 3.1 demonstrates the variability in hospitalization rates of ankle and forearm fractures, compared to hip fractures. Hospitalizations for ankle fractures are more variable than hospitalization for hip fractures; and hospitalizations for forearm fracture are more variable than hospitalizations for ankle fractures.

Epidemiologists sometimes use the interquartile ratio as a measure of variation. This statistic is the ratio of the rate in the region ranked at the 75th percentile to



Figure 3.1. Ratios of Hospitalization Rates for Hip, Ankle and Forearm Fractures to the U.S. Average (1994-95) A log scale, centered about the national average (1.0), was used for clarity. Hospitalizations for hip fractures have a low-variation pattern; the rate closely reflects the incidence of the condition. The variability in the rates of hospitalizations for ankle and forearm fractures reflects the importance of practice style as a determinant of hospitalization rates. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.


Table 3.1. Measures of Variation in Hospitalization Rates For Hip, Ankle and Forearm Fractures (1994-95) *Hospitalization rates for hip, ankle and forearm fractures are ranked from low to high according to the systematic component of variation (SCV). The SCV of hospitalizations for ankle fractures is almost 4 times greater than the SCV of hospitalizations for hip fractures; and the SCV of hospitalizations for forearm fractures is almost 9 times greater than the SCV of ankle fractures. The differences in variability are statistically and clinically significant. The extremal ratio (calculated by dividing the rate of the highest region by the rate of the lowest region) of hip fracture is 2.0; of ankle fracture 6.0; and of forearm fracture, 17.7. (See the Appendix on Methods for a description of the Systematic Component of Variation.)*

the rate in the region ranked at the 25th percentile. For hospitalization for hip fracture, the interquartile ratio is 1.18; for ankle fracture it is 1.29; and for forearm fracture it is 1.46.

Table 3.1 gives the number of regions with rates that are 30% or more above the national average, as well as the number with rates that are more than 25% below the national average. By definition, when variability increases, more regions have rates that are substantially different from the average. In the case of hospitalization for hip fracture, there is only one region with a rate more than 25% below the national average, and no region is 30% or more above the average. In contrast, thirty-three regions have rates of hospitalization for ankle fracture more than 25% below the national average, and 20 regions are 30% or more above the national average. Sixty-eight regions have rates of hospitalization for forearm fracture that are more than 25% below the national average, and 31 regions are 30% or more above the national average.

Variation in Rates of Hospitalization for Hip, Ankle, and Forearm Fractures

There is relatively little variation in the rates of hospitalization for hip fracture. No regions are 30% or more above the national average; only one is more than 25% below the average. Hospitalization rates are closely correlated with the incidence rate of hip fracture. Rates are higher than average in parts of the South and in Texas, and lower than average in parts of New York, the Midwest, Utah, Southern Idaho and Western Oregon (Map 3.1). The rates of hospitalization for ankle fracture are more variable than for hip fracture. Twenty regions are 30% or more above the national average; 33 are more than 25% below the national average (Map 3.2). Rates of hospitalizations for forearm fractures are the most variable: 31 regions are 30% or more above the national average, and 68 are more than 25% below it. Unlike rates of hospitalization for hip fracture, hospitalization rates for ankle and forearm fractures do not closely follow the incidence of the injury (Maps 3.2 and 3.3). Rates in neighboring regions are sometimes at the extremes, as indicated by the contrasting blue (high rate) and green (low rate) regions on the maps.



Map 3.1. Ratio of Rates of Hospitalization for Hip Fracture to the U.S. Average (1994-95) Hospitalization rates for hip fracture are closely correlated with incidence rates; there is relatively little variation among hospital referral regions.



Map 3.3. Ratio of Rates of Hospitalization for Forearm Fracture to the U.S. Average (1994-95) Hospitalization rates for forearm fracture are not closely related to incidence rates, and vary widely among regions.

0.38 to <0.75 (68) Not Populated

Variation in Rates of Hospitalization

Is the low variation in rates of hospitalization for hip fracture the exception, or the rule? If hospitalizations for most conditions had low variation, then professional discretion — practice style— would not have an influence on the health care economy. On the other hand, if the rates of hospitalizations for most conditions were as variable — or even more variable — than the rates of hospitalizations for ankle or forearm fractures, the implications would be quite different.

Research conducted in conjunction with the Atlas examined the pattern of variation in hospitalizations among the national Medicare population by "modified diagnosisrelated groups" (M-DRGs). Variations in rates were calculated for 103 M-DRGs, 60 for medical and 43 for surgical hospitalizations. (See Appendix on Methods for definition of M-DRGs). The amount of variation was estimated using the systematic coefficient of variation (SCV). The M-DRGs were then put into four groups, according to their SCVs:

SCV less than hip fracture	Low Variation Conditions
SCV between hip and ankle fractures	Moderate Variation Conditions
SCV between ankle and forearm	High Variation Conditions
SCV greater than forearm fractures	Very High Variation Conditions

Most hospitalizations were for high or very high variation conditions (Figure 3.2).

■ Medical hospitalizations constituted 70.3% of all Medicare hospitalizations in 1995. None of the 60 M-DRGs had hospitalization rates that were less variable than the hospitalization rate for hip fracture. Only 6 M-DRGs, representing 13.8% of medical hospitalizations, were "moderately variable" conditions. Twenty-five M-DRGs (49.2% of all medical hospitalizations) were "high variation," and 29 (37.0% of medical hospitalizations) were "very high variation" — that is, they exhibited greater variation than hospitalizations for fractures of the forearm.

■ Surgical hospitalizations constituted 29.7% of Medicare hospitalizations in 1995. Two of the 43 surgical M-DRGs, representing 11.3% of hospitalizations for surgical M-DRGs, were less variable than hospitalizations for hip fracture; 15 (34.2% of surgical M-DRGs) were moderately variable. The rates of 54.5% of hospitalizations for surgical M-DRGs were more variable than the rates of hospitalization for ankle fractures; the rates of 15 M-DRGs (35.7% of surgical M-DRGs) and 11 M-DRGs (18.8% of surgical M-DRGs) were classified as "high" or "very high" variation procedures.



Figure 3.2. Percent of Hospitalizations for Medical and Surgical Major Diagnosis-Related Groups According to Degree of Variation (1994-95) The figure shows the proportion of medical and surgical M-DRGs according to the degree of variation in their discharge rates. Most causes of hospitalization have high or very high patterns of variation. The number of M-DRGs in each group is given in parentheses.

Discharges for Surgical and Medical Conditions

Discharges for surgical conditions were less variable than discharges for medical conditions. In 1994-95, the rate of surgical discharges per thousand Medicare enrollees varied by a factor of almost two among hospital referral regions (Map 3.4). The rate in the lowest region was 64.5 discharges per thousand enrollees; in the highest region it was 119.8 per thousand enrollees.

Surgical discharges were higher in parts of Michigan, the Middle Atlantic states, Alabama, Louisiana, Texas and California. Rates were lower in Alaska and Hawaii and in parts of the Northeast, Northwest and Southwest.

The rate of medical discharges per thousand Medicare enrollees varied by a factor of almost three (Map 3.5). The rate in the lowest region was 122.3 discharges per thousand enrollees; in the highest region it was 353.5 per thousand enrollees.

Medical discharges were highest in the South, the Dakotas, Montana, the Chicago area, parts of Michigan, New York and New Jersey. Rates of medical discharges were low throughout most of West, particularly in Utah, Idaho, Oregon and Washington.



Rates of discharges for medical conditions varied by a factor of almost 3.

The Surgical Signature

There are striking differences in the likelihood of undergoing particular surgical procedures such as prostate operations, back surgery and coronary artery bypass grafting, even among neighboring regions with very similar populations. Because the differences in rates tend to persist from year to year, communities become recognizable by their "surgical signatures."

Surgical signatures reflect the practice patterns of individual physicians and local medical culture, rather than differences in need — or even differences in the local supply of surgeons. For example, neighboring regions with about the same per capita numbers of urologists can have very different surgical signatures for prostate surgery. The seven southwest Florida hospital referral regions bounded on the north by the Hudson region and, on the south, the Fort Myers region, provide a good example of this phenomenon (Map 3.6).



Map 3.6. Southwest Florida Hospital Referral Regions

Surgical signatures often vary substantially from one community to another, even in areas which are demographically similar. The retirement communities of southwest Florida (Hudson, Clearwater, St. Petersburg, Tampa, Bradenton, Sarasota and Fort Myers) provide a good example of the idiosyncratic way in which surgical signatures vary in contiguous communities. The following pages illustrate the sometimes striking contrasts in the risks of surgical intervention among Medicare enrollees, depending on where they live.



Figure 3.3.The Urological Surgical Signature Of Seven Southwest Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio of rates of urologists and of prostate surgery relative to the national average. Although the number of urologists per 100,000 residents is nearly the same in each of the seven hospital referral regions, the amount and kind of prostate surgery varies substantially. The urologists treating patients who live in the Hudson hospital referral region perform surgery for benign prostatic hyperplasia ("TURP for BPH") at a rate 18% higher than the national average, but perform relatively little surgery (27% below the national average) for prostate cancer (radical prostatectomy). Urologists treating Medicare residents of the St. Petersburg hospital referral region perform 2.6 times more radical prostate procedures per 1,000 male Medicare enrollees than the urologists treating residents of the neighboring Tampa hospital referral region, rates for both procedures are below the national average; in Sarasota, surgery for benign prostate disease is below the national average but rates of surgery for prostate cancer are 1.8 times the national average. The urologists serving Medicare residents of the Fort Myers hospital referral region perform more surgery for prostate cancer than the national average, but less surgery than the national average for benign prostate cancer than the national average.



Figure 3.4. The Surgical Signatures of Seven Southwestern Florida Hospital Referral Regions for Five Common Procedures (1994-95) The overall rate of surgery in each of these communities is close to the national average. However, as in the case of prostate surgery, the likelihood of undergoing specific procedures differs markedly from one community to another. Medicare residents of the St. Petersburg hospital referral region underwent carotid endarterectomy at a rate that was twice the national average. By contrast, Medicare residents of the St. Petersburg hospital referral region had the lowest rate of coronary artery bypass grafting among the seven regions. Surgeons treating Medicare residents of the Fort Myers hospital referral region perform back surgery at twice the national average. For each of the five procedures, rates among Medicare residents of the Tampa hospital referral region are close to the national average. See Chapter Five for a discussion of the clinical reasons for variation in the use of these procedures.

The Medical Signature

The patterns of variation in the discharge rates for medical conditions have their own recognizable "medical signatures." The medical signature, however, is strikingly unlike the surgical signature. The typical surgical signature reflects the idiosyncratic way in which surgery varies — high rates of one procedure and low rates of another. Moreover, the overall likelihood of having surgery (the total surgical discharge rate) does not correlate closely with the likelihood of having any specific procedure.

By contrast, the risk of hospitalization for a specific high variation medical condition tends to be closely associated with the total discharge rate for all medical conditions in the hospital referral region. Indeed, the practice profiles captured by the medical signature suggest that the rules governing decisions about whether to hospitalize patients (rather than treat them elsewhere) are subject to a kind of "thermostat" of supply, set for the hospital referral region, that establishes the level of risk of hospitalization for high variation medical conditions. The level at which the thermostat is set is independent of morbidity levels in the community or the specific condition for which the patient is being treated.

The populations living in the Boston and New Haven hospital service areas, which are remarkably similar in demographic features and other factors that predict the need for care, provide a good example of the thermostat effect. Most Bostonians and New Havenites, when they are hospitalized, are admitted to hospitals associated with some of the nation's most prestigious medical schools. Such an advantage would seem to assure that the residents of these communities are treated in the best, most scientific, high-quality way. Yet studies dating back to the mid 1970s show, year in and year out, that the per capita amount of hospital care provided to Boston residents has been much greater than the amount provided to residents of New Haven. The most consistent differences in hospital care between the two hospital markets are in the capacity of hospitals and the associated discharge rates for high variation medical conditions.



Figure 3.5. Acute Care Hospital Resources and the Medical Signatures of the Boston and New Haven Hospital Service Areas (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio of hospital resources and discharge rates for all medical discharges and selected high and very high variation medical M-DRGs, relative to the national average. In numbers of hospital beds, personnel, and hospital-employed registered nurses allocated to care of the local population, Boston is well above the national average, but New Haven is below it. There is an increased likelihood of hospitalization among Bostonians, compared to residents of New Haven. The increase in rates among Bostonians range from 1.14 for uncomplicated pneumonia to 3.06 for bronchitis and asthma. The rate of hospitalization for all medical discharges is 1.61 times greater.

The Association Between Hospital Beds and Hospitalizations for Hip Fracture and Medical and Surgical Conditions

The influence of the supply of hospital beds on clinical decision making does not uniformly apply to all conditions. Because the incidence of hip fracture determines the rate of hospitalization for hip fracture victims, one would expect that the local supply of hospital beds would have little influence on the rate at which patients with broken hips are hospitalized. The data bear this out; there is almost no correlation ($R^2 = .08$) between the supply of beds and the rates of discharges for hip fracture (Figure 3.6).

The local supply of hospital beds has a modest relationship with the discharge rates for surgical conditions ($R^2 = .22$). The supply of hospital beds has virtually no relationship with discharge rates for low variation procedures ($R^2 = .05$) or with moderate variation surgical procedures ($R^2 = .04$) (plot not shown).

In the case of common medical conditions, however, the local supply of staffed hospital beds has a critical influence on the relative risk of hospitalization. The association between hospital beds per thousand residents and hospitalization rates for medical conditions is strong ($R^2 = .56$), indicating that beds account for the majority of variation in hospitalization rates. Even the hospitalization rates for moderate variation medical conditions are strongly associated with bed capacity ($R^2 = .45$) (plot not shown).

71



Hospital Beds per 1,000 residents of HRRs

Figure 3.6. The Association Between Allocated Hospital Beds and Medicare Hospitalizations for Medical and Surgical Care and for Hip Fracture (1994-95)

The hospitalization rate for medical conditions is strongly correlated with bed supply ($R^2 = .56$); surgical hospitalizations are less strongly correlated ($R^2 = .22$); and hip fracture hospitalizations have little correlation ($R^2 = .08$).

Chapter Three Table Rates are adjusted for differences in age, sex, and race composition of areas' populations. The rates represent the health care utilization of persons living in the specified area, regardless of where services were obtained. Hospitalization rates are per thousand enrollees and are for the years 1994-95. Data exclude Medicare enrollees who were members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations. Specific codes used to define the numerator for rates, and methods of age, sex, and race adjustment are given in the Appendix on Methods.

CHAPTER THREE TABLE

Hospitalizations for Total, All Surgical, All Medical, and Selected Medical Conditions Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

28jor		/	/	Fracture	/	od Asthma	/	/	1.15	/	/	TRACT	monia	Je ⁵
astatt	JIE	- Child	e inali	151.	ochit	is all	- actor	is the	Hern	108	SSX AU	Inary sole	Pheur ald	schart al Di
ussital	LIPFISCIU	NIHE FIRE	adiusUn	C.O.P.D.	NON BIOL	CHE	Angina Po	(Adult Gab	Celluitis	Ciabetes	(idney and	AdultSimir	NIMEdicc	NISUGICO
*	X	<i>⁶</i> .	*	0	~		r	r	0		1 Her	~	4	4.
Alabama														
Birmingham	9.2	0.80	0.61	14.4	3.6	22.5	3.9	13.4	3.4	3.0	9.2	16.1	283.3	113.8
Dothan	8.7	0.67	0.67	19.5	5.9	29.4	7.2	19.1	5.1	3.6	8.9	21.2	321.3	103.4
Huntsville	8.7	0.72	0.59	11.7	3.9	27.6	4.1	12.6	2.5	3.3	7.9	13.3	256.0	100.0
Mobile	8.5	0.74	0.56	15.0	3.6	24.8	4.8	13.6	3.6	2.9	7.7	16.8	280.9	112.2
Montgomery	8.7	0.72	0.60	15.8	3.4	24.6	4.4	13.0	3.4	2.9	6.5	12.5	262.6	104.6
Tuscaloosa	8.9	0.54	0.66	15.3	4.0	21.7	4.4	19.9	4.5	3.9	11.4	19.3	287.9	101.6
Alaska														
Anchorage	7.3	0.72	0.36	11.9	2.3	19.1	5.2	8.9	3.0	1.8	5.8	17.9	220.6	78.3
Arizona														
Mesa	7.7	0.44	0.33	8.3	1.4	14.7	3.9	5.4	1.7	1.3	4.0	13.3	162.9	89.4
Phoenix	8.4	0.60	0.37	8.6	1.6	15.3	4.2	6.8	2.2	1.6	5.1	13.2	181.7	92.8
Sun City	7.0	0.49	0.35	5.6	1.0	9.7	2.7	4.4	1.1	0.8	2.8	7.8	129.8	97.3
Tucson	8.0	0.56	0.40	8.3	1.6	14.4	4.1	6.6	2.1	1.7	4.5	11.6	172.9	86.3
Arkansas														
Fort Smith	9.4	0.59	0.33	13.4	2.8	30.0	7.7	10.4	2.6	2.8	6.9	18.9	279.4	91.6
Jonesboro	8.7	0.80	0.52	15.5	4.2	24.7	6.0	12.8	2.7	4.2	9.4	20.0	272.5	102.5
Little Rock	8.9	0.68	0.54	12.4	3.8	23.6	4.7	13.2	2.7	3.2	7.6	17.6	264.5	100.5
Springdale	8.5	0.63	0.39	8.2	2.8	22.5	4.4	11.5	2.0	2.1	5.7	16.2	219.5	89.2
Texarkana	8.9	0.85	0.62	17.0	4.2	28.7	6.4	11.6	3.3	3.8	9.3	21.7	298.4	98.3
California														
Orange Co.	7.8	0.56	0.37	8.8	1.6	19.2	4.5	6.6	2.4	1.8	6.0	12.1	201.5	90.2
Bakersfield	8.4	0.65	0.36	9.3	1.9	21.0	7.3	6.7	2.6	2.5	7.5	20.4	219.9	100.4
Chico	8.5	0.68	0.41	8.5	1.1	16.6	5.7	6.5	1.9	1.5	6.0	13.9	191.0	99.7
Contra Costa Co.	7.3	0.71	0.49	6.2	1.1	14.6	3.0	5.3	1.7	1.2	3.9	11.6	168.4	83.2
Fresno	7.2	0.48	0.24	6.4	1.3	17.7	5.1	4.8	1.5	1.5	5.5	14.1	168.3	86.3
Los Angeles	7.6	0.57	0.52	10.8	2.0	22.4	5.9	7.4	3.3	2.5	7.5	13.6	232.6	98.1
Modesto	8.1	0.61	0.34	11.0	1.3	19.0	6.1	6.2	2.0	1.7	6.1	18.6	212.7	92.2
Napa	7.8	0.79	0.29	7.5	0.7	15.7	3.7	5.5	2.0	1.1	4.0	15.1	189.2	109.3
Alameda Co.	7.1	0.66	0.40	6.9	1.1	19.5	3.0	5.1	2.0	1.4	3.3	10.8	185.5	87.4
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	8.4	0.63	0.43	7.2	1.1	14.6	4.2	6.3	2.0	1.4	5.3	12.1	180.8	108.9
Redding	7.2	0.89	0.37	7.9	1.0	14.8	2.7	5.6	1.7	1.1	5.5	13.6	178.2	102.7
Sacramento	7.9	0.66	0.41	7.9	1.2	16.6	3.8	6.3	2.1	1.3	4.3	14.3	185.8	86.2
Salinas	6.9	0.61	0.47	6.5	1.3	13.7	3.9	6.8	1.7	1.3	3.7	10.3	160.5	100.9
San Bernardino	8.9	0.58	0.50	12.5	2.1	21.4	9.9	8.0	2.9	2.7	7.2	17.0	241.2	98.9
San Diego	7.7	0.58	0.41	8.7	1.2	16.7	3.8	5.7	2.1	1.7	5.1	11.5	177.3	90.8
San Francisco	6.8	0.67	0.46	5.7	1.3	16.6	3.2	4.5	2.4	1.3	3.4	10.6	174.3	76.5
San Jose	6.6	0.49	0.30	6.0	1.1	15.7	3.1	4.6	1.9	1.5	3.5	11.1	166.0	83.3
San Luis Obispo	7.0	0.76	0.49	4.8	1.5	12.8	5.3	6.9	1.6	1.5	3.3	11.2	158.8	91.3
San Mateo Co.	7.2	0.52	0.34	4.4	1.2	13.6	2.0	4.1	1.9	1.3	2.6	9.2	145.0	80.5
Santa Barbara	7.9	0.50	0.33	5.4	1.1	13.4	3.3	5.4	1.7	1.1	4.5	10.4	152.0	92.8

-silon		/	/	cracture	/	Asthna	/	/	1.5	/	/	1 act	nonia	185
Relevant	ture	, actur	le imali	Mist	man	its and	and the second s	is stor	teritu	19	35t nell	inary mpe	Pheum	Jschalls .call
Hospita	HIPFIEL	Antie Fit	Radiusic	C.O.P.D.	Adult Bro	CHE	Angina	Adult Go	Celulitis	Diabetes	Kidney ans	AdultSh	All Medic	AIISUIGU
Santa Cruz	6.7	0.60	0.22	5.9	1.0	16.1	6.3	5.1	1.6	1.0	3.7	11.1	163.7	87.7
Santa Rosa	6.9	0.77	0.47	7.0	1.1	16.3	1.9	5.4	2.0	1.0	2.5	10.4	171.1	86.3
Stockton	8.1	0.55	0.45	9.2	1.7	19.4	4.4	5.8	1.9	1.7	5.2	12.6	194.0	98.1
Ventura	7.7	0.59	0.23	6.8	1.7	14.0	5.1	6.9	1.8	1.4	5.1	11.2	177.5	97.5
Colorado														
Boulder	8.1	0.20	0.18	12.6	2.0	12.7	5.1	6.8	2.0	1.2	3.3	10.4	167.2	87.4
Colorado Springs	8.3	0.67	0.39	7.6	1.5	12.5	4.2	8.4	1.7	1.6	3.9	15.7	180.5	85.4
Denver	8.4	0.60	0.37	8.1	1.9	14.4	3.7	8.0	2.6	1.7	4.1	13.6	182.1	85.3
Fort Collins	8.0	0.49	0.36	7.1	2.5	10.5	2.8	9.2	2.0	1.3	3.8	13.1	172.3	96.9
Grand Junction	7.0	0.55	0.30	7.2	1.8	13.5	5.0	8.1	1.6	1.4	3.5	10.8	166.4	84.2
Greeley	8.1	0.75	0.59	10.3	2.3	15.4	5.4	11.0	2.1	1.6	4.0	14.5	193.9	95.1
Pueblo	8.5	0.53	0.55	6.2	1.9	13.9	2.8	7.7	2.0	1.9	3.5	14.1	179.5	93.0
Connecticut														
Bridgeport	7.4	0.54	0.32	6.1	2.0	17.3	5.4	5.6	2.9	1.8	3.2	10.6	177.3	88.0
Hartford	7.0	0.65	0.37	7.0	1.3	16.5	7.2	5.8	2.7	1.7	3.6	12.3	176.1	90.6
New Haven	7.0	0.59	0.38	6.9	1.4	16.7	5.2	6.1	3.3	1.6	4.3	13.2	185.6	91.9
Delaware														
Wilmington	8.0	0.62	0.54	10.6	2.4	21.6	5.7	7.8	2.6	2.4	5.2	13.7	215.3	94.0
District of Colum	ıbia													
Washington	7.7	0.73	0.39	10.2	2.4	21.9	7.5	7.4	3.1	2.5	6.2	13.9	229.1	95.9
Florida														
Bradenton	7.4	0.43	0.17	7.1	1.3	15.0	3.8	7.5	1.3	1.1	3.3	7.7	162.1	94.0
Clearwater	8.4	0.45	0.36	9.4	1.7	18.1	4.5	8.4	1.8	1.7	4.6	7.4	204.2	104.0
Fort Lauderdale	8.0	0.49	0.35	7.6	1.5	18.7	5.6	5.7	2.6	1.5	3.4	6.6	190.2	95.7
Fort Myers	7.6	0.55	0.40	8.4	1.2	17.5	3.2	6.5	1.7	1.7	3.8	7.6	176.1	98.9
Gainesville	8.3	0.45	0.28	13.0	2.2	22.5	7.3	10.8	26	2.1	71	15.7	220.0	88.5
Hudson	7.6								2.0				229.9	00.0
Jacksonville		0.44	0.32	12.5	2.3	24.0	7.8	9.6	2.1	2.2	5.1	8.1	237.7	108.6
	8.5	0.44 0.53	0.32 0.37	12.5 13.1	2.3 2.3	24.0 25.0	7.8 4.3	9.6 9.1	2.1 2.9	2.2 2.2	5.1 8.2	8.1 13.0	229.9 237.7 248.6	108.6 99.2
Lakeland	8.5 7.7	0.44 0.53 0.52	0.32 0.37 0.26	12.5 13.1 9.7	2.3 2.3 1.9	24.0 25.0 17.5	7.8 4.3 4.5	9.6 9.1 6.1	2.1 2.9 1.9	2.2 2.2 1.3	5.1 8.2 6.2	8.1 13.0 10.3	223.3 237.7 248.6 205.0	108.6 99.2 94.1
Lakeland Miami	8.5 7.7 8.0	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0	223.9 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6
Lakeland Miami Ocala	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4	229.9 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1	223.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8	99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8	229.9 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1	229.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6	223.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3	223.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.55 0.58 0.54 0.49	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 6.9 3.2 5.2	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.49 0.60	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.49 0.60	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.43	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3	2.2 2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahasse Tampa Georgia	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.49 0.60 0.46	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7	9.6 9.1 6.1 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5 9.8	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.49 0.60 0.46	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9 3.0	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4 22.1	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7 5.8	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3 3.2	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1 5.1	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7 8.7	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3 208.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany Atlanta	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5 8.5 9.8 9.8 9.3	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.55 0.58 0.54 0.49 0.49 0.49 0.40 0.46	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.34 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3 14.5 13.1	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9 3.0 2.7	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4 22.1 20.9	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7 6.2 3.7 5.8 5.8	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3 3.2 3.0	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0 3.0 2.5	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1 5.1 6.9 8.9	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7 18.5 17.3	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3 248.3 208.3	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2 95.2
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahassee Tallahassee Albany Atlanta	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5 8.5 9.8 9.8 9.3 8.7	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.55 0.58 0.54 0.54 0.49 0.60 0.46 0.49	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.34 0.34	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3 14.5 13.1 9.6	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9 3.0 2.7 2.6	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4 22.1 20.9 18.4	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7 6.2 3.7 5.8 5.8 5.8 4.3	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 11.7 10.0 12.1	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3 3.2 3.0 3.1	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0 3.0 2.5 2.8	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1 6.9 8.9 8.9 8.6	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7 18.5 17.3 20.8	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3 248.3 208.3 248.4 252.3 243.0	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2 102.0 95.5 95.9
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahassee Tallahassee Albany Atlanta Augusta Columbus	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5 9.8 9.3 8.7 9.3	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.54 0.49 0.60 0.46 0.51 0.69 0.50 0.50 0.50	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.34 0.55 0.40 0.31 0.54	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3 14.5 13.1 9.6 8.7	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9 3.0 2.7 2.6 2.4	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4 22.1 20.9 18.4 20.9 19.4 20.4	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7 6.2 3.7 5.8 5.8 5.8 4.3 4.7	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 11.7 10.0 12.1 9.2	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3 3.2 3.0 3.1 2.7	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0 3.0 2.5 2.8 3.4	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1 6.9 8.9 8.9 8.9 8.6 5.9	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7 18.5 17.3 20.8 14.2	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3 208.3 208.3 246.4 252.3 246.4 252.3 243.0 221.5	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2 102.0 95.5 95.9 95.9 99.1
Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tallahassee Tallahassee Albany Atlanta Albany Atlanta Columbus	8.5 7.7 8.0 7.4 7.8 8.7 9.0 8.6 8.1 8.9 8.7 8.5 9.8 9.8 9.3 8.7 9.3 8.7 9.3	0.44 0.53 0.52 0.46 0.37 0.51 0.55 0.65 0.58 0.54 0.54	0.32 0.37 0.26 0.44 0.30 0.34 0.47 0.27 0.41 0.31 0.46 0.43 0.46 0.43 0.34 0.55 0.40 0.31 0.54	12.5 13.1 9.7 13.1 10.1 9.5 6.6 16.0 13.5 7.2 10.1 12.5 10.3 14.5 13.1 9.6 8.7 11.5	2.3 2.3 1.9 2.5 1.7 1.3 0.8 3.4 2.1 1.2 1.2 4.6 1.9 3.0 2.7 2.6 2.4 3.1	24.0 25.0 17.5 22.6 17.2 19.1 15.2 26.3 22.1 14.6 20.2 20.9 18.4 22.1 20.9 18.4 22.1 20.9 19.4 20.4 20.4 23.0	7.8 4.3 4.5 8.6 4.3 5.9 3.1 2.6 4.4 4.3 3.7 6.2 3.7 5.8 5.8 5.8 4.3 4.7 8.1	9.6 9.1 6.1 6.4 7.0 7.5 5.0 10.7 10.0 5.4 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 13.1 7.0 10.7 7.5 10.0 10.7 7.5 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.7 10.0 10.0	2.1 2.9 1.9 3.9 1.6 2.0 1.6 3.3 2.9 1.7 1.8 3.2 2.3 3.0 3.1 2.7 3.2	2.2 1.3 3.4 1.7 1.6 1.3 2.9 2.6 1.1 1.7 3.1 2.0 3.0 2.5 2.8 3.4 3.0	5.1 8.2 6.2 5.7 4.2 5.0 3.6 8.9 6.9 3.2 5.2 6.6 5.1 6.9 8.9 8.9 8.9 8.6 5.9 10.1	8.1 13.0 10.3 9.0 7.4 10.1 6.8 16.1 12.6 7.3 7.9 17.0 8.7 18.5 17.3 20.8 14.2 19.3	225.3 237.7 248.6 205.0 241.1 176.6 207.8 167.2 261.6 254.8 166.8 205.3 248.3 208.3 248.4 208.3 248.4 252.3 243.0 221.5 268.8	108.6 99.2 94.1 92.6 92.3 95.7 91.3 103.2 100.8 97.1 107.6 95.7 95.2 102.0 95.5 95.9 99.1 102.1

Regor	,	/	/	1 Fracture	/	nd Asthma	/	/	itis	/		H act	umonia	119 ⁶⁵
Referral	octure	(BCH	ure junal	Wifet D.	arono	ints at	Pect	ins castoe	itel.	5 ho	35* 3101	inal, ciult	Pres icali	ische dical D
HOSPILO	HIPFRO	Anhler	Radius	C.O.9.V	Adulto	CHE	Angina	Adulto	Cellulu	Diabete	Kidney ions	AdultS	AllMeu	AllSurs
Savannah	8.3	0.42	0.41	12.7	4.5	23.0	5.6	11.2	3.0	2.7	7.5	19.8	262.2	99.9
Hawaii														
Honolulu	5.2	0.25	0.23	4.4	1.7	12.0	2.5	3.9	1.9	1.6	2.9	8.5	148.6	64.5
Idaho														
Boise	7.1	0.58	0.42	6.8	2.2	12.5	4.8	6.8	1.7	1.3	3.8	12.7	164.0	92.8
Idaho Falls	6.9	0.63	0.24	4.5	1.9	9.4	2.1	6.3	2.3	1.4	3.9	13.9	150.5	88.1
Illinois														
Aurora	7.9	0.91	0.49	8.0	1.7	18.5	3.3	7.0	2.9	2.0	6.0	16.6	206.1	95.9
Blue Island	7.5	0.69	0.59	9.9	2.3	25.6	4.9	8.9	4.0	2.7	7.8	16.4	266.0	101.3
Chicago	7.3	0.67	0.57	10.8	2.6	27.4	6.6	9.4	4.8	3.3	8.3	15.9	279.0	98.3
Elgin	7.6	0.59	0.36	10.2	2.6	21.9	4.5	9.4	3.1	2.8	6.2	15.7	230.7	92.1
Evanston	7.2	0.75	0.50	5.9	1.8	19.1	4.0	9.1	3.8	1.9	5.7	13.2	219.6	93.5
Hinsdale	7.7	0.68	0.42	6.9	2.0	17.0	2.8	6.7	3.1	2.0	6.5	14.6	191.3	93.1
Joliet	7.3	0.85	0.39	14.6	3.9	25.9	5.5	12.0	4.7	4.3	8.3	19.9	276.5	103.8
Melrose Park	7.4	0.68	0.41	8.1	2.0	21.7	4.4	7.8	3.4	2.4	6.5	13.2	219.8	94.8
Peoria	7.9	0.82	0.46	9.8	2.6	19.8	5.3	7.8	2.3	2.2	4.8	13.8	204.1	94.2
Rockford	7.7	0.61	0.32	9.2	2.7	20.0	5.7	9.4	2.8	2.3	5.1	15.1	210.8	90.8
Springfield	8.4	0.74	0.41	12.5	4.4	22.2	6.0	11.8	3.0	3.1	6.4	19.5	248.8	100.2
Urbana	8.0	0.64	0.38	11.3	3.4	21.8	8.0	10.5	2.7	2.6	6.2	18.3	223.1	92.5
Bloomington	7.9	0.89	0.63	7.8	2.0	18.9	4.2	8.6	2.0	2.0	3.4	12.2	203.8	95.2
Indiana														
Evansville	8.7	0.58	0.51	14.5	4.7	24.3	6.5	12.4	2.8	3.3	9.1	17.9	263.0	90.6
Fort Wayne	8.2	0.67	0.22	7.1	2.5	18.8	5.8	7.2	2.2	1.8	5.0	12.4	186.1	86.2
Gary	7.2	0.74	0.51	12.4	3.9	26.5	5.3	10.5	3.6	4.3	7.0	16.0	262.7	106.8
Indianapolis	8.6	0.69	0.40	12.0	2.9	23.2	6.3	9.9	2.6	2.9	7.5	17.5	237.8	91.0
Lafayette	8.5	0.61	0.16	8.6	2.4	16.0	4.4	7.8	1.8	1.9	4.0	13.3	187.0	84.3
Muncie	9.2	0.81	0.31	11.6	3.9	22.3	5.9	11.3	2.7	4.1	8.5	16.6	234.6	91.1
Munster	7.3	0.62	0.50	10.8	3.1	29.7	5.8	9.9	3.9	3.7	6.8	14.8	268.2	105.9
South Bend	7.9	0.55	0.28	7.8	2.5	19.2	5.2	7.1	2.3	2.4	4.5	12.4	183.9	88.0
Terre Haute	9.1	0.85	0.42	11.6	2.3	22.9	4.2	9.1	2.6	3.5	6.8	15.6	231.9	100.5
lowa														
Cedar Rapids	7.3	0.66	0.39	8.0	1.6	13.8	3.2	6.7	2.4	1.5	3.8	15.2	170.8	97.9
Davenport	8.1	0.80	0.29	10.1	2.0	19.9	6.5	9.0	2.2	2.4	4.5	17.4	217.9	90.3
Des Moines	7.9	0.77	0.41	8.9	2.8	19.1	5.1	10.8	2.7	2.1	5.4	18.1	222.1	98.0
Dubuque	7.9	1.05	0.59	8.3	1.6	19.5	6.0	10.6	2.4	2.1	3.2	12.7	215.2	97.5
Iowa City	7.6	0.72	0.55	8.6	2.9	17.3	10.3	11.3	2.7	2.7	5.1	18.4	229.3	87.2
Mason City	7.9	0.58	0.25	6.0	1.9	14.8	3.6	7.0	2.5	1.5	3.2	12.6	165.1	93.0
Sioux City	7.8	0.71	0.34	7.0	2.0	16.6	3.8	9.6	2.0	1.9	3.9	18.7	191.7	97.5
Waterloo	8.3	0.57	0.41	9.8	2.6	18.4	5.4	9.2	2.8	2.0	4.7	15.2	202.8	92.4
Kansas														
Topeka	8.5	0.60	0.48	7.6	1.9	16.4	4.8	9.2	2.0	2.2	4.6	15.6	179.5	91.7
Wichita	8.7	0.69	0.39	8.6	2.9	18.9	5.8	11.3	2.6	3.7	4.9	19.9	229.0	103.3
Kentucky														
Covington	8.8	0.55	0.30	12.9	2.1	27.0	2.5	12.3	2.4	2.7	8.2	23.0	275.2	90.8
Lexington	8.7	0.73	0.33	24.1	4.2	27.2	8.2	13.8	2.9	4.1	11.1	23.7	312.3	81.8
Louisville	9.2	0.75	0.48	16.3	3.5	25.8	5.4	12.0	2.8	3.5	8.8	21.4	272.2	95.7

Reight	/	/	/ /	et Fracture	/	and Asthma	/		THE			148 ⁵¹	oumonia	alles
ital Referror	craciure	Fractur	e usunaw	⁽¹² 0.D.	Brondh	ins.	CR Pect	JIS Castroe	its.	ster hos	35 Nardi	ino Simple	Prie ledical D	isch ungeal Di
HOSP	HIPT	Ankle	Padio	C'O'	Adult	CHE	Anon	Adult	Cellu	Diabo	Kidne ction.	Adult	All MIL	AllSt
Owensboro	8.5	0.81	0.64	13.0	3.4	28.7	11.2	14.1	2.2	3.0	7.9	23.9	280.6	105.2
Paducah	8.3	0.83	0.41	16.3	4.4	24.0	6.7	15.1	2.7	3.4	7.3	20.6	295.2	103.3
Louisiana														
Alexandria	7.6	0.71	0.54	13.7	6.0	31.3	7.8	15.9	5.4	4.0	12.9	23.1	319.5	104.9
Baton Rouge	9.0	0.59	0.30	11.9	3.8	23.8	4.8	10.0	4.0	2.3	10.5	20.1	262.9	95.4
Houma	7.3	0.42	0.43	17.6	7.5	32.9	7.9	13.0	5.5	3.3	8.5	18.5	301.9	119.8
Lafayette	7.5	0.40	0.33	12.3	3.5	26.3	5.1	10.9	3.0	3.5	9.4	17.6	260.3	103.8
Lake Charles	8.2	0.51	0.56	10.6	3.4	33.6	5.5	12.1	4.1	3.6	14.2	24.5	317.0	106.7
Metairie	9.1	0.64	0.34	13.2	3.9	32.6	6.9	9.4	5.0	3.6	10.2	18.5	285.0	108.9
Monroe	9.1	0.69	0.43	19.3	7.8	29.2	8.8	19.9	5.5	4.7	12.6	23.8	352.0	100.8
New Orleans	8.4	0.50	0.49	12.2	2.3	31.3	5.3	8.1	4.8	2.6	8.9	14.5	263.9	103.8
Shreveport	8.2	0.61	0.63	11.6	4.1	22.4	5.3	12.5	4.1	2.7	8.6	23.2	265.4	99.4
Slidell	8.2	0.84	0.55	18.1	4.0	37.7	8.9	18.1	6.6	3.4	12.1	22.6	343.9	112.2
Maine														
Bangor	7.4	0.80	0.37	13.5	2.8	21.3	13.0	11.5	2.7	3.0	5.0	16.8	256.9	94.3
Portland	7.7	0.75	0.39	9.9	2.1	19.0	7.9	9.0	2.2	2.1	3.9	12.5	213.0	90.4
Maryland														
Baltimore	7.9	0.65	0.49	11.4	2.0	24.8	9.6	8.9	3.7	2.2	7.8	15.4	276.9	108.2
Salisbury	7.2	0.66	0.43	11.6	1.8	25.2	7.3	9.3	2.8	2.7	4.6	14.9	244.3	97.5
Takoma Park	7.4	0.73	0.40	6.1	1.3	18.4	5.5	6.5	2.5	1.8	5.7	11.2	207.4	94.7
Massachusetts				44.0										
Boston	7.4	0.65	0.50	11.6	2.2	23.1	5.9	8.3	4.2	2.1	6.0	14.0	241.5	91.6
Springfield	7.5	0.61	0.28	8.0	2.4	20.7	8.8	8.1	3.0	2.5	5.0	15.7	196.9	81.5
Worcester	8.1	0.80	0.55	11.7	1.9	24.6	6.7	8.5	4.5	2.2	6.6	18.2	242.3	95.3
Michigan	7.0	0.00	0.00	40.0	0.5	04.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	40.0	000 5	00.4
Ann Arbor	7.2	0.60	0.32	10.6	2.5	21.9	6.9	8.2	3.3	2.2	0.2	13.6	229.5	96.1
Detroit	0.0	0.78	0.32	11.2	1.0	29.3	9.2	0.9	4.0	2.3	7.9	13.0	244.1	100.1
Elipt	7.5	0.62	0.31	10.0	2.2	27.5	10.4	1.2	2.7	2.3	6.0	14.0	240.7	100.5
Crand Banida	7.5	0.50	0.32	6.7	1.0	20.9	9.2	0.0	2.1	2.1	0.0	12.0	172 7	07.5
Kalamazoo	7.9	0.00	0.42	7.5	1.0	17.9	4.0	6.5	2.4	1.0	4.1	1/ 9	181.0	102.4
	7.0	0.00	0.24	0.5	1.3	21.0	4.Z	8.2	2.0	2.0	4.7	14.0	212.1	102.4
Marquette	7.5	0.00	0.34	6.8	2.2	10.8	8.0	0.2	3.0	1.9	4.0	16.1	213.1	92.2
Muskegon	7.8	0.09	0.17	5.5	1.5	17.2	3.8	6.3	2.1	1.0	4.5	12.3	170.3	93.3
Petoskev	6.2	0.70	0.20	6.8	1.8	18.0	7.3	7 7	1.9	1.9	3.9	12.0	193.0	95.7
Pontiac	7.7	0.87	0.26	12.6	1.9	26.0	9.1	9.1	3.5	2.1	6.4	14 1	253.1	100.9
Roval Oak	7.3	0.59	0.47	8 1	1.6	21.4	6.3	6.0	3.2	1.8	5.9	10.7	212.5	100.4
Saginaw	7.0	0.72	0.33	10.3	2.7	24.5	6.6	8.2	2.5	2.6	5.1	14.0	232.8	108 1
St Joseph	6.4	0.77	0.26	7.1	1.5	19.0	4.2	7.3	2.3	2.0	4.4	13.5	190.8	96.6
Traverse City	6.6	0.77	0.37	8.0	1.9	19.9	4.8	8.6	1.8	1.9	4.1	12.9	207 1	106.3
Minnesota								5.0						
Duluth	7.0	0.87	0.51	7.0	2.0	17.0	6.5	8.8	2.2	2.0	4.3	13.0	203.3	93.6
Minneapolis	7.1	0.75	0.44	6.8	2.0	16.6	5.4	8.5	2.3	1.7	3.6	15.1	194.7	90.1
Rochester	7.2	0.74	0.53	6.7	2.1	16.5	5.6	6.9	3.2	1.9	4.0	15.4	187.9	86.6
St Cloud	7.1	0.43	0.20	7.0	2.8	15.6	4.5	10.8	2.6	2.0	3.3	16.6	192.3	87.7
St Paul	7.8	1.03	0.41	7.6	1.8	17.4	7.6	8.9	2.4	2.0	4.9	14.3	209.8	92.2

asjon		/	/	Fracture	/	od Asthra	/	/	1.15	/	/	1 act	monia	118 ⁶⁵
asterialt	ane	_ct13	le mai	Wist		itis atte	and the second second	jis cho	anterit		e ^{35*} AU	nary of	e Prieur	scharz
LIDSPITAL	LIPFIBELU	ANNEFIAL	a adius U.	COBD.	Adult Bron.	CHE	Angina Pe	adult Gab	Celluitis	Ciabetes	(Kidney alins	Adult Simir	All Medicc	ALI SUIDICE
	Ň	`	Ň	Ű	`	Ű	,	(0	ľ	The	,	ľ.	· ·
Cultoort	9.4	0.42	0.25	15 1	2.4	20.2	2.2	17.0	2.4	2.1	10.6	15.0	224 5	106.0
Guilport	0.4 7.5	0.43	0.35	19.0	6.1	39.3	3.3	22.5	3.4	3.1	11.0	10.2	324.0	106.0
lackson	8.3	0.62	0.76	14.0	5.6	25.0	8.6	17.0	4.0	4.5	8.0	10.3	207.8	88.0
Meridian	7.9	0.02	0.40	15.8	5.2	28.3	5.8	20.4	4.6	4.0	11.0	32.3	353.5	94.0
Oxford	8.8	1.01	1 16	18.5	5.2	30.1	7.4	19.4	4.0	4.0	7.4	23.4	335.7	98.5
Tupelo	8.6	0.99	0.50	17.7	5.6	24.7	8.5	17.4	3.6	3.8	8.3	21.5	290.6	90.7
Missouri														
Cape Girardeau	8.0	0.64	0.32	11.1	1.4	24.1	4.2	9.6	2.2	2.8	5.5	19.3	218.0	86.1
Columbia	8.5	0.70	0.42	11.6	2.6	19.4	3.3	10.1	2.3	2.7	5.8	18.0	222.5	100.7
Joplin	9.5	0.61	0.41	14.5	4.7	24.0	4.6	14.9	3.0	3.5	9.5	21.0	277.3	106.0
Kansas City	9.1	0.71	0.44	12.0	2.7	20.9	3.9	10.1	3.0	2.3	6.3	19.0	229.0	97.8
Springfield	9.0	0.80	0.35	9.6	2.1	20.1	3.0	9.2	1.6	2.3	5.0	12.9	205.3	95.3
St Louis	8.9	0.72	0.50	10.1	2.3	22.8	5.1	8.9	3.1	2.6	6.1	17.3	236.4	99.2
Montana														
Billings	7.4	0.81	0.48	9.4	2.6	17.0	4.7	10.5	2.5	2.2	4.1	16.3	211.4	91.0
Great Falls	8.0	0.72	0.62	13.5	4.3	19.4	3.3	15.4	2.9	2.7	5.4	19.1	259.6	93.9
Missoula	7.9	0.79	0.56	10.5	3.2	14.8	3.5	13.1	2.0	1.9	4.3	16.5	210.3	94.5
Nebraska														
Lincoln	7.6	0.73	0.30	4.9	2.4	13.7	4.4	8.1	2.0	1.5	3.0	15.1	159.8	88.4
Omaha	8.0	0.72	0.37	8.7	3.1	17.5	4.5	8.5	2.7	1.6	4.3	18.1	196.3	94.3
Nevada														
Las Vegas	8.5	0.47	0.30	12.3	0.9	19.9	3.0	5.7	2.2	1.8	5.4	13.6	191.2	95.1
Reno	8.1	0.68	0.36	8.5	1.1	15.4	3.5	6.0	2.2	1.7	4.2	14.6	173.8	80.6
New Hampshire						(0 -							100.0	
Lebanon	7.6	0.60	0.30	8.3	1.7	16.5	8.5	8.2	2.6	2.3	4.1	15.7	195.5	78.2
Manchester	7.5	0.62	0.35	8.7	1./	17.1	4.6	7.3	2.2	1.8	3.4	12.0	181.4	82.5
New Jersey	7.5	0.05	0.00	40.5	0.0	05.0	0.0	0.7	0.4	2.0		40.7	0.47.0	00.0
Camden	7.5	0.65	0.63	10.5	2.2	25.9	9.8	9.7	3.1	3.0	5.5	12.7	247.9	98.6
Morristown	7.5	0.00	0.46	ö.4	2.0	21.7	σ.Ծ 7.1	٥.5 و ٢	3.1	2.0	4.8	10.3	210.9	98.5
New Brupswick	7.0	0.09	0.41	0.0	1.9	22.0	0.0	0.2	2.9	2.2	4.4	12.4	210.4	93.4
Newark	6.7	0.75	0.03	0.2	2.0	23.9	J.J	10.1	J.4	2.9	5.4	12.2	258.0	100.0
Paterson	7.5	0.70	0.44	9.1	2.0	24.4	9.4	9.1	3.2	3.0	5.3	15.0	232.8	99.1
Ridgewood	7.5	0.68	0.51	7.3	2.4	20.6	5.9	8.8	3.3	2.1	5.0	14.9	215.8	93.0
New Mexico							5.0	5.0					0.0	50.0
Albuquerque	8.7	0.63	0.55	7.3	2.8	13.6	3.3	8.4	2.6	2.1	6.3	18.9	188.1	83.0
New York														
Albany	7.1	0.65	0.36	11.0	2.2	20.9	8.1	9.0	3.5	2.3	4.7	16.2	217.8	87.2
Binghamton	7.2	0.71	0.52	10.4	2.1	23.4	9.3	10.1	2.7	2.8	4.6	18.2	220.1	82.5
Bronx	7.6	0.62	0.57	9.2	3.0	24.2	8.6	7.6	4.1	3.3	5.6	15.2	236.6	92.7
Buffalo	7.0	0.58	0.38	9.3	2.2	22.8	7.9	8.5	3.2	2.7	5.2	13.2	218.0	89.5
Elmira	7.2	0.56	0.44	13.8	3.5	21.5	6.4	10.9	3.6	2.9	4.6	14.2	232.7	88.3
East Long Island	7.1	0.59	0.51	7.7	1.8	20.0	7.0	7.2	3.5	2.5	5.2	12.8	212.3	92.1
New York	7.2	0.58	0.60	8.5	2.1	20.1	6.7	6.6	4.1	3.1	5.5	12.3	212.7	93.2
Rochester	7.4	0.76	0.45	8.8	2.6	20.1	7.8	9.1	3.6	2.2	5.1	13.7	207.3	95.4

ajor		/	/	cracture.	/	Asthna	/	/	1.5	/	/	432	onia	150
2818Halfe	III®	ctur	e mani	I ^{ET}	nchi	is and	and the second s	ins choose	lerittu		35× (1)	inary ook	PreutralD	schalls
HOSPIEIL	HIPFORT	AntheFran	RadiusUI	C.O.P.D.	Adult Bron	CH	Angina Pe	Adult Gas	Cellulitis	Diabetes	Widney an	Adult Simi	All Medicc	All Surgice
Surpoupo	7.0	0.67	0.40	11.2) 2.4	20.7) 0.2) 0.6	2.0	2.4	10	15.0	210.5) 00.2
White Plains	7.4	0.07	0.40	8.7	2.4	20.7	0.3 8 3	9.0	3.0	2.4	4.0	13.3	210.5	03.3
North Carolina	7.4	0.74	0.50	0.7	2.5	21.5	0.5	0.0	5.1	2.0	4.7	15.5	230.3	35.5
Asheville	9.0	0.99	0.43	11.2	2.8	16.2	7.0	9.0	1.8	1.9	5.0	14.9	203.0	80.8
Charlotte	9.3	0.64	0.27	8.9	2.2	19.5	4.6	7.8	2.1	1.7	5.3	13.7	206.3	89.8
Durham	9.0	0.75	0.40	9.3	2.2	18.0	4.7	7.4	2.0	1.7	5.3	12.7	201.5	86.7
Greensboro	9.4	0.64	0.45	8.9	1.9	18.7	5.2	7.9	1.9	1.8	5.3	12.9	197.1	91.9
Greenville	8.6	0.51	0.23	11.1	3.5	22.3	9.3	9.9	2.6	2.1	6.2	15.7	237.0	91.0
Hickory	9.4	0.65	0.20	9.1	1.6	16.4	2.9	8.5	1.8	1.7	4.8	15.5	205.2	90.7
Raleigh	8.6	0.59	0.41	11.0	1.9	20.5	7.0	8.9	2.4	2.0	6.2	14.3	225.5	93.2
Wilmington	8.6	0.50	0.27	10.9	3.2	21.8	8.6	11.4	2.8	2.1	6.7	13.4	235.2	95.8
Winston-Salem	9.4	0.93	0.51	11.3	2.7	19.5	5.8	10.1	2.2	2.1	6.0	14.8	230.2	93.2
North Dakota														
Bismarck	6.3	0.63	0.42	9.1	4.7	21.6	6.6	12.6	3.3	3.4	5.0	20.9	230.2	99.9
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	7.1	0.79	0.32	7.3	2.9	16.6	5.8	8.6	2.5	2.1	4.3	18.0	190.5	89.8
Grand Forks	7.4	0.82	0.26	7.3	3.2	18.8	5.9	10.6	2.5	1.8	5.3	20.5	209.3	86.0
Minot	7.7	0.76	0.47	10.7	4.9	20.2	3.6	10.8	3.7	3.1	4.2	20.7	212.3	100.1
Ohio														
Akron	8.1	0.83	0.36	11.0	2.4	27.2	6.6	8.9	4.0	2.3	11.0	18.8	261.1	96.4
Canton	7.6	0.74	0.29	11.4	2.1	20.7	4.8	7.9	2.9	2.0	5.4	14.2	212.3	89.4
Cincinnati	8.7	0.71	0.39	10.0	1.9	21.9	4.8	7.8	2.6	2.2	6.4	18.8	220.2	92.2
Cleveland	8.0	0.74	0.45	12.7	2.3	26.8	8.2	8.7	3.9	2.3	7.1	14.9	244.4	100.2
Columbus	8.2	0.80	0.43	12.6	2.8	24.0	8.9	9.9	3.1	2.7	6.9	17.9	243.1	99.6
Dayton	8.4	0.58	0.28	10.6	3.2	22.2	8.5	8.6	2.5	2.2	5.9	14.3	215.4	99.2
Elyria	6.7	0.56	0.50	13.6	2.2	26.8	7.0	8.9	3.5	3.0	7.3	16.5	249.4	115.3
Kettering	8.9	0.65	0.35	8.3	2.0	17.6	4.4	7.3	2.2	2.1	5.1	12.5	188.4	93.3
Toledo	8.0	0.81	0.42	12.2	2.3	25.8	8.9	9.8	3.3	2.6	6.6	15.5	241.5	104.8
Youngstown	7.8	0.86	0.51	12.3	3.3	29.1	8.0	10.4	3.2	3.4	6.7	16.4	262.7	100.9
Oklahoma														
Lawton	8.9	0.53	0.22	7.4	1.8	18.9	5.9	8.8	2.3	2.1	8.3	16.3	221.3	89.2
Oklahoma City	8.9	0.54	0.36	10.3	2.4	21.2	6.3	10.3	2.3	2.3	6.7	17.5	233.4	100.9
Tulsa	9.2	0.67	0.39	9.2	2.2	19.8	4.5	8.4	2.0	2.0	5.4	15.5	215.7	90.9
Oregon														
Bend	6.8	0.63	0.21	5.2	1.0	9.6	2.6	5.8	1.2	0.9	3.3	11.4	136.9	106.1
Eugene	7.2	0.68	0.30	6.4	1.4	15.7	4.7	7.0	1.4	1.2	3.4	11.0	157.9	85.1
Medford	6.9	0.76	0.36	5.9	1.4	11.5	3.5	5.7	1.5	1.2	3.3	13.2	148.5	82.2
Portland	7.6	0.67	0.34	5.8	1.4	15.0	3.8	6.3	1.8	1.3	3.8	11.5	166.2	81.9
Salem	7.1	0.35	0.20	4.2	1.1	12.1	2.1	4.8	1.2	1.1	2.5	9.3	122.3	76.1
Pennsylvania														
Allentown	7.3	0.80	0.44	9.5	3.3	25.4	7.3	10.2	4.2	2.7	5.8	12.5	244.3	109.6
Altoona	7.8	0.63	0.37	13.5	3.7	28.6	15.2	12.5	3.4	2.7	5.5	12.5	265.3	96.2
Danville	7.8	0.94	0.45	10.7	3.3	24.1	11.3	9.4	3.2	3.4	6.0	16.8	243.4	94.4
Erie	8.0	0.88	0.43	12.8	3.9	24.8	9.6	11.3	3.8	3.4	5.8	16.9	255.6	94.3
Harrisburg	7.8	0.88	0.45	8.3	2.0	23.4	5.7	8.2	2.7	2.4	4.4	12.4	212.0	94.8
Johnstown	7.2	0.71	0.81	15.8	3.8	32.6	10.9	14.3	3.3	3.4	7.7	15.8	313.5	110.7
Lancaster	7.7	0.61	0.51	8.3	2.1	17.4	2.9	7.8	2.5	2.1	4.0	11.0	186.3	98.0

Region	/	/		Fracture	/	and Asthma	/		THIS	/		all 182	oumonia	1310 ⁶⁵
ital Peterson	FIRCTURE	1. FISCH	ine usunal	Nur D.D.	"Bronch	itis c	In Pech	JIS I Gastro	ente.	eles h	se 30 evanu	ine "Simp	e Price Nedical Di	SCI. CHOICADIS
Host	HIP	Ankle	Radic	C'o'	Adult	CHR	Anon	Adult	Cello	Diabo	Widne citor	Adult	All M	AllSe
Philadelphia	8.1	0.74	0.83	11.0	2.3	26.5	8.8	8.9	3.9	2.4	6.7	13.3	260.0	106.6
Pittsburgh	7.4	0.79	0.58	15.5	3.7	30.8	9.0	11.7	4.3	3.3	8.0	17.2	295.0	108.5
Reading	7.0	0.80	0.61	8.8	3.1	23.9	6.6	9.2	3.4	2.6	4.4	12.7	218.6	98.9
Sayre	7.5	0.74	0.55	13.0	3.8	24.9	10.6	13.0	3.1	3.1	6.0	18.4	261.1	96.5
Scranton	7.0	0.80	0.55	9.5	3.3	27.2	7.8	8.9	3.6	2.8	6.2	15.0	246.1	95.0
Wilkes-Barre	7.5	0.79	0.59	12.6	3.2	28.8	6.5	9.7	3.7	3.6	4.9	11.5	256.1	98.7
York	7.3	0.85	0.39	6.8	2.3	20.8	7.6	8.0	3.1	1.9	4.0	10.7	191.3	93.1
Rhode Island														
Providence	7.0	0.62	0.38	9.5	1.7	21.3	8.2	6.7	3.2	2.1	4.6	11.4	209.7	88.1
South Carolina														
Charleston	8.3	0.44	0.40	9.5	2.4	20.4	3.8	10.3	2.3	2.4	5.8	11.7	217.0	97.9
Columbia	8.2	0.61	0.39	7.4	2.6	17.0	3.9	8.6	2.2	2.1	5.6	14.1	194.9	87.9
Florence	8.8	0.46	0.44	13.2	5.8	28.0	5.9	14.2	4.0	3.9	8.3	18.5	299.0	100.2
Greenville	9.7	0.73	0.26	8.6	2.2	18.5	5.8	8.0	2.0	1.9	5.7	11.9	192.7	90.7
Spartanburg	9.9	0.62	0.30	10.4	3.1	20.9	5.1	10.4	2.7	2.5	6.5	14.4	214.6	85.9
South Dakota														
Rapid City	8.2	0.81	0.43	9.8	2.5	17.5	5.8	10.8	2.9	2.2	4.5	21.5	202.0	94.5
Sioux Falls	7.2	0.76	0.60	8.4	3.2	16.6	6.4	11.0	3.1	2.3	4.0	22.1	215.1	100.3
Tennessee														
Chattanooga	9.0	0.67	0.34	12.5	3.3	24.4	5.1	11.6	2.4	3.2	10.1	15.7	264.6	94.0
Jackson	9.5	0.66	0.52	16.4	3.3	20.5	5.2	10.8	2.5	3.0	8.0	19.1	254.5	91.7
Johnson City	9.0	0.86	0.58	12.6	2.7	20.1	2.8	10.6	2.2	2.0	6.8	16.0	252.0	84.8
Kingsport	9.3	0.86	0.48	23.9	4.7	28.4	10.8	14.5	3.1	3.9	11.2	22.1	327.1	80.0
Knoxville	9.4	0.73	0.45	16.7	3.9	25.4	7.0	12.7	2.5	3.0	9.5	19.7	285.2	90.1
Memphis	9.0	0.64	0.43	13.3	3.2	23.2	5.4	11.1	2.7	2.9	7.3	15.3	247.6	94.9
Nashville	9.0	0.79	0.50	14.9	3.3	26.5	4.5	11.0	2.8	2.7	8.8	16.9	287.7	93.8
Texas														
Abilene	9.4	0.64	0.40	12.5	3.0	22.0	3.9	12.1	2.9	3.2	7.2	17.0	255.8	97.2
Amarillo	9.4	0.53	0.43	9.9	2.3	16.8	4.4	8.7	2.7	2.7	6.8	17.0	211.3	94.1
Austin	9.1	0.46	0.28	7.9	2.2	15.1	3.8	6.7	2.2	1.9	6.6	12.7	178.4	85.8
Beaumont	8.2	0.60	0.40	15.6	3.2	26.6	6.0	11.4	3.6	4.2	12.0	21.2	301.0	104.8
Bryan	9.0	0.55	0.36	8.7	2.1	17.9	4.5	8.4	2.8	2.8	8.5	18.0	195.8	81.4
Corpus Christi	8.3	0.49	0.49	13.0	3.0	31.1	6.9	10.5	4.7	3.7	10.7	13.8	270.0	102.5
Dallas	9.1	0.53	0.37	9.7	2.0	20.1	4.2	6.9	2.2	2.0	7.3	14.9	204.8	92.9
EI Paso	1.2	0.48	0.41	1.2	2.1	16.5	2.2	7.0	2.1	3.2	7.6	12.0	184.6	81.7
Fort Worth	9.7	0.55	0.37	9.7	1.8	18.9	4.5	6.4	2.0	1.9	6.2	13.7	195.2	86.1
Harlingen	6.6	0.44	0.35	8.2	1./	22.7	5.1	8.0	2.6	4.4	10.3	12.2	209.3	95.6
	8.6	0.57	0.46	10.9	2.3	22.5	4.1	8.5	3.4	2.7	8.8	14.4	236.2	99.0
Lungview	8.8	0.59	0.54	12.5	1.8	21.5	3.2	1.2	2.1	1.6	0.0	10.7	233.4	94.8
LUDDOCK	10.2	0.73	0.64	12.0	2.6	23.7	4.1	11.5	2.5	3.1	7.3	22.0	259.4	117.8
Odeeee	7.0	0.43	0.34	9.4	1.8	22.2	5.3	9.0	3.6	4./	9.0	13.0	209.6	99.5
Cuessa Son Angola	9.7	0.59	0.34	14.0	2.4	19.7	5.2	10.4	1.9	2.9	0.3	10.0	210.2	06.7
	9.1	0.69	0.62	7.4	2.1	20.0	5./	10.1	3.0	3.0	0.7	2U.8	227.3	90.7
	7.8	0.54	0.41	7.4	2.3	21.8	3.0	7.5	3.2	2.9	8.0	13.3	202.4	91.9
Tuler	1.8	0.40	0.18	1.3	2.4	19.1	5.1	٥.٥ ٥.0	2.5	2.1	1.8	17.2	191.9	19.0
iyler	8.5	0.61	0.39	10.7	2.2	23.1	4.0	8.3	2.8	2.4	9.1	20.8	238.7	96.7

Regor	/	/		ist Facture	/	and Asthma			entis			altiact	sumonia	that ges
HOSPIAREENTO	HIPFacture	Antie Fractu	Radius Unal	COPD.	AdultBrond	OHF OHF	Angina Pect	Adul Castroe	Celuitis	Diabeles ho	kidneyandi	Adul Simple	All Medical C	All Subject Di
Victoria	6.8	0.65	0.21	11.9	3.3	26.8	5.4	13.6	4.4	5.7	9.5	21.2	287.0	96.3
Waco	8.8	0.42	0.31	7.0	1.7	18.2	4.8	6.5	2.0	1.7	6.0	15.6	176.3	82.3
Wichita Falls	9.0	0.58	0.38	8.7	3.0	22.3	6.8	9.9	2.9	2.6	6.8	22.7	243.9	88.2
Utah														
Ogden	7.2	0.81	0.25	3.4	1.0	10.0	1.5	4.3	1.7	1.3	2.4	8.5	129.5	84.7
Provo	7.0	0.62	0.20	2.9	1.8	12.3	2.9	5.6	2.0	1.3	3.6	13.7	146.9	99.0
Salt Lake City	6.8	0.63	0.40	3.7	1.4	10.4	2.7	5.6	1.9	1.3	3.8	11.7	141.9	84.7
Vermont														
Burlington	7.6	0.62	0.28	10.7	2.5	21.0	8.3	11.0	2.8	2.5	4.8	17.6	230.8	91.6
Virginia														
Arlington	8.6	0.74	0.43	7.8	1.7	15.9	5.1	7.3	2.4	1.4	4.7	10.3	190.6	83.9
Charlottesville	8.5	0.88	0.49	11.3	3.3	22.5	5.7	11.6	2.6	2.4	5.1	16.8	245.3	86.0
Lynchburg	9.2	0.75	0.40	8.1	3.6	17.0	3.5	9.9	2.3	2.5	4.8	13.5	195.0	86.5
Newport News	8.5	0.62	0.24	8.2	1.9	19.0	3.4	8.6	2.3	1.6	4.3	11.8	208.6	100.3
Norfolk	8.6	0.66	0.37	11.5	2.4	20.3	5.2	9.9	2.7	2.2	6.0	13.6	223.7	100.1
Richmond	9.0	0.82	0.43	10.9	2.3	20.3	4.9	10.2	2.5	2.2	5.8	11.7	230.0	104.2
Roanoke	9.0	0.79	0.44	15.0	2.2	22.6	6.1	11.9	2.2	2.6	5.8	17.0	257.4	94.3
Winchester	9.3	0.70	0.52	16.0	4.4	30.2	9.3	14.1	3.6	2.7	7.6	19.1	287.6	94.7
Washington														
Everett	7.5	0.72	0.24	5.0	1.0	13.4	3.2	5.3	1.4	1.1	2.7	10.5	159.0	82.9
Olympia	7.6	0.73	0.34	6.9	1.3	15.3	5.7	5.7	1.4	1.0	3.4	14.0	160.5	88.3
Seattle	7.6	0.75	0.36	5.8	1.2	13.4	3.4	6.1	1.9	1.2	3.4	10.3	157.7	84.1
Spokane	7.5	0.60	0.27	7.6	1.4	13.8	4.7	7.0	1.6	1.5	3.3	13.0	171.1	88.5
Tacoma	7.8	0.59	0.34	6.9	0.7	14.3	2.0	5.2	1.3	1.0	3.0	10.3	149.1	81.6
Yakima	6.7	0.42	0.27	6.9	1.3	15.7	3.4	7.9	1.8	1.2	3.4	12.9	172.3	79.5
West Virginia														
Charleston	8.4	0.89	0.56	20.7	3.3	26.7	13.5	14.5	3.1	3.9	9.0	20.8	311.5	97.7
Huntington	8.4	0.68	0.49	17.1	5.1	28.1	10.4	14.8	3.0	4.0	10.4	20.6	304.8	91.4
Morgantown	8.5	0.80	0.31	16.7	3.8	30.0	11.1	11.7	3.4	4.0	8.5	19.8	288.0	93.5
Wisconsin														
Appleton	6.8	0.85	0.37	5.8	1.9	16.6	3.0	7.3	2.0	1.7	2.7	11.2	164.7	90.4
Green Bay	6.7	0.81	0.39	6.5	2.3	18.4	4.5	7.9	2.0	1.8	3.7	10.5	186.1	91.4
La Crosse	6.9	0.79	0.29	6.1	2.1	15.7	7.0	9.5	2.5	1.9	3.6	15.6	200.2	79.4
Madison	7.2	0.75	0.56	7.7	2.0	17.2	5.5	9.5	2.7	1.9	4.4	12.8	201.3	89.2
Marshfield	6.3	0.75	0.25	7.2	2.0	18.1	6.6	9.0	2.3	1.9	4.0	13.3	201.2	88.5
Milwaukee	7.2	0.71	0.46	7.5	1.6	19.8	4.5	7.4	3.0	2.1	4.3	11.6	197.6	97.6
Neenah	7.1	0.54	0.37	7.0	2.1	16.4	2.9	8.3	2.5	1.9	3.2	13.1	182.9	100.9
Wausau	6.1	0.76	0.18	5.4	1.9	16.5	3.9	8.0	2.7	1.5	3.7	12.6	170.1	90.3
Wyoming														
Casper	8.5	0.67	0.39	10.3	2.8	18.1	4.1	12.6	2.7	2.9	5.0	20.3	226.4	97.9
United States														
United States	8.0	0.66	0.43	10.3	2.4	21.2	6.0	8.9	2.9	2.4	6.1	14.6	224.7	94.9

CHAPTER FOUR

The American Experience of Death

The American Experience of Death

Modern technology has vastly extended the ability to intervene in the lives of patients, most dramatically so when life itself is at stake. But the capability to intervene is not uniformly deployed, and health care providers do not share a uniform propensity to hospitalize dying patients or to use technology at the end of life. The American experience of death varies remarkably from one community to another. For example, in 1994-95:

■ The chance that when death occurred, it occurred in a hospital, varied more than twofold among hospital referral regions, from as few as 20% of deaths to more than 50%.

■ The chance of being in an intensive care unit one or more times during the last six months of life varied by a factor of more than 5, from 9% of deaths in one region to about 48% in another.

■ The number of days Medicare enrollees spent in hospitals during the last six months of life varied by a factor of more than 5 in 1995, from an average of 4.4 days in one hospital referral region to 22.9 days in another.

■ The number of days Medicare enrollees spent in intensive care units during the last six months of life varied by a factor of more than 9 in 1995, from an average of 0.5 days in one hospital referral region to 4.9 days in another.

■ The price-adjusted reimbursements by the Medicare program for hospital (inpatient) care during the last six months of life varied by a factor of 2.8 in 1995, from \$5,831 per decedent in the least costly hospital referral region to \$16,571 in the most costly region.

Like other medical decisions, end of life decisions about the use of resources are usually influenced by the available supply. The amount of acute care hospital resources allocated to residents of hospital referral regions has a strong influence on the American experience of death.

The Likelihood That Death Will Occur in a Hospital, Rather Than Elsewhere

What are the chances that, when a Medicare enrollee dies, he or she will do so as an inpatient in a hospital? In 1994-95, the chances varied according to where the enrollee lived. In some hospital referral regions, as few as 20% of Medicare deaths occurred in the hospital; in one region, the proportion was more than 50%.

In 48 of the nation's hospital referral regions, the chance of dying in the hospital was 40% or greater. (Areas in dark blue on the map.) Among these regions were Camden, New Jersey (46.0%); Hackensack, New Jersey (45.6%); Memphis, Tennessee (42.2%); and Little Rock, Arkansas (40.3%).

In 84 regions, fewer than 30% of deaths occurred in the hospital. (Light blue areas on the map.) Among these regions were Salt Lake City (22.9%); San Francisco (28.7%); and Cincinnati (29.3%).



Figure 4.1. Percent of Medicare Deaths Occurring in Hospitals (1994-95)

The percent of Medicare deaths that occurred while the decedent was an inpatient in a hospital ranged from 20% to 51% of all deaths. Rates are age, sex, and race adjusted. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.



Map 4.1. Percent of Medicare Deaths Occurring in Hospitals (1994-95)

Regions where residents had an above average likelihood of a hospitalized death were primarily in the Middle and South Atlantic states. Medicare enrollees living in Boston, Detroit, Chicago, Los Angeles and parts of Texas also had higher than average likelihoods of dying as inpatients. Lower than average regions were primarily on the West Coast, Alaska, Mountain States and upper Midwest, including Minnesota and parts of Michigan.

Percent of Medicare Deaths Occurring in Hospitals

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)









New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

The Likelihood of Intensive Care Treatment During the Last Six Months of Life

What are the chances that a Medicare enrollee will be treated in an intensive care unit at some time during the last six months of life? In one region in 1994-95, only 9% of Medicare enrollees were admitted one or more times to intensive care units (either a coronary care or an intensive care unit) during the last six months of their lives; in other regions, more than five times as many enrollees — about 48% — were admitted at least once to intensive care.

Several of the hospital referral regions in which Medicare enrollees had the highest chances for spending time in intensive care during the last six months of their lives were in Florida; they included Miami (47.5% chance of admission to an intensive care unit); St. Petersburg (46.8%); Fort Lauderdale (40.5%); and Jacksonville (40.4%). Hospital referral regions in other parts of the country also had high rates, including Munster, Indiana (47.9%); Gulfport, Mississippi (40.3%); Harlingen,



Figure 4.2. Percent of Medicare Enrollees With One or More Admissions to Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

The percent of Medicare enrollees spending one or more days in a coronary care or intensive care unit during the last six months of their lives, after adjusting for differences in age, sex, and race, ranged from less than 9% to more than 45%. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Texas (40.0%); El Paso, Texas (40.0%); Dearborn, Michigan (39.9%); Youngstown, Ohio (39.4%); Texarkana, Arkansas (39.2%); Orange County, California (39.2%); and Elgin, Illinois (39.0%).

The hospital referral regions where Medicare enrollees had the lowest chances of one or more intensive care admissions during the last six months of life included Sun City, Arizona (less than 9%); Bloomington, Illinois (15.6%); Wausau, Wisconsin (17.6%); Topeka, Kansas (18.1%); Bend, Oregon (16.3%); Salt Lake City (21.1%); Portland, Oregon (21.5%); and Providence, Rhode Island (22.0%).



Map 4.2. Percent of Medicare Enrollees Experiencing Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

Medicare residents of southern California, parts of Texas, New Mexico, Florida and the Midwest, Pennsylvania and New Jersey were more likely to spend part of their last six months of life in an intensive care or coronary care unit than Medicare residents of the Northwest, northern New England, central Texas or northern California. Percent of Medicare Enrollees Experiencing Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)









New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

Days in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life

The amount of time Americans spend in hospitals during the last six months of their lives depends on where they live. In some hospital referral regions in 1994-95, the average was a low as 4.4 days. In other hospital referral regions, enrollees spent, on average, as many as 22.9 of their final days as inpatients.

In 75 of the nation's hospital referral regions, the average number of days spent in hospitals during the last six months of life was 12 or more. The hospital referral regions in which Medicare enrollees spent the most time as inpatients during the last six months of their lives were in New York and New Jersey. The four highest regions in the nation were Newark, New Jersey (22.9 days); Manhattan (22.0); the Bronx, New York (20.9); and Paterson, New Jersey (20.7). All of New Jersey's seven hospital referral regions, and six of New York's 10 regions, ranked in the top 13 hospital referral regions in the nation for days spent in hospitals during the last six months of life. Other regions with high use of hospitals during the last six months of life in-



Figure 4.3. Average Number of Days Spent in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

The average number of days of hospital care during the last six months of life, after adjusting for age, sex and race, ranged from 4.4 to 22.9. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

cluded Philadelphia (14.4 days); Miami (14.3); Pittsburgh (13.8); Chicago (13.8); Detroit (13.6); Baltimore (12.9); Boston (12.5); and Birmingham, Alabama (12.2).

In 72 hospital referral regions, the number of days spent in hospitals during the last six months of life was fewer than eight. Among the lowest were Salt Lake City (5.3 days); Denver (7.1); Phoenix, Arizona (7.4); Albuquerque, New Mexico (7.4); and San Francisco (7.5).



Map 4.3. Average Number of Days Spent in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

Regions with high use of hospitals for Medicare enrollees in the last six months of life included New York, New Jersey, the South, Hawaii, the Chicago area and parts of Texas, New England and Michigan. Regions with low use included Minnesota, the Mountain States, the Desert Southwest and much of the West Coast. Average Number of Days Spent in Hospitals During the Last Six Months of Life

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)

12.0 to 22.9	(75)
10.0 to < 12.0	(87)
8.0 to < 10.0	(72)
4.4 to < 8.0	(72)
Not Populated	







New York



Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

Days in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life

The number of days that Medicare enrollees spend in intensive care units during the last six months of life depends on the hospital referral region in which they live. In 1994-95, the region with the lowest use rate was the retirement community of Sun City, Arizona; the region with the highest was another retirement community — St. Petersburg, Florida. On average in 1994-95, Medicare enrollees living in St. Petersburg spent nine times more days (4.9) in intensive care than their counterparts in Sun City (0.5).

There were 47 regions that had average stays in intensive care of three or more days; 47 regions had stays of between 2.5 and less than 3.0 days. Among the hospital referral regions with high rates of days spent in intensive care during the last six months of life were St. Petersburg, Florida (4.9 days); Munster, Indiana (4.9); Miami (4.8); Beaumont, Texas (4.2); Los Angeles (4.1); Jacksonville, Florida (3.7); New Brunswick, New Jersey (3.6); and Palm Springs, California (3.5).



Figure 4.4. Average Number of Days Spent in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

The average number of days of stay in intensive care (ICU and CCU) during the last six months of life, after adjusting for age, sex and race, ranged from 0.5 days to 4.9. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

There were 55 hospital referral regions in which enrollees in the last six months of life had average stays in intensive care of fewer than 1.5 days. Seventy-eight regions had between 1.5 and 2.0 days in intensive care during the last six months of life. The average number of days were low in Portland, Oregon (1.0); Salt Lake City (1.1); Austin, Texas (1.4); Denver (1.5); Cincinnati (1.7); and Tallahassee, Florida (1.7). The number of days that Medicare residents of Los Angeles spent in intensive care during their last six months of life was 2.4 times higher than the number of days in intensive care among Medicare residents of San Francisco (1.7).



Map 4.4. Average Number of Days Spent in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

There were high rates of use of intensive care beds in Florida, southern California, south Texas, parts of New York, New Jersey, Alabama, Louisiana, Michigan and Illinois. Regions with low use included northern California, the Northwest, Mountain States, Minnesota, and much of New England.

Average Number of Days Spent in Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)











Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Reimbursements for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life

How much money does the Medicare program spend per enrollee for hospital care during the last six months of life? In 1994-95, the amount depended on the hospital referral region in which the enrollee lived. Among the 306 hospital referral regions, the lowest price adjusted reimbursements for inpatient care per enrollee during the last six months of life in 1994-95 were \$5,831 for residents of Bend, Oregon. The highest price adjusted reimbursements were for Medicare residents of Manhattan, who received, on average, \$16,571, or about 2.8 times more than enrollees living in the Bend hospital referral region.

Among the hospital referral regions with the highest per enrollee reimbursements during the last six months of life were the Bronx, New York (\$15,950); Harlingen, Texas (\$15,399); McAllen, Texas (\$14,359); Miami (\$14,212); and Chicago



Figure 4.5. Average Reimbursements per Enrollee for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95) The average reimbursement for inpatient care during the last six months of life, after adjusting for price, age, sex, and race, ranged from \$5,831 to \$16,571. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. (\$12,543).

Among the hospital referral regions with the lowest per enrollee reimbursements during the last six months of life were Salem, Oregon (\$6,174); Ogden, Utah (\$6,193); Appleton, Wisconsin (\$6,492); and Grand Junction, Colorado (\$6,534).


Map 4.5. Average Price Adjusted Reimbursements for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life (1994-95)

Reimbursements per person during the last six months of life were high in southern New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, the Detroit and Chicago areas, southern California, parts of Texas and the east coast of Florida. They were low in northern New England, the upper Midwest, the Mountain states, and the Northwest.

Average Reimbursements for Inpatient Care During the Last Six Months of Life (\$)

by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)

11,000 to 16,571 (24) 10,000 to 11,000 (50) 9,000 to 10,000 (66) 8,000 to 9,000 (83) 7,000 to 8,000 (59) 5,831 to 7,000 (24)

Not Populated









Washington-Baltimore



Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

New York

Report Card on The American Experience of Death

Medicare claims data make it possible to "profile" care in the last six months of life for hospital referral regions, as well as for individual hospitals. This section profiles care in 23 hospital referral regions, each with more than 180,000 Medicare enrollees, to display the variability of strategies for managing the care of Medicare patients who are dying.

TABLE 4.1

Report Card on the Hospital Experiences of Medicare Enrollees During the Last Six Months of Life According to the Hospital Referral Region of

Residence, 1994-95. (Ratio to Portland, OR in parentheses)

	The Percent of Enrollees Who Experience							
Hospital and Region	Healt to all for	INB BUT ROMES						
Newark	51.3 (2.3)	41.5 (1.9)						
Manhattan	48.8 (2.2)	29.4 (1.4)						
Birmingham	42.5 (1.9)	34.9 (1.6)						
Philadelphia	39.6 (1.8)	36.9 (1.7)						
Miami	39.5 (1.8)	47.5 (2.2)						
Pittsburgh	39.1 (1.8)	35.5 (1.7)						
Atlanta	38.4 (1.7)	31.1 (1.5)						
Detroit	38.0 (1.7)	33.4 (1.6)						
Chicago	37.1 (1.7)	39.8 (1.9)						
Baltimore	35.9 (1.6)	30.2 (1.4)						
Boston	35.9 (1.6)	28.5 (1.3)						
Los Angeles	35.1 (1.6)	44.6 (2.1)						
St Louis	34.3 (1.6)	33.6 (1.6)						
Cleveland	34.2 (1.5)	35.9 (1.7)						
Houston	33.9 (1.5)	38.2 (1.8)						
Indianapolis	33.4 (1.5)	29.9 (1.4)						
Dallas	33.2 (1.5)	30.3 (1.4)						
Kansas City	32.0 (1.4)	33.7 (1.6)						
Milwaukee	31.5 (1.4)	26.8 (1.3)						
San Diego	27.2 (1.2)	31.2 (1.5)						
Minneapolis	25.5 (1.2)	23.1 (1.1)						
Seattle	24.5 (1.1)	25.0 (1.2)						
Portland	22.2 (1.0)	21.5 (1.0)						

The experiences of Medicare enrollees with hospital care and with stays in intensive care units during the last six months of their lives are recorded in Table 4.1. The table gives for each selected region the chance that an enrollee was treated in an intensive care unit during the last six months of life, and the chance that when death occurred, it was in a hospital.

The percent of Medicare deaths that occurred in a hospital ranged from a low of 22.2% in Portland, Oregon, to a high of 51.3% in Newark, New Jersey. Among the regions with the highest percents of deaths in hospitals were Birmingham, Alabama (42.5%); Philadelphia (39.6%); Detroit (38.0%); Pittsburgh (39.1%); Atlanta (38.4%); Miami (39.5%); and Chicago (37.1%). Among the regions with low percentages of deaths in hospitals were Seattle (25.0%); Minneapolis (25.5%); and San Diego (27.2%). The chances of dying in a hospital were more than twice as high for Medicare residents of the Manhattan hospital referral region, 1.9 times higher for Medicare residents of the Birmingham, Alabama hospital referral region, and 1.8 times higher for residents of the Miami hospital referral region, than they were for Medicare residents of the Portland, Oregon hospital referral region.

47.5% of the Miami Medicare enrollees who died experienced at least one episode of care in an intensive care unit during the last six months of their lives. In the Portland, Oregon hospital referral region, only 21.5% of Medicare residents spent time in intensive care. Among the regions where Medicare residents had the highest chance of being admitted to an intensive care unit during the last six months of life were Los Angeles (44.6% of enrollees); Chicago (39.8%); and Houston (38.2%). Among the regions where Medicare residents had the lowest chance of being admitted to an intensive care unit at the end of life were Milwaukee (26.8%); Seattle (21.5%); and Minneapolis (23.1%)

The per-enrollee amounts of inpatient resources used during the last six months of life (Part A Medicare payments) varied substantially in 1994-95 (Table 4.2). Resources expended on residents of the Manhattan and Miami hospital referral regions (among others) were far higher than reimbursements for enrollees in the hospital referral regions in Minneapolis, Seattle, and Portland, Oregon. Medicare residents of the Manhattan hospital referral region spent, on average, 22 days, or more than 12% of their last six months of life, in hospitals. In Portland, Oregon, Medicare enrollees spent an average of about 3% of their last six months as inpatients.

The average price adjusted reimbursement for inpatient care during the last six months of life for Medicare enrollees living in Manhattan was \$16,571, or 2.4 times more than was reimbursed for residents of the Portland, Oregon hospital referral region (\$6,793). Federal spending on inpatient care in the last six months of life was high in Miami (\$14,212); Chicago (\$12,543); Philadelphia (\$12,093); and Los Angeles (\$11,800). Medicare spending was low, by comparison, in Minneapolis (\$7,246); Seattle (\$7,255); and Milwaukee (\$8,007).

The report card (Table 4.2) illustrates the commitment of Miami's health care systems to intensive care in 1994-95. On average, Medicare enrollees living in this region spent more time in intensive care during the last six months of their lives than residents of anywhere else in the country — on average, 4.8 days. Miami's rate

TABLE 4.2

Report Card on Hospital Resources Allocated to Medicare Enrollees During the Last Six Months of Life

According to the Hospital Referral Region of Residence, 1994-95. (Ratio to Portland, OR in parentheses)

Hospieleral Region	Pitesting and a set of the set of	as 6 no. In opital 6 Das juins units	Day Surnontis	1C11 949 5 25 00
Manhattan	\$16,571 (2.44)	22.00 (4.04)	3.12 (3.17)	14.20
Miami	\$14,212 (2.09)	14.34 (2.63)	4.83 (4.90)	33.68
Chicago	\$12,543 (1.85)	13.79 (2.53)	3.23 (3.28)	23.46
Philadelphia	\$12,093 (1.78)	14.45 (2.65)	3.23 (3.28)	22.34
Los Angeles	\$11,800 (1.74)	11.25 (2.06)	4.14 (4.20)	36.83
Newark	\$11,557 (1.70)	22.90 (4.20)	4.17 (4.24)	18.23
Baltimore	\$11,549 (1.70)	12.87 (2.36)	2.31 (2.34)	17.92
Detroit	\$11,309 (1.66)	13.58 (2.49)	2.90 (2.95)	21.38
Houston	\$11,023 (1.62)	10.77 (1.98)	3.5 (3.20)	29.52
Pittsburgh	\$10,924 (1.61)	13.81 (2.53)	2.61 (2.65)	18.92
Boston	\$10,047 (1.48)	12.46 (2.29)	1.96 (1.99)	15.75
Cleveland	\$10,001 (1.47)	11.30 (2.07)	2.83 (2.87)	25.06
San Diego	\$9,817 (1.45)	7.95 (1.46)	2.42 (2.46)	30.45
Birmingham	\$9,807 (1.44)	12.24 (2.25)	2.91 (2.96)	23.80
Atlanta	\$9,707 (1.43)	10.97 (2.01)	2.23 (2.27)	20.37
St Louis	\$9,639 (1.42)	10.68 (1.96)	2.64 (2.67)	24.67
Kansas City	\$8,893 (1.31)	10.14 (1.86)	2.64 (2.68)	26.08
Dallas	\$8,675 (1.28)	9.27 (1.70)	2.07 (2.11)	22.38
Indianapolis	\$8,623 (1.27)	9.27 (1.70)	2.27 (2.30)	24.48
Milwaukee	\$8,007 (1.18)	9.49 (1.74)	1.90 (1.93)	20.06
Seattle	\$7,255 (1.07)	6.25 (1.15)	1.37 (1.39)	21.97
Minneapolis	\$7,246 (1.07)	6.78 (1.24)	1.29 (1.31)	19.08
Portland	\$6,793 (1.00)	5.45 (1.00)	0.99 (1.00)	18.08

of days spent in intensive care during the last six months of life was almost 5 times higher than the rate among Medicare residents of the Portland, Oregon, hospital referral region. The Miami hospital referral region ranked fourth, behind Newark, Manhattan, and Philadelphia, in the number of days enrollees spent in hospitals during the last six months of life. A full 34% of those hospital days were spent in intensive care, compared to 14.2% among Medicare residents of Manhattan, and 22.3% for those in the Philadelphia hospital referral region.

The health care system in Los Angeles is also heavily committed to intensive care: almost 36.8% of Medicare patient days in hospitals during the last six months of life in 1994-95 were spent in intensive care. Residents of the Los Angeles hospital referral region ranked third in the amount of intensive care they received at the end of life, receiving more than 4 times as much care as residents of Portland, Oregon, and 1.7 times as much as residents of the San Diego hospital referral region.

Level of Acute Hospital Care Resources and the Likelihood of a Hospitalized Death

The level of resource allocation in the acute care hospital sector in hospital referral regions in 1994-95 was correlated with the chance that when a Medicare enrollee's death occurred, it was in a hospital. Figure 4.6 shows the relationship between the percent of Medicare deaths occurring in hospitals and the numbers of acute care hospital beds per thousand residents of hospital referral regions. The chance of dying in a hospital ranged from 20% of all deaths of Medicare enrollees in the region to more than 50%. The R² statistic indicates that 38% of the variation in the likelihood of dying as an inpatient was attributable to the intensity of investment in acute hospital capacity in the region.

Although there was substantial variation in spending among hospital referral regions for home health, hospice and hospital care, there is little evidence that greater spend-

ing for hospice or home health care led to less investment in acute hospital care for terminal care or inpatient care during the last six months of life. There was little association between Medicare spending for inpatient care and home health care spending ($\mathbb{R}^2 = .05$) or inpatient spending and hospice care ($\mathbb{R}^2 = .01$).



Figure 4.6. The Association Between Percent of Deaths Occurring in Hospitals and the Supply of Hospital Beds (1994-95)

There was a relationship between the percent of all deaths that occurred while the enrollees were in hospitals and the numbers of hospital beds per 1,000 Medicare enrollees ($R^2 = .38$). Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States. Chapter Four Table All hospitalization and utilization rates are based on Medicare deaths occurring during the period July 1, 1994 — December 31, 1995, and are expressed as rates per person (per decedent). Rates are age, sex and race adjusted and reimbursements are also adjusted for regional differences in prices. Data exclude Medicare enrollees who were members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations.

CHAPTER FOUR TABLE

Hospitalization Rates and Medicare Reimbursements During the Last Six Months of Life Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)

Reight			peatres as	ves Admited to	Hospitalsin	CU ^R	Capita dulla
Referra	Je Death	abl to Med	HOSPILL	tolle Month & Days	insolution and a second	Days in other ingate	net Sit Mor.
HOSPILO	Medical plus	Percenting	Percent	AN ASI SH M	ANBIRO G	Average Durn	
Alabama							
Birmingham	22,222	42.5	34.9	12.2	2.9	9,807	
Dothan	3,570	41.1	31.6	11.7	2.2	9,199	
Huntsville	4,332	40.0	36.8	11.3	3.1	8,861	
Mobile	6,505	41.2	38.6	12.6	3.3	9,582	
Montgomery	4,094	41.6	31.9	10.8	2.2	9,017	
Tuscaloosa	2,323	41.2	36.2	13.2	3.6	9,039	
Alaska							
Anchorage	1,797	27.9	27.7	8.2	1.8	7,699	
Arizona							
Mesa	3,892	26.3	32.8	7.4	2.3	7,996	
Phoenix	14,161	26.1	30.2	7.4	2.0	8,517	
Sun City	2,925	28.4	8.9	7.5	0.5	7,766	
Tucson	6,211	22.7	28.6	6.3	1.8	7,346	
Arkansas							
Fort Smith	3,775	43.9	31.7	12.7	1.7	8,572	
Jonesboro	2,649	42.0	27.4	11.1	1.7	8,816	
Little Rock	16,179	40.3	31.0	11.4	2.2	9,594	
Springdale	3,500	31.9	29.7	8.2	1.5	7,012	
Texarkana	3,107	39.6	39.2	11.5	3.3	10,666	
California							
Orange Co.	10,636	31.8	39.2	9.0	2.9	9,876	
Bakersfield	5,159	36.3	34.4	10.9	3.0	10,180	
Chico	2,920	30.5	29.9	8.5	2.2	9,886	
Contra Costa Co.	4,900	27.6	24.4	7.4	1.7	9,038	
Fresno	6,331	31.5	29.7	7.8	2.1	8,319	
Los Angeles	38,559	35.1	44.6	11.2	4.1	11,800	
Modesto	4,827	33.8	36.4	10.0	2.9	10,948	
Napa	3,004	26.8	24.4	7.2	1.6	9,622	
Alameda Co.	8,557	29.1	26.0	8.0	1.7	10,088	
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	2,186	30.3	39.1	9.2	3.5	10,932	
Redding	3,272	30.2	28.4	7.3	1.8	9,324	
Sacramento	13,980	30.0	26.7	8.0	2.0	9,431	
Salinas	2,267	23.3	35.1	7.6	3.2	10,770	
San Bernardino	8,570	31.2	37.8	9.1	3.0	10,716	
San Diego	13,577	27.2	31.2	7.9	2.4	9,817	
San Francisco	9,473	28.7	27.3	7.5	1.7	9,043	
San Jose	7,119	28.1	29.5	7.8	2.5	8,771	
San Luis Obispo	1,800	26.3	31.8	6.3	2.3	6,580	
San Mateo Co.	4,562	25.3	28.3	6.9	2.1	7,950	
Santa Barbara	2,633	26.5	27.5	6.8	1.5	7.247	

					2.		
dior		/	Deaths	Admittelite	seitals	11T	(aqitadi
Lena Res			dicate nals	olless inthe	THO INO	SIN SOLINE ME	It sper Months
il ^{a Pot}	ical Or .	953 611 10	n HC and as	SIT DOS MO	,in	28% office of the officer	Ser OIL
HOSY	N801994 F	Percourt	Percuint	AVOID SU	ANOTO C	Avereinto ino	
Santa Cruz	1.869	27.1	35.0	7.7	2.8	9.304	
Santa Rosa	3,377	23.9	17.7	6.8	0.9	7,174	
Stockton	3.152	32.9	29.8	8.4	2.0	11.142	
Ventura	3,225	31.6	29.9	9.7	2.3	9,343	
Colorado							
Boulder	1,190	21.2	28.9	6.2	1.9	6,694	
Colorado Springs	4,301	28.3	23.2	7.9	1.3	7,648	
Denver	12,239	24.2	25.8	7.1	1.5	8,061	
Fort Collins	1,698	25.8	23.2	7.4	1.5	7,899	
Grand Junction	2,059	23.0	17.8	5.6	0.7	6,534	
Greeley	2,157	27.0	23.0	7.8	1.5	8,515	
Pueblo	1,460	30.8	26.7	8.0	1.7	8,564	
Connecticut							
Bridgeport	6,401	35.9	27.9	12.9	2.4	8,554	
Hartford	14,244	32.4	27.5	10.1	2.0	8,406	
New Haven	13,294	32.0	28.1	10.9	2.0	8,233	
Delaware							
Wilmington	5,799	34.8	32.5	11.9	2.7	8,778	
District of Columbi	ia						
Washington	16,766	37.1	31.5	13.4	2.7	10,710	
Florida							
Bradenton	3,533	33.0	39.8	8.9	2.9	8,853	
Clearwater	7,348	32.3	35.6	10.2	2.9	9,442	
Fort Lauderdale	23,068	32.8	40.5	11.7	3.7	10,468	
Fort Myers	10,091	32.3	33.1	9.3	2.4	9,009	
Gainesville	4,152	29.0	31.5	9.0	2.6	8,589	
Hudson	5,741	37.3	40.6	12.6	3.2	10,714	
Jacksonville	10,123	36.0	40.4	11.1	3.7	10,209	
Lakeland	3,133	34.2	35.4	10.2	3.0	9,554	
Miami	17,999	39.5	47.5	14.3	4.8	14,212	
Ocala	5,279	30.9	28.1	8.5	1.8	8,196	
Orlando	24,840	33.5	38.4	10.3	3.1	9,375	
Ormond Beach	3,348	32.8	39.6	10.1	3.1	9,227	
Panama City	1,714	40.3	31.8	11.4	2.8	10,442	
Pensacola	5,472	38.2	32.7	11.5	2.4	10,064	
Sarasota	6,314	30.3	32.9	9.2	2.7	8,624	
St Petersburg	5,865	34.6	46.8	11.9	4.9	10,509	
Tallahassee	6,136	30.7	26.7	9.8	1.7	7,705	
Tampa	7,465	34.7	39.9	11.0	3.5	9,751	
Georgia							
Albany	1,886	40.5	24.6	10.9	1.4	9,143	
Atlanta	28,081	38.4	31.1	11.0	2.2	9,707	
Augusta	5,141	38.5	27.6	11.7	2.2	9,215	
Columbus	2,825	39.6	30.3	10.9	1.9	8,264	
Macon	6,397	39.9	31.6	10.8	1.9	9,488	
Rome	2,558	37.5	31.8	9.0	2.2	9,157	

				1º			
rion		/	Deaths	Admitte	-pital5 ¹¹¹	in capitodi	10
terral Ress	and the second s		dicate nals	HOILESS NOTITS	Hotte	usin Colife atent per onthis	
olial Per	AICATE DIUS	ert of his	The set of	Sit Role Wor	1208	Month all Incenter St	
(H03)	Wer 204 .	Percoun	Per Jin	ANO. SI	ANE: S	Areinung	
Savannah	5,595	38.7	32.1	12.0	2.4	10,141	
Hawaii							
Honolulu	5,403	36.9	23.9	14.4	1.6	10,507	
Idaho							
Boise	5,070	25.1	22.5	5.9	1.1	6,455	
Idaho Falls	1,180	26.3	23.8	6.6	2.2	10,070	
Illinois							
Aurora	1,388	33.0	28.3	8.6	2.1	7,826	
Blue Island	8,056	36.1	36.2	12.7	2.6	10,467	
Chicago	21,540	37.1	39.8	13.8	3.2	12,543	
Elgin	3,426	32.0	39.0	10.4	3.1	8,874	
Evanston	7,782	31.1	35.2	11.0	2.6	9,775	
Hinsdale	2,431	28.5	32.6	9.4	2.5	8,802	
Joliet	3,986	39.7	34.3	12.7	2.3	10,461	
Melrose Park	10,672	31.9	34.6	10.4	2.7	9,705	
Peoria	7,567	32.6	24.8	9.2	1.5	8,884	
Rockford	6,455	32.3	28.5	9.1	2.1	8,258	
Springfield	10,501	34.3	26.0	10.4	2.0	8,972	
Urbana	4,664	33.5	25.6	8.8	1.7	8,339	
Bloomington	1,509	32.4	15.6	9.1	1.1	8,836	
Indiana							
Evansville	8,141	33.7	31.5	9.4	2.0	7,964	
Fort Wayne	7,644	28.5	31.0	7.3	2.2	7,142	
Gary	4,698	39.5	34.5	13.9	3.1	10,622	
Indianapolis	23,729	33.4	29.9	9.3	2.3	8,623	
Lafayette	1,897	33.0	26.5	8.4	2.1	7,736	
Muncie	1,857	34.9	32.6	9.6	2.5	9,189	
Munster	3,148	40.2	47.9	13.6	4.9	10,399	
South Bend	6,462	28.3	26.3	8.2	1.8	7,152	
Terre Haute	2,395	37.4	38.6	10.2	3.5	9,023	
lowa							
Cedar Rapids	2,559	30.1	22.9	9.2	1.8	6,876	
Davenport	5,512	34.5	29.1	9.3	1.8	8,230	
Des Moines	10,830	33.1	27.9	9.5	2.0	8,057	
Dubuque	1,624	27.1	23.0	8.1	1.2	6,648	
Iowa City	3,290	34.4	25.0	9.5	1.3	8,407	
Mason City	2,021	24.4	18.3	6.1	0.9	7,346	
Sioux City	3,051	29.4	29.9	7.9	2.2	7,376	
Waterloo	2,468	28.6	27.8	7.8	1.4	7,495	
Kansas							
Торека	4,453	26.9	18.1	7.3	0.9	6,976	
Wichita	13,594	34.1	25.2	9.3	1.4	9,053	
Centucky	0.440	22.0	22.4	10.0	2.0	0.054	
Lovington	3,113	33.2	33.4	10.2	2.3	0,201	
	12,827	38.9	21.5	11.5	1.9	9,191	
Louisville	15,482	37.5	31.2	11.7	2.6	9,056	

					2:	
dior		/	Deaths	Admitte	spitals II.	in stille
estra Pees			dicate phats	ollessonths	10 the	Sin Colife dients per Months
il ^{a Perc}	ical OF	and his	THO AND AND	Sit OB NOT	11 ¹² 298 1	North of Informer St
HOSE	Wednad P	Percourti	Percuint	AVELSIA	Aver St	Avera indung
Owensboro	1 592	38.7	31.5	9.8	24	8 833
Paducah	4,749	40.0	33.0	12.0	2.3	9.421
Louisiana	, -				-	- ,
Alexandria	2,868	40.4	26.3	11.0	1.6	10,278
Baton Rouge	5,700	38.8	34.6	10.9	2.9	9,278
Houma	1,805	41.8	29.8	13.0	2.3	11,317
Lafayette	4,659	37.9	30.6	10.4	2.3	10,047
Lake Charles	2,069	46.2	26.1	12.9	1.7	11,425
Metairie	3,464	39.5	32.0	12.4	2.3	10,902
Monroe	2,934	39.6	35.5	12.4	3.2	10,220
New Orleans	7,486	34.8	33.6	11.2	2.5	10,666
Shreveport	7,030	41.2	31.6	11.0	2.2	10,651
Slidell	1,339	36.8	33.8	12.5	2.6	11,476
Maine						
Bangor	4,403	37.2	24.8	11.1	1.7	8,067
Portland	9,904	33.5	22.3	10.6	1.4	7,900
Maryland						
Baltimore	22,258	35.9	30.2	12.9	2.3	11,549
Salisbury	4,154	34.7	24.7	10.6	1.6	8,833
Takoma Park	4,725	34.6	33.3	13.9	3.5	12,407
Massachusetts						
Boston	44,305	35.9	28.5	12.5	2.0	10,047
Springfield	8,063	34.2	23.3	10.5	1.4	8,731
Worcester	6,193	36.2	26.9	11.2	1.6	10,220
Michigan						
Ann Arbor	10,184	34.9	36.6	11.1	2.6	9,600
Dearborn	5,468	38.7	39.9	14.5	3.4	11,106
Detroit	19,480	38.0	33.4	13.6	2.9	11,309
Flint	4,589	39.6	35.6	12.8	3.0	10,283
Grand Rapids	8,566	25.0	27.9	7.6	1.8	7,096
Kalamazoo	6,162	29.2	27.1	7.7	1.6	8,000
Lansing	5,125	31.0	27.6	9.7	1.7	8,406
Marquette	2,557	29.5	24.3	8.6	1.2	8,257
Muskegon	2,602	25.6	24.2	7.7	1.3	6,820
Petoskey	1,804	28.3	27.5	8.7	1.8	7,599
Pontiac	2,907	33.2	31.2	12.4	2.1	10,527
Royal Oak	6,081	36.0	28.7	13.3	2.2	10,456
Saginaw	7,166	33.6	33.0	10.4	2.4	8,096
St Joseph	1,521	30.6	25.3	8.9	1.9	8,201
Traverse City	2,254	27.4	26.7	8.5	2.1	8,183
Minnesota						
Duluth	4,435	28.6	27.1	7.3	1.7	7,195
Minneapolis	21,572	25.5	23.1	6.8	1.3	7,246
Rochester	4,108	25.4	24.8	6.8	1.6	7,896
St Cloud	1,893	25.2	26.0	6.8	1.5	6,858
St Paul	5,902	23.7	29.0	7.2	1.9	7,783

		,	atts	anted to	als in	,	³¹ 1.51
Rejon			incale Desc	Hes Adright	Hospito	KUIN A	t per onthis of t
aReletto	IS DEAL	and the second	HOSP JOE	Sit MC E Days	in or	DayShinson emparie	len Six Mo
HOSPILL	Nedica plu	Percenting	Percentilas	AVERO SH N	ANGLAND C	Average nour of	
Mississippi				~	~		
Gulfport	1,636	40.8	40.3	13.9	3.8	11,319	
Hattiesburg	2,824	47.8	27.4	14.1	1.8	10,205	
Jackson	10,360	43.7	26.4	12.3	1.9	8,518	
Meridian	2,278	44.8	27.9	13.6	1.7	9,253	
Oxford	1,418	45.7	25.9	14.3	2.3	10,339	
Tupelo	3,691	46.8	31.0	13.3	2.4	9,010	
Missouri							
Cape Girardeau	3,367	34.3	32.9	9.4	2.6	8,388	
Columbia	7,334	33.6	31.8	9.4	2.2	10,045	
Joplin	4,491	35.4	27.5	9.8	1.5	9,297	
Kansas City	20,043	32.0	33.7	10.1	2.6	8,893	
Springfield	8,468	31.4	27.0	8.5	1.5	8,005	
St Louis	34,798	34.3	33.6	10.7	2.6	9,639	
Montana							
Billings	4,545	27.5	21.3	7.9	1.1	7,591	
Great Falls	1,568	30.1	24.1	8.5	1.3	7,979	
Missoula	3,168	26.9	22.0	6.9	1.2	7,502	
Nebraska							
Lincoln	6,136	27.3	20.3	6.2	1.2	7,073	
Omaha	11,871	31.4	28.2	8.5	2.1	9,007	
Nevada							
Las Vegas	6,418	37.3	35.7	10.8	3.0	9,217	
Reno	4,500	29.3	25.0	7.4	1.7	7,857	
New Hampshire							
Lebanon	4,158	30.8	22.7	9.2	1.4	8,529	
Manchester	6,609	31.3	22.7	9.7	1.5	7,090	
New Jersey	00.040	40.0	05.0	40.0	0.0	40.540	
Camden	28,246	46.0	35.0	16.9	3.0	10,548	
Наскепзаск	7,000	45.6	31.9	19.1	2.7	10,319	
Now Brungwick	7,002	39.0	31.2	10.4	2.4	0,004	
New Brunswick	14.065	40.0	33.7 44 E	19.9	3.0	11 557	
Paterson	2 525	45.7	21.0	22.9	4.2	10.277	
Ridgewood	3,325	43.7	20.0	18.1	2.0	10,377	
New Mexico	0,010	40.0	20.0	10.1	2.4	10,021	
Albuquerque	8 152	28.3	25.7	74	16	7 469	
New York	0,102	2010	2011			1,100	
Albany	19.239	36.4	26.2	14.3	1.9	7.895	
Binghamton	4,188	35.8	26.0	12.6	1.4	7,252	
Bronx	9,072	45.6	28.2	20.9	2.6	15,950	
Buffalo	16,700	41.2	28.6	16.9	2.3	8,811	
Elmira	4,390	39.2	28.8	15.4	1.9	7,948	
East Long Island	37,583	48.2	30.8	20.5	3.0	12,507	
New York	36,642	48.8	29.4	22.0	3.1	16,571	
Rochester	11,624	35.5	25.5	14.0	1.9	8,776	

				210	.0		
dior		/	Deaths	Admittelife	sepitals II.		a l'ite
tora Res	and the second sec		solicale inals	IOI NOTITS	n Ho Life	sting of the steat of the stand	, o
sjita Res	dicate pus	centing	nthi centore	SIT SIG D'S NO	18 CT	Month 189 10 Street St	
(H02.	Mec 994	Per Conti	Peruin	AND ST S	AN0 351 5	Ave contruines	
Syracuse	10,657	35.6	24.9	14.2	1.8	7,527	
White Plains	9,757	42.7	30.4	18.5	2.7	10,646	
North Carolina							
Asheville	6,614	33.2	27.3	8.8	1.9	7,710	
Charlotte	15,349	37.3	33.2	11.1	2.7	8,699	
Durham	11,334	36.8	27.2	10.2	1.9	8,743	
Greensboro	4,744	36.4	31.0	11.1	3.0	7,989	
Greenville	6,749	37.4	33.8	10.9	2.6	9,290	
Hickory	2,268	35.8	31.9	9.9	2.8	9,517	
Raleigh	10,499	41.3	31.7	12.2	2.2	9,217	
Wilmington	3,115	38.5	29.9	10.9	1.9	8,665	
Winston-Salem	9,629	39.8	32.3	12.4	2.4	9,616	
North Dakota							
Bismarck	2,190	29.3	21.7	9.2	1.1	8,908	
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	5,639	27.1	22.9	7.6	1.3	7,889	
Grand Forks	1,970	30.4	22.4	7.5	1.0	8,323	
Minot	1,543	27.8	24.0	8.6	1.4	8,643	
Ohio							
Akron	6,959	37.8	30.9	12.6	2.3	11,043	
Canton	6,735	33.9	34.0	10.0	3.0	8,494	
Cincinnati	15,391	29.3	26.2	8.7	1.7	8,561	
Cleveland	22,862	34.2	36.0	11.3	2.8	10,001	
Columbus	25,002	33.2	32.8	10.1	2.5	9,144	
Dayton	11,007	29.5	29.3	9.0	2.3	8,089	
Elyfia	2,307	30.3	39.3	0.2	3.3	8,129	
Toledo	10.250	29.0	35.5	9.2 10.7	2.1	10 162	
Voungstown	9.036	37.0	30.0	12.3	2.0	10,102	
Oklahoma	3,030	51.5	33.4	12.5	5.5	10,003	
Lawton	2 046	33.1	27.1	9.0	17	8 413	
Oklahoma City	17 003	38.7	27.7	10.3	17	8 730	
Tulsa	11,997	34.8	27.3	9.3	1.7	8,406	
Oregon	,					.,	
Bend	1.372	20.1	16.3	4.8	0.6	5.831	
Eugene	6,153	22.5	19.0	5.4	0.9	6,442	
Medford	4,508	22.4	21.2	5.2	1.1	6,472	
Portland	13,374	22.2	21.5	5.5	1.0	6,793	
Salem	2,220	26.1	30.7	5.9	2.1	6,174	
Pennsylvania							
Allentown	11,882	39.0	30.6	14.2	2.2	9,597	
Altoona	3,850	40.2	33.4	12.1	2.4	9,683	
Danville	6,025	33.0	27.5	9.8	1.6	7,996	
Erie	9,187	34.5	27.0	11.2	2.0	8,326	
Harrisburg	9,760	34.9	28.4	10.6	1.9	8,485	
Johnstown	3,426	41.7	29.7	14.0	1.8	10,987	
Lancaster	5,370	27.0	29.2	8.4	2.1	7,124	

		/	all's	(mitted to	wals in	¹ /1, ¹ /2, ¹ /2
the Begin	ins.	dict	ne Der	sonths of the interest	50 Life	induk ent setontso
Halleson,	CHE NE DESCRIPTION	and Merth	Set of Fills t	Not of Days Months		Nonite ne inserient Stat
HOSPIL	Medics A Pit	Percentities	Perceinic	Avera Sit.	ANOTO SIT	Areanoung
Philadelphia	41.008	39.6	36.9	14.4	3.2	12.093
Pittsburgh	40,932	39.1	35.5	13.8	2.6	10,924
Reading	6,667	36.9	27.3	12.2	1.6	8,197
Sayre	2,253	35.0	27.2	12.5	1.6	8,716
Scranton	4,560	39.0	24.3	14.2	1.6	8,633
Wilkes-Barre	4,037	36.4	29.6	13.4	1.8	7,782
York	3,710	32.4	34.2	10.2	3.0	7,733
Rhode Island						
Providence	11,876	32.9	22.0	11.3	1.4	8,781
South Carolina						
Charleston	5,816	37.3	31.1	11.3	2.9	10,223
Columbia	8,798	37.3	29.8	11.1	2.4	7,962
Florence	3,385	43.4	32.6	12.3	2.1	9,716
Greenville	6,865	38.8	30.4	12.0	2.4	9,120
Spartanburg	3,520	42.1	36.6	12.3	3.0	7,899
South Dakota						
Rapid City	1,586	27.1	22.1	8.2	1.3	7,537
Sioux Falls	8,837	29.6	25.3	8.2	1.7	8,341
Tennessee						
Chattanooga	6,106	37.4	34.4	10.3	2.3	9,298
Jackson	4,027	41.1	36.5	11.1	3.8	9,108
Johnson City	2,544	37.3	28.6	10.1	2.3	10,059
Kingsport	5,348	44.8	36.7	13.6	3.1	10,298
Knoxville	12,226	42.0	32.3	11.8	2.4	9,553
Memphis	16,135	42.2	29.1	12.1	2.6	9,633
Nashville	20,315	37.2	34.2	10.4	2.6	9,836
Texas	0.007					
Abilene	3,697	39.2	30.7	11.5	2.1	9,707
Amarilio	4,260	26.0	31.3	7.9	2.2	8,185
Austin	5,817	31.4	23.7	8.3	1.4	7,368
Beaumont	4,762	44.0	42.5	13.5	4.2	11,012
Diyali Corpus Christi	2,002	32.3	21.3	1.9	2.0	0,003
Colpus Chinsu Dallas	3,003	22.2	20.2	0.2	2.4	9 675
El Paso	5 404	35.1	40.0	9.5	3.5	11 274
Fort Worth	10 958	30.7	33.2	8.1	2.2	8 101
Harlingen	2 831	43.5	40.1	13.3	3.8	15 399
Houston	27 687	33.9	38.2	10.8	3.2	11 023
Longview	1.893	37.6	37.6	10.1	3.3	9.984
Lubbock	6,022	40.7	37.7	12.3	3.6	11,124
Mcallen	2,031	45.0	35.4	13.0	3.2	14,359
Odessa	2,437	37.9	36.2	11.4	3.4	9,246
San Angelo	1,694	34.1	28.7	9.3	2.4	8,086
San Antonio	13,359	34.5	35.8	10.8	3.0	9,611
Temple	2,445	30.0	24.6	7.8	1.2	8,853
Tyler	5,631	37.2	30.8	9.9	2.0	9,516

6		/	Ceaths	Admitted to	itasin	/.s /
osterial Real	Dentiti		Medicale itals	tolles honths of	n Hostile	and the object of the object o
Hospitalt	Weitcae pus	Percentin	AIN Percento as	AVEROS IN MO	AND	Average Turset ast
Victoria	1,525	42.2	31.1	11.5	1.7	9,601
Waco	3,594	30.3	24.5	6.6	1.3	7,410
Wichita Falls	2,489	37.3	29.6	9.7	2.2	7,746
Utah						
Ogden	1,941	20.5	24.0	4.4	1.3	6,193
Provo	1,867	25.5	24.1	5.6	1.6	7,345
Salt Lake City	9,175	22.9	21.1	5.3	1.1	6,572
Vermont						
Burlington	5,446	35.2	26.8	13.5	1.7	8,065
Virginia						
Arlington	7,520	29.5	27.4	9.9	2.0	7,230
Charlottesville	4,635	33.0	28.8	9.4	2.1	8,646
Lynchburg	2,498	34.2	33.6	9.7	2.6	6,517
Newport News	3,873	37.0	37.1	10.7	3.2	8,026
Norfolk	9,073	38.9	34.0	11.8	2.8	8,589
Richmond	12,457	36.5	30.2	11.5	2.5	8,207
Roanoke	7,837	37.7	30.6	11.7	2.4	8,365
Winchester	3,097	35.5	23.9	10.8	1.4	7,703
Washington						
Everett	3,200	22.5	22.1	5.6	1.1	6,785
Olympia	2,696	23.7	26.5	5.4	1.4	7,344
Seattle	15,288	24.5	25.0	6.2	1.4	7,255
Spokane	10,956	25.4	22.0	6.4	1.3	7,274
Tacoma	4,734	23.8	28.0	5.5	1.5	6,904
Yakima	2,134	27.5	24.3	6.7	1.3	7,747
West Virginia						
Charleston	10,703	42.0	30.4	13.1	2.3	9,857
Huntington	4,359	39.7	25.7	12.2	1.7	9,484
Morgantown	4,700	36.7	35.2	11.4	3.0	9,969
Wisconsin						
Appleton	2,916	25.7	22.1	6.6	1.2	6,492
Green Bay	5,033	29.3	23.9	8.1	1.2	6,603
La Crosse	3,837	25.1	22.1	6.5	1.0	6,755
Madison	8,680	27.9	23.1	8.0	1.3	7,377
Marshfield	3,949	29.6	20.5	7.7	1.0	7,075
Milwaukee	22,581	31.5	26.8	9.5	1.9	8,007
Neenah	2,327	26.8	18.7	7.9	1.0	6,537
Wausau	1,962	23.7	17.6	6.7	0.8	6,832
Wyoming						
Casper	1,649	29.0	25.2	7.9	1.7	9,000
United States						
United States	2,305,068	35.2	31.0	11.3	2.4	9,460

CHAPTER FIVE

The Surgical Treatment of Common Diseases

The Surgical Treatment of Common Diseases

While geographic variation in the use of surgery has long been recognized, not all surgical procedures are equally variable. For example, colon resection (colectomy) exhibits the low variation pattern seen with hospitalization rates for hip fracture (Chapter Three). Others, such as coronary artery bypass grafting, have a high variation profile.

What distinguishes low variation from high variation surgery? In general, low variation procedures are non-discretionary; they are used to treat clinical conditions for which physicians agree on the most appropriate treatment strategy. In addition, patient and doctor preferences are aligned — both parties have the same goals.

Conversely, high variation procedures involve physician discretion; the variability reflects underlying problems in medical decision making that occur because of inadequate science and failure to take patient preferences into account.

Sometimes, medical science is inadequate to provide definitive information on which treatment is likely to provide the best outcome for a given patient. In these cases, procedure rates vary because physicians disagree about the effectiveness of surgery.

Sometimes, the scientific evidence regarding outcomes is adequate, but the available treatments have different risks and benefits which only the patient can assess. The fact that patient preferences are unevenly incorporated into treatment decisions results in high variations in procedure rates.

In this chapter, we describe how these two factors are reflected in the variation profiles of nine common surgical procedures. Together these procedures comprised about 25% of the inpatient surgery (major and minor) performed on the Medicare population in 1994-95.



Fig. 5a. Ratios of Rates of Common Surgery to the U.S. Average (1994-95)

A log scale, centered on the national average (1.0) was used for clarity. Colectomy for colorectal cancer was the least variable; radical prostatectomy for cancer of the prostate was the most variable. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

TABLE 5.1.

Quantitative Measures of Variability of Low, High, and Very High Variation Procedures Among the 306 Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

	High Variation I					Ve	Very High Variation II		
	Collegentian Coll	Coloration Press	N838COM	TURPIOIBRH	Kies Peplacente	8887 548811	Cand Engine	Love Ettern	Bypa ⁵⁵ Radica Prostatecont
Index of Variation								-1	
Systematic Component of Variation or SCV (X 100)	18.9	40.5	43.9	52.2	64.3	91.2	100.5	109.8	127.6
Ratio to SCV of colectomy for colorectal cancer	1.0	2.1	2.3	2.8	3.4	4.8	5.3	5.8	6.8
Range of Variation									
Extremal ratio: (highest to lowest region)	2.2	3.5	3.8	3.3	5.2	6.0	7.2	7.0	10.0
Interquartile range: (75th to 25th percentile region)	1.21	1.30	1.30	1.34	1.33	1.47	1.50	1.53	1.62
Number of Regions with High and Low Rates									
Rates more than 25% below the national average	15	21	19	30	30	42	56	83	71
Rates 30% or more above the national average	0	23	26	27	55	62	60	30	60

The figure provides a visual impression of variability. Table 5.1 reports the corresponding quantitative measures of variability. The procedures are ranked from low to high, according to the systematic component of variation (SCV). The SCV for coronary artery bypass grafting, a high variation procedure, is more than twice that of colectomy; and back surgery is more than twice as variable as coronary artery bypass surgery. The increases in variability from low to high and from high to very high are statistically and clinically significant. The table also reports the extremal ratio, or the ratio of highest to lowest rates among the 306 hospital referral regions. For colectomy, the extremal ratio is 2.2. For high variation procedures, the extremal ratios are 3.5 to 5.2 times greater in the highest region compared to the lowest. For very high variation procedures, the ratios are between 6 and 10 times greater in the highest, compared to the lowest, region.

Epidemiologists sometimes use the interquartile ratio as a measure of variation. This statistic is the ratio of the rate in the region ranked at the 75th percentile to the region ranked at the 25th percentile. For colectomy, the interquartile ratio is 1.21. For the procedures listed in the table, the interquartile ratio increases from top to bottom and is greatest for radical prostatectomy: the rate in the region ranked at the 75th percentile is 1.62 times higher than the region ranked at the 25th percentile.

Table 5.1 also gives the number of regions with rates that were 30% or more above the national average, as well as the number with rates that were more than 25% below the national average. By definition, when the variability increases, more regions have rates that are substantially different from the average. In the case of colectomy, there were 15 areas where rates were more than 25% below the average, and none were 30% or more above the average. For coronary artery bypass grafting, 21 regions were more than 25% below the average, while 23 were 30% or more above the average. For radical prostatectomy, 71 regions were more than 25% below the average and 60 regions were 30% or more above the average.

Colorectal Cancer

Malignant tumors of the colon or rectum are detected in a number of ways. They can be identified during evaluation of patients presenting with abdominal pain, constipation, or rectal bleeding. Cancers may also be detected by screening asymptomatic patients with fecal occult blood tests (which identify trace amounts of blood in the stool) or endoscopy (examining the rectum and colon with a lighted scope).

The status of science is, by and large, quite good. Once a cancer is identified, there is universal agreement about the need for surgical removal of the tumor (colectomy). In this procedure, the segment of colon containing the tumor is removed and the remaining bowel is reconnected by an anastamosis. In the case of colectomy, physicians and patients share the common goal of extending life expectancy. Even among patients for whom cure is not possible (because of distant cancer spread), surgery is generally recommended for palliative purposes, such as reducing the risks of later bowel obstruction.

The dilemma of choice is virtually a non-issue. Colectomy is the only recognized approach to cancer cure, and the only alternative for attempting to extend patients' life expectancies. Physicians and patients share the same goals and agree on the need for surgery.



Not Populated

Map 5.1. Colectomy for Colorectal Cancer

Rates of colectomy for cancer of the colon and rectum demonstrate relatively little variation. There were no regions with rates 30% or more above the national average (blue); only 15 regions were more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates were lowest in Utah, southeastern Idaho, New Mexico and parts of Texas as well as in isolated regions in the South and California. Rates were higher in the Northeast and Midwest.



Figure 5.1. Colectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 1.5 to 3.2 per thousand Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Coronary Artery Disease

Patients with coronary artery disease most often present with symptoms of chest pain (angina) or shortness of breath. Occasionally, patients are first diagnosed after a myocardial infarction. There are multiple approaches to treating coronary artery disease: risk factor modification (diet, exercise) and medicines to reduce the frequency and severity of angina; percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA); and coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG). Decisions to recommend CABG depend on the severity of the patient's symptoms and the severity of the underlying coronary disease. Disease severity is typically determined by diagnostic tests, such as stress tests and coronary angiography.

The status of science in making decisions about whether to perform CABG surgery is imperfect. Several randomized controlled trials initiated in the 1970s have demonstrated that CABG prolongs life in patients who have very severe coronary disease (as determined by specific findings on angiography). However, most patients currently undergoing this procedure do not meet these specific criteria. For the majority of patients, scientific evidence that CABG prolongs life or reduces the long term risks of myocardial infarction is absent.

The dilemma of choice. For many patients, CABG is recommended primarily to improve angina symptoms, a goal shared by patients and physicians. However, the variation in rates of CABG across geographic regions suggests that physicians have different symptom "thresholds" for recommending surgery. Moreover, physicians do not interpret patient preferences in a uniform way. Patients with similar degrees of angina often have different responses to their symptoms; some are bothered more, and some less, by the same degree of discomfort. In addition, individual patients differ in how they feel about the risks of death and complications associated with surgery. Variation in CABG rates will persist until an effective means of incorporating these differences in patient preferences is found and factored explicitly into treatment decisions.



Not Populated

Map 5.2. Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting

Rates of CABG varied more than rates of colectomy for colorectal cancer. Twenty-three regions had rates 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 21 regions had rates more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates were high in Alabama, Arkansas, parts of Florida, Michigan, and parts of California. Rates were low in the Mountain states, the Northeast, and parts of California, as well as in Hawaii and Alaska.





The rates varied from 2.7 to 9.5 per thousand Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Early Stage Breast Cancer

Breast cancers are usually identified by screening mammography or by the patient herself after the appearance of a breast lump. These findings prompt a biopsy, which establishes the diagnosis of cancer. While occasionally the cancer will have spread to distant organs by the time of first diagnosis, most breast cancers are diagnosed in earlier stages.

The status of science is good. Randomized clinical trials demonstrate the value of early screening in reducing mortality in women who are over 50. Once diagnosed, surgery is universally recommended for treatment of breast cancer. There are two principal surgical approaches: breast sparing surgery (lumpectomy, which is followed by radiation therapy) and mastectomy (complete removal of the breast). Randomized clinical trials have shown that these two approaches have nearly identical rates of cancer cure.

The dilemma of choice concerns preferences, not science. The tradeoffs involve subjective factors that only patients can evaluate for themselves. With breast sparing surgery, a woman accepts the need for radiation and faces the possibility that the tumor will recur locally, requiring a complete mastectomy; but she avoids, at least in the near term, the total loss of her breast. With mastectomy, a woman avoids radiation and reduces the risk of local recurrence, but loses her breast. While reconstructive surgery and prostheses are potential options, the effect of mastectomy on body appearance and self-image is a considerable burden for many women.

Despite the scientific evidence that the survival rate is the same for breast sparing surgery and for mastectomy, and in spite of wide consensus that patient preferences should determine which treatment is chosen (and thus drive the aggregate rates of each procedure), the wide variations in surgical rates suggest that physician, rather than patient, preferences are the deciding factors in most cases.



Not Populated

Map 5.3. Mastectomy for Breast Cancer

Mastectomy for breast cancer is a high variation procedure. Twenty-six regions had rates 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 19 had rates more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates were higher in the Midwest than on the East or West coasts. Mastectomy Procedures per 1,000 Female Medicare Enrollees in HRRs



Figure 5.3. Mastectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 1.1 to 4.0 per thousand female Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia

Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) is a common condition among older men. The most significant symptom of BPH, which for some men can be very bothersome, is difficulty in urination, caused by an enlargement of the prostate gland. There are multiple ways of treating BPH, including letting nature take its course (symptoms sometimes improve spontaneously); using one of several drugs; and having surgery, usually a transurethral prostatectomy (TURP).

The status of science. Outcomes research conducted over the last few years has done much to clarify the benefits and risks of undergoing treatment for BPH. A number of clinical studies have provided good evidence that surgery improves urinary symptoms. However, surgery carries with it significant risk of side effects, including retrograde ejaculation and a slight risk of incontinence. While not as effective as surgery, pharmaceuticals also improve urinary symptoms, with lower risks.

The dilemma of choice concerns preferences and tradeoffs. There are several possible outcomes associated with the different treatment options. Individual men differ in how they assess the risks and benefits of those outcomes. Men who choose surgery have the best chance of successfully reducing their symptoms, but face a substantial risk of suffering from retrograde ejaculation (or, less commonly, impotence and incontinence) after surgery. Men who choose medications may not realize the same improvement of symptoms as those who undergo surgery, but they avoid the risk of retrograde ejaculation. Men who choose watchful waiting forgo the risks and costs of surgery or drug treatment, but have reduced prospect for substantial improvement in symptoms.



Not Populated

Map 5.4. Transurethral Prostatectomy for BPH

Prostatectomy for benign prostate hyperplasia is a high variation procedure. Twenty-seven regions had rates 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 30 regions had rates more than 25% lower than the national average (green). Rates were high in western Texas, Kansas, parts of North and South Dakota, and central Oregon. Rates were lower in the Mountain states, northern Montana, and many regions on the East Coast.



Figure 5.4. TURP for BPH Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 4.5 to 14.5 per thousand male Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Degeneration of the Knee Joint

Joint soreness and stiffness in elderly people are usually related to chronic degeneration of joint surfaces (osteoarthritis). Severe osteoarthritis of the knee causes pain with walking, and can sometimes limit mobility. Because anti-inflammatory medications have limited effectiveness in patients with severe symptoms, total knee replacement — a major surgical procedure involving placement of a prosthesis is often recommended.

The status of science is fairly good in the case of knee replacement. While joint replacement has not been assessed in randomized clinical trials, most physicians agree that it is effective in improving patients' functional status and quality of life. The well-known risks associated with the procedure include surgical mortality and prosthesis-related complications; and long periods of recovery and rehabilitation after surgery are required.

The dilemma of choice. Orthopedic surgeons and patients share the same goal — to reduce pain and increase mobility. However, only patients are able to determine how much their symptoms affect their lives, and how they feel about the risks and side effects of surgery. The high degree of variation in use rates, even among neighboring regions, suggests that recommendations for joint replacement are driven largely by provider assessments of the tradeoffs between the risks and benefits of surgery.



Map 5.5. Knee Replacement Surgery

Knee replacement surgery is a high variation procedure. Fifty-five regions had rates 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 30 regions had rates more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates were high in the upper Midwest and the Mountain states, and in parts of Texas and Oklahoma. Rates were low on the East and West coasts. View Geblacement Procedures per 1,000 Medicare

Figure 5.5. Knee Replacement Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 1.8 to 9.1 per thousand Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Back Pain

For most patients with the common problem of back pain, the symptoms are selflimited and the precise cause is never established. In some patients, however, back pain is caused by spinal stenosis (narrowing of the boney spine leading to pressure on the cord) or herniated discs (which "pinch" nerves exiting the spinal cord). These conditions can also cause neurological symptoms, such as leg weakness and numbness. When patient symptoms or findings on physical examination suggest spinal stenosis or a herniated disc, the diagnosis can be supported by imaging procedures such as computed tomography (CT scans) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI scans).

The status of science concerning back surgery for spinal stenosis and herniated discs is poor. First, the clinical significance of these anatomic abnormalities is unclear — the same X-ray findings are frequently noted in patients without any back pain or neurological symptoms. Second, the effectiveness of back surgery for spinal stenosis or herniated discs has not been established by randomized clinical trials. Although recent studies suggest that symptoms and functional status in selected patients with herniated discs are initially improved after surgery, the long term effectiveness of surgery is still unknown and hotly debated. Moreover, little is known about the natural history of these conditions treated without surgery.

Dilemma of choice. Like any procedure aimed at improving symptoms, patient preferences are central to decision making in back surgery. Only the patient can determine how back-related symptoms affect his or her function or quality of life. In addition, physicians and patients may not always share the same goals in back surgery; for example, a physician may recommend surgery because of leg weakness, while the patient is primarily concerned with back pain.



Map 5.6. Back Surgery

Back surgery is a very high variation procedure. Sixty-two regions have rates 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 42 have rates more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates are high in the Northwest and in the Mountain states, parts of Texas, Florida, North and South Carolina, Alabama, and California. Rates are lower in the Northeast and parts of the Midwest.



Figure 5.6. Back Surgery Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 1.3 to 7.6 per thousand Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Carotid Artery Disease

Many strokes are caused by narrowing (stenosis) of the carotid arteries, a diagnosis which is made using ultrasound or angiography. While nearly all patients with carotid stenosis are treated with aspirin, carotid endarterectomy is considered a treatment option for patients with severe stenosis (greater than 60% narrowing) and/or symptoms, including transient visual symptoms and numbness or weakness in an extremity. Endarterectomy, which removes plaque from the artery, carries a small risk of death, but has a higher and more variable risk of stroke.

The status of science concerning carotid endarterectomy in patients with symptoms is good, but inadequate for patients who are asymptomatic. Randomized controlled trials have demonstrated that, for patients with severe stenosis and symptoms, surgery is substantially more effective in reducing the risk of stroke than watchful waiting (12% vs. 26% at two years in one well-known trial). Recent clinical trials have demonstrated the effectiveness of surgery in asymptomatic patients, but the benefit is substantially smaller (5% vs. 11% in another trial at five years). Moreover, the studies of asymptomatic patients were based on relatively healthy (and low-risk) patients undergoing surgery at medical centers with proven records of excellent results.

The dilemma of choice is most apparent in treatment decisions for patients with carotid stenosis but no symptoms. Physicians and patients have the same objective — reduction of the risk of debilitating stroke. While physicians often emphasize the *magnitude* of stroke risks with each option, treatment decisions must also account for the *timing* of these risks. While surgery promises slightly lower stroke risks over the long term, strokes occurring as a result of the procedure affect patients immediately. The risk of stroke with watchful waiting rise gradually. For very elderly patients or those who are risk-averse, preferences about risk should play a substantial part in the decision about whether or not to undergo surgery.



Map 5.7. Carotid Endarterectomy

Carotid endarterectomy is a very high variation procedure. Sixty regions have rates that are 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 56 regions have rates that are more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates are high in parts of California, throughout much of the deep South and Florida, and in parts of Michigan. Rates are lower in the Northwest, in the Plains and Mountain states, and in New England.



8

Carotid Endarterectomy Procedures per 1,000 Medicare Enrollees in HRRs

Figure 5.7. Carotid Endarterectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 1.0 to 7.1 per thousand Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Peripheral Vascular Disease

Atherosclerosis ("hardening of the arteries") can affect the arteries supplying blood to the legs, especially in patients with diabetes and those who smoke. Atherosclerosis can cause muscle pain with walking or exercise (claudication). In its most severe forms, patients can experience pain at rest or foot ulcers and infections that will not heal and can ultimately result in the need for amputation of the leg. Other than risk factor modification (such as smoking cessation), there are no effective medications for treating peripheral vascular disease; as a result, many patients undergo lower extremity bypass to improve blood flow to their legs.

The status of science in lower extremity bypass is incomplete. While its effectiveness in different settings has not been established in controlled trials, most physicians agree that bypass surgery can obviate the need for leg amputation in patients with especially severe peripheral vascular disease. For patients with less severe disease (e.g., claudication only), the role of surgery is hotly debated. Conversely, the risks of lower extremity bypass are well known. These include immediate risks of heart attacks and death with the procedure and long term risks of bypass failure and need for subsequent interventions.

Dilemma of choice. Decisions about lower extremity bypass are complicated, and physicians and patients can differ in their assessments of tradeoffs between risks and benefits. In recommending surgery, vascular surgeons might focus on improving patient symptoms and avoiding leg amputations (and the need for limb prostheses). Though many patients no doubt share these primary goals, they might be bothered to different degrees by their symptoms and can differ in their willingness to take risks with surgery. In some cases, even patients with severe, limb-threatening disease can be more concerned about life expectancy than the status of their legs. This fundamental tradeoff can only be assessed by the individual patient.



Map 5.8. Lower Extremity Bypass

Lower extremity bypass is a very high variation procedure. Thirty regions have rates that are 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 83 have rates that are more than 25% lower than the national average (green). Rates are high in parts of Texas, Louisiana, and on the East Coast. Rates are low throughout the Midwest, the Plains and Mountain states, and in parts of Texas. Lower Extremity Bypass Procedures per 1,000 Medicare Enrollees in HRRs





Early Stage Prostate Cancer

Prostate cancer, primarily a disease of older men, can be detected by routine physical examination or during evaluation for difficulties with urination. Prostate cancer can also be identified by screening men with the prostate specific antigen (PSA) blood test; its widespread use has led to the discovery of many more early stage cancers than were previously detected. Treatment of early stage prostate cancer usually involves either radiation therapy or radical prostatectomy, a surgical procedure in which the prostate gland is completely removed.

The status of science is poor. There are no completed clinical trials comparing survival in men who are being treated actively (with radiation or surgery) and those who are employing watchful waiting. Determining a benefit with radiation or surgery is difficult because most forms of early stage prostate cancer are very slow growing; many men, depending on their age, never have symptoms and die from other causes. While the benefits of active treatment are not clearly established, the complications of radiation and surgery are well documented: both carry a substantial risk of incontinence and impotence.

The dilemma of choice concerns preferences in the face of scientific uncertainty. A man who chooses radiation or surgery takes the chance that active treatment will improve his life expectancy, but he gambles on side effects including impotence and incontinence. A man who chooses watchful waiting forgoes the possibility that active treatment works, but avoids the risks associated with surgery. The very high variation profile of radical prostatectomy reflects both physician uncertainty about patient outcomes with each treatment strategy and problems with how patient preferences are incorporated into treatment choices.


Map 5.9. Radical Prostatectomy

Radical prostatectomy is a very high variation procedure. Sixty regions have rates that are 30% or more higher than the national average (blue); 71 regions have rates that are more than 25% below the national average (green). Rates are high in the Northwest, the Mountain and Great Plains states, Michigan, and parts of Florida and Mississippi. Rates are low in the Northeast, much of the Midwest, and in parts of Florida and Texas.

Radical Prostatectomy Procedures per 1,000 Male Medicare Enrollees in HRRs



Figure 5.9. Radical Prostatectomy Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The rates varied from 0.5 to 4.9 per thousand male Medicare enrollees, after adjustment. Each point represents one of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

Chapter Five Table All rates are age, sex, and race adjusted, and are expressed as rates per 1,000 Medicare enrollees. Surgical rates are for 1994-95, using a two year "person-year" denominator as given in the column labeled "Medicare Enrollees (1994 plus 1995)." Rates for mastectomy and prostate procedures are sex-specific. Data exclude Medicare enrollees who were members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations.

> CABG = coronary artery bypass grafting TURP for BPH = transurethral resection of the prostate for benign prostatic hyperplasia

> Specific codes used to define the numerator for rates, and methods of age, sex, and race adjustment are included in the Appendix on Methods.

CHAPTER FIVE TABLE

Rates of Common Surgical Procedures Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees by Hospital Referral Region (1994-95)

Albama Augusta Augusta <th< th=""><th>Region</th><th></th><th>(199^A</th><th>lotectal</th><th>/</th><th>ancet</th><th>/</th><th></th><th>/</th><th>octomy</th><th>04P855 +017H</th></th<>	Region		(199 ^A	lotectal	/	ancet	/		/	octomy	04P855 +017H
Abbar Abbar Abbar Abbar Abbar Abbar Abbar Abbar Alabama 537,479 2.3 8.2 2.4 9.0 4.5 4.2 4.2 1.9 1.6 Dathan 90,492 1.9 7.1 1.9 10.4 5.1 3.7 4.0 1.5 2.0 Huttswile 106,6897 2.6 6.4 2.2 8.7 4.2 4.2 4.1 3.9 2.3 Motigomery 98,236 2.2 5.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Staceloses 56,503 2.1 4.1 2.9 4.8 7.8.8 3.8 1.0 9.9 2.1 Arizona T 5.6 3.8 1.3 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.8 2.3 Stace 1.1 3.0 1.1 3.7 1.6 5.3 3.6 2.4 1.4 1.4 1.4 1.4	Referral	Enoles	aytor	or surgery	MIN	or BPH	olacet	ner.	Endatt	ate	onstated.
AlbAma AlbAma AlbAma Birningham \$37,479 2.3 8.2 2.4 9.0 4.5 4.2 4.2 1.9 1.6 Dathan 90,492 1.9 7.1 1.9 10.4 5.1 3.7 4.0 1.5 2.0 Huntsville 106,063 2.2 6.6 2.2 8.7 4.2 4.2 4.1 3.9 2.3 Mongomeny 98,236 2.2 5.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Maska 1 7.1 5.6 3.8 3.0 1.8 0.9 2.1 Alska 2.1 4.1 2.0 4.6 3.8 3.0 1.8 0.9 2.1 Alska 1.0 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.8 2.3 Phoeink 37.9 5.6 3.3 6.6 2.0 2.0 2.0 Sunchy 95.755 2.3 5.1 2.5	Hospita	Medicale 1995	Colecton	CABOST	Mastectu	TURPTO	Wiles Per	Bad Sur	Carolid	Lowert	Radical
Anoma Signard Signard <thsignard< th=""> Signard S</thsignard<>	Alabama	<i>brc</i>	C.								
Drinking Differ Differ Differ Differ Differ Differ Differ Hunswile 108,063 2.2 6.6 2.2 8.7 4.2 4.2 4.1 3.3 2.4 Hunswile 108,063 2.2 6.6 2.2 8.7 4.2 4.2 4.1 3.3 2.4 Mohigomery 98,286 2.2 5.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.3 Inscalocas 55,661 2.1 4.1 2.0 4.6 3.8 3.0 1.8 0.9 2.1 Atsate I I 2.0 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Startistic 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.8 2.3 2.1 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Startistic 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 2.3 8.1 4.7 3.1 1.4 1.4 <td>Rimingham</td> <td>527 470</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>8.2</td> <td>2.4</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>4.5</td> <td>12</td> <td>4.2</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>1.6</td>	Rimingham	527 470	2.2	8.2	2.4	0.0	4.5	12	4.2	1.0	1.6
Dotini 90,492 1.9 1.1 1.9 1.0.4 0.1 5.7 4.0 1.3 2.0 Mutrisville 106,6897 2.6 6.6 2.2 6.7 5.1 3.0 4.1 3.9 2.3 Monigomery 98,236 2.2 6.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Monigomery 98,236 2.2 6.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Monigomery 98,236 2.2 6.5 2.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.1 Afishar 1.13 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 8.4 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Mess 110,303 2.4 6.1 2.3 8.1 2.4 2.0 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95,765 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.3 1.1	Diffiningham	00,402	2.3	0.2	2.4	9.0	4.0	4.2	4.2	1.9	2.0
number 100,063 2.2 0.6 2.4 0.7 4.2 4.2 4.1 3.3 2.4 Mobile 166,87 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Iscaloosa 56,503 2.2 6.3 2.8 5.8 4.7 3.8 3.8 1.5 1.4 Alask	Dunian	90,492	1.9	1.1	1.9	0.7	0.1	3.7	4.0	1.0	2.0
Mode (bb, 6g) 2.0 6.4 2.5 0.7 5.1 3.0 4.1 5.9 2.0 2.2 Tuscaloosa 56,503 2.2 5.5 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Tuscaloosa 56,503 2.2 6.3 2.8 5.8 4.7 3.8 3.8 1.5 1.4 Alaska	Mahila	100,003	2.2	0.0	2.2	0.7	4.2	4.2	4.1	3.3	2.4
Walding/inity sb.26 2.2 5.3 2.6 6.8 4.1 5.9 4.0 2.0 2.2 Localoosa 56,503 2.2 6.3 2.8 5.8 4.7 3.8 3.8 1.5 1.4 Alaska 3.8 1.5 1.4 Arizona 3.8 3.0 1.8 0.9 2.1 Arizona 170.30 2.4 5.1 1.3 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.8 2.3 Sun City 95.755 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 Tucson 158.221 2.1 3.6 2.3 8.1 4.7 4.3 1.4 1.8 2.0 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95.755 2.3 5.7 1.9 1.2.8 4.6 2.0 1.9 1.4 1.8 2.0 1.0 1.8 <td>Montromoni</td> <td>100,097</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>0.4 E.E</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>0.7</td> <td>0.1</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>4.1</td> <td>3.9</td> <td>2.3</td>	Montromoni	100,097	2.0	0.4 E.E	2.0	0.7	0.1	5.0	4.1	3.9	2.3
Instantational 95,003 2.2 0.3 2.8 3.8 4.7 3.8 3.8 1.3 1.4 Alaska Anchonage 53,661 2.1 4.1 2.0 4.6 3.8 3.0 1.8 0.9 2.1 Arizona 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.8 2.3 Phoenix 378,996 2.1 4.6 2.2 6.4 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95,755 2.3 5.1 2.5 6.6 3.6 2.4 1.4 1.4 2.0 Arkansas 1.4 2.5 9.6 3.4 3.5 1.7 1.0 Little Rock 388,936 2.4 8.0 2.4 8.3 5.0 3.4 3.5 2.3 2.5 Springdale 93,936 2.4 5.2 2.3 9.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texakna 69,670 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 2.0	Tuesslesse	90,230	2.2	0.0	2.0	0.0	4.1	0.9	4.0	2.0	2.2
AdskaArcholage\$5,6812.14.12.04.63.83.01.80.92.1ArizonaMesa110,3032.45.11.37.15.63.62.21.82.3Phoenix378,9962.14.62.28.44.63.02.52.02.0Sun City95,7552.35.12.59.56.33.62.41.22.1Turson158,212.13.62.38.14.74.31.41.42.0ArkansaUUU1.83.51.71.01.83.51.71.0Jonesboro62,1282.56.61.99.84.93.63.51.71.0Little Rok388,9362.48.02.48.35.03.43.52.32.32.5Springdale33,9362.48.02.48.35.03.43.52.32.5Springdale39,39362.45.22.39.64.43.82.72.41.11.3Tearkana9.8702.66.02.49.24.74.24.22.01.2Orange Co.2.77.462.24.51.96.44.03.22.41.62.5Bakersliel12.3941.76.42.39.64.43.34.71.62.2Chico	Aleeke	56,503	2.2	0.3	2.8	0.0	4.7	3.8	3.8	1.5	1.4
Antionage 53,601 2.1 4.1 2.0 4.6 3.8 3.8 1.0 0.9 2.1 Arizona Arizona 378,996 2.1 4.6 2.2 8.4 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95,755 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 Tucson 158,221 2.1 3.6 2.3 8.1 4.7 4.3 1.4 1.4 2.0 Arkansa	Alaska	E2 661	2.1	4.1	2.0	4.6	2.0	2.0	1.0	0.0	2.1
National	Arizono	53,001	2.1	4.1	2.0	4.0	3.0	3.0	1.0	0.9	2.1
Intest 10,000 2.4 5.1 1.3 7.1 5.6 3.6 2.2 1.6 2.3 Phoenix 378,996 2.1 4.6 2.2 8.4 4.6 3.0 2.5 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95,755 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 Attansas Fort Smith 88,596 2.2 5.7 1.9 12.8 4.6 2.0 1.9 1.4 1.8 Jonesboro 62,128 2.5 6.6 1.9 9.8 4.9 3.6 3.5 1.7 1.0 Little Rok 388,936 2.4 8.0 2.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69,870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.0 3.2 2.4 1.6 2.5 Galigoria 122,94 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 0 3.3	Arizona	440.202	2.4	E 4	4.0	7.4	E.C.	2.6	2.2	4.0	2.2
Pridenk 376,986 2.1 4.6 2.2 6.4 4.6 3.0 2.3 2.0 2.0 Sun City 95,755 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 Tucson 158.221 2.1 3.6 2.3 8.1 4.7 4.3 1.4 1.4 2.0 Arkansas	Mesa	110,303	2.4	5.1	1.3	7.1	5.6	3.6	2.2	1.8	2.3
Sun City 99,765 2.3 5.1 2.5 9.5 6.3 3.6 2.4 1.2 2.1 Tueson 158,221 2.1 3.6 2.3 8.1 4.7 4.3 1.4 1.2 2.1 Arkansas	Prioenix	378,990	2.1	4.0	2.2	0.4	4.0	3.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Industion 150,221 2.1 3.0 2.3 0.1 4.7 4.3 1.4 1.4 1.4 2.0 Arkansas 5 57 1.9 12.8 4.6 2.0 1.9 1.4 1.8 2.0 Jonesboro 62,128 2.5 6.6 1.9 9.8 4.9 3.6 3.5 1.7 1.0 Little Rock 388,936 2.4 8.0 2.4 8.3 5.0 3.4 3.5 2.3 2.5 Springdale 93,936 2.4 5.2 2.3 9.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69,870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California U U U 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.6 2.5 Bakersfield 12.334 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 <td>Sun City</td> <td>95,755</td> <td>2.3</td> <td>5.1</td> <td>2.5</td> <td>9.5</td> <td>0.3</td> <td>3.0</td> <td>2.4</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>2.1</td>	Sun City	95,755	2.3	5.1	2.5	9.5	0.3	3.0	2.4	1.2	2.1
Arranges Fort Smith 88,596 2.2 5.7 1.9 12.8 4.6 2.0 1.9 1.4 1.8 Jonesboro 62,128 2.5 6.6 1.9 9.8 4.9 3.6 3.5 1.7 1.0 Little Rock 388.936 2.4 8.0 2.4 8.3 5.0 3.4 3.5 2.3 2.5 Springdale 93.936 2.4 5.2 2.3 9.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69.870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California 7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.5 Bakersfield 122.394 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 3.3 1.7 1.7 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1	Arkansas	158,221	2.1	3.0	2.3	ð. I	4.7	4.3	1.4	1.4	2.0
Point Similar Boolesso 2.2 3.7 1.9 12.6 4.9 3.6 1.4 1.4 1.8 Jonesboro 62,128 2.5 6.6 1.9 9.8 4.9 3.6 3.5 1.7 1.0 Little Rock 388,936 2.4 8.0 2.4 8.3 5.0 3.4 3.5 2.3 2.5 Springdale 39.396 2.4 5.2 2.3 9.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69.870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California 7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 3.3 1.7 1.7 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1.7 7.6 4.1 2.4 2.9 1.7 2.6 Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 </td <td>Fort Smith</td> <td>99 506</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>E 7</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>10.0</td> <td>4.6</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>1.4</td> <td>1.0</td>	Fort Smith	99 506	2.2	E 7	1.0	10.0	4.6	2.0	1.0	1.4	1.0
Solie Solie 1.2 6.0 1.3 3.0 4.3 3.0 3.3 1.1 1.0 Little Rock 388,936 2.4 8.0 2.4 8.3 5.0 3.4 3.5 2.3 2.5 Springale 93,936 2.4 5.2 2.3 9.4 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69,870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California	lonoshoro	62 129	2.2	5.7	1.9	0.9	4.0	2.0	2.5	1.4	1.0
Linke rook 300,300 2.4 6.0 2.4 6.3 6.0 6.4 6.3 6.4 6.3 2.4 1.1 1.3 Springdale 93,936 2.4 6.0 2.4 9.2 3.8 2.7 2.4 1.1 1.3 Texarkana 69,870 2.6 6.0 2.4 9.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California	Little Rock	299.026	2.5	0.0	2.4	9.0	4.9	3.0	2.5	1.7	2.5
Spingulate35,3582.45.22.33.43.62.12.41.11.3Texarkana69,8702.66.02.49.24.74.24.22.01.2CaliforniaOrange Co.277,4962.24.51.96.44.03.22.41.62.5Bakersfield122,3941.76.42.39.64.43.34.71.62.2Chico75,7382.66.12.19.85.44.03.31.71.7Contra Costa Co.135,4622.06.01.77.64.12.42.91.72.6Fresno167,3522.24.81.610.04.53.02.62.02.7Los Angeles979,1152.35.11.89.53.53.22.41.72.6Modesto122,4682.55.32.39.04.72.93.52.41.7Napa73,9222.46.82.28.45.43.55.22.01.8Alameda Co.220,7742.24.51.88.73.62.92.42.01.7Palm Spt/Rancho Mir60,8461.84.81.59.34.85.53.42.62.8Sacramento372,3422.26.22.17.93.93.02.61.6<	Springdolo	02.026	2.4	5.0	2.4	0.0	2.0	0.7	3.5	2.3	1.2
Tekanana 03,010 2.0 0.0 2.4 3.2 4.7 4.2 4.2 2.0 1.2 California 0 2.7 4.5 1.9 6.4 4.0 3.2 2.4 1.6 2.5 Bakersfield 122,394 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 3.3 1.7 1.7 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1.7 7.6 4.1 2.4 2.9 1.7 2.6 Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 3.0 2.6 2.0 2.7 Los Angeles 979,115 2.3 5.1 1.8 9.5 3.5 3.2 2.4 2.6 2.3 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 <t< td=""><td>Tovarkana</td><td>93,930</td><td>2.4</td><td>5.2</td><td>2.3</td><td>9.4</td><td>3.0</td><td>4.2</td><td>4.2</td><td>2.0</td><td>1.3</td></t<>	Tovarkana	93,930	2.4	5.2	2.3	9.4	3.0	4.2	4.2	2.0	1.3
Channe Corange Co. 277,496 2.2 4.5 1.9 6.4 4.0 3.2 2.4 1.6 2.5 Bakersfield 122,394 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 3.3 1.7 1.7 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1.7 7.6 4.1 2.4 2.9 1.7 2.6 Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 3.0 2.6 2.0 2.7 Los Angeles 979,115 2.3 5.1 1.8 9.5 3.5 3.2 2.4 2.6 2.3 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 5.4 3.4 2.6	California	09,070	2.0	0.0	2.4	9.2	4.7	4.2	4.2	2.0	1.2
Orlange CO. 217,430 2.2 4.3 1.3 0.4 4.0 5.2 2.4 1.0 2.5 Bakersfield 122,394 1.7 6.4 2.3 9.6 4.4 3.3 4.7 1.6 2.2 Chico 75,738 2.6 6.1 2.1 9.8 5.4 4.0 3.3 1.7 1.7 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1.7 7.6 4.1 2.4 2.9 1.7 2.6 Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 3.0 2.6 2.0 2.7 Los Angeles 979,115 2.3 5.1 1.8 9.5 3.5 3.2 2.4 2.6 2.3 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 5.4 3.5 5.2 2.0 1.8 Alameda Co. 220,774 2.2 4.5 1.8 8.7 <td>Omneo Co</td> <td>277 406</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>4.5</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>6.4</td> <td>4.0</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>2.4</td> <td>1.6</td> <td>2.5</td>	Omneo Co	277 406	2.2	4.5	1.0	6.4	4.0	2.2	2.4	1.6	2.5
Date Sheld1.10.42.53.64.43.34.11.62.2Chico75,7382.66.12.19.85.44.03.31.71.7Contra Costa Co.135,4622.06.01.77.64.12.42.91.72.6Fresno167,3522.24.81.610.04.53.02.62.02.7Los Angeles979,1152.35.11.89.53.53.22.42.62.3Modesto122,4682.55.32.39.04.72.93.52.41.7Napa73,9222.46.82.28.45.43.55.22.01.8Alameda Co.220,7742.24.51.88.73.62.92.42.01.7Palm Spr/Rancho Mir60,8461.84.81.59.34.85.53.42.62.8Redding85,5262.69.01.68.55.44.44.62.12.5Sacaramento372,3422.26.22.17.93.93.02.61.62.0Sainas65,7782.26.31.99.64.63.83.11.71.1San Bernardino186,0672.44.92.08.04.54.02.92.52.0San Diego340,0691.94.41.87.6 <td>Bakersfield</td> <td>122 30/</td> <td>1.7</td> <td>4.5</td> <td>2.3</td> <td>0.4</td> <td>4.0</td> <td>3.2</td> <td>4.7</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>2.3</td>	Bakersfield	122 30/	1.7	4.5	2.3	0.4	4.0	3.2	4.7	1.0	2.3
Childo 13,133 2.0 0.1 2.1 5.8 5.4 4.0 5.3 1.1 1.1 Contra Costa Co. 135,462 2.0 6.0 1.7 7.6 4.1 2.4 2.9 1.7 2.6 Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 3.0 2.6 2.0 2.7 Los Angeles 979,115 2.3 5.1 1.8 9.5 3.5 3.2 2.4 2.6 2.3 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 5.4 3.5 5.2 2.0 1.8 Alameda Co. 220,774 2.2 4.5 1.8 8.7 3.6 2.9 2.4 2.0 1.7 Palm Spr/Rancho Mir 60,846 1.8 4.8 1.5 9.3 4.8 5.5 3.4 2.6 2.8 Sacaramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 <t< td=""><td>Chico</td><td>75 729</td><td>2.6</td><td>6.1</td><td>2.0</td><td>0.9</td><td>5.4</td><td>4.0</td><td>7.7</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.7</td></t<>	Chico	75 729	2.6	6.1	2.0	0.9	5.4	4.0	7.7	1.0	1.7
Fresno 167,352 2.2 4.8 1.6 10.0 4.5 3.0 2.6 2.0 2.7 Los Angeles 979,115 2.3 5.1 1.8 9.5 3.5 3.2 2.4 2.6 2.3 1.7 2.4 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 5.4 3.5 5.2 2.0 1.8 Alameda Co. 220,774 2.2 4.5 1.8 8.7 3.6 2.9 2.4 2.0 1.7 Palm Spr/Rancho Mir 60,846 1.8 4.8 1.5 9.3 4.8 5.5 3.4 2.6 2.8 Redding 85,526 2.6 9.0 1.6 8.5 5.4 4.4 4.6 2.1 2.5 Sacramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 7.9 3.9 3.0 2.6 1.6 2.0 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4	Contra Costa Co	135 /62	2.0	6.0	1.7	7.6	J.4 / 1	2.4	2.0	1.7	2.6
HomoHo	Fresno	167 352	2.0	4.8	1.6	10.0	4.5	3.0	2.5	2.0	2.0
Los rigers 573, 113 2.3 5.1 1.0 5.3 5.3 5.4 2.4 2.0 2.13 Modesto 122,468 2.5 5.3 2.3 9.0 4.7 2.9 3.5 2.4 1.7 Napa 73,922 2.4 6.8 2.2 8.4 5.4 3.5 5.2 2.0 1.8 Alameda Co. 220,774 2.2 4.5 1.8 8.7 3.6 2.9 2.4 2.0 1.7 Palm Spr/Rancho Mir 60,846 1.8 4.8 1.5 9.3 4.8 5.5 3.4 2.6 2.8 Redding 85,526 2.6 9.0 1.6 8.5 5.4 4.4 4.6 2.1 2.5 Sacramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 7.9 3.9 3.0 2.6 1.6 2.0 Salinas 65,778 2.2 6.3 1.9 9.6 4.6 3.8 3.1 1.7 1.1 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0		070 115	2.2	5.1	1.0	9.5	3.5	3.2	2.0	2.0	2.7
Napa73,9222.46.82.28.45.43.55.22.01.8Alameda Co.220,7742.24.51.88.73.62.92.42.01.7Palm Spr/Rancho Mir60,8461.84.81.59.34.85.53.42.62.8Redding85,5262.69.01.68.55.44.44.62.12.5Sacramento372,3422.26.22.17.93.93.02.61.62.0Salinas65,7782.26.31.99.64.63.83.11.71.1San Bernardino186,0672.44.92.08.04.54.02.92.52.0San Diego340,0691.94.41.87.64.34.12.22.12.3San Francisco24,2712.24.31.46.43.22.81.71.7	Modesto	122 468	2.5	53	23	9.0	4.7	2.9	3.5	2.0	1.7
Hope16,0222.46.02.26.46.46.46.56.56.42.46.01.6Alameda Co.220,7742.24.51.88.73.62.92.42.01.7Palm Spr/Rancho Mir60,8461.84.81.59.34.85.53.42.62.8Redding85,5262.69.01.68.55.44.44.62.12.5Sacramento372,3422.26.22.17.93.93.02.61.62.0Salinas65,7782.26.31.99.64.63.83.11.71.1San Bernardino186,0672.44.92.08.04.54.02.92.52.0San Diego340,0691.94.41.87.64.34.12.22.12.3San Francisco24,2712.24.31.46.43.22.81.71.71.7	Nana	73 922	2.0	6.8	2.0	8.4	5.4	3.5	5.2	2.0	1.8
Numbed Co. 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.60 1.7 Palm Spr/Rancho Mir 60,846 1.8 4.8 1.5 9.3 4.8 5.5 3.4 2.6 2.8 Redding 85,526 2.6 9.0 1.6 8.5 5.4 4.4 4.6 2.1 2.5 Sacramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 7.9 3.9 3.0 2.6 1.6 2.0 Salinas 65,778 2.2 6.3 1.9 9.6 4.6 3.8 3.1 1.7 1.1 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0 8.0 4.5 4.0 2.9 2.5 2.0 San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 24,7271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	Alameda Co	220 774	2.1	4.5	1.8	8.7	3.6	2.9	2.4	2.0	1.7
Redding 85,526 2.6 9.0 1.6 8.5 5.4 4.4 4.6 2.1 2.5 Sacramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 7.9 3.9 3.0 2.6 1.6 2.0 Salinas 65,778 2.2 6.3 1.9 9.6 4.6 3.8 3.1 1.7 1.1 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0 8.0 4.5 4.0 2.9 2.5 2.0 San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 24,7271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	60.846	1.8	4.8	1.5	9.3	4.8	5.5	3.4	2.0	2.8
Including 50,020 2.0 5.0 1.0 6.0 5.4 1.4 1.0 2.1 2.0 Sacramento 372,342 2.2 6.2 2.1 7.9 3.9 3.0 2.6 1.6 2.0 Salinas 65,778 2.2 6.3 1.9 9.6 4.6 3.8 3.1 1.7 1.1 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0 8.0 4.5 4.0 2.9 2.5 2.0 San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 247,271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	Redding	85 526	2.6	9.0	1.6	8.5	5.4	4.4	4.6	2.0	2.5
Salinas 65,778 2.2 6.3 1.9 9.6 4.6 3.8 3.1 1.7 1.1 San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0 8.0 4.5 4.0 2.9 2.5 2.0 San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 247,271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	Sacramento	372 342	2.0	6.2	2.1	7.9	3.0	3.0	2.6	1.6	2.0
San Bernardino 186,067 2.4 4.9 2.0 8.0 4.5 4.0 2.9 2.5 2.0 San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 247,271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	Salinas	65 778	2.2	6.3	1.9	9.6	4.6	3.8	3.1	1.0	1.1
San Diego 340,069 1.9 4.4 1.8 7.6 4.3 4.1 2.2 2.1 2.3 San Francisco 247,271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	San Bernardino	186.067	2.4	4 9	2.0	8.0	4.5	4.0	2.9	2.5	2.0
San Francisco 247,271 2.2 4.3 1.4 6.4 3.2 2.8 1.7 1.7 1.7	San Diego	340.069	1.9	4.4	1.8	7.6	4.3	4.1	2.2	2.1	2.3
	San Francisco	247 271	2.2	4.3	1.0	6.4	3.2	2.8	1.7	1 7	1.7
San lose 200.648 22 47 20 71 30 25 22 23 10	San Jose	200 648	2.2	47	2.0	7.1	3.0	2.5	2.2	23	19
San Luis Chispo 45.883 2.6 4.7 2.4 9.4 5.1 5.2 2.9 2.0 2.9	San Luis Obispo	45 883	2.6	4.7	2.0	9.4	5.1	5.2	2.2	2.0	2.9
San Mateo Co. 127 808 22 44 19 66 32 28 30 23 10	San Mateo Co	127 808	2.0	4.4	1.9	6.6	3.2	2.8	3.0	2.0	19
Santa Barbara 67.633 2.1 4.7 1.4 7.1 4.9 5.8 2.5 1.5 2.6	Santa Barbara	67,633	2.1	4.7	1.4	7.1	4.9	5.8	2.5	1.5	2.6

Region		1.99 ⁴	Norectal		carcel	/		/	ectorny	BIPSES COM
18 Rafert St	care Englis	tomytor	SU C SUIDE	d odomyt	JC CLOBPH	Repace	Suberly Suberly	id Endat	er strent	al rosaler
HOSPI	Mellus 195	Colector	CABO	Maste	TURY	KU88	830	Calor	Lower	Radiu
Santa Cruz	47,307	2.3	4.6	2.0	11.1	3.3	3.0	2.6	2.0	2.5
Santa Rosa	88,736	2.1	3.7	2.0	6.4	4.4	2.7	3.2	1.5	1.3
Stockton	81,367	2.3	5.9	2.2	6.8	3.6	3.7	3.5	2.6	1.6
Ventura	87,044	2.4	5.3	1.8	9.9	4.2	4.9	2.6	2.1	3.4
Colorado										
Boulder	29,840	2.0	4.4	2.1	9.7	4.1	4.8	2.4	1.0	2.7
Colorado Springs	120,774	2.2	5.4	1.6	8.8	5.3	3.1	2.2	1.5	1.3
Denver	310,515	2.0	3.4	2.2	6.8	5.5	3.6	1.8	1.4	2.3
Fort Collins	48,758	2.6	4.3	2.5	8.8	6.9	7.0	1.8	1.0	2.9
Grand Junction	60,182	1.9	2.7	2.1	5.8	6.5	3.2	1.3	0.8	3.1
Greeley	58,402	2.4	5.5	2.1	7.8	7.4	4.9	1.7	1.1	2.5
Pueblo	38,864	2.1	4.3	2.5	10.9	6.5	3.5	1.8	2.2	1.1
Connecticut										
Bridgeport	177,126	2.5	4.0	1.8	7.7	3.3	3.1	2.2	2.2	1.6
Hartford	379,870	2.5	6.2	1.8	7.0	3.8	2.3	1.9	2.8	1.5
New Haven	355,027	2.9	6.4	2.1	7.2	3.4	2.1	2.4	2.6	1.1
Delaware										
Wilmington	149,894	2.8	4.8	2.2	8.9	4.5	2.7	3.6	2.2	1.8
District of Columbia										
Washington	434,959	2.4	5.2	2.4	9.3	3.9	3.2	3.0	2.4	1.7
Florida	07.000	0.0	0.7	0.4	7.0	0.5		0.7	0.0	1.0
Bradenton	97,968	3.0	6.7	2.4	7.6	6.5	4.4	3.7	2.0	1.6
Clearwater	190,163	2.8	5.5	1.9	9.4	6.0	4.4	4.1	2.2	2.8
Fort Lauderdale	649,805	2.5	6.8	1.6	8.0	3.8	3.3	3.2	2.2	1.9
	330,485	2.0	0.2	2.1	0.0	0.4	0.1	4.0	Z. I	2.0
Gainesville	104,978	2.2	0.5	2.1	8.0	4.0	3.4	3.7	1.7	1.0
Hudson	240 709	3.0	6.0 6.0	1.7	10.0	0.9	4.2	4.0	2.2	1.4
Jacksonvine	249,790	2.3	0.0	1.7	0.0	4.5	3.0	4.0	2.4	2.3
Miomi	450 621	2.3	0.3 E 4	1.2	7.0	2.0	1.7	4.4	2.3	1.0
Ocala	450,051	2.5	6.6	1.7	7.9	5.0	1.7	4.0	2.0	2.2
Orlando	712 980	2.4	5.0	2.0	7.0	1.8	3.1	4.0	2.5	2.2
Ormond Beach	92 611	2.0	5.2	1.0	8.4	4.0	3.0	3.2	2.1	3.8
Panama City	44 279	3.0	6.4	2.0	9.6	5.3	3.3	4.0	2.2	2.1
Pensacola	150 623	2.3	7.0	2.2	5.8	5.4	4.0	3.0	21	2.9
Sarasota	192,164	2.8	7.6	1.8	7.0	5.1	3.6	3.6	2.8	3.6
St Petersburg	140.562	2.7	5.1	2.5	10.1	4.8	3.9	5.9	3.3	3.3
Tallahassee	146.298	2.0	5.8	2.2	12.8	5.1	3.4	3.5	1.3	1.9
Tampa	188,237	2.8	6.1	1.8	9.2	4.9	3.3	2.9	2.0	1.2
Georgia										
Albany	44,137	1.8	5.2	2.5	12.2	5.6	3.0	4.9	3.4	2.1
Atlanta	710,713	2.2	5.6	2.0	7.2	4.3	2.7	3.5	2.2	2.3
Augusta	124,772	2.1	6.2	2.8	4.5	4.3	3.5	3.2	1.7	1.5
Columbus	67,659	2.0	6.6	2.1	11.2	4.5	3.9	5.1	2.4	1.4
Macon	145,511	2.3	7.7	2.4	9.9	5.2	3.3	4.3	1.9	1.5
Rome	60,935	1.8	7.1	2.3	9.1	4.0	3.1	5.0	2.9	1.8

ra Regon	1188 ⁵	(199 ⁴	coloredal		T Carrent		ment		telectorni a	BIPSES NECOM
Hospid Relati	Wellcase 1951	Colectory to	CABC SUIDE	Naseconvi	U. TURPIO BRY	Kines Replace	Bad Sugerl	Catolid Ende	Lowe Extrem	Radica Prosto
Savannah	141,664	2.5	6.2	2.1	5.5	5.2	4.9	3.6	2.2	2.3
Hawaii										
Honolulu	186,522	1.9	3.5	1.6	6.3	1.8	1.9	1.0	1.1	1.1
Idaho										
Boise	139,886	2.0	5.5	2.1	6.6	7.7	5.3	2.4	1.7	1.8
Idaho Falls	33,432	1.7	5.3	2.5	10.2	6.1	4.2	1.0	1.0	1.9
Illinois										
Aurora	33,523	2.3	6.9	2.1	8.9	7.3	3.7	4.3	1.3	1.9
Blue Island	190,678	3.1	6.9	2.3	8.5	4.5	2.6	3.5	2.4	2.0
Chicago	481,644	2.7	6.1	1.9	10.2	3.3	1.7	2.1	1.9	1.2
Elgin	84,116	2.5	5.8	2.8	7.3	4.9	3.5	2.8	2.1	1.1
Evanston	222,380	2.5	6.4	1.5	8.5	4.3	2.8	2.3	1.4	2.1
Hinsdale	62,711	2.8	7.4	2.3	7.5	4.5	3.1	2.6	1.3	2.0
Joliet	97,925	2.7	8.5	2.3	9.2	6.1	2.4	4.6	1.6	1.9
Melrose Park	266,580	2.7	7.1	2.0	8.7	4.5	2.5	2.6	1.8	1.4
Peoria	189,850	2.8	5.7	2.5	8.2	5.5	2.2	3.2	2.2	2.3
Rockford	172,170	2.7	5.8	2.6	8.1	5.7	2.1	3.0	2.0	1.9
Springfield	258,349	2.7	7.4	2.8	8.8	5.9	3.7	3.1	2.5	1.5
Urbana	113,019	2.8	6.7	1.9	7.8	4.6	2.7	3.3	2.5	1.3
Bloomington	38,340	2.4	8.9	3.5	8.5	5.5	4.2	3.2	1.7	1.4
Indiana										
Evansville	197,344	2.6	6.1	2.4	7.1	5.1	3.0	2.8	1.8	1.4
Fort Wayne	197,467	2.6	5.0	1.8	5.1	6.7	3.5	2.7	2.1	1.3
Gary	115,149	3.1	6.7	2.3	14.1	5.5	3.0	4.2	2.5	2.0
Indianapolis	577,302	2.5	5.5	2.2	7.4	4.8	2.4	3.2	2.4	1.7
Lafayette	46,058	2.5	6.2	2.1	6.4	5.6	3.7	2.1	1.4	1.8
Muncie	46,009	3.0	3.9	1.6	6.9	5.1	3.2	2.2	1.6	1.3
Munster	81,614	3.2	7.6	2.2	9.6	5.2	2.3	4.3	2.4	1.7
South Bend	167,189	2.6	7.1	2.5	6.9	6.1	2.5	3.0	2.2	1.6
Terre Haute	54,462	2.8	6.9	2.6	5.6	4.3	3.3	3.2	2.6	1.5
Iowa										
Cedar Rapids	70,726	2.6	6.1	2.6	6.9	8.1	3.8	2.6	3.0	2.3
Davenport	139,217	3.0	4.6	2.1	5.4	6.4	2.7	3.4	1.9	1.8
Des Moines	281,031	2.7	5.1	2.8	7.2	6.8	2.3	2.3	1.4	2.0
Dubuque	43,412	2.8	4.3	3.0	7.9	6.6	3.3	4.5	1.4	2.1
Iowa City	84,807	2.7	5.9	1.6	4.5	6.1	2.3	2.2	1.6	1.3
Mason City	53,884	2.3	6.7	3.9	5.4	7.3	4.2	2.9	1.3	1.5
Sioux City	80,490	2.7	4.6	3.1	8.1	9.1	2.7	3.2	1.3	1.8
Waterloo	64,000	2.6	4.4	2.4	7.1	7.2	2.9	1.9	1.7	2.5
Kansas										
Topeka	111,252	2.3	4.7	2.7	9.9	7.0	2.1	3.2	1.3	2.8
Wichita	350,947	2.4	6.8	2.7	11.9	7.3	3.4	3.7	1.3	2.6
Kentucky										
Covington	73,891	3.0	8.1	1.7	5.7	3.7	2.7	3.6	2.7	1.2
Lexington	303,869	2.3	6.0	2.2	9.0	2.9	1.8	2.4	1.5	1.3
Louisville	374.076	2.4	6.9	2.6	8.7	4.4	28	32	22	14

sta Regol	101885	(199 ⁴	Coluectal		of Cancel of		ment		terectorini	ANDES ABELOM
Hospia Rei	Nedicale Shi	Colectomyto	CABG SUIDE	Nasedony	TURPIOIBY	KU88 Replac	Bad Suigers	Catolid Ende	Lower Extrem	Padical Pros
Owensboro	36,107	2.0	7.7	2.5	12.7	4.4	4.6	4.3	2.3	1.5
Paducah	113,220	2.9	6.2	2.5	7.2	4.0	3.3	5.6	3.0	1.2
Louisiana										
Alexandria	68,176	2.3	5.9	1.5	4.7	5.3	3.4	4.7	2.1	1.1
Baton Rouge	137,670	2.7	6.1	2.2	8.5	4.6	1.9	3.3	2.8	4.9
Houma	45,986	2.7	9.5	1.8	7.4	5.7	3.7	7.1	1.5	2.3
Lafayette	117,623	2.5	7.4	2.1	9.8	5.7	2.4	5.5	1.9	0.9
Lake Charles	52,492	2.3	6.0	2.3	8.0	6.0	3.0	4.5	1.4	2.4
Metairie	90,099	2.6	7.5	2.0	9.5	5.1	2.1	5.5	3.4	2.4
Monroe	68,195	2.0	5.4	2.9	14.0	5.1	3.9	2.3	1.1	1.5
New Orleans	173,118	2.8	6.5	2.5	8.2	4.5	2.3	4.7	2.2	1.8
Shreveport	169,027	2.3	5.6	2.7	8.6	4.6	3.9	4.2	1.6	2.1
Slidell	31,751	2.6	8.0	2.2	6.2	5.9	3.9	5.9	3.2	1.6
Maine										
Bangor	110,857	2.7	4.7	2.0	9.1	4.6	1.9	2.7	2.2	2.3
Portland	258,754	2.7	4.8	2.1	7.7	4.4	2.6	2.2	2.2	1.1
Maryland										
Baltimore	554,763	2.8	5.9	2.3	10.4	4.8	3.3	3.5	3.4	2.3
Salisbury	105,521	2.8	3.6	2.5	8.2	4.8	2.5	4.5	2.1	0.7
Takoma Park	132,928	2.2	4.6	2.4	7.4	3.5	3.1	2.7	2.3	1.9
Massachusetts										
Boston	1,143,195	2.9	5.1	1.6	10.0	3.3	2.2	2.8	2.7	1.7
Springfield	205,413	2.7	4.3	1.9	7.0	3.3	2.2	2.3	2.9	1.1
Worcester	146,527	2.7	4.7	1.4	11.3	3.6	2.2	3.1	2.8	2.1
Michigan										
Ann Arbor	264,391	2.4	5.4	1.9	9.3	5.4	2.7	3.3	2.0	1.5
Dearborn	146,511	2.6	6.9	2.1	7.7	5.0	2.2	3.9	2.7	1.8
Detroit	464,934	2.7	6.6	2.4	9.4	4.6	2.8	4.0	2.4	1.7
Flint	116,033	2.4	8.4	2.7	11.7	5.8	3.1	4.6	2.2	2.6
Grand Rapids	225,773	2.2	4.9	2.1	8.7	5.9	4.7	2.8	1.7	3.7
Kalamazoo	154,892	2.5	5.3	2.6	7.6	5.7	3.5	4.4	2.6	3.2
Lansing	126,740	2.4	7.1	2.2	7.1	6.1	3.5	4.0	1.9	3.2
Marquette	65,819	2.1	7.0	2.9	6.8	5.7	2.9	3.4	1.8	2.6
Muskegon	69,045	2.0	4.2	3.0	9.3	6.7	3.7	3.7	1.5	3.5
Petoskey	49,979	2.5	5.9	2.5	9.5	5.9	3.4	3.3	2.2	2.7
Pontiac	73,114	2.2	6.3	2.2	7.3	4.8	4.4	3.8	2.0	1.4
Royal Oak	164,071	2.4	5.7	1.4	9.8	4.3	3.2	3.8	1.6	1.7
Saginaw	189,336	2.6	7.9	2.4	11.1	6.2	3.7	4.8	2.2	2.0
St Joseph	39,347	2.4	6.0	2.3	7.5	5.9	3.8	4.2	3.2	3.1
Traverse City	63,020	2.8	6.9	2.6	8.7	5.4	4.2	5.2	1.5	3.0
Minnesota										
Duluth	110,010	2.6	4.8	2.7	13.9	5.7	2.1	1.8	1.0	1.4
Minneapolis	565,246	2.3	5.0	2.7	8.4	6.3	2.9	1.7	1.6	2.5
Rochester	111,140	2.5	4.9	2.7	7.1	6.3	1.9	1.7	1.4	3.0
St Cloud	E1 161	2.4	E 0	27	7 9	71	2.0	2.0	0.0	2.2
	51,101	2.4	5.0	2.1	7.0	7.1	2.9	2.0	2.0	2.3

* Reight	NE ⁵⁵	(89 ⁴	oloredal		Carcet	/	rent		electorial	BIPSS ISCOM
Hospita Refer	Nedesle Ento	Colectoritor	CARC SUIGE	Nesteconvi	o TURPIOIBPH	Kines Replace	Bad Sugery	Carolid Ends	Lover Externi	Padca Prosta
Mississippi	¥	~								
Gulfport	37,993	2.5	4.7	2.4	9.6	5.2	3.2	5.3	2.3	2.0
Hattiesburg	64,090	2.0	4.9	2.3	8.4	5.7	2.9	3.8	2.4	4.4
Jackson	239,461	2.3	4.3	2.6	8.5	3.9	2.9	3.5	1.6	3.1
Meridian	53,642	2.3	6.0	2.4	10.3	4.4	2.8	3.4	1.3	2.3
Oxford	34,347	2.7	6.8	2.6	8.7	3.6	3.3	4.7	2.2	1.4
Tupelo	89,959	2.0	6.2	2.5	8.4	4.3	2.6	3.3	1.8	2.1
Missouri										
Cape Girardeau	77,117	2.2	7.5	1.8	9.4	4.3	3.1	3.8	1.3	1.3
Columbia	178,064	2.7	7.2	2.5	9.7	5.8	3.5	3.4	1.8	1.5
Joplin	104,872	2.3	5.5	2.8	10.6	7.3	3.2	4.2	1.9	2.5
Kansas City	484,363	2.7	5.3	2.6	9.5	5.9	2.9	3.6	2.2	3.0
Springfield	215,960	2.3	6.2	2.8	11.8	5.2	2.8	2.8	1.2	2.3
St Louis	835,277	2.7	6.8	2.4	8.1	5.5	3.0	2.8	2.3	3.0
Montana										
Billings	124,356	2.2	5.6	2.3	6.7	6.1	4.6	2.5	1.5	4.2
Great Falls	40,385	2.5	5.1	3.3	4.8	5.8	3.1	1.4	1.4	3.3
Missoula	84,737	2.1	3.6	2.5	9.4	5.1	3.3	2.6	1.0	2.0
Nebraska										
Lincoln	158,230	2.6	5.0	2.4	/.1	7.6	2.6	3.1	1.9	2.9
Omaha	304,693	2.7	5.6	2.9	8.3	7.0	3.2	3.0	1.9	2.4
	400.005	2.4	5.4	1.0	7.0	2.5	2.0	2.6	0.7	4.7
Las vegas	109,200	2.4	2.0	1.9	7.3 E 4	3.0	2.9	3.0	2.7	1.7
New Hampshire	124,300	2.0	3.9	1.9	5.4	4.1	3.3	2.0	1.9	1.0
Lebanon	108 521	2.6	3.0	1 9	6.4	41	2.4	2.2	1.8	13
Manchester	170 161	2.8	5.8	1.0	7.2	3.6	2.1	2.9	2.4	1.0
New Jersev	110,101	2.0	0.0	1.0	1.2	0.0	2.1	2.0	2.1	
Camden	719.405	2.9	5.3	2.3	8.7	3.3	1.9	3.0	2.4	1.3
Hackensack	318,321	2.8	5.1	1.9	12.7	2.5	1.7	1.9	2.5	1.2
Morristown	211,595	2.6	4.6	2.1	10.0	3.1	2.2	2.0	2.0	1.8
New Brunswick	198,391	2.6	5.3	1.9	8.2	2.7	2.1	3.1	2.9	2.0
Newark	354,227	2.8	4.7	2.0	11.9	2.2	1.4	1.7	2.7	1.0
Paterson	83,423	2.9	4.9	1.6	12.9	2.7	1.7	1.8	3.0	1.0
Ridgewood	88,588	2.6	5.1	2.0	8.1	2.4	1.7	1.9	2.1	1.9
New Mexico										
Albuquerque	226,584	1.7	2.7	1.8	7.8	4.5	3.0	1.5	1.2	1.9
New York										
Albany	482,713	2.9	5.6	1.9	8.5	3.5	1.8	2.6	2.7	1.3
Binghamton	111,017	2.5	4.7	1.9	6.3	4.4	2.9	2.5	2.1	0.7
Bronx	209,549	2.6	4.1	2.0	11.0	2.4	1.3	1.1	2.4	1.7
Buffalo	419,829	2.8	5.8	2.1	8.6	4.4	2.1	3.2	2.4	1.7
Elmira	110,385	2.6	5.9	1.7	7.9	3.7	1.7	3.0	1.5	1.8
East Long Island	993,102	2.7	5.7	1.9	9.2	2.2	1.4	1.9	2.2	1.0
	921,023	2.6	5.0	2.0	9.6	2.1	1.5	1.6	2.1	0.9
RUCHESTER	297,439	2.6	5.9	2.0	ö.b	4.4	2.5	3.3	Z.1	2.1

and a significant and a second		(198 ⁴	ine dal	/	ancet	/		/	ctomy	2478 ⁵⁵ 10 ¹⁷¹
Resertal	Enolet	and the second	.or	N MAN	JC' BRH	201808	anen uen	Ende	teres strent	AD' PIOSABEC
Hasting	Nedical 995	Collector	CABOS	Mastedu	TURPIC	Kues Rei	Bad Su	Catolid	Lowert	Radical
Syracuse	269,229	2.7	5.1	2.4	6.4	4.4	1.4	3.3	2.3	1.7
White Plains	262,606	2.9	5.1	2.4	10.1	2.8	2.0	2.2	1.9	1.5
North Carolina										
Asheville	182,675	2.1	4.6	2.2	6.8	3.9	2.5	3.1	1.5	2.2
Charlotte	385,571	2.3	5.7	2.1	6.0	4.4	3.1	2.9	1.8	2.3
Durham	289,156	2.3	5.9	2.0	7.5	4.4	2.9	2.4	1.5	2.8
Greensboro	126,534	2.3	6.6	2.2	7.4	4.2	3.8	3.1	2.2	2.2
Greenville	167,054	2.6	7.1	2.1	4.8	4.4	3.3	4.2	1.9	2.1
Hickory	60,987	1.8	7.3	2.5	7.3	3.5	3.0	3.8	2.1	2.2
Raleigh	265,693	2.2	6.0	2.2	8.0	4.4	4.1	3.4	1.9	2.4
Wilmington	81,845	2.0	6.7	2.6	7.5	5.1	2.7	4.3	2.9	2.3
Winston-Salem	246,496	2.4	6.0	2.4	8.4	3.2	3.0	2.7	2.2	2.3
North Dakota										
Bismarck	62,268	2.3	4.8	2.6	9.3	6.9	4.8	3.1	2.3	2.4
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	144,962	2.6	5.1	3.2	6.8	6.1	2.7	1.6	2.0	2.5
Grand Forks	49,542	2.7	5.3	3.0	7.1	6.3	2.8	2.4	1.3	1.8
Minot	39,488	2.5	6.4	2.8	12.1	5.4	2.7	1.9	2.0	4.5
Ohio										
Akron	178,783	2.6	6.4	1.9	7.0	5.6	2.7	3.5	2.1	1.5
Canton	173,295	2.6	6.1	2.3	7.0	5.3	2.8	2.8	2.4	1.2
Cincinnati	368,421	2.7	5.8	2.0	9.2	4.4	3.2	3.3	2.5	1.6
Cleveland	571,022	2.6	6.3	2.2	8.5	4.7	2.9	4.2	2.8	1.6
Columbus	601,479	2.9	5.1	2.2	8.9	5.0	2.6	3.1	2.7	1.6
Dayton	282,726	2.6	7.3	2.6	7.5	5.6	3.2	3.3	2.6	1.5
Elyria	59,128	2.6	6.3	1.7	7.6	5.6	3.3	5.1	4.5	1.1
Kettering	94,569	2.7	6.7	2.3	8.0	4.2	2.9	3.4	2.5	3.6
Toledo	250,645	2.7	5.8	2.1	8.4	6.1	3.3	3.7	2.8	2.0
Youngstown	232,794	2.6	5.7	2.3	10.8	4.9	2.4	3.9	2.1	1.5
Oklahoma										
Lawton	48,734	2.5	7.6	3.2	5.5	5.0	3.0	3.7	1.2	1.8
Oklahoma City	408,313	2.3	6.4	2.6	8.9	5.3	3.3	3.2	1.4	3.1
Tulsa	291,992	2.2	5.0	2.6	7.6	5.7	3.5	2.5	1.3	1.7
Oregon										
Bend	39,516	2.4	5.7	2.4	14.5	6.4	7.6	3.1	1.3	4.4
Eugene	167,889	2.0	4.5	2.6	8.0	4.8	5.0	2.6	1.7	2.8
Medford	122,278	2.3	4.9	2.7	7.0	4.9	4.5	3.4	1.8	2.0
Portland	322,105	2.3	3.9	2.4	6.8	4.4	4.6	2.9	2.5	2.5
Salem	55,675	2.3	4.3	2.7	7.0	5.2	3.8	2.6	1.3	1.6
Pennsylvania										
Allentown	307,875	3.0	5.7	2.9	12.2	4.3	2.3	3.3	2.9	1.3
Altoona	95,524	3.1	7.3	2.5	10.0	4.2	2.4	2.3	1.9	1.3
Danville	154,249	3.0	4.8	1.9	8.3	5.3	3.0	3.1	1.6	1.7
Erie	226,760	2.7	5.5	2.5	8.4	5.3	2.6	2.7	1.9	1.7
Harrisburg	253,802	2.8	6.0	2.2	8.1	4.9	2.8	2.9	2.0	2.7
Johnstown	89,066	2.6	6.9	1.9	11.8	5.3	2.9	2.9	1.7	2.0
Lancaster	140,914	2.5	5.9	1.8	8.4	4.6	4.1	2.2	1.8	2.5

Regor		(19 ⁹⁴	olorectal		Callel			/	RECORNY	BHPASS STOR
val Referra	cale Englis	tomytor	S Sulge	N otomy	al ala Bri	Repar	ane sugery	idEndat	ter Externi	al Prosate
HOSPIL	Medic 1995	Colecter	CABIS	Master	TURY	KU88	880	Catoli	Lowel	Radice
Philadelphia	989,081	2.8	5.8	1.8	9.7	4.5	2.4	2.7	2.5	1.5
Pittsburgh	1,040,060	2.9	6.7	1.7	9.2	5.0	3.0	3.0	2.6	2.0
Reading	169,509	2.9	6.4	2.0	8.9	5.1	2.7	2.7	2.7	2.1
Sayre	56,304	2.5	4.5	2.5	6.6	5.1	2.3	2.7	1.6	1.1
Scranton	114,614	3.0	5.5	2.5	6.4	4.4	2.1	2.4	2.6	0.7
Wilkes-Barre	96,247	2.8	6.3	2.7	8.0	4.3	2.2	2.6	2.3	1.0
York	97,650	2.9	7.2	1.8	7.8	4.0	2.5	2.7	2.1	0.8
Rhode Island										
Providence	308,154	2.9	4.8	1.8	9.0	4.2	1.7	2.6	2.2	1.0
South Carolina										
Charleston	161,754	2.5	5.2	2.3	9.7	4.5	3.9	2.8	2.2	2.5
Columbia	222,914	2.1	5.3	2.3	6.4	4.6	2.2	3.5	1.7	1.6
Florence	78,959	1.8	5.7	2.7	10.9	4.0	2.2	2.2	1.5	0.9
Greenville	176,406	2.3	6.4	2.3	9.4	3.7	2.9	2.5	1.7	2.2
Spartanburg	85,168	2.0	4.7	2.2	10.2	3.7	2.4	2.6	1.5	2.4
South Dakota										
Rapid City	45,539	1.7	6.2	2.8	13.3	6.3	4.8	2.5	0.9	2.2
Sioux Falls	235,194	2.9	5.8	3.3	10.3	7.6	3.2	2.4	1.2	2.3
Tennessee										
Chattanooga	149,998	2.2	6.6	2.2	9.2	3.7	2.2	2.8	1.4	1.7
Jackson	92,620	2.7	6.8	2.9	9.9	3.1	2.8	2.2	1.0	1.8
Johnson City	61,756	1.9	5.8	1.8	5.8	2.8	1.6	2.8	1.4	1.2
Kingsport	133,235	1.9	4.8	2.3	6.1	2.4	1.8	2.8	1.4	0.9
Knoxville	304,170	2.1	6.1	2.0	8.5	3.2	2.2	3.6	1.7	1.7
Memphis	368,727	2.5	7.8	2.4	8.5	2.7	2.7	3.2	2.0	1.5
Nashville	486,202	2.3	6.6	2.3	8.6	3.7	3.7	3.1	2.5	2.3
Texas										
Abilene	88,885	2.0	7.0	2.3	9.3	5.5	2.6	3.8	1.8	2.0
Amarillo	105,065	1.6	5.7	2.3	7.3	7.5	4.9	3.0	1.5	1.9
Austin	156,434	2.4	5.4	2.5	8.9	5.6	2.9	2.0	1.3	2.2
Beaumont	119,549	2.7	6.7	2.3	9.5	5.6	2.8	4.1	1.8	2.1
Bryan	37,569	2.7	6.5	2.2	4.6	6.0	3.4	2.2	1.0	2.4
Corpus Christi	101,137	2.2	6.2	2.6	12.1	6.1	2.5	3.3	3.2	1.1
Dallas	578,294	2.5	5.3	2.2	8.3	4.7	2.9	3.5	2.1	1.9
El Paso	163,371	1.6	4.8	1.7	9.1	4.9	2.4	1.8	2.0	1.2
Fort Worth	267,069	2.3	4.8	2.5	7.8	4.6	3.2	2.9	1.5	3.1
Harlingen	82,451	1.5	6.4	1.7	8.3	5.5	1.5	2.8	2.9	0.5
Houston	687,852	2.3	5.1	2.2	8.8	4.4	2.9	3.3	2.1	1.4
Longview	46,841	2.1	4.5	3.2	9.3	5.3	4.1	4.4	1.3	2.5
Lubbock	153,660	2.2	6.4	2.2	11.6	9.1	2.4	2.6	1.7	3.2
Mcallen	68,302	1.7	7.5	1.4	11.9	5.4	1.7	2.2	2.7	1.0
Udessa	64,802	1.9	7.2	1.3	13.4	5.9	2.3	4.9	3.1	1.2
San Angelo	42,616	2.0	5.4	3.0	10.2	7.2	4.8	4.3	1.8	1.9
San Antonio	348,366	1.9	5.4	2.2	10.5	4.9	2.4	2.5	2.8	1./
rempre	64,4/1	2.3	5.8	1.8	7.0	5.3	1.9	2.3	0.7	2.1
lyler	138,026	2.4	5.9	2.8	6.4	5.5	2.8	4.9	2.0	2.4

va Region	NR ^{ES}	(69 ⁴	Colorectal		Cancel		nent		Herectorni .	H BH Pass	ectomy
Hosita Rata	Weitche Erics	Colectory for	CABC SUDE	Nasedonyh	TURPIOSPH	Knee Repare	Bad Suger	Caloid Ends	Lower Extrem	Padica Prosta	
Victoria	38,961	2.6	4.0	3.3	10.0	6.5	3.2	3.6	1.2	1.7	
Waco	85,259	2.4	5.2	2.9	7.2	4.5	4.3	2.5	1.3	1.1	
Wichita Falls	57,741	2.3	5.0	1.8	10.8	6.2	3.3	3.2	1.3	3.6	
Utah											
Ogden	57,185	1.9	5.2	2.7	6.4	6.3	3.7	1.9	1.6	2.6	
Provo	53,177	1.6	6.0	2.6	7.7	6.9	5.8	1.9	0.6	3.0	
Salt Lake City	272,311	1.8	4.4	1.8	6.0	6.4	4.4	1.2	1.0	3.4	
Vermont											
Burlington	139,474	2.8	5.0	1.6	9.6	4.8	2.1	2.6	2.5	1.6	
Virginia											
Arlington	215,004	2.0	4.0	1.8	5.4	3.5	2.8	2.5	1.9	1.7	
Charlottesville	116,978	2.1	4.5	1.8	7.0	4.5	2.9	1.5	1.5	1.7	
Lynchburg	62,619	2.4	6.4	2.0	8.1	3.8	3.2	1.6	1.3	2.5	
Newport News	99,508	2.5	6.7	2.2	6.3	5.0	5.3	2.6	3.1	2.3	
Norfolk	224,337	2.5	6.6	2.3	7.3	4.6	4.1	3.5	3.0	1.2	
Richmond	311,176	2.5	6.7	2.2	6.3	4.6	4.1	3.2	2.7	2.6	
Roanoke	191,194	2.5	5.6	2.1	7.1	3.5	3.1	2.8	2.6	1.7	
Winchester	79,661	2.4	5.6	1.9	6.8	4.1	3.1	1.7	1.5	1.4	
Washington											
Everett	85,624	2.5	5.1	1.5	7.6	5.0	3.9	3.4	2.2	2.5	
Olympia	69,634	2.2	4.5	2.4	7.4	5.3	3.7	3.4	2.2	2.3	
Seattle	412,894	2.0	5.2	2.0	0.5	4.7	3.8	2.6	2.1	2.3	
Spokane	295,612	2.2	5.7	2.4	8.5	5.4	4.2	2.8	1.8	3.0	
Tacoma	57 200	2.1	4.9	1.0	7.0	5.0	4.2	2.5	3.1	2.4	
West Virginia	57,309	2.4	4.4	2.4	0.0	5.0	5.7	1.9	1.4	2.9	
Charloston	254 662	2.6	7.0	2.2	10.0	2.5	17	2.0	2.2	12	
Huntington	100 539	2.0	5.8	2.5	8.9	3.0	2.0	3.5	1.3	1.0	
Morgantown	114 348	2.7	5.0	2.0	9.8	5.0	1.0	3.6	2.1	1.3	
Wisconsin	114,040	2.5	0.1	2.4	5.0	5.0	1.5	5.0	2.1	1.5	
Appleton	77.275	2.8	4.8	2.6	10.5	6.3	2.7	2.2	2.1	2.7	
Green Bay	131.486	2.7	4.2	3.1	10.0	6.7	3.4	2.8	2.2	3.0	
La Crosse	96.859	2.6	6.5	3.0	5.5	5.5	1.4	1.2	1.3	2.8	
Madison	226,087	2.7	5.2	2.4	8.2	6.4	2.3	2.2	1.3	2.0	
Marshfield	108,057	2.0	5.5	1.8	7.2	6.8	2.4	2.2	1.4	2.6	
Milwaukee	574,223	2.6	6.9	2.5	8.5	5.6	2.5	2.7	2.0	1.8	
Neenah	60,100	3.0	6.0	3.9	12.6	7.5	2.6	2.3	2.0	3.0	
Wausau	53,614	2.6	5.2	2.3	10.2	6.0	2.4	3.2	2.1	2.8	
Wyoming											
Casper	43,835	2.1	5.4	2.4	6.7	5.9	5.0	3.1	2.0	2.4	
United States											
United States	58,796,484	2.5	5.7	2.2	8.5	4.6	2.9	3.0	2.1	2.0	

CHAPTER SIX

Illness, Resources and Utilization

Illness, Resources and Utilization

What role does illness play in determining the variation in the allocation of resources and the use of medical care? It is true that people living in some areas are simply sicker than others; they have higher mortality rates, and have a higher incidence of self-reported "poor" or "fair" health. It comes as no surprise that such areas also have heavier than average demands for health care services. For example, Georgia, Tennessee, Alabama, and Mississippi are among the bottom ten states in the nation in self-reported health status, and among the top six states in Medicare's average adjusted per capita costs (AAPCCs), suggesting that variations in Medicare spending are an appropriate response to variations in the underlying reservoir of disease.

But how much of the variation in the distribution and utilization of health care resources is explained by underlying variations in health status? The evidence suggests that variations in resources and utilization are not strongly related to underlying disease.

- The pattern of variation in surgical procedures used to treat cardiovascular disease bears little apparent relationship to the underlying incidence of the disease, as measured by hospitalizations for strokes and heart attacks.
- While sick people do indeed use health care services more often than the less sick, the rates of use of health care for all members of society the sick and the not so sick are higher in regions with more resources and higher spending.
- Self-reported health status explains only a small part of the higher-than-average hospitalization rates in regions with higher-than-average per capita supplies of hospital beds.
- The need for medical care, as estimated by community health status, has very little to do with the level of Medicare spending.

Coronary Artery Bypass Grafting, Percutaneous Transuliminal Coronary Angioplasty, and the Incidence of Acute Myocardial Infarction

Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is a serious complication of coronary artery disease; the incidence of AMI in defined populations is, therefore, a reasonable measure of the prevalence of coronary artery disease. By extension, the rates of use of coronary artery bypass grafting (CABG) and percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (PTCA), which are procedures used to treat coronary artery disease, should correspond to higher incidence of AMI — and more heart disease — in local populations.

But there is, in fact, no relationship between the incidence of heart attacks and CABG among the nation's 306 hospital referral regions (Figure 6.1) There is also little relationship between the incidence of heart attacks and rates of PTCA (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.1. The Association Between CABG Procedures and Discharges for Acute Myocardial Infarction (1994-95) The rates of hospitalizations for acute myocardial infarction and the rates of CABG are uncorrelated ($R^e = .005$).



Figure 6.2. The Association Between Discharges for Acute Myocardial Infarction and PTCA Procedures (1994-95) Very little of the variation in the rates of balloon angioplasty is associated with the incidence of coronary artery disease as measured by the rates of hospitalizations for AMI ($R^2 = .07$).

Carotid Endarterectomy, Lower Extremity Bypass, and the Incidence of Stroke and Related Illnesses

Carotid endarterectomy and lower extremity bypass procedures are undertaken to treat degenerative vascular disease, which is primarily due to atherosclerosis. Strokes are a common manifestation of this illness. If illness rates are an important determinant of the use of carotid endarterectomy and lower extremity bypass procedures, then communities with higher hospitalization rates for stroke should have a higher incidence of these procedures.

Figure 6.3 illustrates the relationship between the rates of hospitalizations for strokes and the rates of carotid endarterectomy in 1994-95. According to this measure of the prevalence of vascular disease, about 22% of the variation in carotid endarterectomy was associated with illness rates.

The association between hospitalization rates for stroke and lower extremity bypass procedures (Figure 6.4) was even weaker. Only 5% of the variation in these procedures was associated with hospitalization rates for stroke.



Figure 6.3. The Association Between Discharges for Stroke and Carotid Endarterectomy (1994-95) (R²=.22).



Figure 6.4. The Association Between Rates of Discharges for Stroke and Rates of Lower Extremity Bypass Procedures (1994-95) (R²=.05)

Cardiovascular Disease and the Surgical Signature

Chapter Three explored the idiosyncratic patterns of rates of surgery that create communities' "surgical signatures," focusing particularly on seven hospital referral regions in Southwest Florida. The contrast between the prevalence of vascular disease in these seven hospital referral regions — as measured by the rates of hospitalizations for myocardial infarction and stroke — and the rates of surgical treatment of these conditions further illustrates that the prevalence of illness is not an important determinant of the rates of treatment for cardiovascular disorders.

In the Tampa Bay area of Florida in 1994-95, there was little variation in the rates of hospitalization for stroke among hospital referral regions. The rates ranged from a low of 1% below the national average in the St. Petersburg hospital referral region to a high of 12% above the national average in the Clearwater hospital referral region. The incidence of carotid endarterectomy, however, was highly variable among the regions, and was not related to the incidence of stroke. The highest rate of carotid endarterectomy was in the St. Petersburg hospital referral region (which was two times higher than the national average), the lowest rate was in Tampa (which was 1% below the national average). The rates of lower extremity bypass were 57% higher than the national average among the Medicare residents of the St. Petersburg hospital referral region, and 5% lower than the national average in among Medicare residents of the neighboring Tampa hospital referral region (Figure 6.5).



Figure 6.5. Stroke, Carotid Endarterectomy and Lower Extremity Bypass Among Selected Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio to the national average of the discharge rate for stroke and related diseases, lower extremity bypass procedures and carotid endarterectomy in selected Florida hospital referral regions. Although the rates of stroke were relatively uniform among the selected regions, rates of treatment varied from 5% below the national average to 100% above it.



Figure 6.6. Acute Myocardial Infarction, CABG And PTCA Among Selected Florida Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio of the rates of discharge for acute myocardial infarction, coronary artery bypass surgery (CABG) and percutaneous transluminal coronary angiography (PTCA) in selected Florida hospital referral regions to the national average. Rates of AMI ranged from 28% below the national average among residents of the Bradenton hospital referral region to 2% below the national average among residents of the Sarasota hospital referral region. Rates of the procedures used to treat heart disease were more variable than the rates of AMI. Rates of PTCA ranged from 15% below the national average among residents of the Bradenton hospital referral region to 16% above the national average among residents of the Fort Myers hospital referral region.

The three hospital referral regions south of Tampa Bay had widely differing rates of surgery for heart disease in 1994-95 (Figure 6.6). The incidence of acute myocardial infarction among Medicare residents of the Bradenton hospital referral region was 28% lower than the national average, but the rate of CABG surgery in the same population was 16% higher than the national average. The incidence of acute myocardial infraction among Medicare residents of Fort Myers was 21% lower than the national average, but the incidence of PTCA in the same population was 16% higher than the incidence of PTCA in the same population was 16% higher than the national average. Medicare residents of the Sarasota hospital referral region, whose rate of AMI was close to the national average, had the highest rate of CABG procedures in the region (32% above the national average).

Sicker People Use More Health Care

Common sense dictates and scientific evidence confirms that, on average, sicker people use more care than those who are less sick. Traditional economic theory about supply and demand would predict that much of the difference among hospital referral regions in local supply — the per capita number of hospital beds could be explained by differences in demand — the illness level of the local population. If local hospital capacity were created in response to illness among the elderly in the region, we would expect populations in sicker regions to have more hospital beds per thousand residents, and we would expect that differences in hospitalization rates would be explained by differences in illness.

Health service researchers have long recognized that one of the best predictors of use of health care is self-reported health status. The Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey (MCBS) provides information about self-reported health status and hospitalizations among a sample of approximately 8,800 people over age 65 who were not members of risk-bearing health maintenance organizations at the time of the survey. Details about the MCBS are provided in the Appendix on Methods.

The survey data show that, in the Medicare population, enrollees who reported themselves in "excellent health" spent an average of only 1.5 days in hospitals in 1993. Those with "poor" self-reported health status spent an average of 4.2 days as inpatients. The likelihood that an enrollee would spend more days in the hospital increased in a step-wise fashion according to reported health status (Figure 6.7). Clearly, self-reported health status is a powerful indicator of "demand" for hospital care.



Figure 6.7. Average Hospital Days Stratified by Self-Reported Health (1993)

The average number of hospital days used corresponds to Medicare enrollees' self-reported health status, with enrollees who report themselves to be in better health using fewer days of hospital care. The data are adjusted for differences in age and sex.

Differences in Average Illness Do Not Explain Differences in Utilization of Hospital Beds

To what extent are the differences in the supply and utilization of hospital beds among hospital referral regions explained by differences in population health status? One common theory is that the numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents are determined by the illness level of the population. The relationship between hospital beds per thousand residents and utilization, documented by variation studies, would thus reflect underlying differences in health needs, rather than the "thermostat" effect of the supply of hospital beds on clinical decision making described in Chapter Three.

In research conducted in conjunction with this edition of the Atlas, the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey (MCBS) was used to test the theory that illness explains the association between hospital beds and hospital utilization. According to this theory, populations living in regions with fewer beds per capita would be healthier than average, and those living in regions with more beds per capita would be sicker than average.

To test the relationship between illness and the bed supply, we divided the MCBS sample into five roughly equal groups, according to the number of hospital beds per thousand residents in the 306 hospital referral regions. The information on use of hospitals according to self-reported health status (Figure 6.7) was used to predict hospitalization rates for residents living in each quintile. (See the Appendix on Methods for further details.) The actual use of hospitals, measured in patient days per person, was also calculated.

The research confirmed the expected relationship between supply and utilization: residents of regions with higher per capita supplies of hospital beds had higher observed rates of hospitalization than residents of regions with lower per capita supplies of hospital beds. Residents of the region with the lowest per capita supply of hospital beds used, on average, 1.6 hospital bed days per year; those living in the region with the highest per capita supply of beds used 2.6 hospital bed days per person per year (Table 6.1).

(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Quintile of Beds	Beds/1,000 (Range)	Actual Hospital Days	Hospital Days as Predicted by Health Status
1 Bottom 20%	<2.9	1.6	2.2
2 Second 20%	2.9-3.2	1.8	2.1
3 Middle 20%	3.2-3.5	2.0	2.2
4 Fourth 20%	3.5-3.9	2.6	2.2
5 Highest 20%	>3.9	2.6	2.2

Table 6.1. Actual and Predicted Days in Hospitals (1993)

Data Source: Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey, Atlas Data

The research failed to find evidence that greater numbers of hospital beds (and the associated increase in hospitalization rates) occurred because residents of high rate areas were sicker. Predicted demand for hospital days based on self-reported health status was the same in the regions in the lowest quintile of per capita supply of hospital beds as in the region in the highest quintile — about 2.2 days per person per year.

While health needs (at least those reflected by self-reported illness) are a powerful predictor of the demand for health care at the level of the individual patient, health needs do not explain the distribution of hospital beds, nor are they an important factor in determining variations in the rate of hospital utilization among hospital referral regions.

Both the Sick and the Less Sick, If They Live in Regions With Higher Supplies of Hospital Beds, Use More Hospital Care

While there is little difference among hospital referral regions in illness rates ("demand for hospital beds"), as predicted by self reported health status, it is possible that regions with higher per capita supplies of hospital beds provide more intensive treatment for sicker patients. Figure 6.8 illustrates the influence of self-reported health status on per capita hospital days, considering separately individuals living in areas with lower supplies of hospital beds (the bottom 50%) and individuals living in areas with higher supplies of hospital beds (the top 50%). In other words, the figure is examining whether clinicians practicing in regions with higher hospital bed capacity allocate their excess beds to people in the poorest health, or whether the effect of the excess supply of beds affects all segments of the population (the sick and the less sick) more or less equally.

There is evidence that the local per capita supply of hospital beds exercises an acrossthe-board effect on clinical decision making. The likelihood of being hospitalized increases across all levels of health status when the per capita supply of hospital beds increases. An enrollee with the same "good" self-reported health status who lived in a region in the bottom 50% of local per capita bed supply would have expected to spend just 2.3 days in the hospital each year, or about one-third fewer days than a person with "good" self-reported status who lived in a region with a high per capita supply of beds.

A similar gap exists between enrollees in "excellent" self-reported health and those in "poor" self-reported health. In some cases, the per capita hospital bed supply matters more than health status: people in "fair" self-reported health in regions with low per capita supplies of hospital beds spent, on average, fewer days in hospitals than people in "good" or "very good" self-reported health who lived in regions where the per capita bed supply was high. The threshold effect of capacity is similar in each group.



Figure 6.8. Self-Reported Health Status and Hospital Days Segmented by Regions With High and Low Supplies of Hospital Beds (1993)

The left-hand (blue) bars represent the population living in the hospital referral regions with low per capita supplies of hospital beds; the right hand (red) bars represent those in hospital referral regions with high per capita supplies of hospital beds. The vertical axis is the average number of days spent in hospitals; the horizontal axis is self reported health status. Medicare enrollees living in regions with higher per capita supplies of hospital beds had higher hospital use, independent of reported health status.

Differences in Health Status Do Not Explain Differences in Medicare Spending

How much of the overall variations in Medicare spending across hospital referral regions is explained by regional differences in health status? We used the Medicare claims data to develop a measure of health status for the populations of the 306 hospital referral regions. These measures comprise the region-specific mortality rate as well as the incidence of heart attacks, strokes, gastrointestinal hemorrhage, cancer of the colon and lung, and hip fracture. The measures were used to adjust spending for differences in underlying health of the regions. The Appendix on Methods considers in more detail the specification and justification of the illness index.

Figure 6.9 displays the distributions for total Medicare spending (Part A and Part B) for the 306 hospital referral regions. The distribution on the left is actual per person spending, calculated by dividing Medicare spending for residents of each region by the number of residents of the region. Next is the distribution for spending adjusted for age, sex and race. Third is the distribution adjusted for age, sex, race and illness. The distribution on the right in Figure 6.9 is fully adjusted for age, sex, race, illness and price.

The distributions in Figure 6.9 give the impression that age, sex, and race adjustment have little effect on the distribution in Medicare spending. Standard statistics bear this

Table 6.2. Measures of Variation in Medicare Spending (Part A and B) 1995 by Strategies for Adjustment

	- Redic	ALE ARE		5 ⁸¹ 58
	Unablished Mr	Adjusted to AC	Aduse and ines	Adjusted in 15 at.
Index of Variation	•	-		•
Coefficient of variation	21.2	20.4	18.5	15.1
Ratio to unadjusted rate	1.00	0.96	0.87	0.71
Range of variation				
Extremal ratio	3.27	3.21	3.10	2.98
Interquartile ratio	1.32	1.32	1.25	1.21
Number of regions with high and low rates	;			
Rates more than 20% higher than national average	31	32	26	23
Rates less than 20% lower than national average	77	72	54	16

out (Table 6.2). The coefficient of variation shows little change after the adjustment; the range of variation is hardly changed, and the numbers of regions with high and low rates remain about the same. Further adjustment for illness reduces variation to a degree: the coefficient of variation is reduced by 13% over the unadjusted rate; the ratio of the highest to the lowest region is reduced from 3.27 to 3.10; and the number of regions with Medicare spending more than 20% above the national average is reduced from 31 to 26 regions. Illness adjustment reduced number with spending more than 20% below the national average from 77 to 54 regions.

The addition of price adjustment further reduces variation; of the three adjustments, price has the largest effect. Compared to unadjusted spending, age, sex, race, and illness adjustment results in a 31% reduction in variation (measured by the coefficient of variation). Yet a great deal of variation remains unexplained: the rate in the region with the highest Medicare spending (the McAllen, Texas hospital referral region) is 2.98 times higher than the rate in the region with the lowest Medicare spending (the Lynchburg, Virginia hospital referral region). Twenty-three regions have spending rates 20% or more above the national average; 16 are more than 20% below it.



Figure 6.9. Distribution of Medicare Spending Rates (1995) Unadjusted and Adjusted for Various Factors Medicare spending varied substantially among hospital referral regions, even after adjustment for age, sex, race, illness and price.

Chapter Six TableRates are age, sex and race adjusted and are expressed in dollars per enrollee.Additional adjustments were made for price and for illness and for price and illness,
as described in the Appendix on Methods. Data exclude Medicare enrollees who
were members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations.

CHAPTER SIX TABLE

Actual, Price Adjusted, Illness Adjusted and Price and Illness Adjusted Total Medicare Reimbursements Among Non-HMO Medicare Enrollees for All Services by Hospital Referral Region (1995)

ion		695)	NOL	Nor	ded wor
11 ⁸ Res	ollees		te ate	ants icare	Adius for the
	aleEnto	Sursenie	adice Adjuster	ne Medic e Ine	enemedic
HOSPIL	Nedice	Reinutates	Price and pita	Price and	and a start of the
Alabama					
Birmingham	264,920	5,092	5,650	4,900	
Dothan	44,420	4,644	5,390	4,641	
Huntsville	51,660	4,455	4,842	4,534	
Mobile	80,880	4,958	5,606	4,808	
Montgomery	46,840	4,585	5,153	4,655	
Tuscaloosa	27,660	4,487	5,103	4,605	
Alaska					
Anchorage	26,620	5,616	4,739	4,798	
Arizona					
Mesa	51,640	4,701	4,717	5,360	
Phoenix	178,580	4,627	4,763	4,993	
Sun City	45,580	3,946	3,950	4,437	
Tucson	72,620	4,523	4,856	5,367	
Arkansas					
Fort Smith	44,660	5,047	6,026	5,659	
Jonesboro	29,360	4,578	5,766	5,206	
Little Rock	189,560	4,306	5,137	4,779	
Springdale	45,460	3,526	4,328	4,355	
Texarkana	33,960	5,106	6,143	5,257	
California					
Orange Co.	127,960	6,400	5,564	5,625	
Bakersfield	58,280	5,829	5,826	5,554	
Chico	33,920	4,179	4,452	4,355	
Contra Costa Co.	56,760	4,844	4,204	4,398	
Fresno	75,840	4,086	4,164	4,564	
Los Angeles	448,600	7,006	5,900	5,671	
Modesto	56,760	5,139	5,209	5,128	
Napa	35,220	5,346	5,365	5,196	
Alameda Co.	93,540	5,209	4,444	4,389	
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	28,960	6,261	5,982	5,967	
Redding	42,160	4,882	5,142	5,220	
Sacramento	168,680	4,719	4,523	4,635	
Salinas	30,820	5,558	5,263	5,660	
San Bernardino	83,660	6,141	5,868	5,696	
San Diego	156,340	6,018	5,685	5,986	
San Francisco	104,260	4,978	4,085	4,146	
San Jose	86,520	5,105	4,140	4,439	
San Luis Obispo	21,260	4,130	3,919	4,131	
San Mateo Co.	54,680	4,475	3,603	3,811	
Santa Barbara	30.360	4.500	4.130	4.297	

, ion	10	361	Jon'	NOT Sted NOT
esta Ress	atoliees	oents cat		storie should be the
ind Reso	iicale Eni	stoursed Medic	e Adjusterne	Net ce and sed Met
4054	Meon	Reinigitate	Pripeiricapito	Pribeinsons
Santa Cruz	21,400	4,907	4,472	4,817
Santa Rosa	37,800	4,886	4,461	4,576
Stockton	36,180	5,357	5,264	5,096
Ventura	41,920	5,352	4,735	4,799
Colorado				
Boulder	14,220	4,263	4,408	4,884
Colorado Springs	57,580	3,687	4,074	4,478
Denver	145,020	4,661	4,830	5,205
Fort Collins	24,540	4,075	4,502	4,815
Grand Junction	29,380	3,169	3,756	4,527
Greeley	28,680	4,190	4,721	5,276
Pueblo	17,720	4,301	4,905	5,271
Connecticut				
Bridgeport	83,600	5,294	4,395	4,796
Hartford	187,880	4,907	4,282	4,883
New Haven	171,220	5,240	4,396	4,805
Delaware				
Wilmington	74,880	4,410	4,110	4,283
District of Columbia				
Washington	203,960	4,727	4,330	4,371
Florida	40.000	4.440	4.074	5.024
Cleanuater	40,800	4,410	4,071	5,021
	09,000	5,322	5,580	5,355
Fort Myore	169 540	0,173	5,211	5,914
Cainosvillo	47.640	4,920	5,311	5,047
Hudson	92 640	5 294	5,629	5,500
lacksonville	117 200	5 147	5,533	5 302
Lakeland	42 700	4 732	5 241	5,309
Miami	214 520	8 537	7 955	7 874
Ocala	81 220	4 420	5.032	5 429
Orlando	349 420	5 086	5 351	5 395
Ormond Beach	44 900	4 435	4 848	4 875
Panama City	22,560	5,500	6.288	5,586
Pensacola	71.500	5.028	5.689	5.202
Sarasota	95,980	4,821	5,115	5,483
St Petersburg	66,980	5,573	5,859	5,723
Tallahassee	69,920	4,593	5,161	4,859
Tampa	86,240	5,443	5,720	5,428
Georgia				
Albany	20,980	4,424	4,962	4,587
Atlanta	352,220	4,733	4,822	4,516
Augusta	62,940	4,397	4,750	4,426
Columbus	33,420	3,668	4,183	3,983
Macon	69,460	4,588	5,119	4,756
Rome	30,300	4,237	4,977	4,313

1.5		(19 ⁵⁾	10r	Jon	1.6.5
13 Regi	INEE		to the state	NS OF AL	Adjuster Me
, al Peler	are Ento	wisene	edice Adjuster	nethedic & lines	enervedic
HOSPIL	Nedicu	Reinflitated	Price in Doita	Price mos	310
Savanaah	60 860	4 702	5 252	4 704	
Hawaii	09,000	4,702	5,255	4,704	
Hopolulu	86,860	3 631	3 332	3 570	
Idaho	00,000	0,001	0,002	0,010	
Boise	69 800	3 512	3 980	4 596	
Idaho Falls	17.220	3.215	3,776	4.097	
Illinois	,==0	0,210	0,110	1,001	
Aurora	16.920	4.053	3.755	3.759	
Blue Island	90,560	5,724	5,302	4,821	
Chicago	221,300	5,717	5,280	5,050	
Elgin	41,400	4,855	4,498	4,419	
Evanston	111,200	4,893	4,534	4,669	
Hinsdale	31,620	5,313	4,923	4,870	
Joliet	46,680	5,219	5,116	4,827	
Melrose Park	128.440	5,068	4,695	4,619	
Peoria	95.480	4.003	4.567	4.646	
Rockford	82,740	3,692	4,096	4,240	
Springfield	123,540	3,913	4,532	4,355	
Urbana	54,800	3,579	4,267	4,369	
Bloomington	19,520	3,501	3,930	4,081	
Indiana			,		
Evansville	96,560	4,135	4,737	4,461	
Fort Wayne	98,700	3,529	3,938	4,126	
Gary	54,860	5,524	5,852	5,433	
Indianapolis	283,160	4,383	4,717	4,608	
Lafayette	22,320	3,653	4,253	4,186	
Muncie	21,700	4,101	4,783	4,639	
Munster	38,760	5,187	5,397	5,002	
South Bend	80,100	3,843	4,204	4,515	
Terre Haute	25,100	4,129	4,739	4,556	
Iowa					
Cedar Rapids	33,380	3,126	3,511	3,651	
Davenport	68,960	3,483	3,946	3,915	
Des Moines	137,620	3,431	3,974	3,983	
Dubuque	21,380	3,108	3,524	3,465	
Iowa City	40,820	3,401	4,038	4,039	
Mason City	27,160	3,145	3,896	4,185	
Sioux City	39,620	3,060	3,691	4,069	
Waterloo	31,800	3,165	3,627	3,532	
Kansas					
Topeka	54,880	3,317	3,823	3,933	
Wichita	174,560	4,180	4,960	5,025	
Kentucky					
Covington	35,560	4,314	4,430	4,114	
Lexington	152,400	4,190	4,872	4,463	
Louisville	184,080	4,626	5,105	4,769	

ion		(age)	NOL	NON	12
II ^a R ^{es}	Ollege		in a	the care	Adily
ral Pels.	cale Entre	bursen w	adice Adjuster	ne Media & Hine	Serien
HOSPI	Nedic	Reinutater	Price into ta	Priceeinu	(ð
Owensboro	17,840	4,381	5,146	5,021	
Paducah	55,220	4,267	5,131	4,709	
ouisiana					
lexandria	32,780	6,078	7,178	6,464	
aton Rouge	66,340	6,506	7,227	6,494	
louma	23,580	5,997	6,959	6,117	
afayette	58,240	4,947	5,739	5,684	
ake Charles	24,400	5,398	6,032	5,550	
etairie	40,740	6,692	7,013	6,329	
onroe	33,080	6,250	7,385	6,458	
ew Orleans	79,100	7,055	7,205	6,638	
nreveport	82,800	5,404	6,167	6,037	
dell	15,600	6,390	7,019	6,126	
aine					
angor	55,000	3,598	4,022	4,287	
ortland	127,580	3,870	4,094	4,630	
aryland					
ltimore	270,160	5,500	5,240	4,867	
lisbury	53,520	4,532	4,820	5,085	
koma Park	61,700	5,373	4,697	4,752	
assachusetts					
ston	536,340	6,222	5,564	5,832	
ringfield	97,520	4,382	4,322	4,762	
orcester	67,820	6,041	5,377	5,590	
chigan					
n Arbor	129,920	5,451	5,079	5,084	
arborn	72,500	6,014	5,372	5,095	
roit	225,400	5,931	5,321	5,026	
ıt	57,500	5,760	5,460	5,265	
and Rapids	112,560	3,861	3,989	4,306	
llamazoo	75,620	4,324	4,477	4,674	
nsing	62,540	4,716	4,858	5,120	
arquette	32,880	3,863	4,284	4,341	
uskegon	35,320	3,759	3,850	4,117	
toskey	25,200	3,639	4,009	4,152	
ntiac	36,160	6,477	5,792	5,600	
yal Oak	80,860	6,103	5,452	5,379	
iginaw	92,200	4,342	4,489	4,671	
Joseph	19,780	4,363	4,611	4,646	
averse City	31,660	3,579	3,938	4,124	
innesota	E4 500	2.040	2 000	0.404	
JIUTN	54,520	3,040	3,369	3,401	
inneapoils	276,540	3,300	3,528	3,722	
ocnester	54,480	3,525	3,881	4,159	
	24,380	3,146	3,539	3,926	
Paul	73,160	3,820	3,771	3,974	

28 Million	1 Starter Star	AN IN	on	or hori lijsed hor
28/81/21	Enollee	ements	iused rent	sticale iness horisticale
JUSHIAI	Medicate	geinbursed Mr	Price and used in	Price inputsted in
		×°23×	, <i>4</i> Go.	. & Co.
Mississippi				
Gulfport	18,880	6,244	7,023	6,442
Hattiesburg	30,960	4,563	5,595	5,218
Jackson	117,660	4,588	5,354	4,979
Meridian	25,840	4,547	5,574	4,933
Uxtord	17,480	4,177	5,121	4,310
Niccouri	45,080	4,239	5,202	4,796
Cape Girardeau	36 760	3 /00	1 383	4 271
Columbia	86 360	4 700	5 776	5,626
Joplin	49 340	4 396	5 432	4 817
Kansas City	231,380	4 795	5,205	4 994
Springfield	106.080	3.635	4,389	4.417
St Louis	404,240	4.478	4.809	4.535
Montana	101,210	1,110	1,000	1,000
Billings	61.040	3.713	4.351	4.640
Great Falls	20.000	3.639	4.349	4.274
Missoula	41.000	4.000	4.809	5.128
Nebraska	,	,	,	
Lincoln	76,160	2,859	3,550	4,074
Omaha	150,640	3,603	4,328	4,592
Nevada	,	,	,	
Las Vegas	78,240	5,451	5,278	5,118
Reno	61,400	4,131	4,155	4,554
New Hampshire				
Lebanon	52,420	3,548	3,819	4,385
Manchester	81,120	3,806	3,583	3,938
New Jersey				
Camden	349,480	5,006	4,562	4,532
Hackensack	152,200	4,926	4,107	4,323
Morristown	104,380	4,659	3,914	4,193
New Brunswick	98,200	4,907	4,140	4,468
Newark	165,940	4,949	4,183	4,283
Paterson	40,080	4,945	4,123	4,047
Ridgewood	42,460	4,697	3,946	4,266
New Mexico				
Albuquerque	106,580	3,940	4,382	4,973
New York				
Albany	231,580	4,101	4,079	4,459
Binghamton	56,320	3,452	3,626	3,920
Bronx	95,280	6,865	5,473	5,758
Buffalo	202,440	3,905	3,997	4,213
Elmira	53,840	3,828	4,126	4,372
East Long Island	458,840	6,067	4,806	5,109
New York	422,100	7,067	5,649	6,118
Rochester	146,540	3,947	3,944	4,332

10:	,	100	NON	, Jon'	10 beck
1 BERN	1100		tor the	ats to her	Adjustor Mat
Refer	ate Ento.	ITSEME	dica. Adjuster	nethedics sumes	amen Medica
Hospita	Medica	Reinbuteo	Price indution	Price mour	ler.
		Cor	. 0-		
Syracuse	128,300	3,809	3,940	4,352	
White Plains	120,940	5,550	4,551	4,818	
North Carolina					
Asheville	90,640	3,501	4,051	4,229	
Charlotte	194,000	4,095	4,466	4,302	
Durham	143,580	3,733	4,176	4,076	
Greensboro	62,220	3,527	3,862	3,763	
Greenville	81,940	3,989	4,698	4,409	
Hickory	30,060	3,790	4,313	4,232	
Raleigh	132,340	4,225	4,669	4,370	
Wilmington	40,360	4,751	5,290	4,683	
Winston-Salem	119,000	3,991	4,436	4,067	
North Dakota					
Bismarck	31,220	3,752	4,577	4,912	
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	69,360	3,123	3,713	3,987	
Grand Forks	24,980	3,666	4,404	4,897	
Minot	19,260	3,477	4,384	4,732	
Ohio					
Akron	86,120	4,887	5,003	4,631	
Canton	84,480	3,843	4,261	4,380	
Cincinnati	183,500	4,289	4,453	4,316	
Cleveland	274,040	5,079	5,084	4,871	
Columbus	294,480	4,070	4,451	4,403	
Dayton	137,400	4,185	4,479	4,623	
Elyria	29,360	4,717	4,682	4,248	
Kettering	46,600	4,143	4,302	4,430	
Toledo	126,200	4,835	5,099	4,998	
Youngstown	118,500	4,712	5,218	5,168	
Oklahoma				·	
Lawton	23.380	4.705	5.558	5.660	
Oklahoma City	198,700	4,799	5,488	5,208	
Tulsa	141 720	4 738	5 406	5 209	
Oregon		1,100	0,100	0,200	
Bend	20,360	3.509	4.014	4,486	
Fugene	83 260	3 134	3 533	3 907	
Medford	59 100	3 468	3 815	4 312	
Portland	149 800	3 503	3 680	3.871	
Salem	26 840	3 089	3 410	3,829	
Pennsylvania	20,040	0,000	3,410	0,020	
Allentown	149 240	4 802	4 802	4 996	
Altoona	45 500	4 4 1 2	5.073	5 115	
Danville	74 020	4 120	4 566	4 717	
Erie	113 240	4 338	4 870	4 714	
Harrisburg	124 380	4 263	4 517	4 712	
lobnstown	42 540	4,203	5 704	5 410	
Lancaster	69 460	4 152	4 254	4 672	
Lanouston	00,400	7,102	7,207	7,012	

silot		(1996)	Nor	NOT	isted Nori
Lerral Res		lees _	nt for the test	entshirate ess	Adly to le
Sitel Per	ilcate El.	noused	Neon ce Adius	an Mec Ce alling	ted Nec
Host	Mec	Religion	Price Capit	Prine Sali	,
Philadelphia	458,740	5,900	5,402	5,252	
Pittsburgh	509,880	5,305	5,545	5,266	
Reading	81,060	4,348	4,510	4,711	
Sayre	27,540	3,629	4,053	4,216	
Scranton	55,400	4,386	4,779	4,526	
Wilkes-Barre	44,620	5,064	5,495	5,062	
York	49,380	3,446	3,683	3,910	
Rhode Island					
Providence	145,220	4,861	4,511	4,843	
South Carolina					
Charleston	81,400	4,251	4,707	4,636	
Columbia	111,640	3,580	4,000	4,029	
Florence	39,820	4,332	4,966	4,422	
Greenville	85,700	3,785	4,192	4,137	
Spartanburg	43,160	3,861	4,297	3,967	
South Dakota					
Rapid City	21,920	3,497	4,335	4,683	
Sioux Falls	113,760	3,272	4,081	4,351	
Tennessee					
Chattanooga	74,520	5,488	6,012	5,460	
Jackson	45,660	4,615	5,408	4,935	
Johnson City	30,680	4,566	5,222	4,952	
Kingsport	66,780	4,663	5,343	4,928	
Knoxville	148,520	4,782	5,431	4,831	
Memphis	179,440	4,598	5,176	4,726	
Nashville	240,580	5,312	6,000	5,484	
Texas					
Abilene	43,860	4,825	5,735	5,141	
Amarillo	51,560	4,785	5,465	5,909	
Austin	77,080	4,289	4,476	4,646	
Beaumont	58,680	6,941	7,444	6,508	
Bryan	17,760	3,999	4,703	4,752	
Corpus Christi	48,020	6,177	6,875	6,293	
Dallas	280,940	5,400	5,546	5,541	
El Paso	79,140	4,614	5,215	5,714	
Fort Worth	126,140	5,468	5,783	5,681	
Harlingen	42,320	6,115	7,264	7,140	
Houston	325,460	6,188	6,216	6,097	
Longview	23,360	4,695	5,319	5,004	
Lubbock	76,480	5,143	6,039	5,671	
Mcallen	32,800	7,091	8,384	8,599	
Odessa	31,000	5,276	5,791	5,984	
San Angelo	21,680	4,516	5,445	5,686	
San Antonio	163,060	5,779	6,434	6,686	
Temple	30,360	3,858	4,345	4,720	
Tyler	70,720	5,464	6,294	6,166	

asign		(1995)	of Nori	NNN	iusted North
alenalt	Enolees	erner	alicate used	nentedicare une	s nents licate
1050ital K	Asticale L	einbursed M	e once addurse	ad him of ice allow	ised M.
~~~	Mo	Sec. Shr.	(x. 6. 8. 8.	X.66.08	ę.
Victoria	18,340	5,186	5,818	5,597	
Waco	41,020	3,248	3,761	3,952	
Wichita Falls	28,560	4,532	5,415	4,927	
Utah					
Ogden	27,380	3,649	3,980	4,639	
Provo	25,700	3,826	4,474	4,889	
Salt Lake City	134,000	3,740	4,165	4,774	
Vermont					
Burlington	68,420	3,766	4,035	4,385	
Virginia					
Arlington	100,640	4,442	3,871	3,978	
Charlottesville	58,780	3,874	4,185	4,118	
Lynchburg	30,060	2,657	2,929	2,887	
Newport News	50,760	3,759	3,961	3,982	
Norfolk	108,020	4,227	4,539	4,491	
Richmond	152,100	4,057	4,072	3,842	
Roanoke	94,860	3,744	4,234	4,086	
Winchester	38,040	3,994	4,133	3,797	
Washington					
Everett	40,520	3,983	4,072	4,298	
Olympia	35,020	3,798	4,021	4,427	
Seattle	198,460	4,082	4,060	4,422	
Spokane	144,880	3,673	4,018	4,449	
Tacoma	56,160	4,137	4,256	4,504	
Yakima	27,800	3,941	4,298	4,582	
West Virginia					
Charleston	125,280	4,422	5,085	4,553	
Huntington	49,920	4,164	4,701	4,223	
Morgantown	57,720	4,335	5,156	4,951	
Wisconsin					
Appleton	37,000	2,984	3,323	3,721	
Green Bay	66,920	3,283	3,671	3,881	
La Crosse	47,560	2,783	3,215	3,442	
Madison	110,940	3,465	3,812	4,064	
Marshfield	53,320	3,271	3,768	4,306	
Milwaukee	280,300	4,150	4,231	4,390	
Neenah	28,400	3,901	4,339	4,298	
Wausau	27,340	3,505	3,988	4,158	
Wyoming					
Casper	21,060	4,286	4,889	4,934	
United States					
United States	28,341,260	4,790	4,878	4,878	
CHAPTER SEVEN

Which Rate is Right? How Much is Enough? and What is Fair?

## Which Rate is Right? How Much is Enough? and What is Fair?

Ideally, the use of health care services by a given population would depend on local levels of illness, and would comprise an efficient mix of preventive, acute and chronic care. Resource allocation decisions would be guided at the patient level by need and knowledge of outcomes, and by the tradeoffs patients made between the costs, risks and benefits of care. At the population level, resource allocation decisions would be made based on society's beliefs about cost-effectiveness and social justice. Ideally, spending by the Medicare program would also reflect the goals of efficiency and equity.

Unfortunately, the Atlas provides little evidence that these ideals are being achieved — that the quantities of health services and resources consumed by Americans are determined by patient needs and preferences, or by knowledge about the outcomes of care, much less by consensus about society's needs and priorities. On the contrary, the Atlas demonstrates that:

- There is wide variation in Medicare spending, and in the supply of acute care hospital resources and physicians among the nation's hospital referral regions (Chapter Two).
- Hospital capacity has a dominating influence on hospital utilization rates, particularly for medical conditions (Chapter Three).
- There is wide variation in the intensity of hospital care Americans receive during the last six months of their lives, and the variation is closely associated with local supplies of hospital resources (Chapter Four).
- Discretionary surgical procedures have idiosyncratic patterns which result in regional "surgical signatures," a phenomenon which can be traced to scientific uncertainty about what works and the failure to involve patients in a meaningful way in the surgical decision making process (Chapter Five).
- Variations in illness rates do not explain the patterns of variation in hospital resource supply and Medicare spending (Chapter Six).

The reality of health care in the United States is that geography is destiny. The amount of care consumed by Americans depends more on where they live — the local supply of resources and the prevailing practice style — than on their needs or preferences.

Practice variations challenge basic assumptions about the nature of the health care economy and theories as to how it should be reformed. While it is beyond the scope of the Atlas to consider the question of how policies for addressing unwanted variations in health care delivery might be specifically designed or implemented, the Atlas can help frame the debate over what should be done.

Surgical variations point to the need for better science at the patient level and the need to bring the patient into the decision process through shared decision making. Through the diligent application of outcomes research, much can be learned about what works in medicine, particularly in those examples of care where a discrete intervention, such as a drug or a surgical procedure, is hypothesized to improve outcomes in specific ways. By bringing patients into the decision process through shared decision making, health care markets can be improved so that the use of care reflects the preferences of patients, rather than the preferences of providers or payers. Part I of this chapter addresses these opportunities for improving health care delivery.

The struggle for rationality at the patient level of care is both never-ending and fated to only partial success. New medical ideas and technologies will constantly challenge, and often outstrip, our best efforts to evaluate the end results of care. Moreover, much of clinical decision making is not driven by discrete, testable hypotheses, but by the need to help solve the myriad and complex sets of problems patients bring to physicians. When problem solving decisions are made under the assumption that more is better, as is common in the United States, the supply of medical resources will always be used up to the point of exhaustion, regardless of how much is available. Rational reform requires a policy for setting limits.

Part II of this chapter considers the problem of variation in hospital capacity and the inevitable association between having more resources and providing more services. How should the debate over whether more is better be framed? The first step is to understand the impact of increased supply on population-based utilization and outcomes. Most of the marginal resources in the acute care hospital sector appear to be invested in admitting patients to medical wards in the hope of reducing mortality. The most important outcome question, then, is population mortality: Do patient populations destined to receive more care in hospitals on the basis of their residence live longer than their counterparts in regions with fewer resources who receive less?

Part III of this chapter examines variations in the physician supply. The impact of an increase in physician supply on rates of delivery of specific services depends on the physicians' specialties, their incentives to work and, ultimately, on the idiosyncratic nature of the individual physician's "practice style." The complexities of the impact of physician supply on utilization make it impossible to base workforce planning on either patient level need and outcomes or on patient demand. In planning federal subsidies to medical education, or in recruiting physicians into a system of care, we suggest that the better planning alternative is to use benchmarking. Benchmarking allows us to compare specific regional workforces to other workforces and to health plans that have been successful in competitive markets, are low cost, and where global outcomes, measured at the population level, are good.

Part IV of this chapter raises questions about the equity of current federal policy determining reimbursements to health care markets, particularly with regard to the amount paid to managed care companies. These amounts vary among the regions according to historical spending levels under fee-for-service medicine. The policy is unfair because it penalizes individual Medicare enrollees who live in regions where spending has historically been low. In such areas, enrollees have less opportunity for

an expanded benefit package under capitation than managed care companies can provide to those living in regions where spending has historically been high. It is also unfair because Medicare enrollees living in regions where spending is low subsidize through their taxes the expanded benefits received by those living in regions where spending is high. The policy can also result in windfall profits to managed care companies that achieve the efficiencies now being realized in regions where spending is low.

Part V of this chapter summarizes the policy steps we recommend for resolving unwanted variations in health care delivery.

### I. Islands of Rationality

The tradition of decision making based on professional paternalism does not deal well with the complex tradeoffs created by modern technology. Rates of elective surgery and other discretionary interventions, which now are determined in large part by practice style and geographic variations in resources, should be determined by the choices informed patients make. To accomplish this "right rate," patients must participate in the decision making process; to do so, patients must understand what is known, as well as what is not known, about the outcomes that matter to them. Further, patients must be enabled to choose according to their own preferences, even if they ultimately decide to let their doctors decide for them.

This reform will require a new model of clinical decision making. Fortunately, the time is ripe; the escalation in medical spending over the past three decades has created an environment in which it has become possible for patients to challenge the paternalistic role of physicians as agents and sole decision makers. Employers, as payers, have promoted the growth of managed care, which challenges the autonomy of physicians, imposes rules on clinical medicine, and substitutes the managed care company as the decision maker. This transfer of agency power to third parties — payers, insurance companies, and health maintenance organizations — has opened a national debate about the role of the patient in the choice of medical care.

A new model of the doctor-patient relationship is emerging in response to paternalism and third party intrusion into health care. Shared decision making recognizes the complex tradeoffs that patients must make in the choice of medical care, and addresses the ethical requirement to fully inform patients about the risks and benefits of treatments as well as the need to ensure that patients' values and preferences play a prominent role in medical decision making.

The shared decision making model holds promise for establishing health care markets in which the right rate of service is determined by the choices made by informed and empowered patients. Shared decision making has been implemented in several clinical studies, some of which are discussed here. The studies provide evidence about both patients' willingness to participate in decisions about their own care, and the rates at which patients choose certain procedures when they are fully informed about the risks and benefits of their choices. Most patients willingly participate in shared decision making, even when, as in case of early stage prostate cancer, decisions are complicated and difficult because medical science provides no clear evidence that invasive treatment extends life expectancy. The studies of shared decision making also provide initial benchmarks for addressing the question, Which rate is right? The preliminary evidence indicates that the amount of discretionary invasive care now prescribed in the United States might substantially exceed the amount that informed patients actually want.

### Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia

Benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) is a common disease in men over the age of 50, and there is considerable debate about how — and whether — the condition should be treated. Traditionally, men with BPH have relied on their physicians to decide on the course of treatment for them, assuming that "the doctor knows best." Outcomes research has done much to clarify the theoretical reasons for undertaking treatment. The primary reason for treatment in most men is to improve the quality of life by reducing the intensity of symptoms. For most men, surgery does not increase the length of life and, in fact, may shorten life expectancy slightly because of operative mortality. The need for the patient's active involvement in the choice of treatment is elucidated by these outcomes studies. The most important consideration for the patient is the tradeoff between surgery, which is superior in improving urinary tract symptoms, and the avoidance of surgical complications associated with foregoing surgery. Individual patients differ substantially in how they assess their own situations; and there is nothing in the physical examination, the clinical history, or the results of laboratory tests that allows physicians to forecast which treatment a given patient will prefer.

A recently published observational study of treatment choice for BPH in two health maintenance organizations showed that under shared decision making, treatment choice was determined by the individual patient's own assessment of how much his symptoms bothered him and his concern about the side effects, particularly the possible negative impact of surgery on sexuality. These subjective factors mattered even more to patients than the severity of their symptoms (as measured objectively by a standardized questionnaire).

When the study began, the rates of surgery for BPH among men in both health maintenance organizations were already substantially lower than the national average. When shared decision making was adopted, the rates fell even lower — more than 40% below the baseline rate for men in the health maintenance organizations. No reduction occurred among men enrolled in a control group. The results were highly significant statistically, clinically and economically. A subsequent randomized clinical trial showed a similar result, but the trial was underpowered and the result was not statistically significant.

The experience of the health maintenance organization in implementing shared decision making provides a benchmark for addressing the question, Which rate is right? In 1992-93, the last years of the shared decision making observational study, the rates of surgery for BPH among men participating in shared decision making were comparable to the rates in the hospital referral regions with the lowest rates in the United States (Figure 7.1). If the preferences about surgical treatment of BPH of the men who participated in the shared decision making study reflect the preferences of most men, then the amount of surgery for BPH provided in the United States in those years substantially exceeded the amount that informed men would actually want. The health maintenance organization benchmark suggests that in 1992-93, 160,000 more prostate operations were performed in the United States than would have been the case had shared decision making been in use throughout the country.

See the endnote for references and further reading.



Figure 7.1. Distribution of Transurethral Prostatectomies for Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia Among Hospital Referral Regions (1992-93) Compared to Shared Decision Making Benchmark in Two Staff Model HMOs

The rate of surgery under shared decision making was substantially lower than the rates in most hospital referral regions.

### Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Coronary Artery Disease

The rates of revascularization procedures for coronary artery disease in Ontario, Canada in 1995 were substantially lower than in any of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States (Figure 7.2). If the rate of invasive treatments in Ontario had prevailed in the United States in 1994-95, 481,000 fewer procedures would have been performed among the Medicare population. Which rate is right?

Researchers in Ontario conducted a randomized clinical trial to evaluate the impact of shared decision making on the choice of treatment among patients with coronary artery disease. Patients who were randomized to shared decision making were informed about their treatment options, using a standardized interactive video, and encouraged to participate in their own treatment decisions. The control group received usual care. The group of patients who participated in shared decision making chose coronary revascularization with either coronary artery bypass surgery or percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty 22% less often than the control group. This suggests that even the low prevailing rate in Ontario might be more than informed patients actually want.

If the rate of surgery chosen by the participants in the Ontario study reflects the average preferences of patients in the United States, then the amount of surgery now provided in the United States exceeds by a wide margin the amount that informed patients want. While it is unlikely that preferences about revascularization operations of patients with coronary artery disease in the United States and in Ontario are the same, the Ontario study provides further evidence that in order to find the "right" American rate (which will vary from region to region) it will be necessary to strengthen the American patient's role in choosing the care that best fits their individual preferences and needs.



# Figure 7.2. Distribution of Rates of Coronary Artery Revascularization Procedures (CABG and PTCA) for Coronary Artery Disease Among Hospital Referral Regions (1994-95) Compared to the Ontario, Canada Benchmark (1995)

The rates of invasive treatments in Ontario were substantially lower than in the United States. The rates in Ontario were determined by studies of the population over age 64 conducted by Ontario's Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences. In a clinical trial in Toronto, patients who were randomized to shared decision making elected invasive treatment 22% less often than the controls, suggesting that fully informed Canadians might want less surgery than the amount now being performed in Ontario.

### Shared Decision Making: The Diagnosis of Prostate Cancer

Shared decision making also has an important role in the decision about whether to be screened for certain conditions, including prostate cancer. The development of the prostate-specific antigen (PSA) test has resulted in a surge in the number of American men who have been diagnosed with early stage cancer of the prostate. The PSA test is effective at finding cancer, but there is a great deal of scientific uncertainty about the value of active treatment for the disease (Chapter Five).

The American College of Physicians has issued guidelines for the use of PSA, emphasizing the importance of informed patient choice in the decision about screening. It is far from clear that most men, given the choice, would prefer to know that they have a condition — prostate cancer — for which medical science has not validated the efficacy of invasive treatment.

Experience with shared decision making underscores the importance of the College's guidelines. The treatment dilemmas that men must face when diagnosed with prostate cancer are not well understood by the average patient undergoing diagnostic testing. Some men are even tested without their knowledge, as part of routine annual examinations. Yet preferences about knowing one's cancer status clearly differ from one individual to another. In one study, about half of men who were fully informed about the choices they would face if they learned they had cancer preferred not to be screened. Even if these results are atypical, it is clear that public health programs should focus on efforts to inform men about all the risks and benefits of screening and treatment, rather than working to persuade men to be screened.

### Shared Decision Making: The Treatment of Prostate Cancer

A community-based study of shared decision making for men with prostate cancer was conducted in Hartford, Connecticut. Each participant viewed a video about the options for treating the disease. The video presented the possible advantages of invasive treatments, but included a careful explanation of the limits of current scientific knowledge as to whether these advantages would actually occur. It also included information about the possible complications associated with treatment. Prior to seeing the videotape, 44% of the participants felt that they were wellinformed about prostate cancer; after seeing the video, 94% felt that they had a "good" or "excellent" understanding about their choices. Although few of the participants were pleased to learn that there was so much scientific uncertainty, more than 75% of men in the study participated actively in the choice of treatment. Of the men who chose treatment, about 37% chose surgery, 38% chose radiation therapy, and 25% chose watchful waiting.

Shared decision making, if widely adopted, offers a significant opportunity for improving the scientific basis of clinical medicine. The careful follow up of patients who choose different treatments makes it possible to learn more about the outcomes of care and the effects of shared decision making on such measures as satisfaction and functional status. Shared decision making could also expand the opportunity to conduct randomized clinical trials: men with prostate cancer who do not have a strong preference for one treatment over another might be willing to be randomized to treatment. Twenty-five percent of the men in the Hartford study were uncertain about their own choices and asked their physicians to decide for them.

Linking shared decision making to outcomes research will improve the knowledge base for decision making by those who will face the same decision in the future. Shared decision making can create islands of rationality — areas of clinical medicine where uncertainty is reduced by patient-level outcomes research, where choice is based on the best available information, and where patients choose according to their own values and preferences.

## **II. Setting Limits on Hospital Capacity**

While shared decision making and patient-level outcomes research hold promise for creating more rational approaches to making choices among available treatments, these strategies do not effectively address global variations in the supply of resources and medical spending. Much of medicine is not driven by well articulated medical theories that are (at least conceptually) testable by randomized clinical trials or other forms of outcomes research. Hospitalization is often an effort — sometimes a desperate effort — to hold the tide against the inevitable. The quantity of care provided under these circumstances is often limited only by supply. Judgments about how much care is enough must be grounded in an understanding of the relationship between health care capacity and utilization — on how available resources are used. Decisions about how much is enough must also focus on global outcomes. In the case of the supply of acute care hospital resources, the size of the physician workforce, and the level of Medicare spending, the primary focus should be on the marginal effects of resources and spending (and the services they purchase) on the health outcomes of populations.

The nation is already moving to reduce hospital capacity (Chapter Two). In the section that follows, we concentrate on the benchmarks provided by two hospital service areas which have been studied extensively: Boston, Massachusetts, and New Haven, Connecticut. We ask whether more is better. The nature of the relationship between hospital supply and utilization, and the failure to find evidence that more is better, are indications of the validity of using low-resource, low-utilization areas to define reasonable limits. Using such areas as benchmarks, it is possible to estimate the magnitude of potential savings which could be realized if high-resource, high-utilization regions were constrained to the level of low-resource, low-utilization regions.

We also evaluate the range of allocations of acute hospital care in hospital referral regions throughout the United States. The estimates we provide for resource savings assume that all regions with higher levels of resources and utilization than the benchmark are reduced to the benchmark level, but that regions with resources and utilization lower than the benchmark remain constant — that is, their resources and utilization are not increased.

Acute Care Hospital Resources Allocation: The New Haven, Connecticut Benchmark Most of the care in Boston and New Haven is delivered by clinicians affiliated with some of the nation's finest medical schools. The communities are remarkably similar demographically. But thanks to a strong certificate of need program, hospital capacity in New Haven (and throughout Connecticut) is among the lowest in the nation. Over time, the dynamics that foster hospital construction projects in Boston have created many more beds and resulted in the hiring of many more hospital employees and hospital-based nurses per thousand residents than in the New Haven hospital service area.

The first question to ask about this difference in resources is, What is the impact on utilization? The clinicians caring for residents of Boston work with fewer resource constraints on their decisions about hospitalization. How do they use these "extra" beds in Boston? The major "product" purchased by the greater investment in acute care in Boston, in the end, is simply more admissions and more frequent readmissions for treatment of medical conditions.

The second question is, Why does Boston have so many "extra" beds? The higher rates of admissions and readmissions of Bostonians, compared to residents of New Haven, are not the result of higher illness rates in Boston. Hospital managers and boards of trustees did not decide to construct more beds in response to higher levels of illness; a more likely explanation is that the excess beds were constructed in response to local social, religious, political and economic factors, most of which were unrelated to population health.

What would it mean for Boston to achieve a level of resource allocation at least as efficient as New Haven's? (Table 7.1) If Bostonians had used resources and services at the same level as the residents of the New Haven hospital service area in 1995,

residents of Boston would have required 585 fewer beds, 9,335 fewer hospital employees, and 1,574 fewer hospital-based registered nurses. Medicare enrollees who lived in Boston would have spent 72,450 fewer days in hospitals for the treatment of medical conditions.

If the resources allocated to regions which had higher per capita numbers of hospital resources than New Haven in 1995 were reduced to New Haven's level, nationally there would have been 205,000 fewer hospital beds (a 26% reduction); 598,000 fewer hospital employees (a 17% reduction); and 185,000 fewer hospital-based registered nurses (a 21% reduction). Had all areas with higher hospital utilization than New Haven in 1995 been reduced to the level of the New Haven hospital service area, the Medicare population of the United States would have spent 13.9 million fewer days in acute care hospitals.

	Resources Allocated per 1,000 to Residents of Hospital Service Area (1995)		Excess Resources Used by Bostonians According to New Haven Benchmark
	Boston	New Haven	
Acute Care Beds	3.2	2.4	585
Hospital Personnel	25.5	12.7	9,335
Hospital-Based Nurses	5.3	3.2	1,574
Medical Bed Davs	1.644	1.199	72.450

Table 7.1. Estimated Excess Resources Allocated to Bostonians Compared to the New Haven, Connecticut Benchmark (For Hospital Service Areas, 1995)

### Is More Acute Hospital Care Better?

The Boston and New Haven hospital service areas provide useful natural laboratories for examining this question. In New Haven (and throughout Connecticut) sick patients are more often treated outside the hospital than similarly sick patients who live in Boston. If the resources now spent on acute hospital care in areas with higher levels of resources were reduced to the level of New Haven, money available for other sectors of care — providing ambulatory care to the underserved, for example — could be increased. But do patients who live in areas with lower acute care hospital capacity receive adequate levels of care? Are the constraints on supply of the New Haven hospital service area harmful to patients?

There are three arguments that suggest that patients living in New Haven are not harmed.

First, New Haven clinicians do not appear to be aware of constraints that lower levels of resources impose on their practice styles. Before they were informed about comparative levels of hospital resources in their hospital service area, clinicians in New Haven were asked if they were aware of differences between themselves and their colleagues at Boston's teaching hospitals. Similar interviews were held with clinicians in Boston and in other areas. These discussions made it clear that clinicians are generally unaware of the per capita supply of beds in their own areas, and cannot identify their own areas' absolute or relative supplies of beds. Indeed, physicians who had at some time in their careers practiced in both New Haven and Boston were unaware of the differences in practice styles between the two communities.

Second, clinicians practicing in areas with low per capita supplies of acute care hospital beds are not aware of danger, harm, or even scarcity. When asked, clinicians in New Haven did not believe they were withholding valued and necessary hospital care because of a lack of resources. Indeed, they did not profess to have more conservative treatment theories or to exercise conscious choice that it was better to treat seriously ill patients outside of the hospital.

Third, subliminal adaptation of the theory and practice of medicine to the constraints of capacity is further evidenced by the fact that occupancy rates (the average proportion of available beds that are actually occupied by patients) are not closely correlated with per capita bed capacity. If the low bed supply in New Haven created scarcity, one would expect more crowding of hospital beds — that the occupancy rate in New Haven would be higher than the rate in Boston. But historically the occupancy rates in both cities' hospitals have been about the same.

There is a bottom line to this comparison: outcomes, in terms of life expectancy, are not different for patients in Boston and New Haven. Arguably life expectancy is the most important outcome; it is, inarguably, measurable. In the years since these studies began, the mortality rates of residents of Boston and New Haven have been essentially the same. Research performed in conjunction with the Atlas confirms this pattern across all hospital referral regions in the United States; areas with greater hospital capacity, and with more inpatient days per capita, do not have lower mortality rates, even after controlling for a wide variety of health indicators. In other words, the United States might be on the "flat of the curve" in terms of mortality, and, if so, a reduction in overall bed capacity would not affect life expectancy.

### Acute Hospital Care: Benchmarking the American Experience

New Haven is but one of the many available benchmarks against which to profile the American experience of hospital care. This section provides a report card profiling the pattern of resource allocation in seven hospital referral regions in the United States. The report displays the potential savings in health care resource use if the level in each of the seven regions represented the upper limit for resource allocation. The estimates for hospital beds have been adjusted for age and sex, as well as for illness, using a community-based index of illness. Figure 7.3 gives the adjusted numbers of hospital beds per thousand residents in seven selected areas. The table at the end of this chapter provides illness, age, and sex adjusted rates per 1,000 residents for each of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.

The rates range from a low of 1.8 beds per thousand residents of the Seattle, Washington hospital referral region, to a high of 4.4 beds per thousand residents in the Chicago hospital referral region. Two hundred ninety-four of the nation's 306 hospital referral regions had more hospital beds per thousand residents than Seattle. If hospital capacity in all regions with higher rates were reduced to the Seattle benchmark (on an illness, age and sex adjusted basis), then hospital capacity in the United States would be reduced more than 28%, or by more than 223,000 hospital beds. If the Atlanta rate (2.9 beds per thousand residents) prevailed throughout the country, capacity would be reduced by more than 116,000 hospital beds.

On the other hand, only five regions in the United States have more beds per thousand residents than the Manhattan hospital referral region, and reducing those five regions to the Manhattan benchmark would result in a reduction in the national supply of only about 1,000 hospital beds.



## Figure 7.3. Illness and Age and Sex Adjusted Acute Care Hospital Beds per 1,000 Residents in Selected Hospital Referral Regions and Cumulative Number of Hospital Beds in Excess of Benchmark in Regions with Higher Rates

The age, sex and illness adjusted numbers of hospital beds per 1,000 residents varied substantially. For each benchmark, the figure gives the region's rank (in parentheses) and estimates the excess number of hospital beds, had the benchmark region's rate prevailed in higher regions in 1995. Seattle ranked 295th. The Seattle benchmark estimates an excess of 223,000 hospital beds in regions with higher rates.

### III. Setting Limits on the Physician Workforce

The size of the physician workforce in the United States has been determined by factors that have little to do with patient demand for health care, and much to do with federal policy and the needs of training institutions as they are currently structured. In the 1970s it was widely assumed that the United States faced a physician shortage, which led to policy which encouraged an increase in the number of medical schools and the enlargement of medical school class sizes.

The federal government, through the Medicare program, is the primary source of funding for the training of physicians in residency programs, providing an estimated \$70,000 for every resident in training in 1992. The number of specialty residency positions, however, has been determined by the training institutions themselves, aided by an accreditation process that focuses on academic standards, not the numbers of specialists needed by the population outside the training institutions.

From 1970 to 1996, the per capita supply of clinically active physicians in the United States grew by about 67%, from 113.1 per 100,000 residents to 188.9. During this period, the number of specialists almost doubled, increasing from 63 specialists per 100,000 residents to 123 per 100,000. The supply of generalist physicians increased from 49 to 65 per 100,000 residents. By 1996, about 66% of the physician workforce were specialists.

But how many physicians are really needed? Traditionally, workforce requirements have been forecast on the basis of either needs-based or demand-based planning models, both of which are seriously flawed.

Needs-based planning relies on experts to estimate the correct number of physicians to meet need and produce optimal outcomes. Unfortunately, the uncertainties inherent in clinical medicine, rapid changes in technology, and the inevitable failure of outcomes research to keep up with innovation mean that even "experts" are unable to accurately predict the need for physicians. Demand based planning assumes that the utilization of care is driven by patient demand; the trends in prevailing rates of service are therefore assumed to be the right rate and are used to project the need for physicians. The evidence that the supply of resources and provider preferences influence the rates of use of care for discretionary services is evidence of the futility of using utilization as a measure of patient demand, and consequently its failure as a method by which to project workforce requirements.

Benchmarking provides a pragmatic alternative for estimating the requirements for a reasonably sized workforce. Elsewhere, we have argued that the hiring practices of large, stable, staff model health maintenance organizations or the population-based physician supply in regions with efficient delivery systems should be used as benchmarks for estimating the nation's resource and workforce requirements. Benchmarks provide a useful measure of the level of need for several reasons:

■ Benchmarks provide working examples of the actual deployment of the workforce, realistic guidelines drawn from successful health care plans or regions. In the case of staff model health maintenance organizations, workforce configurations have succeeded in competition with fee-for-service in markets, often in places such as San Francisco (Figure 7.5) where the numbers of physicians per 100,000 residents serving the fee-for-service market is among the highest in the nation. Regions with efficient health care markets are also useful as benchmarks because their workforce configurations serve entire populations, not just the part of the population enrolled in health maintenance organizations.

■ There is little or no evidence that patients are harmed because they are served by health plans with constrained workforces, or live in regions with fewer physicians per capita. Indeed, there is some evidence that the current surgical workforce is more than sufficient to meet patient demand for discretionary surgery. Figure 7.1 shows that even with the relatively low per capita numbers of urologists employed

by health maintenance organizations, the supply was more than adequate to meet the demand for prostate surgery, once patients were engaged in shared decision making to select the treatments they preferred.

■ Finally, while studies of the global impact of marginal increases in physician supply on population mortality have not been done and should be encouraged, when it is unclear that spending more is beneficial, common sense argues against the status quo (continuing to produce physicians at a rate which increases the nation's per capita supply) particularly when the trend in the market is toward managed care.

#### The Physician Workforce: The Health Maintenance Organization Benchmark

The employment practices of well-established staff model health maintenance organizations such as Kaiser-Permanente indicate that the physician workforce requirements under fully integrated managed care systems are considerably less than the numbers of physicians now in practice in the United States. In research related to the Atlas, the staffing patterns of a large West Coast staff model health maintenance organization were used to provide a quantitative measure of the excess in capacity predicted for the United States, should the workforce requirements of that health maintenance organization become the standard for the nation.

On an age and sex adjusted basis, the number of clinically active physicians practicing in the United States in 1996 was substantially in excess of the health maintenance organization benchmark. The supply of specialists exceeded the workforce requirements of the staff model health maintenance organization by 35%. Had the number of specialists per hundred thousand residents represented by this health maintenance organization's staffing level been used to determine the size of the employed workforce throughout the United States in 1996, 74,267 full time equivalent specialists would have been unemployed. (This comparison is restricted to "selected specialists — those specialists actually employed by the health maintenance organization — and therefore does not include such specialities as forensic pathology. See the endnote and the Appendix on the Physician Workforce for further information.) The health maintenance organization's per capita employment rate of generalists was also below the national average: the supply of generalists in the United States was 1.41 times higher than in the health maintenance organization, indicating a national excess of 49,334 full time equivalent generalist physicians.

Excess capacity existed for virtually every major category of specialists (Figure 7.4). For example, if the health maintenance organization's staffing level of specialists had prevailed throughout the United States in 1996, the estimated excess supply of cardiologists would have been 61% of the cardiology workforce, or 9,436 physicians; and the excess supply of pathologists 55% of the pathology workforce, or 6,561 physicians. The sole specialty for which the health maintenance organization benchmark predicted underservice elsewhere in the United States was emergency care physicians.

### The Physician Workforce: Benchmarking the American Experience

The health maintenance organization benchmark for workforce planning is useful to the extent that it reliably forecasts the demand for physicians, should capitated managed care become the prevailing method of organizing health care delivery in the United States. There are currently no regions, however, where health maintenance organizations serve the entire population of a region, and benchmarks based on the managed care experience fail to take into account the health care of special populations, such as the uninsured, those who are covered by Medicaid, or those with illnesses that make them unlikely candidates for enrollment in managed care. The experiences of regions, however, are valid benchmarks for entire populations.

This section provides a "report card" profiling the pattern of physician resource allocation in eight hospital referral regions in the United States. Figures 7.5 and 7.6 show the age and sex adjusted numbers of generalist and selected specialist physicians per 100,000 residents in the eight selected hospital referral regions (see the endnote for the definition of "selected specialists"). The figures display the ranks of these areas, compared to all others in the United States, and give the surplus in physician supply if the level in each of the eight regions represented the upper limit for physician resource allocation in the United States. The Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States provides the same information for each of the 306 hospital referral regions, as well as maps showing how each region compares to the Minneapolis, Wichita, and health maintenance organization benchmarks. Rates of physicians per 100,000 residents and maps are also provided for each of the 12 specialists listed in Figure 7.4.



## Figure 7.4. Ratio of Clinically Active Physicians per 100,000 Residents of the United States (1996) to Physicians per 100,000 Enrollees in a Large Staff Model HMO (1993)

The figure gives the ratio of the U.S. physician supply to the numbers employed or contracted for by a large West Coast health maintenance organization. The numbers in parentheses are the excess supply of physicians that would have existed in 1996, had the employment practices of the health maintenance organization been the standard for the nation.





San Francisco, with 158 selected specialists per 100,000 residents, had the seventhhighest age and sex adjusted supply of physicians among the nation's 306 hospital referral regions. Minneapolis, a hospital referral region with a long history of managed care, ranked 226th. It had only about half as many selected specialists per 100,000 residents as the San Francisco hospital referral region, and was well below the United States average. If the level of physician supply of the Minneapolis benchmark prevailed in the 225 hospital referral regions with higher rates, the estimated excess number of selected specialists would have been 20% of the selected specialist workforce, or 55,395 physicians. Wichita provides an interesting benchmark because it represents a model of low physician supply in a market where managed care has not had strong penetration. The Wichita benchmark, however, estimates an even lower supply of selected specialists than the Minneapolis benchmark. Wichita ranked 289th in numbers of selected specialists per 100,000 residents; had this benchmark prevailed in 1996 in regions with higher rates, the estimated excess number of specialists would have been 29% of the selected specialist workforce, or 83,066 physicians.

The Minneapolis hospital referral region benchmark for generalist physicians was higher than the national average, but the Wichita region's supply was below it. Had the Wichita level of supply prevailed in 1996 in regions with higher rates, the estimated excess number of generalists would have been 10% of the generalist workforce, or 17,704 physicians.



Figure 7.6. Generalist Physicians per 100,000 Residents in Selected Hospital Referral Regions and Cumulative Numbers of Physicians in Excess of Benchmark in Regions with Higher Rates The full time equivalent numbers of generalist physicians varied substantially. For each benchmark, the figure gives the region's rank in terms of generalist physicians per 100,000 residents (in parentheses) and estimates the excess number of generalist physicians, had the benchmark region's rate prevailed in regions with higher rates in 1996. Wichita ranked 138th. The benchmark estimates an excess of 17,704 full time equivalent clinically active generalist physicians in regions with higher rates.

## **IV. Medicare Spending and Equity**

What does greater Medicare spending buy? Just as Boston and New Haven provide a useful lesson on the effects of hospital capacity, the health care experience of Medicare residents of two retirement communities — Miami Beach, Florida, and Sun City, Arizona — provide a remarkable contrast in Medicare spending and insight into the "benefits" that greater spending buys. Both Miami Beach and Sun City are prosperous communities, with average household incomes well above the national average; and both are magnets for retirees, attracting large numbers of Americans, principally from the Northeast and the Midwest and, in the case of Sun City, from the Mountain States.



#### Figure 7.7. Medicare Spending for Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona by Program Component (1995)

The figure gives the ratio of per enrollee Medicare spending in Miami Beach to spending in Sun City, as well as the amount spent per enrollee (in parentheses). Per enrollee spending was higher for residents of Miami Beach across all components of the Medicare program.

Although the populations are similar in many respects, the average price adjusted reimbursement for fee-for-service Medicare enrollees living in the Miami Beach hospital service area in 1995 was \$8,655, about 2.2 times higher than for Medicare enrollees living in Sun City (\$3,918). Residents of Miami Beach received substantially more from the Medicare program in all categories of spending than residents of Sun City (Figure 7.7). Price adjusted spending for physician and laboratory services was 76% higher; for inpatient care was 112% higher; and for home health care was more than 240% higher. During the last six months of life, more than \$17,000 per enrollee was spent on inpatient care for residents of Miami Beach — 2.24 times as much as the \$7,559 per enrollee spent for Medicare enrollees in Sun City.



Figure 7.8. Admissions to Intensive Care During the Last Six Months of Life and Acute Care Hospital Utilization for Medical Conditions and Among Medicare Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio of rates of acute care hospital services for enrollees living in Miami Beach to the rate among residents of Sun City, as well as the actual rate (in parentheses). Residents of Miami Beach received much more inpatient care for all medical conditions per 1,000 residents, and the percent of enrollees admitted to intensive care during the last 6 months of life was more than 6 times higher among residents of Miami Beach than among residents of Sun City.



Figure 7.9. Selected Surgical Procedures for Medicare Enrollees Living in Miami Beach, Florida and Sun City, Arizona (1994-95)

The figure gives the ratio of the use of selected surgical procedures among enrollees living in Miami Beach to rates for residents of Sun City, as well as the rates per 1,000 residents (in parentheses). The patterns of use of surgery varied in an idiosyncratic way; Miami Beach had higher rates of some procedures (e.g., lower extremity bypass) than Sun City, while rates for other procedures (e.g., back surgery and knee replacement) were lower among Medicare enrollees in Miami Beach than among enrollees in Sun City.

The increased spending on inpatient care purchased more than twice as many discharges for medical conditions per thousand Medicare residents of Miami Beach than per thousand Medicare residents of Sun City. The higher level of spending also purchased much more intensive care: 52% of Miami Beach enrollees spent one or more days in intensive care during the last six months of their lives, compared to 8% of enrollees in Sun City (Figure 7.8).

By contrast, varying rates of specific surgical procedures demonstrated a typical "surgical signature" phenomenon. Rates were sometimes higher, and sometimes lower, for Medicare residents of Miami Beach than for Medicare residents of Sun City (Figure 7.9). For example, the rate of lower extremity bypass surgery among Medicare enrollees in Miami Beach was 2.3 times higher than the rate among enrollees in Sun City; but the rates of knee replacement and back surgery among Medicare enrollees in Miami Beach were less than half the rates of those procedures among Medicare residents of Sun City.

### Medicare Spending: Is More Better?

In Sun City, and in many other parts of the country, the Medicare program spends considerably less per enrollee than in Miami Beach and other regions with similarly high rates. Should something be done about this? The argument for "doing something" about the differences in spending has several facets. We have already seen that differences in spending relate to differences in supply of resources and physician practice styles (Chapter Four), and that illness explains only a small proportion of the differences in spending among regions (Chapter Six). We also know that the differences are not explained by differences in regional prices (Chapter Six).

The differences are unfair, because residents living in regions with low rates of reimbursement are subsidizing, through their contributions to Medicare, the care received by enrollees with similar health needs who live in high cost regions. And the transfer payments (subsidies) flowing from low reimbursement to high reimbursement regions are economically unwise, because they reward inefficient providers and sustain excess capacity.

But what should the policy goal be? Is it better to increase spending in regions with low rates, in order to equalize them with high rate regions? Should all regions be equalized at the national average? Or should the overall level of spending be reduced to the level of less costly regions, such as Sun City — or even lower?

A comparison of spending by the Medicare program in Miami Beach and in Sun City illustrates what is bought with an increase in Medicare reimbursements: an increase in the intensity of treatment of sick people; an increase in the rates of hospitalization for medical conditions; an increase in the use of intensive care; and an increase in the level of spending on diagnostic tests, physician services and home health care. The increase is not in specific discretionary surgical procedures aimed at improving enrollees' quality of life, and the investment is not simply monetary. The incremental investment in medical interventions for enrollees living in Miami Beach purchases more time spent in hospitals and intensive care, more encounters with physicians, and more diagnostic tests. Yet evidence of benefit, at least in terms of life expectancy, has not been found in studies of areas with similar disparities of resource allocation and utilization.

The lack of evidence that more is better argues in favor of adopting the patterns of practice and reimbursements now in effect in low reimbursement regions. The case for lower spending can also be based on national priorities: if the level of spending in high reimbursement hospital referral regions, such as Miami Beach, were reduced to the levels in hospital referral regions with low reimbursement rates, total Medicare spending would be considerably reduced, at least for a few years (Figure 1.4). The opposite policy, increasing spending to the level of Miami, would result in fiscal calamity.

### Medicare's AAPCC: Equity, Managed Care and the Minneapolis Benchmark

The history of health care in Minneapolis is the history of managed care itself. Frugal in every sector of Medicare spending (Chapter Three), the Minneapolis hospital referral region provides a cogent example of the economies that can be realized in health care delivery. The per capita size of the physician workforce, the numbers of hospital resources, and Medicare spending (on a price and illness adjusted basis) are all substantially lower in the Minneapolis hospital referral region than the national average, and much lower than in the Miami hospital referral region (which includes the Miami Beach hospital service area).

Ironically, the government's strategy for promoting managed care imposes a stiff penalty on Medicare enrollees living in regions, like Minneapolis, with historically efficient health care systems, because the capitation rate for Medicare enrollees who join managed care organizations is based on the historical per capita Medicare spending in the county where the enrollee lives. The Adjusted Average Per Capita Cost (AAPCC, Medicare's method of determinating capitation payments) for enrollees living in the Miami hospital referral region in 1997 was set at \$8,690; for enrollees living in the Minneapolis hospital referral region it was set at \$4,108. On a price adjusted basis, the AAPCC for Miami is 86% higher than for Minneapolis (\$8,180 versus \$4,403); and on an illness and price adjusted basis, it is 81% higher: \$8,117 versus \$4,478.

In order to attract Medicare participants, managed care companies can elect to expand their benefit packages to include services not available under fee-for-service reimbursements: prescription drugs, hearing aids, and exercise programs, for example. But these additional benefits cost money, and the ability to provide them depends on the capitated rate paid to the managed care company by the Medicare program. The substantial differences in AAPCC for Miami and Minneapolis can result in far different benefit packages that can profitably be offered in the two regions.

The 1997 AAPCC predicts that if managed care plans in Miami achieve the Minneapolis benchmark of spending for the benefits provided under tradition fee-for-service medicine, the companies would realize savings of about \$4,353 (the difference between 95% of \$8,690 and 95% of \$4,108) per enrollee. This saving would then be available for additional benefits such as prescriptions and eyeglasses, while still allowing the managed care companies a comfortable profit (a low "medical loss ratio"). By contrast, for enrollees living in Minneapolis to receive even a nearly similar package of additional benefits (and for managed care companies providing such benefits to make a profit), spending on traditional Medicare benefits would have to drop to an impossible zero.

The value of Medicare's AAPCC thus raises yet another issue in the Which rate is right? debate. If the Minneapolis hospital referral region's level of efficiency is widely

adopted as the standard for managed care, enrollees (and managed care companies) in some parts of the country stand to win, while other regions — those with lower spending — stand to gain little. The equity implications of the variations in the AAPCC in six hospital referral regions are displayed in Figure 7.10. The figure examines the "surplus" in dollars that under current policy would be available in each region for additional benefits for each enrollee, if the historical model of efficiency of the Minneapolis hospital referral region prevailed. The Chapter Seven Table provides estimates for each of the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States.





The figure gives the per enrollee dollars in excess of the amount predicted by the Minneapolis benchmark in each selected region based on the 1997 AAPCC. The price and illness adjusted amounts are also shown.





The estimates in the figure include those based on the 1997 illness and price adjusted AAPCC among hospital referral regions (for a description of this calculation, see the Appendix on Methods).

Figure 7.11 looks at the situation from the perspective of the financial incentives to managed care companies to enter each market. The figure contains estimates of the Medicare dollars to be gained by converting the entire Medicare population from fee-for-service financing to risk bearing managed care. The estimate is based on the average number of enrollees living the region in 1994-95, and includes enrollees in fee-for-service as well as current members of risk bearing health maintenance organizations. For example, the Miami estimate for dollars based on illness and price adjusted AAPCC was obtained by multiplying the per enrollee surplus by the number of enrollees living in the Miami region: \$3,457 x 330,001 = \$1.14 billion.

Maps 7.1 and 7.2 show the location of hospital referral regions with AAPCCs lower and higher than the Minneapolis hospital referral region, and indicate the excess per enrollee amount paid to managed care companies, compared to the Minneapolis benchmark. Map 7.1 is based on the actual 1997 AAPCC, unadjusted for illness or price. Thirty-two regions, primarily in the Upper Midwest and parts of Oregon, Idaho and Montana (light green) had AAPCCs lower than the rate in the Minneapolis hospital referral region. Sixty-two regions had AAPCCs of less than \$500 more than the rate in Minneapolis (cream). One hundred forty-two regions had AAPCCs of \$1,000 or more (oranges and reds). Fifty-one regions, primarily in Massachusetts, New York, Pennsylvania, the Washington-Baltimore area, parts of Florida, Louisiana, Texas and California, had per enrollee payments more than \$2,000 higher than the Minneapolis benchmark (blue).


Map 7.1. Per Enrollee Annual Payment to Managed Care Companies in Excess of the Amount for Enrollees Living in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1997) There were 32 hospital referral regions (light green) with per enrollee AAPCCs lower than the Minneapolis region (blue). The AAPCC exceeded the Minneapolis rate by \$2,000 or more in 51 regions (red); and by \$1,000 or more in 142 regions. Managed Care Payments in Excess of Minneapolis Benchmark (\$4,108 for 1997) by Hospital Referral Region











Washington-Baltimore

Detroit

San Francisco

Chicago

New York



When the estimates are price and illness adjusted (Map 7.2), only 17 regions had AAPCCs lower than the rate in the Minneapolis hospital referral region. One hundred fifty-three regions had AAPCCs more than \$1,000 higher than the Minneapolis hospital referral region. The main effect of price adjustment is to reduce estimates for hospital referral regions in the Northeast and California, where prices are particularly high.



Map 7.2. Price and Illness Adjusted Per Enrollee Annual Payment to Managed Care Companies in Excess of the Amount for Enrollees Living in the Minneapolis Hospital Referral Region (1997) Seventeen hospital referral regions with price and illness adjusted per enrollee AAPCCs equal to or lower than the Minneapolis region (light green). The adjusted AAPCC exceeded the Minneapolis rate by \$2,000 or more in 25 regions (red); and by \$1,000 or more in 153 regions (medium orange to red). The principal effect of price adjustment is to reduce the estimates for regions with higher prevailing prices, and to increase the estimates for regions with lower prevailing prices.

the free the second





New York



Washington-Baltimore

Price Adjusted and Illness Adjusted Managed Care Payments in Excess of Minneapolis Benchmark (\$4,478 for 1997) by Hospital Referral Region



San Francisco

Chicago



Detroit

# V. Focusing the Debate: A Summary Statement

Health care markets in the United States are characterized by wide variations in the supply of hospital beds and physicians, in illness and price adjusted Medicare spending, in rates of hospitalization and surgery, and in the intensity of care during the last six months of life. Practice variations challenge basic assumptions about the nature of the health care economy and theories about how it should be reformed. For decades, the health care debate has taken place against the background assumption that more is better, and that constraint leads inevitably to the rationing of efficacious health care. It is time to re-frame the debate over health care reform to address the fundamental issue of value itself: Which rate is right? How much is enough? and What is fair?

This Atlas suggests certain conclusions and important hypotheses that bear on the debate:

1. Patients should be fully informed about what is known and what is not known about the outcomes of available treatment options, and should be encouraged to choose among those options according to their own preferences.

2. Outcomes research should become part of the everyday practice of medicine, and routine follow up of patients according to treatment choice should be incorporated into strategies to improve the scientific basis for clinical decision making.

3. It is safe for patients and in the public interest to adopt the level of acute hospital capacity, physician supply, and Medicare spending of efficient benchmarks such as New Haven and Minneapolis.

4. In order to achieve fairness in Medicare, spending among regions should be equalized on an illness adjusted basis.

The impact on the health care economy of reform along these lines would be considerable. When informed patients actively participate in the choice of treatment, there is evidence that patients express less demand for invasive treatments than the amount now being provided. Extrapolations into the future show that if Medicare spending in regions with higher rates than Minneapolis were brought down to that benchmark, the depletion of the Medicare trust funds would be avoided or substantially delayed. Indeed, the Minneapolis configuration of resources suggests a level of illness adjusted health care spending for populations of all ages that is far less than the current average for the United States. Within the savings generated by the judicious reduction of resources and spending to the level of such benchmarks, the nation can find the resources to provide access to health care for all Americans. Chapter Seven Table The table provides age, sex, and illness adjusted estimates of acute care hospital beds per 1,000 residents as well as estimates of the price, the illness and the price and illness adjusted AAPCC. Estimates for hospital referral regions (HRRs) are a weighted average of each HRR's constituent counties (weighted according to the relative Medicare population). See Appendix on Methods for details. Estimates for projected surplus on a per enrollee and on an area-wide basis were made according to the formula described above. (See text associated with figures 7.10 and 7.11.)

# CHAPTER SEVEN TABLE

# Estimated 1997 Average Adjusted Per Capita Costs (AAPCC) and Related Statistics for Medicare by Hospital Referral Region (in dollars)

<i>7</i> 66		Adjusted	/	/~	150	1.5ted	Surplus of the	S Lised Pro tend	at supus singles
Q.886110 Ress	and	10551 B8U 1991	insted	AAPC	d hape	S ADU	indige accomation	ss Denoticit nation	losof age in min a lines
Hospital	A9 Set Care	AAPCC	PriceAon	HINGS AL	Piceoc	Unadiust per	ADDIS PICE AC.	Nor Unadiustration	Price at 50 h
Alabama		-						<u> </u>	
Birmingham	3.48	5,835	6,526	5,624	6,290	1,727	1,812	468	491
Dothan	2.99	5,328	6,272	5,283	6,219	1,220	1,741	55	79
Huntsville	2.99	5,060	5,525	5,177	5,652	952	1,174	51	64
Mobile	3.09	6,156	7,032	5,679	6,488	2,047	2,010	172	169
Montgomery	3.23	5,312	6,032	5,233	5,942	1,203	1,465	59	72
Tuscaloosa	3.23	5,289	6,093	5,262	6,063	1,180	1,585	33	45
Alaska									
Anchorage	3.47	5,630	4,681	5,641	4,690	1,522	213	41	6
Arizona									
Mesa	2.07	5,921	5,962	6,346	6,389	1,813	1,912	158	167
Phoenix	2.83	5,425	5,618	5,711	5,915	1,316	1,437	318	347
Sun City	2.49	5,854	5,894	5,933	5,974	1,745	1,496	112	96
Tucson	2.64	5,373	5,841	5,676	6,171	1,265	1,693	152	203
Arkansas									
Fort Smith	3.02	4,711	5,674	5,049	6,081	603	1,604	27	71
Jonesboro	3.13	4,370	5,606	4,216	5,409	262	931	8	29
Little Rock	3.40	4,869	5,885	4,772	5,768	761	1,290	148	251
Springdale	2.31	3,941	4,918	4,091	5,106	-167	628	-8	30
Texarkana	3.31	5,409	6,611	5,095	6,227	1,300	1,749	45	61
California									
Orange Co.	2.39	6,841	5,850	6,819	5,832	2,733	1,354	639	316
Bakersfield	2.28	5,414	5,377	5,579	5,541	1,306	1,063	104	84
Chico	2.23	5,231	5,593	5,139	5,495	1,123	1,017	46	42
Contra Costa Co.	1.76	6,689	5,723	6,893	5,897	2,581	1,419	210	115
Fresno	2.42	4,580	4,652	4,794	4,870	472	392	42	35
Los Angeles	2.69	7,458	6,130	7,216	5,931	3,350	1,453	2,581	1,119
Modesto	2.47	5,442	5,495	5,314	5,365	1,334	887	98	65
Napa	2.60	6,118	6,126	5,844	5,851	2,010	1,373	78	53
Alameda Co.	2.07	6,722	5,657	6,631	5,580	2,614	1,103	346	146
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	2.38	6,230	5,905	6,258	5,932	2,122	1,454	100	69
Redding	2.59	5,348	5,643	5,096	5,376	1,240	899	53	39
Sacramento	1.98	5,694	5,410	5,796	5,506	1,586	1,029	346	224
Salinas	2.19	5,692	5,352	5,711	5,370	1,584	892	54	30
San Bernardino	2.20	6,266	5,941	6,360	6,029	2,158	1,552	456	328
San Diego	2.25	6,119	5,724	6,418	6,004	2,011	1,526	609	462
San Francisco	2.27	6,281	5,071	6,196	5,003	2,172	525	335	81
San Jose	1.94	5,745	4,559	5,723	4,541	1,637	64	203	8
San Luis Obispo	2.35	4,647	4,372	4,566	4,295	539	-182	16	-5
San Mateo Co.	2.25	5,464	4,307	5,527	4,356	1,356	-121	116	-10
Santa Barbara	2.20	4,683	4,252	4,765	4,328	574	-150	27	-7

		usted				. እ	10145 apolis	d Proceeding	a tous apris
18 Regon		Ineshall Beds		AMPCC	d MARCC	S Adiuster wole	ed to Minth	Adjustereenant	cted Minne million
ejita Refe	set are	HOSP PCC (1991	Ce Adjuste	es halliste	e and the	ality a start a	1995 and June	15 015 1 01 115 00 200	d1,05, 01,111,01,11,11,11,11,11,11,11,11,11,11,
403,	Agente	P.P.	Pri29971	11119971	Price	Une no Bench	Priscie Mi	Une Bench	Priecewinner
Santa Cruz	2.04	5,509	4,977	5,480	4,951	1,400	474	35	12
Santa Rosa	1.96	5,661	5,119	5,668	5,125	1,553	647	83	35
Stockton	2.23	5,327	5,210	5,183	5,069	1,219	591	53	26
Ventura	2.14	6,028	5,258	5,892	5,139	1,920	662	129	44
Colorado									
Boulder	2.09	5,141	5,326	5,631	5,834	1,033	1,356	18	24
Colorado Springs	2.69	4,598	5,111	4,920	5,469	490	991	30	61
Denver	2.81	5,281	5,476	5,703	5,914	1,173	1,436	233	285
Fort Collins	2.35	4,722	5,256	4,823	5,368	614	890	15	22
Grand Junction	2.68	4,254	5,085	4,752	5,679	146	1,202	4	36
Greeley	3.02	4,818	5,483	5,122	5,828	710	1,351	21	40
Pueblo	3.41	4,890	5,627	5,407	6,222	782	1,744	17	37
Connecticut									
Bridgeport	2.44	6,008	4,892	6,019	4,900	1,900	422	169	37
Hartford	2.50	5,623	4,836	5,836	5,019	1,514	541	288	103
New Haven	2.40	5,796	4,777	5,615	4,628	1,688	151	300	27
Delaware									
Wilmington	2.41	6,031	5,547	5,801	5,336	1,923	858	145	65
District of Columbia									
Washington	2.70	6,320	5,706	6,279	5,669	2,212	1,191	483	260
Florida									
Bradenton	2.75	5,124	5,533	4,941	5,336	1,016	858	51	43
Clearwater	2.38	6,001	6,387	5,713	6,080	1,893	1,603	206	174
Fort Lauderdale	2.78	7,054	6,787	7,231	6,956	2,946	2,479	1,276	1,073
Fort Myers	2.69	5,765	6,370	5,710	6,310	1,657	1,832	275	304
Gainesville	2.58	5,556	6,317	5,627	6,398	1,448	1,920	80	106
Hudson	2.33	6,341	6,748	6,032	6,420	2,232	1,942	219	191
Jacksonville	3.00	6,042	6,583	5,877	6,403	1,934	1,926	257	256
Lakeland	2.72	4,755	5,371	4,787	5,408	646	930	29	42
	2.99	8,690	8,180	8,623	8,117	4,582	3,639	1,512	1,201
Ocala	2.46	5,085	5,957	5,119	5,997	9//	1,519	84	130
Ornando	2.55	5,734	6,122	5,715	6,102	1,625	1,624	634	633
Ormond Beach	3.02	5,130	5,724	5,083	5,673	1,021	1,195	69	80
	2.80	5,058	0,092	5,055	5,005	1,000	1,412	34	31
Ferisacola	3.10	5,521	0,346	5,215	5,995	1,412	1,518	107	114
St Detersburg	2.31	5,548	0,010	5,007	0,073	1,440	1,590	159	104
St Feleisburg	2.88	0,001	0,387	5,809	0,182	1,093	1,705	100	142
Tamaa	3.27	4,915	5,607	5,122	5,843	807	1,300	59	100
Georgia	2.59	5,944	0,325	3,005	0,029	1,035	1,552	210	104
Albony	2.02	4.024	E E07	E 200	6.007	000	1 540	10	24
Atlanta	2.62	5 000	6 107	6 129	6.249	1 892	1,549	670	630
	2.00	5,590	5.594	5.096	5 525	1,002	1.047	64	65
Columbus	J.00	J,140	5 224	1 720	5,525	507	020	17	32
Macon	3.40	5 360	6.046	5 408	6 100	1 252	1 622	91	118
Rome	2 78	5,000	6 210	5 34/	6 381	1 002	1 903	33	58
NUME	2.10	0,201	0,210	0,044	0,001	1,032	1,303	55	50

And and a strategy of the strategy of t			des.				,	olus apolie	Pro coldi	19 1997) dus opiis
Appendix	a Region		ness albeds		AAPCC	ARCC	Adjusted	eded Sufficience	s Adjuster and Addition of the	ected Minnillons
Avail    Avail <th< td=""><td>ital Peleric</td><td>Set are</td><td>1050HL (199</td><td>Adjusted</td><td>a' shillst</td><td>and inse</td><td>iusted Pro</td><td>Sold 1991 and Inc</td><td>Pus is de la provinsie de la provinsie de la provinsie de la pois de la provinsie de la provin</td><td>ordinger and support</td></th<>	ital Peleric	Set are	1050HL (199	Adjusted	a' shillst	and inse	iusted Pro	Sold 1991 and Inc	Pus is de la provinsie de la provinsie de la provinsie de la pois de la provinsie de la provin	ordinger and support
avanah    3.10    5,545    6,256    5,111    5,766    1,436    1,288    102    91      avaii    u    u    u    u    u    u      anollulu    2.29    4,458    4,008    4,443    4,076    3.49    -4.02    A7    -5.44      abse    2.74    3,855    4,411    4,102    4,786    -2.53    318    -18    22      bin Falls    3,48    3,957    4,416    4,223    5,022    -152    5,443    9    16    13    0      ue Island    2,55    6,650    6,113    6,334    6,324    2,541    938    2,70    106      ue Island    2,19    5,598    5,152    6,443    5,000    1,490    523    66    13    0      ue Island    1,33    5,545    6,544    5,309    5,215    1,334    296    161      ue Island    1,33    5,545    5,544    5,305	HOSPI	Agente	AAPO	Priceri	linest	PINPOCT	Unaditollerch	Price teo Mir	Unacidation of	Price dec Ninnen
awaii    2.29    4.48    4.098    4.43    4.076    349    -4.02    4.7    -54      bio	Savannah	3.10	5,545	6,256	5,111	5,766	1,436	1,288	102	91
analula2.294.484.084.434.0763.494.024.707.54aboabse2.743.854.704.235.02-1525.16-182.72ab Falls3.483.9574.704.235.02-1525.54-139inois4.104.927.101.344.081.043.05ue Island2.556.6506.1315.5085.0501.1449862.701.08anston2.496.5636.0516.3035.0112.4521.3342.961.61insidae1.305.5695.1355.0444.881.4412.104.87ieldee Bark2.665.7265.8346.3792.7419013111.31opinal3.164.3655.7024.2874.8493.233.933.123.93ieldee Bark2.665.7265.8345.7372.7419013111.313.943.933.93opinal3.164.3865.7275.7345.731.4433.923.933.16opinal3.164.3865.7275.7341.7431.4432.247.7opinal3.164.8354.7574.8493.133.942.22.77opinal3.174.8425.5615.5211.1371.0443.933.91opinal<	Hawaii									
Jaho    viet    viet    viet    viet    viet    viet      pisse    2.74    3.855    4.411    4.192    4.796    -2c3    318    1.18    22      hab Falls    3.48    3.957    4.705    4.223    5.022    -152    544    3    9      intois    vietsiand    2.55    6.650    6.11    5.98    5.475    2.241    9.86    360      gin    2.19    5.588    5.152    5.423    5.001    1.440    523    6.66    2.3      anaston    2.49    6.563    6.051    5.034    5.039    1.461    210    48    7      viet    3.16    5.785    5.135    5.044    4.681    35    203    3    188      opingita    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    268    577    35    72      biet    3.16    4.133    4.645    4.175    4.681    35    203 </td <td>Honolulu</td> <td>2.29</td> <td>4,458</td> <td>4,089</td> <td>4,443</td> <td>4,076</td> <td>349</td> <td>-402</td> <td>47</td> <td>-54</td>	Honolulu	2.29	4,458	4,089	4,443	4,076	349	-402	47	-54
bise    2,74    3,855    4,411    4,192    4,796    -253    316    -18    22      aho Falls    3,48    3,957    4,705    4,705    4,705    4,705    4,705    4,705    4,705    4,705    161    13    0      ue Island    2,55    6,660    6,131    5,938    5,475    2,541    996    270    106      ineago    4,21    6,711    6,188    6,314    5,822    2,803    1,344    696    360      araston    2,49    6,663    6,051    6,303    5,205    1,404    728    161    131    131      inscile    3,10    5,548    5,379    2,141    901    311    131    131      inscile    3,16    4,396    5,072    4,497    2,81    353    35    72      thana    2,97    4,139    4,045    4,980    31    483    2    27      thana    2,97 <t< td=""><td>Idaho</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	Idaho									
ahb Falls  3.48  3.957  4.705  4.223  5.022  -152  5.44  -3  9    intois	Boise	2.74	3,855	4,411	4,192	4,796	-253	318	-18	22
linois    virtua    2.73    4.898    4.516    4.874    4.494    4.494    6.713    5.00    1.00    13    0      urbara    2.55    6.650    6.131    5.938    5.475    2.541    998    2.70    106      hicago    4.21    6.711    6.188    6.314    5.822    2.603    1.344    696    360      gin    2.19    5.588    6.051    6.303    5.811    2.465    1.334    266    161      instale    1.33    5.569    5.752    5.834    5.205    1.640    728    81    36      elrose Park    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    111    131      soria    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    2.7    454      cohdrod    3.10    4.143    4.404    4.138    4.07    4.881    35    203    31    442	Idaho Falls	3.48	3,957	4,705	4,223	5,022	-152	544	-3	9
uiron    2.73    4.888    4.516    4.874    4.494    769    16    13    0      ue Island    2.55    6.650    6.131    5.938    5.475    2.541    998    270    106      gin    2.19    5.598    5.162    5.423    5.000    1.490    523    66    23      araston    2.49    6.563    6.051    6.303    5.811    2.465    1.334    296    111      insdale    1.30    5.569    5.135    5.004    4.888    1.461    210    48    77      leit    3.10    6.748    5.563    5.399    5.205    1.640    73    41    931    131    131      ockford    3.10    4.133    4.645    4.175    4.861    331    483    22    72      toam    2.97    4.139    5.038    4.075    4.960    31    483    22    72      toamsingingleid    3.47    4.6	Illinois									
ue Island    2.55    6.650    6.131    5,938    5,475    2.541    998    270    106      hineago    4.21    6,711    6,188    6,314    5,822    2,603    1,344    696    360      gin    2.49    6,563    6,051    6,033    5,811    2,455    1,334    296    161      insdale    1.93    5,569    5,135    5,084    4,868    1,461    210    48    7      olices Park    2,65    6,250    5,762    5,834    5,379    2,141    901    311    31      soria    3,16    4,396    5,072    4,287    4,947    286    503    35    72      optingfield    2,98    4,377    5,147    4,281    5,034    288    567    353    475      optingfield    2,98    4,704    4,282    4,919    31    442    1    86      origingle    2,47    4,947    4,284    4,9	Aurora	2.73	4,898	4,516	4,874	4,494	789	16	13	0
hicago4.216.7116.1886.3145.8222.6031.3446.696360gin2.195.5985.1625.4235.0001.4905236623araston2.496.5636.0516.3035.8112.4551.3342.96161insdale1.305.7485.6365.3095.2051.6407288136elrose Park2.656.2505.7625.8345.3792.141901311131opria3.164.3965.7724.2874.947287469277453opringfield2.984.3775.1474.2815.0342685573572baran2.974.1395.0384.0754.96031483227opringfield2.984.3775.1474.2815.0342685573572damapolis2.474.1395.034.0965.2975348195381ordifan2.974.1395.4055.1975.5211.8731.04310860damapolis3.174.6425.5405.1975.5211.8731.04310860damapolis2.885.1515.7425.5711.8731.0431086464uncie2.824.8995.5134.6995.444580977132228unrole2.8	Blue Island	2.55	6,650	6,131	5,938	5,475	2,541	998	270	106
gin    2.19    5.588    5.162    5.423    5.000    1.490    523    668    23      vanstom    2.49    6.563    6.051    6.303    5.811    2.455    1.334    296    161      niet    3.10    5.748    5.636    5.309    5.205    1.640    728    81    36      elrose Park    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    131      soria    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    27    455      ockbord    3.10    4.143    4.445    4.175    4.881    553    35    72      osmington    2.47    4.39    6.033    4.913    3442    1    81      oringfield    2.97    4.139    6.533    5.297    534    819    53    81      arswille    3.17    4.642    5.350    4.565    5.297    1.043    1041	Chicago	4.21	6,711	6,188	6,314	5,822	2,603	1,344	696	360
araston    2.49    6.663    6.031    6.303    5.811    2.455    1.334    266    161      insdale    1.93    5.599    5.135    5.084    4.688    1.461    210    48    7      ieides    3.10    5.759    5.636    5.309    5.205    1.640    728    811    36      elose Park    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    131      aoria    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    27    45      ockford    3.10    4.143    4.645    4.175    4.861    35    203    3    18      pringfield    2.98    4.377    5.147    4.828    4.919    31    442    1    88      dianapoils    2.46    4.108    4.609    4.284    4.806    0    328    0    32      pridy    4.22    5.892    6.333 <td< td=""><td>Elgin</td><td>2.19</td><td>5,598</td><td>5,162</td><td>5,423</td><td>5,000</td><td>1,490</td><td>523</td><td>66</td><td>23</td></td<>	Elgin	2.19	5,598	5,162	5,423	5,000	1,490	523	66	23
insclale    1.83    5.669    5.135    5.084    4.668    1.461    210    48    7      viliet    3.10    5.748    5.636    5.309    5.205    1.640    728    8.1    36      viliet    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    131      ockford    3.10    4.143    4.645    4.175    4.681    35    203    3    18      opringfield    2.88    4.377    5.147    4.281    5.034    2.68    557    35    72      than    2.97    4.139    5.038    4.075    4.960    31    442    1    8      origination    2.47    4.139    5.038    4.596    5.297    534    819    53    81      origination    3.17    4.642    5.350    4.596    5.517    1.643    1.143    304    324      dianapolis    2.86    4.108    4.609	Evanston	2.49	6,563	6,051	6,303	5,811	2,455	1,334	296	161
Niet    3.10    5.748    5.636    5.309    5.205    1.640    7.28    8.1    36      elrose Park    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    131      soria    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    27    45      sorkind    3.10    4.143    4.645    4.175    4.861    35    203    3    18      pringfield    2.98    4.377    5.147    4.281    5.034    268    557    35    72      oomington    2.47    4.139    5.038    4.075    4.960    31    483    2    27      oomington    2.47    4.139    5.030    4.526    5.297    534    819    53    811      ort Wayne    2.86    4.108    4.609    4.284    4.806    0    328    0    322      ary    4.22    5.882    6.513    4.6	Hinsdale	1.93	5,569	5,135	5,084	4,688	1,461	210	48	7
elrose Park    2.65    6.250    5.762    5.834    5.379    2.141    901    311    131      soria    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    27    45      ockford    3.10    4.143    4.645    4.175    4.681    3.5    203    3    18      oringfield    2.98    4.377    5.147    4.221    5.034    268    5.7    35    72      ooringfor    2.47    4.139    4.704    4.328    4.919    31    442    1    8      diana    2.97    4.139    4.704    4.328    4.919    31    442    1    8      vitain    3.17    4.642    5.350    4.596    5.297    534    819    53    81      vitain    4.22    5.952    6.33    5.215    1.873    1.043    108    60      vitain    2.82    5.962    5.010    152    532	Joliet	3.10	5,748	5,636	5,309	5,205	1,640	728	81	36
senia    3.16    4.396    5.072    4.287    4.947    287    469    27    45      bockkord    3.10    4.143    4.645    4.175    4.681    35    203    3    18      opringfield    2.98    4.377    5.147    4.281    5.034    268    557    35    72      opringfield    2.97    4.139    5.038    4.075    4.960    31    442    1    8      diana    2.47    4.139    4.704    4.328    4.919    31    442    1    8      dianapolis    2.46    4.108    4.609    5.297    5.34    819    5.3    81      ort Wayne    2.86    4.108    4.609    5.215    1.673    1.042    1.113    304    324      dianapolis    2.88    5.151    5.540    5.910    1.52    532    4    12      uncie    2.82    4.689    5.713    4.645    5.010 <td< td=""><td>Melrose Park</td><td>2.65</td><td>6,250</td><td>5,762</td><td>5,834</td><td>5,379</td><td>2,141</td><td>901</td><td>311</td><td>131</td></td<>	Melrose Park	2.65	6,250	5,762	5,834	5,379	2,141	901	311	131
Ockford    3.10    4,143    4,645    4,175    4,681    35    203    3    18      pringfield    2,98    4,377    5,147    4,281    5,034    268    557    35    72      brana    2,97    4,139    5,038    4,075    4,960    31    483    2    27      oomington    2.47    4,139    4,704    4,328    4,919    31    442    1    8      cilana	Peoria	3.16	4,396	5,072	4,287	4,947	287	469	27	45
pringfield    2.98    4.377    5,147    4.281    5,034    268    557    35    72      tbana    2.97    4,139    5,038    4,075    4,960    31    483    2    27      oomington    2.47    4,139    4,004    4,328    4,919    31    483    2    27      oomington    2.47    4,139    4,004    4,328    4,919    31    442    1    8      diana	Rockford	3.10	4,143	4,645	4,175	4,681	35	203	3	18
thana    2.97    4,139    5,038    4,075    4,960    31    443    2    27      loomington    2.47    4,139    4,704    4,328    4,919    31    442    1    8      diana	Springfield	2.98	4,377	5,147	4,281	5,034	268	557	35	72
oomington    2.47    4,139    4,704    4,328    4,919    31    442    1    8      cliana	Urbana	2.97	4,139	5,038	4,075	4,960	31	483	2	27
Idiana    Visit    Visit <t< td=""><td>Bloomington</td><td>2.47</td><td>4,139</td><td>4,704</td><td>4,328</td><td>4,919</td><td>31</td><td>442</td><td>1</td><td>8</td></t<>	Bloomington	2.47	4,139	4,704	4,328	4,919	31	442	1	8
yanswille    3.17    4.642    5.350    4.596    5.297    534    819    53    81      prt Wayne    2.86    4.108    4.609    4.284    4.806    0    328    0    32      ary    4.22    5.982    6.333    5.215    5.521    1.873    1.043    108    60      dianapolis    2.88    5.151    5.540    5.197    5.590    1.042    1.113    304    324      ifayette    2.39    4.260    5.010    152    532    4    12      uncie    2.82    4.689    5.513    4.639    5.454    580    977    13    22      unster    4.02    6.479    6.715    5.723    5.932    2.371    1.454    99    61      puth Bend    3.16    4.422    4.855    4.564    5.011    313    534    26    45      puth Bend    3.06    4.827    5.572    4.759    5.494	Indiana									
vit Wayne  2.86  4,108  4,609  4,224  4,806  0  3.28  0  3.22    ary  4.22  5,982  6,333  5,215  5,521  1,873  1,043  108  60    dianapolis  2.88  5,151  5,540  5,197  5,590  1,042  1,113  304  324    uncie  2.39  4,260  5,004  4,265  5,010  152  532  4  12    uncie  2.82  4,689  5,513  4,639  5,454  580  977  13  22    unster  4.02  6,479  6,715  5,723  5,932  2,371  1,454  99  61    puth Bend  3.15  4,422  4,855  4,564  5,011  313  533  20  28    wa  06  4,827  5,572  4,759  5,494  718  1,017  20  28    wa  016  3.07  4,827  4,763  7  286  13  308  13  20  37    seb	Evansville	3.17	4,642	5,350	4,596	5,297	534	819	53	81
ary  4.22  5.982  6.333  5.215  5.521  1.873  1.043  108  60    dianapolis  2.88  5.151  5.540  5.197  5.590  1.042  1.113  304  324    afayette  2.39  4.260  5.004  4.265  5.010  152  532  4  12    uncie  2.82  4.689  5.513  4.639  5.454  580  977  13  22    unster  4.02  6.479  6.715  5.723  5.932  2.371  1.454  99  61    outh Bend  3.15  4.422  4.855  4.564  5.011  313  534  26  45    outh Bend  3.16  4.422  4.855  4.564  5.011  313  534  26  45    ware  3.06  4.827  5.572  4.759  5.494  718  1.017  20  28    ware  3.05  4.331  3.772  4.289  -192  -188  -7  -7  -7    avenport  3	Fort Wayne	2.86	4,108	4,609	4,284	4,806	0	328	0	32
dianapoils    2.88    5,151    5,440    5,197    5,990    1,042    1,113    304    324      afayette    2.39    4,260    5,004    4,265    5,010    152    532    4    12      uncie    2.82    4,689    5,513    4,639    5,454    580    977    13    22      unster    4.02    6,479    6,715    5,723    5,932    2,371    1,454    99    61      outh Bend    3.15    4,422    4,855    4,564    5,011    313    534    26    45      ware Haute    3.06    4,827    5,572    4,759    5,494    718    1,017    20    28      ware haute    3.06    4,483    3,772    4,289    -192    -188    -7    -7    7      avenport    3.05    4,446    3,760    4,291    -212    -187    -5    -4      wa City    2.97    3,995    4,831    3,965	Gary	4.22	5,982	6,333	5,215	5,521	1,873	1,043	108	60
atagyette  2.39  4,260  5,004  4,265  5,010  152  5.32  4  12    uncie  2.82  4,689  5,513  4,639  5,454  580  977  13  22    unster  4.02  6,479  6,715  5,723  5,932  2,371  1,454  99  61    outh Bend  3.15  4,422  4,855  4,564  5,011  313  534  26  45    wata  3.06  4,827  5,572  4,759  5,494  718  1,017  20  28    wata	Indianapolis	2.88	5,151	5,540	5,197	5,590	1,042	1,113	304	324
Uncle    2.82    4,639    5,713    4,639    5,454    560    977    13    22      unster    4.02    6,479    6,715    5,723    5,932    2,371    1,454    99    61      outh Bend    3.15    4,422    4,855    4,564    5,011    313    534    26    45      ware    3.06    4,827    5,572    4,759    5,494    718    1,017    20    28      wwa	Lafayette	2.39	4,260	5,004	4,265	5,010	152	532	4	12
Unster  4.02  6,779  6,773  5,723  5,952  2,371  1,454  99  61    buth Bend  3.15  4,422  4,855  4,564  5,011  313  534  26  45    prre Haute  3.06  4,827  5,572  4,759  5,494  718  1,017  20  28    wa  vanue  vanu	Muncle	2.82	4,689	5,513	4,639	5,454	580	977	13	22
Juli Bendi    3.13    4,422    4,853    4,964    5,011    313    534    26    43      arre Haute    3.06    4,827    5,572    4,759    5,494    718    1,017    20    28      wa        5,572    4,759    5,494    718    1,017    20    28      wa       3.05    4,394    5,026    4,381    5,011    286    533    20    37      es Moines    3.26    4,115    4,839    4,051    4,763    7    286    1    40      ubuque    3.00    3,896    4,446    3,760    4,291    -212    -187    -5    -4      wa City    2.97    3,995    4,831    3,965    4,795    -113    318    -5    13      ason City    3.37    3,742    4,730    4,011    5,070    -366    593    -10    16      oux City	South Dood	4.02	0,479	0,710	5,723	5,932	2,371	1,404	99	01
Internation  3.06  4.827  5.572  4.739  5.434  718  1.017  20  28    wwa		3.15	4,422	4,800	4,004	5,011	313	017	20	40
Ard    Strict    Strict <td></td> <td>3.00</td> <td>4,027</td> <td>5,572</td> <td>4,759</td> <td>5,494</td> <td>710</td> <td>1,017</td> <td>20</td> <td>20</td>		3.00	4,027	5,572	4,759	5,494	710	1,017	20	20
coda Rapids    5.72    5,870    4,953    5,772    4,203    132    140    1    1      avenport    3.05    4,394    5,026    4,381    5,011    286    533    20    37      es Moines    3.26    4,115    4,839    4,051    4,763    7    286    1    40      ubuque    3.00    3,896    4,446    3,760    4,291    -212    -187    -5    -4      wa City    2.97    3,995    4,831    3,965    4,795    -113    318    -5    13      ason City    3.37    3,742    4,730    4,011    5,070    -366    593    -10    16      oux City    3.42    3,838    4,732    4,045    4,987    -270    510    -11    21      aterloo    2.97    4,181    4,837    4,231    4,896    72    418    2    13      ansas	Cedar Banida	3 72	3 916	4 453	3 772	1 280	-102	-188	-7	-7
Andriport  3.00  4,054  4,051  4,051  200  303  20  37    es Moines  3.26  4,115  4,839  4,051  4,763  7  286  1  40    ubuque  3.00  3,896  4,446  3,760  4,291  -212  -187  -5  -4    wa City  2.97  3,995  4,831  3,965  4,795  -113  318  -5  13    ason City  3.37  3,742  4,730  4,011  5,070  -366  593  -10  16    oux City  3.42  3,838  4,732  4,045  4,987  -270  510  -11  21    aterloo  2.97  4,181  4,837  4,231  4,896  72  418  2  13    ansas  Jopeka  2.86  4,375  5,138  4,530  5,321  266  843  15  47    ichita  3.56  4,784  5,808  5,008  6,079  676  1,602  119  283    entucky  Jo	Davennort	3.05	4 304	5,026	4 381	5,203	286	522	-1	37
00 method  0.120  1,110  1,000  1,001  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000  1,000	Des Moines	3.26	4 115	4 839	4 051	4 763	200	286	1	40
And City    2.97    3.995    4.831    3.965    4.795    -113    318    -5    13      ason City    3.37    3.742    4.730    4.011    5.070    -366    593    -10    16      ioux City    3.42    3.838    4.732    4.045    4.987    -270    510    -11    21      faterloo    2.97    4.181    4.837    4.231    4.896    72    418    2    13      ansas    Depeka    2.86    4.375    5.138    4.530    5.321    266    843    15    47      itchia    3.56    4.784    5.808    5.008    6.079    676    1.602    119    283      entucky    U    U    U    U    U    U    U    U    U      ovington    2.51    5.274    5.419    5.067    5.207    1.165    729    43    27      exington    2.94    4.670    5.493    <	Dubuque	3.00	3,896	4,446	3,760	4,291	-212	-187	-5	-4
ason City  3.37  3,742  4,730  4,011  5,070  -366  593  -10  16    oux City  3.42  3,838  4,732  4,045  4,987  -270  510  -11  21    aterioo  2.97  4,181  4,837  4,231  4,896  72  418  2  13    ansas	Iowa City	2.97	3,995	4,831	3,965	4,795	-113	318	-5	13
And Angle	Mason City	3.37	3.742	4,730	4.011	5.070	-366	593	-10	16
Internation	Sioux City	3.42	3.838	4,732	4.045	4,987	-270	510	-11	21
Ansas    Ansas <th< td=""><td>Waterloo</td><td>2.97</td><td>4,181</td><td>4,837</td><td>4,231</td><td>4,896</td><td>72</td><td>418</td><td>2</td><td>13</td></th<>	Waterloo	2.97	4,181	4,837	4,231	4,896	72	418	2	13
Oppeka    2.86    4,375    5,138    4,530    5,321    266    843    15    47      ichita    3.56    4,784    5,808    5,008    6,079    676    1,602    119    283      entucky    vington    2.51    5,274    5,419    5,067    5,207    1,165    729    43    27      exington    2.94    4,670    5,493    4,661    5,482    562    1,005    85    153      ouisville    3.03    5,359    5,946    5,269    5.846    1,251    1,368    237    259	Kansas		,	,	,	,				
State    State <th< td=""><td>Topeka</td><td>2.86</td><td>4,375</td><td>5,138</td><td>4,530</td><td>5,321</td><td>266</td><td>843</td><td>15</td><td>47</td></th<>	Topeka	2.86	4,375	5,138	4,530	5,321	266	843	15	47
entucky    2.51    5,274    5,419    5,067    5,207    1,165    729    43    27      exington    2.94    4,670    5,493    4,661    5,482    562    1,005    85    153      exingtion    3.03    5,359    5,946    5,269    5.846    1,251    1,368    237    259	Wichita	3.56	4,784	5,808	5,008	6,079	676	1,602	119	283
ovington    2.51    5,274    5,419    5,067    5,207    1,165    729    43    27      exington    2.94    4,670    5,493    4,661    5,482    562    1,005    85    153      ouisville    3.03    5,359    5,946    5,269    5.846    1,251    1,368    237    259	Kentucky				-					
exington 2.94 4,670 5,493 4,661 5,482 562 1,005 85 153	Covington	2.51	5,274	5,419	5,067	5,207	1,165	729	43	27
Duisville 3.03 5,359 5,946 5,269 5.846 1,251 1,368 237 259	Lexington	2.94	4,670	5,493	4,661	5,482	562	1,005	85	153
, , , , , , , , , ,	Louisville	3.03	5,359	5,946	5,269	5,846	1,251	1,368	237	259

		( iusted	1	,	15	1.00	(	ted proceeding	at upus off
18rd Regon	AN AN AN	Ines Alleds		d ANPCC	ed AAPCC Ines	Adjuste	Jected So Mill	Adjust lies main	eted Shinn nillo
LUSPIN PS	Set al	NO. NACCHOS	Orice Adjust	unes holi	orice and has	Inadiustee a	Pice and Sur	espolit radiusteo ac	Price and Suppl
τ.	T ACO	4	1,403	1.103	"PA"	0 tr. 48.	. 16.10.	0 42 88.	le Will I
Owensboro	2.98	4,559	5,443	4,735	5,653	450	1,176	8	21
Paducah	3.43	4,849	5,942	4,558	5,585	741	1,108	42	63
Louisiana				= 00/		( 050	4 500	10	
Alexandria	3.83	5,378	6,448	5,061	6,068	1,270	1,590	43	54
Baton Rouge	2.93	6,576	7,377	6,259	7,021	2,468	2,544	177	183
Houma	3.11	6,444	7,574	5,696	6,694	2,335	2,217	54	51
Lafayette	4.03	5,368	6,309	5,225	6,141	1,260	1,663	74	98
Lake Charles	3.88	5,923	6,681	5,752	6,488	1,815	2,011	48	53
Metairie	3.38	7,591	7,971	7,254	7,617	3,483	3,140	165	149
Monroe	4.22	5,995	7,201	5,967	7,167	1,887	2,689	64	92
New Orleans	4.35	7,591	7,790	7,089	7,275	3,483	2,797	317	254
Shreveport	3.91	5,197	6,014	5,259	6,085	1,089	1,607	92	136
Slidell	3.08	7,143	7,874	6,610	7,286	3,035	2,808	49	45
Maine									
Bangor	2.66	4,058	4,581	4,210	4,754	-51	276	-3	15
Portland	2.76	4,371	4,653	4,606	4,903	263	425	34	55
Maryland									
Baltimore	2.47	6,729	6,375	6,394	6,057	2,621	1,580	731	440
Salisbury	2.98	4,911	5,248	5,010	5,354	803	877	42	46
Takoma Park	2.29	6,459	5,535	6,403	5,487	2,351	1,009	157	68
Massachusetts									
Boston	2.46	6,537	5,798	6,479	5,747	2,429	1,269	1,443	754
Springfield	2.89	5,130	5,060	5,305	5,233	1,022	755	105	78
Worcester	2.18	6,329	5,585	6,542	5,773	2,221	1,295	214	125
Michigan									
Ann Arbor	2.55	6,696	6,275	6,576	6,162	2,588	1,685	344	224
Dearborn	3.23	7,660	6,884	7,043	6,330	3,551	1,852	263	137
Detroit	3.46	7,237	6,504	6,631	5,959	3,129	1,482	731	346
Flint	3.36	7,094	6,720	6,830	6,470	2,986	1,992	173	116
Grand Rapids	2.48	4,519	4,718	4,807	5,019	410	541	46	61
Kalamazoo	3.04	4,893	5,116	4,925	5,150	785	672	61	52
Lansing	3.02	5,431	5,659	5,463	5,693	1,322	1,216	89	82
Marquette	3.56	4,754	5,349	4,843	5,450	645	972	21	32
Muskegon	2.88	4,482	4,639	4,908	5,080	374	602	13	21
Petoskey	2.93	4,620	5,198	4,507	5,072	512	594	13	15
Pontiac	2.61	7,229	6,497	7,013	6,303	3,120	1,825	114	67
Royal Oak	2.53	7,219	6,488	6,916	6,216	3,110	1,738	256	143
Saginaw	3.32	5,273	5,507	5,181	5,410	1,165	933	110	88
St Joseph	3.05	4,995	5,350	4,695	5,029	887	551	17	11
Traverse City	2.84	5,068	5,703	4,732	5,324	960	847	30	27
Minnesota									
Duluth	2.96	3,889	4,334	3,806	4,242	-219	-236	-12	-13
Minneapolis	2.67	4,108	4,403	4,178	4,478	0	0	0	0
Rochester	2.92	4,066	4,501	4,129	4,571	-43	94	-2	5
St Cloud	3.05	3,583	4,068	3,720	4,223	-525	-255	-13	-7
St Paul	2.54	4,677	4,596	4,928	4,843	569	365	54	35

		69,					us poli	3 Procordi	19 997 us oils
Rejor		Ress Beds	/	NRCC	APCC	Adjusted	ected Surphinee	-SAULSEO BERNAM	cced Suppressions
Referror	cet and	1050H2 (1991	Adjuste	dh house	and ine	si sted pro	ond (1997) and III	est bet de la participation de la participatio	ordinger and unes
HOSPILL	Age Je Co.	ARCC .	Price 1	1111855	PilePCC	Unadioneech	Pice ted I	ine Unadition	Pice ced est
Mississippi						-   ·			·
Gulfport	3.55	6,746	7,625	6,542	7,394	2,638	2,916	50	55
Hattiesburg	4.05	5,388	6,733	5,494	6,867	1,280	2,389	41	77
Jackson	4.11	4,904	5,817	4,947	5,867	796	1,389	95	166
Meridian	3.82	4,728	5,908	4,547	5,682	619	1,205	17	32
Oxford	3.89	4,604	5,753	4,348	5,433	495	956	9	16
Tupelo	3.67	4,378	5,465	4,560	5,691	270	1,214	12	55
Missouri									
Cape Girardeau	3.25	3,945	5,067	3,989	5,123	-163	646	-6	25
Columbia	3.02	4,859	6,095	4,796	6,016	751	1,538	67	137
Joplin	3.04	4,552	5,743	4,527	5,711	444	1,233	23	65
Kansas City	2.97	5,422	5,951	5,346	5,866	1,314	1,389	337	356
Springfield	3.16	4,334	5,340	4,551	5,609	225	1,131	24	122
St Louis	3.27	5,474	5,924	5,308	5,745	1,365	1,267	576	534
Montana									
Billings	3.36	4,092	4,867	4,181	4,973	-16	495	-1	31
Great Falls	3.56	4,561	5,527	4,357	5,280	453	802	9	16
Missoula	3.23	4,188	5,119	4,313	5,272	79	795	3	34
Nebraska									
Lincoln	3.85	3,405	4,327	3,610	4,588	-704	111	-56	9
Omaha	3.63	4,320	5,273	4,391	5,359	212	882	33	137
Nevada									
Las Vegas	2.41	6,059	5,845	5,753	5,549	1,951	1,072	231	127
Reno	3.50	5,015	5,053	5,373	5,414	906	937	57	59
New Hampshire									
Lebanon	3.36	4,315	4,669	4,713	5,100	207	622	11	34
Manchester	2.58	4,765	4,466	4,894	4,587	657	109	56	9
New Jersey									
Camden	2.93	6,183	5,564	5,941	5,346	2,075	868	757	317
Hackensack	3.48	6,199	5,038	6,088	4,948	2,091	470	337	76
Morristown	2.88	5,773	4,723	5,777	4,726	1,664	248	177	26
New Brunswick	2.92	6,125	5,049	6,274	5,172	2,017	694	201	69
Newark	4.93	6,350	5,201	6,049	4,954	2,241	477	398	85
Paterson	3.66	5,830	4,733	5,434	4,411	1,722	-66	72	-3
Ridgewood	3.07	6,165	5,071	6,113	5,028	2,057	550	92	25
New Mexico									
Albuquerque	3.22	4,183	4,686	4,834	5,416	74	938	10	130
New York							4.15		0.5
Albany	3.26	4,708	4,668	4,662	4,623	600	145	145	35
Binghamton	2.83	4,337	4,563	4,511	4,745	229	267	13	15
Bronx	4.96	8,472	6,645	8,704	6,827	4,363	2,349	488	263
Buttalo	3.48	4,743	4,843	4,698	4,796	635	319	137	69
Eimira	3.44	4,199	4,559	4,206	4,566	91	88	5	5
East Long Island	3.34	7,240	5,614	7,130	5,529	3,132	1,051	1,695	569
	4.62	8,510	0,073	8,496	0,002	4,402	2,184	2,167	1,075
Kochester	2.99	4,653	4,633	4,787	4,766	545	289	86	45

		Ś					us offs	pro ordin	
REGOL		-S- Aduster	/	RCC	RCC	Ndiusted	ted SUIDIL RESP	Adjusted to accult	ed Supple and the sup
asterialt	and	Hospital 199	() juster	JAAN just	ed Arr	a der	secting 1	St Fritenci ed Pr	olection of the second se
Hospital	ADETTE	, and a second	orice AOI	unes AU	Price and riss	(1) adjustice a	Price art Suit	heat hadiese ac	nalt Pice and Sun
` ·	, <i>b</i> ₀ ,		. 43.	. (13.	. Ph.	- ×. &.	7.0	·	I. M. W.
Syracuse	3.17	4,282	4,437	4,317	4,474	1/4	-4	23	-1
North Carolina	3.28	6,534	5,262	0,472	5,212	2,420	734	325	90
Asheville	2.62	4 201	4 920	4 702	5 507	03	1.029	0	0/
Charlotte	2.02	4,201	5,008	4,702	5 273	466	795	90	153
Durham	2.83	4 410	4 964	4 653	5 237	302	759	44	110
Greensboro	2.56	4.564	5.016	4,751	5,222	456	744	29	47
Greenville	2.72	4,550	5,428	4.511	5,381	442	903	37	76
Hickory	2.93	4,398	5,049	4,833	5,549	289	1,072	9	33
Raleigh	2.37	4,780	5,310	4,911	5,456	671	978	89	130
Wilmington	2.57	4,969	5,567	4,854	5,438	860	960	35	39
Winston-Salem	2.46	4,649	5,194	4,714	5,266	541	789	67	97
North Dakota									
Bismarck	4.97	4,221	5,245	4,239	5,269	112	791	4	25
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	3.08	3,693	4,461	3,787	4,574	-416	97	-30	7
Grand Forks	4.20	3,823	4,659	4,106	5,003	-285	525	-7	13
Minot	5.40	4,146	5,346	4,215	5,434	38	957	1	19
Ohio									
Akron	2.47	6,222	6,378	5,946	6,096	2,113	1,618	192	147
Canton	2.94	4,530	5,092	4,617	5,190	422	713	37	62
Cincinnati	2.70	5,503	5,729	5,362	5,582	1,395	1,104	258	204
Cleveland	3.07	6,244	6,244	6,086	6,085	2,136	1,608	647	487
Columbus	2.82	5,016	5,538	4,975	5,493	908	1,015	273	306
Dayton	3.19	5,041	5,433	5,106	5,503	933	1,026	132	145
Elyria	2.77	5,813	5,758	5,191	5,141	1,705	664	51	20
Kettering	2.75	5,278	5,503	5,394	5,624	1,170	1,147	55	54
Toledo	2.90	6,063	6,442	6,034	6,412	1,954	1,934	246	243
Youngstown	3.11	5,937	6,645	5,974	6,686	1,829	2,208	213	257
Oklahoma									
Lawton	4.07	4,415	5,258	4,598	5,475	307	998	7	24
Oklahoma City	3.25	4,770	5,490	4,807	5,533	662	1,055	138	220
Tulsa	3.00	4,825	5,540	5,121	5,879	717	1,402	110	216
Oregon		1.0					0.5-5		
Bend	3.09	4,066	4,703	4,111	4,755	-42	278	-1	6
Eugene	2.19	4,136	4,716	4,351	4,961	28	483	3	44
Medford	2.53	3,917	4,341	4,132	4,580	-191	103	-12	7
Portland	2.12	4,470	4,705	4,617	4,860	362	382	91	96
Salem	2.15	3,827	4,257	3,965	4,411	-281	-67	-10	-2
Pennsylvania	0.70	0.007	0.001	5.004	5 001	4.000	4.464	000	000
Allentown	2.72	6,037	6,024	5,894	5,881	1,929	1,404	302	220
Altoona	2.86	5,551	6,388	5,561	6,399	1,443	1,921	69	92
	2.78	4,930	5,504	5,064	5,654	822	1,176	05	93
Elle	2.90	4,996	5,059	4,920	5,5/3	040	1,096	101	124
lobastown	2.24	5,021 6 155	5,341 7,014	5,105	0,494	913	1,017	110	130
	0.04 0.70	0,100	1,214	0,100	1,100	2,047	2,077	31	27
andaster	2.12	4,592	4,/1/	4,731	4,000	404	302	34	21

		ó					15 00	5 oro roll	en la
egor	/	ES Adjuste	/	60	RCC	diusted	ted Surphinest	Adjusted 1 200-10	ted Supple and the second
asenalte	and	inestal b. 1991		d AAN USE	JAA. IIne	SAU.	porting to	ess Fritanch Pro	ect to in these h
uspital Ru	Set ale	ROCE	aile Adill	UN85 ADI	aile and ino	nadiuslee ac	nalt one ded	ineapor inadiuster aco	ark one are sured
40	ASSCILL	br.	5,1091	111,091	P. P.	DI FUI BOUD	1.60.0	J. Heselo	r je Minn ni
Philadelphia	3.00	7,327	6,644	7,192	6,522	3,219	2,044	1,754	1,114
Pittsburgh	2.98	6,644	6,935	6,336	6,613	2,536	2,136	1,334	1,123
Reading	2.76	5,207	5,408	5,124	5,322	1,098	844	95	73
Sayre	3.17	4,302	4,846	4,473	5,039	194	561	5	16
Scranton	2.58	5,713	6,267	5,327	5,843	1,605	1,366	93	79
Wilkes-Barre	2.67	5,757	6,271	5,479	5,968	1,649	1,490	81	73
York	2.23	4,489	4,821	4,495	4,828	380	350	19	17
Rhode Island									
Providence	2.37	5,539	5,128	5,477	5,071	1,430	594	233	97
South Carolina									
Charleston	3.34	5,096	5,663	5,017	5,576	988	1,099	80	89
Columbia	3.05	4,063	4,556	4,243	4,758	-45	280	-5	31
Florence	3.27	4,842	5,598	5,112	5,909	734	1,432	29	57
Greenville	2.72	4,139	4,594	4,370	4,851	31	373	3	33
Spartanburg	3.07	4,186	4,673	4,497	5,019	78	542	3	23
South Dakota								_	
Rapid City	4.22	3,783	4,774	4,256	5,371	-326	894	-7	20
Sioux Falls	3.85	3,671	4,681	3,667	4,676	-437	198	-51	23
Tennessee									
Chattanooga	2.82	6,024	6,613	5,967	6,550	1,916	2,072	144	156
Jackson	3.26	5,052	5,987	4,951	5,867	944	1,389	44	64
Johnson City	3.42	4,806	5,521	5,129	5,892	698	1,415	22	44
Kingsport	3.20	5,178	5,949	5,765	6,624	1,069	2,147	/1	143
Knoxville	2.76	5,268	6,012	5,366	6,123	1,160	1,646	1//	250
Memphis	3.61	5,158	5,855	4,937	5,604	1,050	1,126	194	208
Taxaa	3.04	5,797	6,587	5,837	6,633	1,688	2,156	411	524
Abilana	2.04	4.092	E 002	E 025	6.044	974	1 566	20	70
Amarilla	5.04	4,902	5,992	5,025	6,044	700	2 107	39	111
Amanno	2.05	4,090	1,002	5,720	6,000	790	2,107	42	60
Regumont	2.00	4,703	4,993	6 1 4 2	5,245 6,629	2 702	2 161	167	120
Bryan	2.04	4 405	5 270	4 477	5 357	2,192	2,101	7	17
Corpus Christi	2.20	5 794	6 471	5,621	6 200	1.676	1 810	04	101
Dallas	2 95	5 784	5 948	5,021	6,098	1.675	1,610	94 405	479
FLPaso	3.23	4 915	5 580	5 290	6,015	807	1 537	33	126
Fort Worth	2.50	5 762	6 118	6.091	6 467	1 654	1 989	233	281
Harlingen	2.00	4 667	5 504	4 750	5 603	550	1 215	233	50
Houston	2.13	6 688	6 734	6 726	6 772	2 580	2 295	050	853
Longview	2.61	4 698	5,734	4 737	5 421	590	943	14	22
Lubbock	4.43	5 747	6,830	6,060	7 211	1 639	2 734	126	210
Mcallen	2.52	4 564	5 4 27	4 793	5 699	456	1 221	16	42
Odessa	4 01	5.088	5,611	5,686	6.270	980	1,792	32	58
San Angelo	4 24	4,245	5,205	4,585	5.622	137	1,145	3	24
San Antonio	3 09	5,111	5,732	5,314	5,960	1.003	1,482	211	312
Temple	2.40	4,358	4,950	4,553	5,171	250	694	8	22
Tyler	3.17	5,233	6.101	5.215	6.080	1.124	1.602	78	111
	2	-,	-,	-,	-,	.,	.,		

		Adjusted	/	4	10	1 sted	Suppressoils	inter a service of the	Suntus and
Referrances	and	Hospital Beck	iuse installer	d AAPC	ad AAPC Alline	Adu red Pri	pected to h	5 Adi nolic nite	dings I in min hiss
Hestita	hole hole	APPOCT	PriceAdi	111955 AU	Piceoc 195	Unadiustice 3	Pice at Su	Unadiust at a	Price al Sunnan
Victoria	3.48	5,181	5,847	4,916	5,549	1,072	1,071	21	21
Waco	2.86	3,656	4,292	3,865	4,538	-453	60	-19	3
Wichita Falls	3.00	4,611	5,599	4,689	5,694	503	1,216	15	35
Utah									
Ogden	3.01	4,228	4,614	4,691	5,119	120	641	3	18
Provo	2.67	4,387	5,170	4,797	5,653	279	1,175	7	31
Salt Lake City	3.22	4,361	4,872	4,833	5,399	253	921	35	126
Vermont									
Burlington	2.74	4,286	4,614	4,471	4,814	178	336	12	23
Virginia									
Arlington	2.07	5,023	4,304	5,319	4,558	915	80	99	9
Charlottesville	2.44	4,515	4,896	4,830	5,237	407	759	24	44
Lynchburg	2.82	3,651	4,039	3,834	4,242	-458	-235	-14	-7
Newport News	2.69	4,675	4,915	4,718	4,961	567	483	29	24
Norfolk	2.85	5,073	5,450	5,123	5,504	965	1,027	109	116
Richmond	2.84	5,072	5,049	5,002	4,980	964	502	150	78
Roanoke	3.10	4,738	5,397	4,860	5,535	630	1,058	60	101
Winchester	2.34	4,370	4,522	4,338	4,489	262	12	10	0
Washington									
Everett	1.68	4,735	4,845	4,749	4,859	627	381	34	21
Olympia	2.66	4,801	5,105	5,170	5,498	693	1,020	27	40
Seattle	2.08	4,934	4,902	5,125	5,092	825	614	207	154
Spokane	2.99	4,519	4,980	4,866	5,363	410	885	62	133
Tacoma	2.09	4,772	4,916	5,084	5,238	663	761	42	48
Yakima	2.32	4,231	4,654	4,209	4,631	122	153	4	4
West Virginia									
Charleston	2.91	5,312	6,171	5,123	5,952	1,204	1,474	153	188
Huntington	3.04	4,872	5,568	4,714	5,387	764	910	38	46
Morgantown	2.59	5,243	6,321	5,281	6,367	1,135	1,889	65	108
Wisconsin									
Appleton	2.81	3,651	4,123	3,669	4,144	-458	-334	-18	-13
Green Bay	2.66	3,709	4,207	3,680	4,174	-399	-303	-26	-20
La Crosse	3.08	3,424	4,021	3,426	4,022	-684	-456	-33	-22
Madison	2.79	4,185	4,653	4,192	4,660	77	183	9	21
Marshfield	3.48	3,886	4,567	4,177	4,909	-222	431	-12	23
Milwaukee	3.04	4,825	4,935	4,667	4,772	717	295	207	85
Neenah	2.80	3,949	4,447	3,674	4,137	-159	-341	-5	-10
Wausau	2.75	3,950	4,579	3,757	4,356	-159	-121	-4	-3
Wyoming									
Casper	4.31	4,648	5,335	4,840	5,555	540	1,077	12	24

# Appendices

# **Appendix on Methods**

# 1. The Geography of Health Care in The United States

# 1.1 Files Used in the Atlas

The Atlas depends on the integrated use of databases provided by the American Hospital Association (AHA), the American Medical Association, the American Osteopathic Association, and several federal agencies, including the Agency for Health Care Policy and Research, the Bureau of the Census, the Health Care Financing Administration, the National Center for Health Statistics, and the Department of Veterans Affairs. Table 1 lists these files and provides a short description of the uses made of them in the Atlas.

TABLE 1.

# Data Files Used in Analysis

File	Year Used (Sample)	Source / Provider	Description and Use in Analyses
Medicare Files			
Denominator File	1994 & 1995 (100%)	HCFA	Contains one record for each Medicare beneficiary, and includes demographic infor- mation (age, sex, race), residence (ZIP Code), program eligibility and mortality. Used to determine denominators for utilization rates and to determine mortality.
MEDPAR File	1994 & 1995 (100%)	HCFA	One record for each hospital stay by Medicare beneficiaries. Includes data on dates of admission / discharge, diagnoses, procedures and Medicare reimbursements to the hospital. Used for (1) allocation of acute care resources and physicians and (2) numerators for utilization rates.
Continuous Medicare History Sample File	1995 (5%)	HCFA	Includes a record for each beneficiary in a 5% sample for each year. Includes sum- mary expenditure data. Used to estimate Medicare spending by program component.
Medicare Provider of Services File	1995	HCFA	Includes a record for each hospital eligible to provide inpatient care through Medi- care. Includes location and resource data. Used in measuring acute care resource investments.
Medicare Cost Reports	1994	HCFA	Includes a record for each hospital and provides detailed accounting data for the specified year. Used in measuring acute care resource investments.

#### TABLE 1. (CONTINUED)

File	Year Used	Source/Provider	Description and Use in Analyses
Resource Files			
American Hospital Association Annual Survey of Hospitals	1995	American Hospital Association	Includes a record for each hospital registered with the AHA. Used in measuring acute care resources (beds, personnel).
Physician File	1995	American Medical Association	Includes one record for each allopathic physician with practice ZIP Code, self- designated specialty, major professional activities, and federal / non-federal status. Used to determine specialty-specific counts of physicians in each health care market.
Osteopath File	1995	American Osteopathic Association	Includes one record for each osteopathic physician with practice ZIP Code, self- designated specialty, major professional activities, and federal / non-federal status. Used to determine specialty-specific counts of physicians in each health care market.
Federal hospital utilization and resources	1993-1994	U.S. Medicine Directory 1993-94 ISSN 0890-6637	Provides location, counts and occupancy rates of federal hospital beds.
A patient travel pattern file 1989		VA Outcomes Group, White River Jct VA	ZIP Code level patient origin file for veterans using VA hospitals in 1989. Used to allocate VA physicians to appropriate HSAs.
Other Files			
Geographic Practice Cost Index	1993	HCFA	Records for each MSA and non-MSA area of each state. Records include area-level values for each of the components of the GPCI (physician work, practice cost, mal- practice) and summary index value. Used for price adjustment.
National Hospital Discharge Survey	1989	NTIS	Provides age-sex specific hospital discharge rates for the U.S. as a whole, which were used as the basis for the age-sex adjustment of acute care resources.
National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey (NAMCS)	1989-1994	NTIS	Ambulatory services from samples of patient records selected from a national sample of office-based physicians. Allows estimation of age-sex specific use rates by specialty. Used for age-sex adjustment of physician workforce.
Population files	1995	Claritas, Inc., Arlington, VA	1990 STF3 data from the U.S. Bureau of the Census was adapted by Claritas, Inc. to 1995 ZIP Code geography; includes 1995 age-sex specific estimated counts of residents in the ZIP Code. Used (1) for age-sex adjustment, (2) as denominator for rates of allocated and adjusted resources.
ZIP Code boundary files	1995	Geographic Data Technology, Lebanon, NH	Includes records for each ZIP Code with the coordinates of the boundary precisely specified. Used as basis for mapping HSAs and HRRs and for assigning ZIP Codes appropriately.

# **1.2 Defining Hospital Service Areas**

Hospital Service Areas (HSAs) represent local health care markets for community-based inpatient care. The definitions of HSAs used in the 1996 edition of the Atlas were retained in the 1998 edition. HSAs were originally defined in three steps using 1993 provider files and 1992-93 utilization data. First, all acute care hospitals in the 50 states and the District of Columbia were identified from the American Hospital

Association Annual Survey of Hospitals and the Medicare Provider of Services files and assigned to a location within a town or city. The list of towns or cities with at least one acute care hospital (N=3,953) defined the maximum number of possible HSAs. Second, all 1992 and 1993 acute care hospitalizations of the Medicare population were analyzed according to ZIP Code to determine the proportion of residents' hospital stays that occurred in each of the 3,953 candidate HSAs. ZIP Codes were initially assigned to the HSA where the greatest proportion (plurality) of residents were hospitalized. Approximately 500 of the candidate HSAs did not qualify as independent HSAs because the plurality of patients resident in those HSAs were hospitalized in other HSAs.

The third step required visual examination of the ZIP Codes used to define each HSA. Maps of ZIP Code boundaries were made using files obtained from Geographic Data Technologies (GDT) and each HSA's component ZIP Codes were examined. In order to achieve contiguity of the component ZIP Codes for each HSA, "island" ZIP Codes were reassigned to the enclosing HSA, and/or HSAs were grouped into larger HSAs (See the Appendix on the Geography of Health Care in the United States for an illustration). Certain ZIP Codes used in the Medicare files were restricted in their use to specific institutions (e.g., nursing homes) or post offices. These "point ZIPs" were assigned to their enclosing ZIP Code based on the ZIP Code boundary map.

This process resulted in the identification of 3,436 HSAs, ranging in total 1995 population from 627 (Turtle Lake, North Dakota) to 2,949,506 (Houston) in the 1998 edition of the Atlas. Thus, the HSA boundaries remained the same but the HSA populations might have changed between the two editions of the Atlas. In most HSAs, the majority of Medicare hospitalizations occurred in a hospital or hospitals located within the HSA. See the Appendix on the Geography of Health Care in the United States for further details.

#### **1.3 Defining Hospital Referral Regions**

Hospital referral regions (HRRs) represent health care markets for tertiary medical care. As defined in the 1996 Atlas, each HRR contained at least one HSA that had

a hospital or hospitals that performed major cardiovascular procedures and neurosurgery in 1992-93. Three steps were taken to define HRRs.

First, the candidate hospitals and HRRs were identified. A total of 862 hospitals performed at least 10 major cardiovascular procedures (DRGs 103-107) on Medicare enrollees in both years. These hospitals were located within 458 HSAs, thereby defining the maximum number of possible HRRs. Further checks verified that all 458 HSAs included at least one hospital performing the specified major neurosurgical procedures (DRGs 1-3 and 484).

Second, we calculated in each of the 3,436 HSAs in the United States the proportion of major cardiovascular procedures performed in each of the 458 candidate HRRs in 1992-93. Each HSA was then assigned provisionally to the candidate HRR where most patients went for these services.

Third, HSAs were reassigned or further grouped to achieve (a) geographic contiguity, unless major travel routes (e.g., interstate highways) justified separation (this occurred in only two cases, the New Haven, Connecticut, and Elmira, New York, HRRs); (b) a minimum population size of 120,000; and (c) a high localization index. Because of the large number of hospitals providing cardiovascular services in California, several candidate California HRRs met the above criteria but were found to perform small numbers of cardiovascular procedures. These HRRs were further aggregated according to county boundaries to achieve stability of cardiovascular surgery rates within the areas.

The process resulted in the definition of 306 hospital referral regions which ranged in total 1995 population from 124,656 (Minot, North Dakota) to 9,230,785 (Los Angeles) in the 1998 edition of the Atlas. See the Appendix on the Geography of Health Care in The United States for further details.

#### 1.4 Populations of HSAs and HRRs

Total population counts were estimated for residents of all ages in each HSA using 1995 ZIP Code level files obtained from Claritas, Inc. The Claritas file is based on

the latest U.S. Census STF3B ZIP Code file, updated to account for changes in ZIP Code definitions. Population counts for HRRs are the sum of the counts of the constituent HSAs. These serve as denominators for estimating rates for hospital resource and physician workforce allocations (Chapter Two and the Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States).

For rates that apply to the Medicare population for the years 1994-95, enrollee counts were obtained from the Medicare Denominator file. The 1994 and 1995 Medicare enrollee population included those alive and age 65 to age 99 on June 30, 1994 and 1995, respectively, and were summed to give person-years. For Medicare reimbursement rates, the enrollee counts are based on a 5% sample of 1995 enrollees (selected on the basis of Social Security numbers) who were enrolled in both Part A and Part B of the Medicare program. For all rates presented in the Atlas, the numerator and the denominator counts exclude those who were enrolled in risk bearing HMOs on June 30.

#### 2. Variations in Hospital Resources

Acute care hospital resources consist of hospital beds and personnel. Three tasks were required to estimate the rates presented in Chapter Two. First, the resources for each hospital were determined; second, resources were allocated to populations, proportionate to their rates of use; third, rates were computed and adjusted to take into account differences in age and sex among regions.

# 2.1 Measuring Hospital Resources

Hospitals were eligible for inclusion if they were located within the 50 states or the District of Columbia and were classified either by Medicare or the AHA as short term general medical and surgical hospitals (AHA service code = 10), specialty hospitals listed as obstetrics and gynecology (code 44), eye, ear, nose and throat (code 45), orthopedic (code 47), or other specialty (code 49); and children's hospitals (codes 50, 59). For inclusion in this study, hospitals must have been open on June 30, 1995. Certain specialty hospitals were excluded if additional information gathered from external sources (e.g., telephone calls) indicated they did not meet the inclusion criteria, or if they fell into the following categories: Shriners' hospitals,

crippled children's hospitals, hospital units of institutions (prisons, colleges, etc.), institutions for mental retardation, psychiatric facilities, rehabilitation or chronic disease facilities, addiction treatment facilities, communication disorders facilities, podiatry facilities, small surgery centers, obstetrics and gynecology clinics, and hospices. Department of Veterans' Affairs hospitals were excluded from this edition of the Atlas because of the non-comparability of expenditure and personnel data.

The American Hospital Association Annual Survey file and the Medicare Provider file were searched to identify all non-federal hospitals (AHA control code = 12-33) and federal PHS Indian Service hospitals (control code = 47) that met the criteria for inclusion. Short term general hospitals (N= 5,004), children's hospitals (N=47), and specialty hospitals (N=56) located in the 50 states or the District of Columbia as of June 30, 1995 were identified.

The resources for each hospital were determined as follows:

*Hospital beds* were ascertained primarily from the AHA file. The field selected was "hospital beds (including cribs, pediatric and neonatal bassinets) that were set up and staffed at the end of the reporting period." Our measure of intensive care beds included both "medical/surgical intensive care" and "cardiac intensive care" beds. For the 60 hospitals completely lacking AHA data, and for 607 of the 635 hospitals that were non-reporting in 1995, we used data from the Medicare Cost Reports for "total beds available in the hospital" and "intensive care" plus "coronary care beds" as the measure of intensive care beds. The remaining 28 non-reporting hospitals (all PHS Indian Service hospitals) also lacked cost report data, so AHA data were used to measure all resources, even though the data came from a prior year's Annual Survey.

*Full time equivalent hospital personnel* were defined as the sum of full time employees and 1/2 of the part time employees. Hospital employees do not include medical or dental interns or residents or trainees. For the 60 hospitals lacking AHA data completely and for 607 of the 635 hospitals that were non-reporting in 1995, the Medicare Cost Report value for "average number of employees, hospital total" was used to estimate hospital personnel at these hospitals.

*Full time equivalent registered nurses* were defined as the sum of full time nurses and 1/2 of the part time nurses. For the 60 hospitals lacking AHA data completely and for 607 of the 635 hospitals that were non-reporting for 1995, the Medicare Provider of Services file count of "licensed registered nurses" was used to estimate the number of registered nurses at these hospitals.

# 2.2 Allocation of Hospital Resources

In order to account for the use of care by patients who live in one HSA but obtain care in another, hospital resources for acute care short-term hospitals have been allocated to the HSAs in proportion to the actual patterns of use. This was accomplished using the proportion of all Medicare patient days (1994-95) provided by each specific hospital to each HSA. For example, if 60% of total Medicare inpatient days at a hospital were used by residents of the HSA where the hospital was located, then 60% of that hospital's resources would be assigned to its HSA. If 20% of the Medicare patient days provided by that hospital were used by a neighboring HSA, 20% of the hospital's resources would be assigned to that neighboring HSA.

Children's hospitals and specialty hospitals were found to have too little actual utilization data in the Medicare files to allow their allocation based on hospital-specific proportionate utilization. These hospitals were allocated according to the utilization patterns of all Medicare enrollees residing in the HSA. In other words, if 80% of the patient days in an HSA were provided by hospitals within the HSA, then 80% of the resources of any specialty or children's hospital located within that HSA would be assigned to it.

The use of Medicare data to estimate resources allocated to populations of all ages is justified by studies which show that the geographic patterns of use of hospital care by patients under and over sixty-five years of age are similar. Our own analyses of data from both New York and New England revealed that travel patterns for those under age 65 are nearly identical to those over age 65. Radany and Luft (1993) found similar results in California. Once each of the hospital resources had been allocated to HSAs, the allocated resources were summed. For example, the allocated beds of each HSA were equal to the sum of allocated acute short-term beds and allocated specialty/children's beds. For the HSAs located in a given HRR, resources were further summed to obtain the total for the HRR. Crude rates were then calculated for HRRs using the 1995 population for all ages described in Section 1.4.

#### 2.3 Calculation of Adjusted Per Capita Hospital Resource Rates

The resource allocation rates presented in Chapter Two of the Atlas were adjusted for differences in age and sex using the indirect method and the 1995 U.S. population as the standard (Breslow and Day, 1987). Since indirectly standardized rates cannot be "rolled up" from HSAs to HRRs, we computed observed and expected counts at the HSA level and summed these to the HRR levels. The expected counts within HSAs are weighted averages of the stratum-specific crude rates in the standard population. These observed and expected counts were then used to compute HRR-level indirectly standardized rates.

Since the national age-sex specific bed supply rates are not available, these were estimated using the national age and sex specific patient day rates obtained from the 1989 National Hospital Discharge Survey. These estimates were used to calculate the expected bed supply in each HRR. Under the assumption that employee allocations across age and sex groups are also proportionate to patient days, a similar strategy was used to adjust employees.

#### 3. Medicare Program Reimbursement Rates

The numerators for Medicare reimbursement rates are from the 1995 Continuous Medicare History Sample (CMHS), which documents reimbursements by calendar year for each component of the Medicare program. The data are for a 5% sample of Medicare enrollees selected on the basis of the terminal digits in the Social Security number. The denominator for rates is the corresponding 5% sample of the enrollment file (see Section 1.4).

# 3.1 Categories of Medicare Reimbursement Examined in Chapter Two

Categories of Medicare reimbursement in the Atlas are listed in Table 2 with their definitions from the CMHS file.

#### TABLE 2.

#### **Definitions for Categories of Reimbursement**

Category of Reimbursement	For each service, the specified components were selected from the file and summed as indicated. All fields refer to packed-decimal, variable length, EBCDIC, mainframe record layout locations.
All Services	File: Annual Data trailer
	Part A Reimb, incl. passthru amts. cols. 14-17
	Part B Reimb, incl. passthru amts. cols. 18-21
	Total Reimb. = Part A + Part B Reimb.
Professional and Laboratory Services	File: Payment trailer
	1. Total Reimb., cols. 9-11
	2. Medical line items, cols. 12-13 (TOS=1, 3, Y, Z)
	3. Medical Reimb., cols. 17-19
	4. Surgical line items, cols. 20-21 (TOS=2, 8)
	5. Surgical Reimb., cols. 25-27
	6. Lab/X-ray line items, cols. 28-29 (TOS=4, 5)
	7. Lab/X-ray Reimb., cols. 33-35
	Professional and Lab. reimb. = 3+5+7
Acute Care Hospital Services	File: Short Stay trailer
	Stays, cols. 4-5
	LOS, cols. 8-9
	Reimbursement, cols.18-21
	Passthrough amount, cols. 62-65
Outpatient Hospital Services	Outpatient trailer
	Total bills, cols. 4-5
	Total Reimb., cols. 9-11
	Outpatient POS bills, cols. 12-13
	Outpatient POS Reimb., cols. 17-19
	Inpatient POS bills, cols. 20-21
	Inpatient POS bills, cols. 25-27
	Total Reimb. = Outpatient POS Reimb. + Inpatient POS Reimb.
Home Health Care Services	HHA trailer
	Part A Reimb., cols. 9-11
	Part B Reimb., cols. 17-19
	Total Reimb. = Part A + Part B

#### 3.2 Calculation of Adjusted Medicare Program Reimbursement Rates

Rates were adjusted using the indirect method for the following strata: sex, race (black, non-black) and age (65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-99), with the 1995 Medicare population as the standard, as described in Section 2.3.

Medicare program rates were further adjusted to account for regional differences in price. Two different price adjustors were used, depending on the category of Medicare spending: the Dartmouth Price Index and the HCFA Part B Index, both of which are based on the Geographic Practice Cost Index (GPCI) developed by Pope, Welch, Zuckerman, and Henderson (1989). These price indexes are described below.

The Dartmouth (Modified GPCI) Price Index. Seeking to avoid a price adjustment that depended on physician or hospital market conditions, we focused on cost of living indices using non-medical regional price measures. We relied on the Geographic Practice Cost Index (GPCI), which uses the weighted sum of three components: the relative cost of non-physician professional labor across areas, the relative cost of physician practice inputs (principally rents and wages to office employees) and the relative cost of malpractice. The weights are based on the national proportions of these costs in physician services. We re-weighted the index, excluding the malpractice costs. We also used the full professional labor component in our revised index (HCFA used only one-quarter of the professional labor component). While not perfectly exogenous to health care (as it includes physician office expenses), this modified GPCI index is available at the level of geographic analysis needed in this study, and is preferable to the major alternative, Medicare's hospital wage index. (The hospital wage index is based on actual wages paid to hospital employees in each area and is thus distorted by differences in occupational mix and market conditions. Hospitals that hire more highly paid staff have those costs reflected in the wage index.) The Dartmouth index was available for each metropolitan statistical area (MSA) and for non-MSA areas of each state. The values for the area-specific modified GPCI were assigned to each HSA according to the location of the principal city or town of each HSA.

HCFA Part B Index. Because Medicare Part B payments compensate for only onequarter of the difference in professional wage adjustments across areas and include an adjustment for malpractice insurance costs, these adjustments were made in reverse to recover the original value of the Part B billings.

For both indexes, HRR-level modified GPCIs were calculated as weighted sums of the HSA-specific indexes, using the number of Medicare enrollees in the HSA as the weight. The Dartmouth Price Index was used to adjust all components of Medicare expenditures except professional and laboratory services. This latter component was adjusted using the HCFA Part B regional price measure.

To implement the adjustment, each component of the Medicare program was first age sex and race adjusted at the HSA level. Observed and expected dollars were then summed to the HRR level and indirectly standardized rates were computed. HRRspecific Medicare expenditures were then divided by the index for that HRR to adjust for regional differences in price. Total noncapitated Medicare reimbursement rates were computed as the sum of the component rates.

# 3.3 Precision of the Medicare Reimbursement Rates

The precision of the HRR-specific Medicare reimbursement rates varies according to the population of the HRR but, in general, these rates are precisely determined. For all HRRs with at least 12,000 Medicare enrollees, the width of the approximate 95% confidence interval for the reimbursement rate is +/- 20% of the corresponding national rate. For HRRs with a minimum Medicare population of 48,000 enrollees, it is +/- 10% of the national average.

#### 4. Physician Workforce Rates

The methods for allocating and estimating the per capita rates of physicians serving HSAs and HRRs are analogous to the methods used for estimating and allocating hospital resources described in Sections 2.2 and 2.3. The sources of information on physicians are the American Medical Association (AMA; January 1, 1996) and the American Osteopathic Association (AOA; June 1, 1996) Physician Masterfiles. These files have been used extensively to study physician supply and are the only comprehensive data available on physician location, specialty and level of effort devoted to clinical practice. Both the AMA and the AOA physician files classify physicians according to self-reported level of effort devoted to clinical practice. In this study, we excluded physicians who reported that they worked the majority of the time in medical teaching, administration or research, and part time physicians working fewer than 20 hours a week in clinical practice. Both files also list ZIP Code fields indicating the physician's primary place of practice, which was complete in more than 90% of records. When this information was not available, we used the physician's preferred professional address to indicate location. Based on these criteria, 495,510 physicians resident in the 50 states and District of Columbia constituted the clinically active physician workforce for 1996. There were also 99,972 physicians in residency or fellowship programs. See the Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States for more details.

# 4.1 Physician Specialties Considered in Chapter Two and the Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States of the Atlas

The AMA and AOA physician files include the physician's primary self-designated specialty from a list of 243 specialties. We grouped these into the categories in Table 3.

### TABLE 3.

# **Categories of Clinically Active Physicians**

Classification of physician specialties and type of utilization used for allocation and age adjustment

Dartmouth Specialty	AMA or AOA Specialty	AMA/AOA Code	Allocation	Age Adjustment
All Physicians	All except Unspecified (Codes US, T)			
Primary Physicians	Adolescent Medicine-GP	AGP	Medical	Family Practice
	Family Practice	FP		
	Geriatrics Medicine (Family Practice)	FPG		
		FSM		
	General Practice	GP		
	Sports Medicine-GP	SGP		
	Internal Medicine-Emergency Medicine	IEM	Medical	Internal Medicine
	Internal Medicine	IM		
	Internal Medicine-Pediatrics	IPD		
	Pediatrics	PD	Medical	Pediatrics
Specialty Physicians	All except Primary Physicians and			
	Unspecified (Codes US, T)			
Anesthesiology	Anesthesiology	AN	Surgical	Surgery
	Cardiothoracic Anesthesiology	CAN	0	0 7
	Obstetrics Anesthesiology	OBA		
	Pediatric Anesthesiology	PAN		
Cardiology	Cardiology	С	Medical	Cardiology
07	Cardiovascular Diseases	CD		07
		CVD		
	Cardiac Electrophysiology	ICE		
General Surgery	Abdominal Surgery	AS	Surgical	General Surgery
0 7	Colon and Rectal Surgery	CRS	Ū	0,1
	General Surgery	GS		
	Surgery-General	S		
Obstetrics/ Gynecology	Gynecological Oncology	GO	Surgical	Ob/Gvn
	Gynecological Surgery	GS	· · · · · ·	
	Gynecology	GYN		
	Maternal & Fetal Medicine	MFM		
	Obstetrics & Gynecology	OBG		
	Obstetrics	OBS		
	Obstetrics/Gynecology Surgery	OGS		
	Reproductive Endocrinology	RE		
	Reproductive Endocrinology	REN		
Ophthalmology	Ophthalmology	OPH	Surgical	Ophthalmology

#### 230 The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care 1998

# TABLE 3. (CONTINUED)

Dartmouth Specialty	AMA or AOA Specialty	AMA/AOA Code	Allocation
Orthopedic Surgery	Hand Surgery (Ortho Surgery)	HSO	Surgical
	Adult Reconstructive Orthopedics	OAR	
	Pediatric Orthopedics	OP	
	Orthopedics	OR	
	Orthopedic Surgery	ORS	
	Sports Medicine (Orthopedic Surgery)	OSM	
	Orthopedic Surgery - Spine	OSS	
	Orthopedic Trauma	OTR	
Psychiatry	Child Psychiatry	CHP	Medical
	Psychiatry	Р	
	Pediatric Psychiatry	PDP	
	Psychoanalysis	PYA	
	Geriatric Psychiatry	PYG	
	Psychosomatic Medicine	PYM	
Radiology	Angiography/Interventional Radiology	ANG	All
	Diagnostic Radiology	DR	
	Diagnostic Ultrasound	DUS	
	Nuclear Medicine	NM	
	Nuclear Radiology	NR	
	Neuroradiology	NRA	
	Pediatric Radiology	PDR	
	Radiology	R	
	Diagnostic Roentgenology	RTD	
Urology	Urological Surgery	U	Surgical
	Urology	URS	

# 4.2 Allocation of Clinically Active Physicians

Clinically active physicians were assigned to the HSA of their primary place of practice or preferred professional address. Since physicians, like hospitals, provide services to patients residing outside of the HSA in which their practices are located, the physician workforce was allocated to adjust for patient migration. Unfortunately, allocations could not be based on information about the travel patterns of the patients of individual physicians or information about the use of care outside acute hospitals. For clinically active non-federal physicians (N = 480,761), the adjustments are closely analogous to the method used for hospital resources, with an important exception. Since the hospital affiliations of the physicians were not determined, the physicians were allocated on the basis of the patterns of inpatient care of all the hospitals located in their HSAs. The 1994-95 MEDPAR records selected for allocation, which depended on the physician's specialty, are given in Table 3. For example, primary physicians were allocated on the basis of medical DRGs. If an HSA had 4 primary care physicians and if 25% of the medical DRG patient days at the local hospital(s) in 1994-95 were for residents of a neighboring HSA, then the four primary physicians would be estimated to contribute 1.0 FTE primary care physician to the neighboring HSA.

We included clinically active federal physicians (N = 14,749) in the study, since these physicians serve populations counted by the U.S. census, such as veterans, residents of Indian reservations, medically underserved areas, and military personnel and their dependents. Federal physicians were assigned to either the Department of Defense/Public Health Service (DoD/PHS) or the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) in proportion to the mix of staffed federal beds within each HSA (U.S. Medicine; DoD technical document). All federal pediatricians and obstetrician/ gynecologists were assigned to the DoD/ PHS. DoD/PHS physicians were allocated to HSAs in the same proportion as the non-federal physicians. Since VA utilization data were available that were analogous to the Medicare Part A data, VA physicians were allocated to areas in proportion to VA inpatient utilization (e.g., if 25% of the patient days of VA hospitals in Manhattan were provided to veterans residing in the Bronx, then 25% of the VA physicians in New York were assigned to the Bronx). If no federal inpatient facility (DoD, VAH, PHS, Indian Health Service) was present within the HSA, then the physicians were assumed to represent primary care and were allocated in the same proportion as non-federal primary care physicians (using inpatient medical days).

When all physician specialty groups had been allocated to HSAs, their allocated FTEs were summed. The physicians allocated to an HSA represent the total of all federal and non-federal FTE physicians allocated from local as well as remote HSAs. For the HSAs in a given HRR, physician resources were further summed to obtain the total for the HRR. Crude rates were then calculated for HRRs using the 1995 population for all ages described in Section 1.4. Measures of physicians in residency training programs used in the Atlas were prepared separately using similar methods.

#### 4.3 Calculation of Adjusted Rates

The allocated rates presented in Chapter Two and the Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States were adjusted for age and sex using the indirect method, as described in Section 2.3, using the 1995 U.S. population as the standard. As with hospital bed supply rates, the national age-sex specific physician workforce rates are not known. These were estimated using outpatient age, sex and specialty-specific physician visit rates from the combined 1989-1994 National Ambulatory Care Survey (NAMCS). These estimates were used to calculate the expected physician supply in each HSA, by specialty. Specialties that had too few visits to reliably estimate age-sex-specific visit rates (< 800 total NAMCS) used the visit rates of allied specialties, as indicated in Table 3. Four NAMCS specialty categories could not be age and sex adjusted because of the low frequency of ambulatory visits and the lack of allied specialties: pathology, radiology, critical care and "unspecified." Expected counts of resident physicians were prepared separately using similar methods. The expected counts were summed to the HRR level and were used to calculate indirectly standardized rates. Rates for combined generalists, combined specialists and combined total physicians were obtained by first summing expected counts of the component specialties to the HRR level.

# 5. The Distribution Graph

The distribution graphs used in the Atlas provide a simple way to show the dispersion in particular rates of health care resources and utilization across the 306 hospital referral regions. For example, Figure 2.2 shows the distribution of hospital employees per thousand residents for each of the 306 hospital referral regions. The vertical axis shows the rate of hospital employees per thousand residents. The Bronx, which has 27.6 employees per thousand residents, is represented by the highest point on the graph. Chicago, which has 21.8, and Manhattan, which has 21.6 employees per thousand residents, are represented by the two next lowest points on the graph. Some areas which do not have exactly the same number of hospital employees per thousand residents are arrayed on a single line because their rates fall into a "bin" between two values.

This chart summarizes two features of the data. The first is a measure of dispersion; if the number of employees per thousand (or whatever measure is on the vertical

axis) for the highest hospital referral region is two or three times higher than the number of employees per thousand for the lowest hospital referral region, it suggests substantial variation in health care resources. Second. the distribution graph shows whether the variation is caused by just a few outliers — hospital referral regions that for various reasons are very different from the rest of the country — or whether the variation is pervasive and widespread across the country. In the example above, there is widespread dispersion across the country, but one area, the Bronx, does stand apart from all other areas.



#### 6. Medicare Hospitalization Rates

Hospitalization rates represent counts of the number of discharges that occurred in a defined time period (the numerator) for a specific population (the denominator). The counts of discharges for specific conditions are based on the MEDPAR files for 1994-95. The denominator is the 1994-95 Medicare enrollee population (Section 1.4). In order to ensure that the events counted in the numerator correspond to the denominator population, certain records were excluded, including Medicare enrollees who were under age 65 or over age 99 on June 30, 1994 or 1995; Medicare enrollees who were enrolled in risk-bearing HMOs; MEDPAR records with a length of stay over 365 days; hospitalizations in psychiatric, rehabilitation or long term care units (provider codes = S, T, U or V; facility type not equal to S; third digit of Medicare provider number not equal to 0).

#### 6.1 Procedures and Conditions Examined in the Atlas

The specific procedures and conditions, or "numerator events," and the codes used to identify the event in the file are given in Table 4. The "modified diagnosis-related group" (MDRG) Classification System used in Chapter Three to examine the pattern of variation in hospitalizations among the Medicare population is given in Table 5.

## TABLE 4.

Condition	Codes used to define condition ^(1.)			
All discharges				
Inhospital deaths	(Discharge status = 'B')			
Medical discharges				
Low/moderate variation medical	DRGs 174, 175, 14, 121-123			
High variation medical	DRGs 9-13, 15-35, 43-48, 64-74, 78-102, 124-145, 172-173, 176-190, 202-208, 235-256, 271-284, 294-301, 316-333, 346-352, 366-369, 372, 373, 376, 378-391, 395-399, 403-405, 409-414, 416-423, 425-437, 444-457, 460, 462-467, 473, 475, 487, 489, 490, 492			
Surgical discharges	DRGs 1-8, 36-42, 49-63, 75-77, 103-108, 110-120, 146-171, 191-201, 209-234, 257-270, 285-293, 302-315, 334-345, 353-365, 370, 371, 377, 392-394, 400-402, 406-408, 415, 424, 439-443, 458, 459, 461, 468, 471-472, 476-486, 488, 491, 493, 494, 495			
General Surgery				
cholecystectomy	Procedure code 51.2-51.23			
resection for colorectal cancer	Procedure code 45.7-45.79, 45.8, 48.5, 48.6-48.69 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 153-153.9, 154-154.1			
mastectomy for cancer ^(f)	Procedure code 85.41, 85.43, 85.45, 85.47 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 174-174.9 (but <u>not</u> 233.0)			
partial mastectomy ^(f)	Procedure code 85.20 - 85.23 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 174-174.9, <u>not</u> (233.0)			
Vascular Surgery				
carotid endarterectomy	Procedure code 38.12			
abdominal aortic aneurysm repair	Procedure code 38.44, 39.25 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 441.3-441.9			
lower extremity revascularization	Procedure code 39.25, 39.29 <u>and</u> Diagnosis codes <u>not</u> = 441.3-441.9			
major leg amputation	Procedure code 84.15-84.17			
Cardiothoracic Surgery				
Coronary artery bypass surgery	Procedure code 36.10-36.19			
aortic / mitral valve replacement	Procedure code 35.20-35.24			
lung resection	Procedure code 32.29-32.5 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 162-162.9			
PTCA	Procedure code 36.01, 36.02, 36.05			
coronary angiography	Procedure code 37.22, 37.23, 88.55-88.57			
Urology				
radical prostatectomy ^(m)	Procedure code 60.5			
TURP for BPH ^(m)	Procedure code 60.2 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code (1-5) = 600-601.4, 601.8, 601.9, 602-602.1, 602.3, 602.8, 602.9, 788.2-788.29			
radical nephrectomy	Procedure code 55.5-55.51 <u>and</u> Diagnosis code 189-189.1			

## TABLE 4. (CONTINUED)

Condition	Codes used to define condition ^(1.)
Orthopedic Surgery	
back surgery	Procedure code 03.0, 03.1, 03.2, 03.32, 03.39, 03.4, 03.5, 03.6, 03.93, 03.94, 03.96, 80.5-80.59, 81.0-81.09
hip replacement	Procedure code 81.51 <u>and</u> Diagnosis codes <u>not</u> = (820-821.39, 996.0-996.99)
knee replacement	Procedure code 81.54
hip fracture repair (by type) for*	
a) femoral neck fracture	Diagnosis code 820-820.19, 820.8-820.9 and
- total hip replacement	-Procedure code 81.51
- partial hip replacement	-Procedure code 81.52
- internal fixation	-Procedure code 78.55, 79.10, 79.15, 79.30, 79.35
- other treatment-	-None of the above procedure codes
b) other hip fracture	Diagnosis code 820.2-820.32 and
- total hip replacement	-Procedure code 81.51
- partial hip replacement	-Procedure code 81.52
- internal fixation	-Procedure code 78.55, 79.10, 79.15, 79.30, 79.35
- other treatment	-None of the above procedure codes

*Records were excluded if codes were present which indicated malunion or nonunion of fracture, aseptic necrosis of the hip, evidence of old fractures, or cancer in bone.

Frac	tures	
	Hip	Primary diagnosis code 820-820.9
	Shaft of femur	Primary diagnosis code 821-821.39
	Patella	Primary diagnosis code 822.0-822.1
	Tibia	Primary diagnosis code 823-823.92
	Ankle	Primary diagnosis code 824-824.9
	Foot	Primary diagnosis code 825-825.29
	Proximal humerus	Primary diagnosis code 812-812.19
	Elbow	Primary diagnosis code 812.4-812.59
	Radius/ulna	Primary diagnosis code 813-813.93
	Distal radius/ulna	Primary diagnosis code 813.4-813.55
	Radius/ulna/wrist	Primary diagnosis code 813-813.93, 814-814.19

#### NOTES:

1. Unless otherwise specified, all codes are ICD-9-CM; up to 10 diagnoses and 6 procedures were coded on 1994-95 MEDPAR records, and all fields were searched for the presence of the conditions specified.

2. (f) refers to procedures for which counts of women served as the denominator; (m) refers to procedures for which counts of men served as the denominator.
### TABLE 5.

MDRG	DRG Description	DRGs
Nervous System	1	
1	Craniotomy, Other Cranial and Nervous System Procedures	1-4, 7-8, 484
2	Extracranial Vascular Procedures (Carotid Endarterectomy)	5
3	Specific Cerebrovascular Disorders Except TIA	14
4	Transient Ischemic Attack (TIA)	15
5	Seizure and Headache	24-26
6	Coma and Concussion	27-33
7	Residual Nervous System Diagnoses	9-13, 16-23, 34-35
Eye		
8	Eye Procedures	36-42
112	Eye Diagnoses	43-48
Ear, Nose and T	hroat	
9	Tonsillectomy and/or Adenoidectomy	57-60
10	Sinus Procedures	53-55
11	Residual Ear-Nose-Throat Procedures	49-52, 56, 61-63, 168-169, 185-187
12	Ear-Nose-Throat Diagnoses	64-74
Respiratory Sys	tem	
13	Major Chest and Other Respiratory Procedures	75-77
14	Respiratory Neoplasms	82
15	Pleural Effusion and Respiratory Failure	85-87
16	Adult Respiratory Infections	79-80
109	Adult Simple Pneumonia	89-90
17	Pediatric Respiratory Infections and Pneumonia	81, 91
18	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	88
19	Adult Bronchitis and Asthma	96-97
20	Pediatric Bronchitis and Asthma	98
21	Residual Respiratory Diagnoses	78, 83-84, 92-95, 99-102
Circulatory Syst	lem	
22	Valve Procedures Other Than CABG	104-105
23	Coronary Artery Bypass Graft	106-107
110	Other Heart Procedures	108
24	Major Vascular Procedures	110-111, 478-479
25	Vascular Procedures Other Than Major (PTCA)	112
26	Cardiac Pacemaker Procedures	115-118
27	Residual Circulatory System Procedures	109, 113-114, 119-120
28	Acute Myocardial Infarction	121-123
29	Cardiac Catheterization Except for AMI	124-125
30	Heart Failure and Shock (Congestive Heart Failure)	127
31	Peripheral Vascular Disorders	130-131

## TABLE 5. (CONTINUED)

MDRG	DRG Description	DRGs
Circulatory Sy	vstem, Continued	
32	Cardiac Arrhythmia	138-139
33	Angina Pectoris	140
34	Syncope and Collapse	141-142
35	Chest Pain	143
36	Residual Circulatory System Diagnoses	126, 129, 132-137, 144-145
111	Deep Vein Thrombosis	128
Digestive Syst	tem	
37	Major Small and Large Bowel Procedures	146-149
38	Stomach, Esophageal and Duodenal Procedures	154-156
39	Anal Procedures	157-158, 267
40	Inguinal and Femoral Hernia Procedures	159-163
41	Appendectomy	164-167
42	Residual Digestive System Procedures	150-153, 170-171
43	Gastro-Intestinal Hemorrhage	174-175
44	Gastro-Intestinal Obstruction	180-181
45	Adult Gastroenteritis	182-183
46	Pediatric Gastroenteritis	184
47	Residual Digestive System Diagnoses	172-173, 176-179, 188-190
Hepatobiliary	System	
48	Cholecystectomy	195-198, 493, 494
49	Other Hepatobiliary Procedures	191-194, 199-201
50	Biliary Tract Disorders	207-208
51	Other Hepatobiliary System Diagnoses 202-206	
Musculoskele	tal and Connective Tissue	
52	Major Joint Procedures	209, 471
53	Hip and Femur Procedures Other Than Major Joint	210-211
54	Back and Neck Procedures	214-215
55	Lower Extremity Procedures	218-219
56	Knee Procedures	221-222
57	Upper Extremity Procedures	223-224, 491
58	Residual Musculoskeletal Procedures	6, 212-213, 216-217, 220, 225-234
59	Hip, Femur, Pelvis Fracture	235-236
60	Medical Back Problems	243
61	Misc. Fracture/Sprain/Strain/Dislocation	250-255
62	Residual Musculoskeletal Diagnoses	237-242, 244-249, 256
Skin, Subcuta	neous Tissue and Breast	
63	Total and Subtotal Mastectomy	257-260
64	Other Skin/Tissue/Breast Procedures	261-266, 268-270
65	Cellulitis	277-279
66	Other Skin/Tissue/Breast Diagnoses	271-276, 280-284

## TABLE 5. (CONTINUED)

MDRG	DRG Description	DRGs
Endocrine, Nutri	itional and Metabolic	
67	Endocrine/Nutritional/Metabolic Procedures	285-293
68	Diabetes Age >=35	294
69	Adult Nutritional and Metabolic Disorders	296-297
70	Pediatric Nutritional and Metabolic Disorders	298
71	Residual Endocrine/Nutrional/Metabolic Diagnoses	295, 299-301
Kidney and Urin	ary System / Male Reproductive System	
72	Major Genito-Urinary Procedures	302-307, 334-335
73	Transurethral Prostatectomy	336-337
74	Transurethral Procedures Except TURP	310-311
75	Major Genito-Urinary Procedures	308-309, 312-315, 338-345
76	Kidney-Urinary Tract Infections	320-321
77	Urinary Tract Stones	323-324
78	Residual Kidney/Urinary System Diagnoses	316-319, 322, 325-333
79	Male Reproductive System Diagnoses	346-352
Female Reprodu	ictive System	
80	Uterus and Adnexa Procedures for Non-Malignant Conditions	358-359
81	Female Reproductive System Reconstructive Procedures	356
82	Residual Female Reproductive System Procedures 353-355, 357, 360-365	
83	Female Reproductive System Diagnoses 366-369	
Pregnancy-Relation	ted	
84	Cesarean Delivery	370-371
85	Vaginal Delivery 372-375	
86	Pregnancy Not Delivered	376-384
Newborns and N	leonates	
87	Newborns and Neonates	385-391
Blood and Blood	d Forming Organs	
88	Diagnoses of Blood and Blood Forming Organs	395-399
Myeloproliferativ	ve Diseases	
89	Chemotherapy	410, 492
90	Myeloproliferative/Lymphoma/Leukemia Diagnoses Other Than Chemotherapy	403-405, 409, 411-414
Infectious and P	arasitic Diseases	
91	Septicemia	416
92	Adult Viral Disease and Fever of Unknown Origin	419-421
93	Pediatric Viral Disease and Fever of Unknown Origin	422
94	Residual Infectious and Parasitic Diseases	417-418, 423, 489-490
Mental Diseases	and Disorders	
95	Psychoses	430
96	Other Mental Diseases and Disorders	425-429, 431-432

## TABLE 5. (CONTINUED)

MDRG	DRG Description	DRGs
Substance Use	9	
97	Substance Use Treatment, Left Against Medical Advice	433
98	Substance Use Detoxification (w/o Rehab) 434-435	
99	Substance Use Rehabilitation (with or w/o Detox) 436-437	
Injuries and A	dverse Effects	
100	Operating Room Procedures for Injuries	439-443
101	Toxic Effects of Drugs 449-450	
102	Other Injury Diagnoses w/o Procedure 444-448, 451-457, 487	
Health Status I	Factors	
103	Rehabilitation (Other Than for Substance Abuse)	462
104	Other Health Status Diagnoses 463-467	
Residual MDR	Gs	
105	Unrelated Operating Room Procedures	468
106	Respiratory Disease with Ventilator	475
107	Residual O.R. Procedures with Case Mix Index >=3.0	103, 392, 415, 458, 472-474, 480- 483, 485-486, 488
108	Residual O.R. Procedures with Case Mix Index <3.0	393-394, 400-402, 406-408, 424, 459-461

## 6.2 Adjusted Utilization Rates

Rates were adjusted using the indirect method for the following strata: sex, race (black, non-black) and age (65-69, 70-74, 75-79, 80-84, 85-99), with the 1994-95 national Medicare population as the standard, as described in Section 2.3, except that we also summed observed and expected HSA counts across years (1994 and 1995). Although the majority of events occurred at most once per person during the study period, we included multiple events to the same person to allow the rates to reflect total health care utilization.

Although standard errors of the rates were not reported, these estimates are, for the most part, precisely determined. The minimum Medicare population in an HRR is 14,930 residents, and all rates were based on an expected count of at least 20 events. The following precisions were obtained in the smallest HRR (the "worst case scenario") for an event rate of 5 per 1,000:

- For procedures related exclusively to males or females in this smallest HRR, the precision would be  $\pm 16\%$  of the true rate.
- For procedures related to the entire HRR, the precision would be  $\pm 12\%$ .
- For procedures in a median-sized HRR (N=64,000) the precision would be  $\pm 6\%$ .

In general, if we denote the event rate as *p* and the population size as *N*, the standard error is (p/N) ^0.5 and the precision, expressed as a percent of the true rate, is (se(p)/p)*100%.

## 6.3 Index of Variation: the SCV

The Systematic Component of Variation (SCV) was developed as a measure of the variation among the rates of admission across different areas that is not affected by the mean rate or the size of the population studied, as are other measures of variation. It can, therefore, be used to compare relative variations of different procedures or conditions, even when the mean rates differ substantially. It is typically used to classify procedures into categories of low, moderate, high and very high variation. Differences in the SCV among causes of admission can be tested by computing ratios of two SCVs and comparing them to the F distribution. The SCV is computed

by subtracting the random component of variation from the total variance. Further details on the computation of the SCV and its use are given in McPherson et al. (1982) and Wennberg et al (1984).

## 6.4 Measures of Association (R² and Regression Lines)

In this Atlas, we often suggest that some factors may be related in a systematic way to other factors. For example, in Chapter Three we hypothesize that regions with high rates of beds per thousand residents also have high rates of hospitalization for medical conditions. To capture the degree and extent of the association between hospital beds and medical hospitalizations in Figure 3.6, we put hospital beds per thousand residents on the horizontal axis and hospitalization rates per thousand residents on the vertical axis, and placed a point on the graph for each of the 306 hospital referral regions. If hospital beds and hospitalization rates were negatively correlated, so that regions with higher beds per thousand residents had lower per capita hospitalizations, then we might expect to see the cloud of points tilted downward, running from northwest to southeast. Conversely, if they were positively correlated — as they in fact are — the cloud of points would run from southwest to northeast on the graph, as seen in Figure 3.6.

It is sometimes difficult to discern from this cloud of points the relationship between two variables. A linear regression line provides the best fit of the data and summarizes the relationships between them. A measure of the 'goodness of fit' or the extent to which hospital beds per 1,000 residents predicts hospitalizations per 1,000 enrollees is the  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , which is defined as the proportion of total variation in the vertical axis (hospitalizations) that is explained by variation in the horizontal axis (beds). It can range between 0 and 1, where 1 is perfect correlation and 0 means that the two variables are completely unrelated. In Figure 3.6, the  $\mathbb{R}^2$  for the relationship between medical hospitalizations and hospital beds is 0.56, which means that the two are closely related — that 56% of the variation in medical hospitalizations per 1000 residents is related to the bed supply.

The regression lines and  $R^2$  statistics given in the text are not weighted for the size of the population. Weighted and unweighted  $R^2$  statistics were similar.



Figure 3.6. The Association Between Allocated Hospital Beds and Medicare Hospitalizations for Medical and Surgical Care and for Hip Fracture (1994-95)

## 7. American Experience of Death

Percent of Medicare deaths occurring in hospitals was computed similarly to the method used for Medicare hospitalization rates described in Section 6. In this case, however, the denominator was the Medicare enrollee population who died in 1994 or 1995 (see Section 1.4), and the "numerator event" was death in a hospital (discharge status = 'B' in MEDPAR file). Rates were age, sex and race adjusted as described in Section 6.2 and were expressed as a percentage of deaths.

For all rates pertaining to the last six months of life, the denominator was the 18 month 1994-95 deceased Medicare population, computed as the sum of one half the 1994 deaths and all the 1995 deaths, using the same criteria as above. For the percent of Medicare deaths who were admitted to the ICU in the last 6 months of life, the "numerator event" was death in a hospital between 7/1/94 and 12/31/95 with admission to an ICU within 6 months of the death date using MEDPAR files.

Average days in the hospital, average days in the ICU and average reimbursements for inpatient care per capita were computed using only the portion of the event (hospital stay or ICU stay) falling within the 6 month period (182 days) prior to death. Rates were age, sex and race adjusted as described in Section 6.2. Inpatient reimbursement rates were also price adjusted as described in Section 3.2.

#### 8. Surgical Procedure Rates

The rates of inpatient surgery in Chapter Five are based on the MEDPAR files for 1994 and 1995. To ensure that the population included in the numerator corresponded to the denominator population, restrictions were applied to exclude the following records: Medicare enrollees under age 65 or over age 99 on June 30, 1994 or 1995; Medicare enrollees in risk-bearing HMOs; MEDPAR records with a length of stay over 365 days; and hospitalizations at psychiatric, rehabilitation or long term care units (provider codes = S, T, U or V; facility type not equal to S; third digit of Medicare provider number not equal to 0). The denominators are the 1994-95 Medicare enrollee population described in Section 1.4.

## 8.1 Procedures examined in Chapter Five

The procedure codes used in Chapter Five are listed in Table 4. The procedure codes used in the MEDPAR file are based on the International Classification of Disease, ICD-9-CM. Selection of procedure codes was based on review of the literature and/ or consultation with clinical experts. No rate was based on a count of fewer than 20 expected events for reasons of statistical precision.

### 8.2 Calculation of Adjusted Procedure-Specific Rates

All rates were indirectly adjusted for age, sex and race, with the 1994-95 Medicare population as the standard, as described in Sections 2.3 and 6.2, except that sex-specific population estimates were used for prostate and breast procedures.

## 9. The Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey (MCBS)

Chapter 6 considers the correspondence among hospital bed capacity, utilization and self-reported health. This issue was also addressed by Ashby et al (1986) who found that states with higher Medicare expenditures also had lower levels of selfreported health. We turned to the Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey (MCBS) to reexamine this issue.

The MCBS is a continuous multi-purpose survey of a representative sample of the entire Medicare population, with oversampling of the old-old, the disabled, and those living in institutional settings (HCFA, 1992). Survey participants complete three rounds of surveys each year throughout their participation in the study. The sample was drawn from 107 primary sampling units (PSU) consisting of counties or groups of counties intended to be representative of the U.S. Within those PSUs, sampling was further restricted to certain geographic areas (sub-PSUs, n = 1,163), based on the ZIP Code of residence of the beneficiary, again with the goal of maintaining representativeness while economizing on interviewer travel. Beneficiaries within each area were then sampled randomly within age strata, with oversampling of the disabled under age 65 and the oldest beneficiaries (age 85 and over).

Participants are interviewed three times each year, wherever they reside and with the interview tailored to reflect the setting and using proxy respondents where necessary. Survey items include a core of data that are repeated at each subsequent interview on utilization, charges and payments for health care and a supplement that focuses on other domains. Critical to this analysis is the supplement on Access and Satisfaction, which was carried out on Round 1 (Fall 1991) and is repeated annually thereafter (Rounds 4, 7, 10 etc.). In addition to data on access and satisfaction, this supplement includes detailed questions on self-assessed health status, current health conditions and physical function.

The study population for this analysis (N=8,860) was created by taking Round 4 of the 1992 wave of the MCBS and excluding persons under age 65, those who were institutionalized and answered questions by proxy and those enrolled in risk-bearing HMOs. We matched each individual with his or her 1993 Medicare claims data on health care utilization and appended regional-level information about health resources from the Atlas database. Thus we were able to measure health characteristics of people who live in regions with relatively high, and relatively low, levels of hospital beds or Medicare spending.

Individuals' total 1993 hospital days were summed and hospital days per capita were computed by self-reported health status (poor, fair, good, very good, and excellent). To assess the dependence on hospital resources, they were also computed separately by hospital bed supply in the region (above vs. below the median). These were indirectly standardized by age and sex using the 1993 Medicare population as the standard, as described in Sections 2.3 and 6.2.

To compute the expected number of hospital days as predicted by self-reported health status, according to quintile of hospital beds, we used regression analysis to predict hospital days based on self-reported health, age and sex in each quintile of hospital beds. Quintiles (20th percentiles) were computed by taking (weighted) intervals of the sorted data for MCBS respondents and ranged from the lowest quintile with the fewest hospital beds to the highest quintile with the most hospital beds.

## 10. Calculation of Illness Adjusted Rates

Reimbursement and hospital resource rates were occasionally adjusted for Medicare population illness characteristics in Chapters Six and Seven. The measures of illness used were the age, sex and race adjusted 1994-95 HSA-level mortality rate and incidence rates for five conditions. The conditions selected consisted of specific events for which hospitalization is a proxy for the incidence of disease: hospitalizations for hip fracture, cancer of the colon or lung treated surgically, gastrointestinal hemorrhage, acute myocardial infarction or stroke (Wennberg, NEJM 1984; Wennberg, Lancet 1987). The above rates were computed as described in Section 6.

To obtain age-sex-race-illness indirectly standardized rates, we first used modeling techniques to obtain the HSA age-sex-race stratum-specific expected counts (or dollars). The models consisted of regressing the HSA stratum-specific crude Medicare outcome rates on age, sex, race, all age-sex-race interactions, HSA-specific adjusted mortality rate and the five HSA-specific adjusted illness rates described above, and weighting by the stratum-specific Medicare population. The models were then used to predict expected HSA stratum-specific counts (or dollars) and summed to the HRR level. The HRR level expected counts were used as denominators in the indirectly standardized rates, as described in Section 2.3. This technique standardizes to the national Medicare population.

### 11. Benchmarking

The variations in per capita resource allocations and utilization among HRRs provide the basis for asking "What if?" questions. For example, if the number of hospital beds per 1,000 residents in a particular HRR were the upper limit for beds in all HRRs in the United States, so that all areas with higher rates were brought down to that benchmark, how many fewer beds would be required? Or, if the numbers of primary care physicians per 100,000 residents observed for another HRR were the standard for your HRR, how many more or how many fewer primary physicians would be needed? Chapter Seven provides examples of how benchmarking can be applied to answer such questions. For example, in Figure 7.4, the physician supply in the United States was compared to the physician workforce employed in a large staff model HMO. The HMO physician rates were obtained from a study of HMO physician workforce market dynamics sponsored by the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (personal communication, David Kindig, M.D., University of Wisconsin). The study protocols were designed to take out-of-plan use into account in estimating the per capita size of the workforce. The HMO workforce rates, like the rates for HRRs, were age and sex adjusted to the U.S. population as described in Section 4.3. Thus, the rates can be compared without concern that differences in age and sex structure might explain the observed differences.

The strategies for benchmarking used in Chapter Seven permit comparisons of adjusted rates across areas and provide estimates of the numbers of physicians (or acute care beds) in excess of the benchmark health plan or HRR. The rates in Table A in The Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States provide the data from which the information in Figure 7.4 — the supply of physicians in the United States benchmarked to a large HMO — was derived. For example, the ratio of U.S. rates for orthopedic surgeons (7.10 per 100,000 residents) to the HMO employment pattern (4.52 per 100,000 enrollees) is 1.57, indicating a 57% surplus in the national supply, if the HMO was used as the benchmark. According to this benchmark, the number of orthopedic physicians in the U.S. in excess of "need" is obtained by evaluating:

## (U.S. rate - HMO rate) x (U.S Population/100,000) = (7.10 - 4.52) x (2,623.1) = 6,769 physicians

Figures 7.3, 7.5 and 7.6 compare the U.S. experience to various HRR benchmarks simultaneously. The estimates we provide for resource savings assume that all regions with higher levels of resources and utilization than the benchmark are reduced to the benchmark level, but that regions with resources and utilization lower than the benchmark remain constant - that is, their resources and utilization are not increased. For example, in Figure 7.5, Minneapolis ranks 226th in terms of age and

sex adjusted supply of selected specialists. If the rate in the Minneapolis benchmark prevailed in the 225 HRRs with higher rates of selected specialists, the estimated excess number of these specialists is 55,395, and is computed as:

The sum of

{ (HRR rate - Minneapolis rate) x (HRR Population/100,000) } over all HRRs with higher rates of specialists than Minneapolis

A similar formula is used to compare two areas, such as Boston and New Haven. Note that the higher the rank of the benchmark HRR (i.e. the lower the resource rate in that HRR), the greater will be the estimated excess resources in the U.S. when using the specified HRR as a benchmark.

The AAPCC refers to Medicare's Adjusted Average Per Capita Costs, which is HCFA's method for determining capitation payments for risk-bearing HMOs. HCFA computes it as the 5 year rolling average of the actual fee-for-service Medicare expenditures at the county level, and adjusts for age, sex and race. To evaluate the consequences of differences in the AAPCC across HRRs, county-specific AAPCCs were first converted to HSA-specific AAPCCs. For each HSA, the weighted average of county level AAPCCs was first computed for all counties covering this HSA, weighting by the proportion of the HSA Medicare population living in that county. AAPCCs were illness and price adjusted using methods described in Sections 3.2 and 10. These were then converted to the HRR level by computing the weighted average of the HSA-specific AAPCCs, weighting by the HSA Medicare population. To estimate the "surplus" dollars per enrollee that would be available under Medicare risk contracts if managed care companies in selected regions achieved the Minneapolis benchmark for efficient health care delivery, we computed the difference between a region's AAPCC and the Minneapolis HRR.

The data in the tables in the Atlas are adjusted to the U.S. population and can be used to benchmark the experience in your own region to the region of your choice. Find the rate in your own area for the resource allocation, hospitalization or procedure rate of interest. Then identify the benchmark region to which you wish to make the comparison. The ratio of the experience in your region to the benchmark is obtained by dividing your rate by the rate in the benchmark region. The numbers of hospital beds, personnel, expenditures, physicians, hospitalizations, or diagnostic or surgical procedures above or below the benchmark is obtained by the following formula:

## (your HRR rate - benchmark rate) x (your HRR population/rate convention) = excess (+) or deficit (-) in resources, hospitalizations, procedures, according to the selected benchmark

The "rate convention," i.e., the denomination used for calculating population rates in the tables presented in Chapter Seven, is: for reimbursements, per 1,000 enrollees; for procedures and hospitalizations, per 1,000 Medicare enrollees; for hospital beds and personnel, per 1,000 residents; and for the physician workforce, per 100,000 residents.

Note that data benchmarked using Medicare procedure rates per thousand enrollees are for a two-year period, 1994-95; the appropriate population is the two-year Medicare enrollee estimate given in the table in Chapter Five. For readability, the rates in the Atlas tables have been rounded, usually to one place to the right of the decimal point. Data displayed in the figures in Chapters One through Seven are fully precise. As a result, calculations of the numbers in the benchmark figures starting from the rounded numbers in the tables yield approximatly, but not exactly, the same estimates. Despite the rounding, the precision in the tables is sufficient for making comparisons between regions. The machine-readable data base available with the Atlas can be used to achieve full precision.

1994/95 CABG and PTCA rates for persons aged 65 and over in Toronto and Ontario (Canada) used for benchmarking in Chapter 7 were estimated from data provided by the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences in Ontario (ICES Atlas and personal communication).

# Appendix on the Geography of Health Care in the United States*

The use of health care resources in the United States is highly localized. Most Americans use the services of physicians whose practices are nearby. Physicians, in turn, are usually affiliated with hospitals that are near their practices. As a result, when patients are admitted to hospitals, the admission generally takes place within a relatively short distance of where the patient lives. This is true across the United States. Although the distances from homes to hospitals vary with geography – people who live in rural areas travel farther than those who live in cities – in general most patients are admitted to a hospital close to where they live which provides an appropriate level of care.

The Medicare program maintains exhaustive records of hospitalizations, which makes it possible to define the patterns of use of hospital care. When Medicare enrollees are admitted to hospitals, the program's records identify both the patients' places of residence (by ZIP Code) and the hospitals where the admissions took place (by unique numerical identifiers). These files provide a reliable basis for determining the geographic pattern of health care use, because research shows that the migration patterns of patients in the Medicare program are similar to those for younger patients.

Medicare records of hospitalizations were used to define 3,436 geographically distinct hospital service areas in the United States. In each hospital service area, most of the care received by Medicare patients is provided in hospitals within the area. Based on the patterns of care for major cardiovascular surgery and neurosurgery, hospital service areas were aggregated into 306 hospital referral regions; this Atlas reports on patterns of care in these hospital referral regions.

## How Hospital Service Areas Were Defined

Hospital service areas were defined through a three-step process. First, all acute care hospitals in the 50 states and the District of Columbia were identified from the American Hospital Association and Medicare provider files and assigned to the town or city in which they were located. The name of the town or city was used

as the name of the hospital service area, even though the area might have extended well beyond the political boundary of the town. For example, the Mt. Ascutney Hospital is in Windsor, Vermont. The area is called the Windsor hospital service area, even though the area serves several other communities.

In the second step, all 1992 and 1993 Medicare hospitalization records for each hospital were analyzed to ascertain the ZIP Code of each of its patients. When a town or city had more than one hospital, the counts were added together. Using a plurality rule, each ZIP Code was assigned on a provisional basis to the town containing the hospitals most often used by local residents.

The analysis of the patterns of use of care by Medicare patients led to the provisional assignment of five post office ZIP Codes to the Windsor hospital service area.

ZIP Code	Community Name	1990 Population	% of Medicare Discharges to Mt. Ascutney Hospital
05037	Brownsville	415	52.8
05048	Hartland	1,730	46.8
05053	Pomfret	245	52.6
05062	Reading	614	36.8
05089	Windsor	5,406	63.2

The third step involved the visual examination of the ZIP Codes using a computergenerated map to make sure that the ZIP Codes included in the hospital service areas were contiguous. In the case of the Windsor area, inspection of the map led to the reassignment of Pomfret to the Lebanon hospital service area. In the final determination, the Windsor hospital service area contained four communities and a total population of 8,165. (See Map A)

Details about the method of constructing hospital service areas are given in The Appendix on Methods.



## Map A. ZIP Codes Assigned to the Windsor, Vermont, Hospital Service Area

The analysis of the pattern of use of hospitals revealed that Medicare enrollees living in the five ZIP Code areas in light blue most often used the Mt. Ascutney Hospital in Windsor, Vermont. To maintain geographic continuity of hospital service areas, the Pomfret ZIP Code 05053 was reassigned to the Lebanon hospital service area. The Windsor hospital service area contained four communities, with a 1990 census of 8,165. During 1992-93, there were 679 hospitalizations among the Medicare population; 394 (58%) were to Mt. Ascutney Hospital, 131 to the Mary Hitchcock Memorial Hospital, and 154 to other hospitals.

#### Hospital Service Areas in the United States

The documentation of the patterns of use of hospitals according to Medicare enrollee ZIP Codes during 1992-93 led to the aggregation of approximately 42,000 ZIP Codes into 3,436 hospital service areas. In each area, more Medicare patients were hospitalized locally than in any other single hospital service area. The propensity of patients to use local hospitals is measured by the localization index, which is the percentage of all residents' hospitalizations that occur in local hospitals (the number of local hospitalizations of residents divided by all hospitalizations of residents). This index varied from a low of 17.9% to over 94%. More than 85% of Americans lived in hospital service areas where the majority of Medicare hospitalizations index.



#### Figure A. Cumulative Percentage of Population of the United States According to the Hospital Service Area Localization Index (1992-93)

The localization index is the proportion of all hospitalizations for area residents that occur in a hospital or hospitals within the area. The figure shows the localization index for Medicare patients in 3,436 hospital service areas, according to the cumulative proportion of the population living in the region. Most of the population lived in regions where more than 50% of hospitalizations occurred locally. exceeded 70%.

In 1993, most Americans lived in hospital service areas with three or fewer local hospitals. Eighty-two percent, or 2,830, of all hospital service areas, which comprised 39% of the population in 1990, had only one hospital. Four hundred twenty-eight hospital service areas, which comprised 23% of the United States population, had either two or three hospitals. One hundred seventy-eight, or less than 6% of hospital service areas, had four or more local hospitals and comprised about 37% of the population of the United States.



# Map B. Hospital Service Areas According to the Number of Acute Care Hospitals

Thirty-nine percent of the population of the United States lived in areas with one hospital (buff); 15% lived in areas with two hospitals (light orange); 8.4% lived in areas with three hospitals ( bright orange); and 37% of the population lived in areas with four or more hospitals within the hospital service area (red).

**Count of Acute Care Hospitals** by Hospital Service Area (1993)

4 or more	(178 HSAs)
3	(106)
2	(322)
1	(2,830)
Not Popul	ated

## How Hospital Referral Regions Were Defined

Hospital service areas make clear the patterns of use of local hospitals. A significant proportion of care, however, is provided by referral hospitals that serve a larger region. Hospital referral regions were defined in this Atlas by documenting where patients were referred for major cardiovascular surgical procedures and for neurosurgery. Each hospital service area was examined to determine where most of its residents went for these services. The result was the aggregation of the 3,436 hospital service areas into 306 hospital referral regions. Each hospital referral region had at least one city where both major cardiovascular surgical procedures and neurosurgery were performed. Maps were used to make sure that the small number of "orphan" hospital service areas – those surrounded by hospital service areas allocated to a different hospital referral region – were reassigned, in almost all cases, to ensure geographic contiguity. Hospital referral regions were pooled with neighbors if their populations were less than 120,000 or if less than 65% of their residents' hospital-izations occurred within the region.

Hospital referral regions were named for the hospital service area containing the referral hospital or hospitals most often used by residents of the region. The regions sometimes cross state boundaries. The Evansville, Indiana, hospital referral region (Map C) provides an example of a region that is located in three states: Illinois, Indiana, and Kentucky. In this region, three hospitals provided cardiovascular surgery services. Two were in Evansville; a third hospital, in Vincennes, Indiana, also provided cardiovascular surgery, but in the years of this study residents of the Vincennes area used cardiovascular and neurosurgery procedures provided in Evansville more frequently than those in Vincennes, resulting in the assignment of the Vincennes hospital service area to the Evansville hospital referral region.

Map C also provides an example of a region with a population too small to meet the minimum criterion for designation as a hospital referral region. The Madisonville, Kentucky, hospital service area met the criterion as a hospital referral region on the basis of the plurality rule, but its population was less than 57,000. The area was assigned to the Paducah, Kentucky, hospital referral region because hospitals in Paducah were the second most commonly used place of care for cardiovascular and neurosurgical procedures.



## Map C. Hospital Service Areas Assigned to the Evansville, Indiana, Hospital Referral Region

Hospital referral regions are named for the hospital service area containing the referral hospital or hospitals most often used by residents of the region. Hospital referral regions overlap state boundaries in every state except Alaska and Hawaii. The Evansville, Indiana, hospital referral region is in parts of three states: Illinois, Indiana, and Kentucky.

# Maps of Hospital Referral Regions in the United States

The maps on the following pages outline the boundaries of the hospital referral regions. Although in some regions more than one city provided referral care, each hospital referral region was named for the city where most patients receiving major cardiovascular surgical procedures and neurosurgery were referred for care.



Map D. New England Hospital Referral Regions



Map E. Northeast Hospital Referral Regions



Map F. South Atlantic Hospital Referral Regions



Map G. Southeast Hospital Referral Regions



Map H. South Central Hospital Referral Regions



Map I. Southwest Hospital Referral Regions



Map J. Great Lakes Hospital Referral Regions



Map K. Upper Midwest Hospital Referral Regions



Map L. Rocky Mountains Hospital Referral Regions



Map M. Pacific Northwest Hospital Referral Regions



Map N. Pacific Coast Hospital Referral Regions

## Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States

Traditional approaches to workforce planning in the United States have depended on need-based or demand-based planning to find the "appropriate" supply of physicians (Chapter Seven). Both approaches have serious flaws. An alternative approach to estimating the reasonable number of physicians relies on benchmarking. Comparing physician resources with a benchmark health plan or region provides a guidepost that does not depend on a hypothetical optimal physician level but depends on a realworld and attainable health care system (Chapter Seven).

While the "optimal" number of physicians for a given population is unknown, benchmarking offers a method of examining health plans and communities in order to select those that achieve low levels of deployment of clinically active physicians without a measured loss of patient welfare due to a shortage of physicians.

In this appendix, we compare the national and regional workforce of clinically active physicians with three benchmarks. These benchmarks, a large health maintenance organization and the Minneapolis, Minnesota and Wichita, Kansas hospital referral regions, were selected because of their apparent efficiency. The Minneapolis hospital referral region has high managed care penetration (39.4% in 1995), and the Wichita hospital referral region is a predominantly fee-for-service market with low managed care penetration (4.5% in 1995). In contrast to the populations served by health maintenance organizations, the populations in hospital referral regions are based on geographic residence and therefore are not biased by selection against the disabled, the uninsured, and the very elderly.

The first section of this appendix includes 14 maps which benchmark the supply of generalists, "selected specialists" (as a group) and specialist physicians (by specialty) in the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States to the corresponding supplies of physicians Minneapolis and Wichita hospital referral regions and to the workforce employed by a large West Coast health maintenance organization. With each map is a chart giving the number of hospital referral regions in the United States with workforces in excess of the three benchmarks; the percentage of the

population of the United States which lives in hospital referral regions with workforces in excess of the benchmarks; and the estimated number of excess physicians in the United States workforce, if the rate in the benchmark were the rate in all regions with supplies of physicians higher than the benchmark (and rates in regions with lower supplies of physicians than the benchmark stayed the same).

Table A contains information on the supplies of generalists and selected specialists in each of the 306 hospital referral regions. Any one of these can be used as a benchmark; for example, demographically similar regions might be compared in order to assess differences in physician supply, and to make estimates similar to those included in the series of maps.

Table B contains, for the 306 hospital referral regions in the United States, the numbers of physicians per 100,000 residents in 12 specialties: anesthesiology, cardiology, emergency care, general surgery, neurosurgery, obstetrics/gynecology, ophthalmology, orthopedic surgery, pathology, radiology, and urology.



#### Map A.1. Generalists

Benchmark

Minneapolis

Wichita

HMO

# Regions

Higher

75

137

288

<b>Map A.1</b>
----------------

Seventy-five hospital referral regions (32.1% of the population of the United States in 1995) had per capita generalist workforces that were higher than the per capita supply of generalists in the Minneapolis hospital referral region. If regions with higher rates had reduced their generalist physician supplies to the level in Minneapolis (and regions with lower supplies of generalists had remained the same), there would have been a surplus of 9,951 generalist physicians in the United States. Using the Wichita benchmark predicts an surplus of 17,704 generalists. Only 18 hospital referral regions in the United States had per capita supplies of generalists lower than the staffing level of the HMO.


### Map A.2.

нмо

Wichita

The majority of hospital referral regions in the United States had higher per capita specialist physician workforces than any of the benchmarks. Two hundred twenty-five regions had higher supplies of specialists than the Minneapolis hospital referral region; 275 had higher supplies than the HMO workforce; and 288 of 306 had higher supplies than the Wichita hospital referral region. Almost 85% of the population of the United States lived in regions with higher per capita supplies of specialists than the Minneapolis hospital referral region; more than 95% of the population lived in regions with higher per capita supplies of specialists than those enrolled in the health maintenance organization; and nearly the entire population (97.1%) lived in regions with higher per capita specialist workforces than the specialist workforce allocated to the Wichita hospital referral region. There would have been a surplus of 83,066 specialist physicians in the United States, if the specialist workforce in all regions with higher rates had been reduced to the level of the Wichita benchmark.



### Map A.3. Cardiologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
Minneapolis	221	87.2%	5,641
Wichita	261	93.8%	7,062
НМО	301	99.5%	9,435

Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Cardiologists (1996)

Greater Than Minneapolis HRR (3.8/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than Wichita HRR (3.2/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than HMO (2.3/100,000 Enrollees)
 Less Than or Equal to HMO
 Not Populated



### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Neurologists (1996)



### Map A.4. Neurologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
Minneapolis	25	13.5%	527
HMO	258	92.0%	3,832
Wichita	263	93.1%	3,982



### Map A.5. Emergency Medicine Physicians

17

235

294

% U.S.

# Regions

Higher

Benchmark

Minneapolis

HMO

Wichita

### Maps A.3., A.4., A.5.

The majority of hospital referral regions in the United States had higher numbers of cardiologists and emergency medicine specialists than the Minneapolis and Wichita hospital referral regions, although only 17 regions had higher per capita supplies of emergency medicine physicians than the HMO. Only 25 regions had higher per capita supplies of neurologists than the Minneapolis hospital referral region, but more than 90% of the population of the United States lived in hospital referral regions with higher per capita supplies of neurologists than the levels of the HMO and Wichita benchmarks. Estimates of the surplus number of cardiologists in the United States ranged from 5,641 (compared to the Minneapolis benchmark) to 9,435 (compared to the HMO benchmark.) Estimates of the surplus number of neurologists ranged from 527 (compared to the Minneapolis benchmark) to almost 4,000 (compared to the Wichita benchmark). Compared to the HMO benchmark, the United States had a surplus of only 134 emergency medicine specialists; but compared to the Wichita benchmark, there was a surplus of 9,408 emergency medicine doctors.



### Map A.6. Orthopedic Surgeons

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
Minneapolis	146	54.4%	1,855
Wichita	244	84.0%	3,646
НМО	299	98.7%	6,768

### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Orthopedic Surgeons (1996)

Greater Than Minneapolis HRR (6.8/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than Wichita HRR (5.8/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than HMO (4.5/100,000 Enrollees)
 Less Than or Equal to HMO
 Not Populated



### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for General Surgeons (1996)

Greater Than Wichita HRR (9.1/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than Minneapolis HRR (6.9/100,000 Residents)
 Greater Than HMO (4.4/100,000 Enrollees)
 Less Than or Equal to HMO
 Not Populated

### Map A.7 General Surgeons

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
Wichita	114	35.3%	1,331
Minneapolis	275	93.9%	5,196
HMO	306	100.0%	11,495



### Maps A.6., A.7., A.8.

The orthopedic, general, and neurologic surgery workforces in almost all regions of the United States exceeded the HMO benchmark. The supply of surgeons in all three specialties was substantially above the number in the benchmarks, ranging from an estimated 1,112 surplus neurosurgeons, compared to the Minneapolis hospital referral region, to 11,495 general surgeons compared to the HMO benchmark. 98.7% of the population of the United States lived in regions with higher supplies of orthopedic surgeons than were employed by the HMO; 99.9% lived in regions with higher supplies of neurosurgeons than were employed by the HMO; and 100% lived in regions with higher supplies of general surgeons than were employed by the HMO.



### Map A.9. Urologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
HMO	211	74.2%	1,366
Wichita	221	76.9%	1,494
Minneapolis	265	88.9%	2,044

Not Populated

### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Urologists (1996)





### Map A.10. Obstetrics/Gynecologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
НМО	260	91.8%	8,484
Minneapolis	263	92.4%	9,023
Wichita	274	95.0%	10,127



### # Regions

Benchmark

Minneapolis

НМО

Wichita

Maps	A.9	A.10	A.11.

The majority of Americans lived in regions with higher supplies of urologists, obstetrician/gynecologists, and ophthalmologists than any of the benchmarks. The HMO employed more urologists and obstetrician/gynecologists than either the Minneapolis or the Wichita hospital referral regions, and substantially more ophthalmologists were deployed to the residents of the Minneapolis hospital referral region than to the enrollees of the HMO or the residents of the Wichita hospital referral region. All three benchmarks predict substantial excess capacity in obstetrics/ gynecology.



### Map A.12. Anesthesiologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
HMO	234	85.5%	7,135
Wichita	243	87.6%	7,714
Minneapolis	255	90.3%	8,423

### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Anesthesiologists (1996)





### Regions Where Workforce Exceeds Benchmarks for Radiologists (1996)



### Map A.13. Radiologists

Benchmark	# Regions Higher	% U.S. Population	Excess Physicians
Wichita	200	75.8%	4,472
Minneapolis	207	76.9%	4,540
HMO	241	87.5%	5,516



Benchmark

Minneapolis

Wichita

HMO

### Maps A.12., A.13., A.14.

Virtually all regions of the United States, and nearly its entire population, lived in regions with higher per capita supplies of pathologists than were employed by the HMO; benchmarking the national supply of pathologists to the HMO predicts a surplus of 6,573 full time equivalents. The Minneapolis hospital referral region's supply of anesthesiologists was somewhat higher than the HMO's, but all three benchmarks predict an excess supply of anesthesiologists of more than 7,000 full time equivalents (8,423 compared to the Minneapolis benchmark). The three benchmarks also predict a substantial surplus of radiologists.

PHYSICIAN APPENDIX TABLE A This table contains the rates of full time equivalent physicians in "selected specialties" and generalists. (Selected specialists are those specialists actually employed by the health maintenance organization. The category therefore does not include such specialties as forensic pathology. See the endnote for further information.) All rates are age and sex adjusted and corrected for out of area use. See the Appendix on Methods for details.

The data in this table provide benchmarks for each hospital referral region. The benchmarks are used to answer the question: If all regions with higher workforce rates were brought down to the rate of the benchmark region, and all regions with rates below the benchmark remained the same, how many excess physicians would there have been in the United States in 1996? For example, if in 1996 the supply of generalists in all regions with more generalists per 100,000 than were allocated to the Birmingham, Alabama hospital referral region had been reduced to the level of the Birmingham benchmark, the calculated surplus number of generalists in the United States would be 28,816.

This approach to benchmarking was used in developing the workforce maps in this appendix (Physician Appendix Maps A.1-A.14). The benchmark question can, of course, be framed differently. One strategy poses the obverse question: if all regions with lower rates were brought up to the benchmark (and those with higher rates were left the same), how many additional physicians would be required? And the benchmark question can also be framed in another way: If all regions with higher rates were brought down to the benchmark, and all those with lower rates were brought up to the benchmark, how many physicians would there be in excess (or deficit) of the current supply of clinically active physicians in the United States? The data provided in the computer disks accompanying this edition of the Atlas make it possible to calculate, using any of the above strategies, the surpluses or deficits in the physicians workforces in any hospital referral region. The same methods can be applied to calculate the excess or deficit in the rates of hospitalization, surgical procedures, and resource allocation rates contained in the database.

### PHYSICIAN APPENDIX TABLE A

### Benchmarks for Clinically Active Generalists and Selected Specialists in the 306 Hospital Referral Regions in the United States (1996)

I'd Rejon		1,515		March Leo	Specialists		pecalists no to HPP
-Spital Role:	ote of Gene.	ant of Regi	Cere Sere	ano main select	TH OF REGI	5815-2010	it.
Ho	\$ ¹⁰	<i>4</i> %	Et 1. 1486	\$ ⁴⁰	Q.0.	Et. Bellin	
Alabama							
Birmingham	54.88	217	28,816	90.3	189	49,447	
Dothan	53.02	244	32,839	84.1	250	63,045	
Huntsville	54.30	226	30,023	80.4	273	71,975	
Mobile	51.34	259	36,829	99.7	128	32,638	
Montgomery	49.59	272	41,063	82.2	259	67,575	
Tuscaloosa	56.64	194	25,341	87.2	230	56,008	
Alaska							
Anchorage	72.96	42	6,576	101.9	112	29,507	
Arizona							
Mesa	52.96	246	32,984	87.3	228	55,611	
Phoenix	59.48	158	20,328	103.9	98	26,864	
Sun City	64.35	105	13,426	121.4	40	11,720	
Tucson	63.26	118	14,810	102.7	107	28,407	
Arkansas							
Fort Smith	57.74	185	23,293	78.8	280	76,083	
Jonesboro	53.92	235	30,821	72.5	296	92,284	
Little Rock	57.73	188	23,310	93.6	169	42,997	
Springdale	58.42	174	22,100	78.9	279	75,767	
Texarkana	53.45	239	31,874	75.9	290	83,434	
California							
Orange Co.	73.12	40	6,489	121.7	39	11,572	
Bakersfield	49.55	273	41,173	86.1	236	58,342	
Chico	55.30	207	27,972	104.6	96	26,086	
Contra Costa Co.	69.25	61	8,949	128.5	31	8,465	
Fresno	54.57	220	29,457	87.5	224	55,281	
Los Angeles	64.87	98	12,816	115.1	53	15,690	
Modesto	54.33	225	29,948	84.9	241	61,130	
Napa	89.04	9	997	143.6	18	3,269	
Alameda Co.	82.16	24	2,446	122.7	37	11,083	
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	55.47	206	27,628	125.4	35	9,811	
Redding	68.45	70	9,551	106.3	85	24,042	
Sacramento	64.95	97	12,731	105.3	92	25,180	
Salinas	60.44	144	18,841	117.8	48	13,896	
San Bernardino	49.76	271	40,645	81.9	263	68,355	
San Diego	61.12	140	17,822	115.8	52	15,253	
San Francisco	102.10	3	37	157.7	7	670	
San Jose	69.17	62	9,001	111.9	64	18,491	
San Luis Obispo	77.60	30	4,387	137.9	23	5,115	
San Mateo Co.	72.30	45	6,958	140.5	21	4,228	
Santa Barbara	73.34	39	6,373	125.6	34	9,752	

lion	/	/	/		cialists	
18H8 Pers	<b>Bealist</b>	in in it is the second se	i erali	at at at acted	Net dior	eter ding th
-Sila Pee	16 A Cert	11t 01 2005	Cellidi	ichnic sele	ont of Ress	sests acount
40.	Q.0.	8 ⁻⁰	67 9. Het.	Q.0.	Q.0.	CAL BOUND
Santa Cruz	73.92	37	6,079	133.7	24	6,557
Santa Rosa	84.08	18	1,807	130.9	25	7,518
Stockton	50.25	266	39,446	89.7	194	50,637
Ventura	68.45	69	9,548	119.0	46	13,120
Colorado						
Boulder	85.01	11	1,594	129.7	29	7,988
Colorado Springs	58.99	165	21,142	101.9	111	29,433
Denver	69.10	64	9,055	114.7	57	16,043
Fort Collins	61.76	135	16,898	97.8	140	35,616
Grand Junction	/1.2/	50	7,593	100.9	121	30,836
Greeley	62.57	128	15,757	97.8	141	35,631
Pueblo	70.85	53	7,860	106.9	82	23,430
Connecticut			0.004	4.80.8		
Bridgeport	83.16	20	2,091	153.5	11	1,054
Hartford	68.31	72	9,655	130.6	26	7,625
New Haven	74.60	34	5,742	140.7	20	4,177
Delaware						
Wilmington	65.51	89	12,169	105.5	89	24,933
District of Columbia				(		
Washington	84.52	15	1,681	157.8	6	662
Fiorida						
Productor	40.25	200	44 174	102.7	106	29.407
Bradenton	48.35	280	44,174	102.7	106	28,407
Bradenton Clearwater	48.35 63.91	280 110	44,174 13,968	102.7 111.4	106 65	28,407 18,925
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale	48.35 63.91 68.38	280 110 71	44,174 13,968 9,603	102.7 111.4 130.1	106 65 28	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46	280 110 71 222	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3	106 65 28 84	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79	280 110 71 222 134	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,407	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6	106 65 28 84 170	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 26,565
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03	280 110 71 222 134 213	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8	106 65 28 84 170 144	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03 59.90 48.80	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8	106 65 28 84 170 144 88 200	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,450
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03 59.90 48.80	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 102.8	106 65 28 84 170 144 88 209	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,180
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03 59.90 48.80 83.00	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2	106 65 28 84 170 144 88 209 30	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,597
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03 59.90 48.80 83.00 45.58	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 27.0	106 65 28 84 170 144 88 209 30 182	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 27,024
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando	48.35 63.91 68.38 54.46 61.79 55.03 59.90 48.80 83.00 45.58 53.99 54.00	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,720	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           457	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,522
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Brange City	48.35       63.91         68.38       54.46         61.79       55.03         59.90       48.80         83.00       45.58         53.99       54.92         54.92       45.17	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 202	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,211	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0 95.0 95.0	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         68.25	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 231 216 292	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 24,882	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0 95.0 89.7 102.7	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,284
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miarni Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.26	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,460	102.7           111.4           130.1           106.3           93.6           97.3           105.8           88.3           129.2           91.8           97.0           95.0           89.7           102.7           129.0	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           105           22	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,602
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola St Beberburg	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         69.95	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 231 216 292 171 137 67	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165	102.7           111.4           130.1           106.3           93.6           97.3           105.8           88.3           129.2           91.8           97.0           95.0           89.7           102.7           128.0           112.0	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           32           62	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.72	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 197	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 22,200	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0 95.0 89.7 102.7 128.0 113.0 98.2	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           105           32           62	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 52,720
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.42         64.77         55.03         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.90	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 187	44,174           13,968           9,603           29,682           16,854           28,497           19,662           43,043           2,141           51,264           30,669           28,729           52,311           21,883           17,469           9,165           23,309           19,530	102.7         111.4         130.1         106.3         93.6         97.3         105.8         88.3         129.2         91.8         97.0         95.0         89.7         102.7         128.0         113.0         88.2         105.4	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           32           62           211	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa Genergia	48.35       63.91       68.38       54.46       61.79       55.03       59.90       48.80       83.00       45.58       53.99       54.92       45.17       58.55       61.36       68.95       57.73       59.99	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151	44,174         13,968         9,603         29,682         16,854         28,497         19,662         43,043         2,141         51,264         30,669         28,729         52,311         21,883         17,469         9,165         23,309         19,530	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0 95.0 89.7 102.7 128.0 113.0 88.2 105.4	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           05           32           62           211           90	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.99	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 23,309 19,530	102.7 111.4 130.1 106.3 93.6 97.3 105.8 88.3 129.2 91.8 97.0 95.0 89.7 102.7 128.0 113.0 88.2 105.4	106           65           28           84           170           144           88           209           30           182           147           157           195           105           32           62           211           90	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069 87,216
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany Atlanta	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.99         40.59         56.57	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151 	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 23,309 19,530 64,179 25,471	102.7         111.4         130.1         106.3         93.6         97.3         105.8         88.3         129.2         91.8         97.0         95.0         89.7         102.7         128.0         113.0         88.2         105.4	106         65         28         84         170         144         88         209         30         182         147         157         195         105         32         62         211         90         294         115	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069 87,216 30,261
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany Atlanta	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.99         40.59         56.57         56.57	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151 301 196 195	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 23,309 19,530 64,179 25,471 25,469	102.7         111.4         130.1         106.3         93.6         97.3         105.8         88.3         129.2         91.8         97.0         95.0         89.7         102.7         128.0         113.0         88.2         105.4         74.4         101.3         107.7	106         65         28         84         170         144         88         209         30         182         147         157         195         202         211         90         294         115         77	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069 87,216 30,261 22,547
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Orlando Orlando Orlando Ormond Beach Panama City Pensacola Sarasota St Petersburg Tallahassee Tampa Georgia Albany Atlanta Augusta Columbus	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.99         40.59         56.57         56.57         52.01	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151 301 196 195 253	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 23,309 19,530 64,179 25,471 25,469 35,214	102.7         111.4         130.1         106.3         93.6         97.3         105.8         88.3         129.2         91.8         97.0         95.0         89.7         102.7         128.0         113.0         88.2         105.4         74.4         101.3         107.7         81.0	106         65         28         84         170         144         88         209         30         182         147         157         195         202         211         90         294         115         77         269	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069 87,216 30,261 22,547 70,465
Bradenton Clearwater Fort Lauderdale Fort Myers Gainesville Hudson Jacksonville Lakeland Miami Ocala Orlando Oralndo Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Corala Orlando Orando Orando Corala Orlando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Orando Or	48.35         63.91         68.38         54.46         61.79         55.03         59.90         48.80         83.00         45.58         53.99         54.92         45.17         58.55         61.36         68.95         57.73         59.99         40.59         56.57         52.01         58.31	280 110 71 222 134 213 152 278 21 291 231 216 292 171 137 67 187 151 301 196 195 253 178	44,174 13,968 9,603 29,682 16,854 28,497 19,662 43,043 2,141 51,264 30,669 28,729 52,311 21,883 17,469 9,165 23,309 19,530 64,179 25,471 25,469 35,214 22,292	102.7         111.4         130.1         106.3         93.6         97.3         105.8         88.3         129.2         91.8         97.0         95.0         89.7         102.7         128.0         113.0         88.2         105.4         74.4         101.3         107.7         81.0         98.1	106         65         28         84         170         144         88         209         30         182         147         157         195         105         32         62         211         90         294         115         77         269         137	28,407 18,925 7,795 24,015 43,089 36,565 24,667 53,459 8,189 46,587 37,034 40,533 50,727 28,384 8,692 17,524 53,720 25,069 87,216 30,261 22,547 70,465 35,265

agion .	/	/	/	1	(Recialists		olalists
dera Res	real		ST JA	alists.	SP-	a lected str	30'
Jild R.S.	red Cer.	H of Pees	en it	encine seit	At of Peess	cest S. annah	-
403,	60c	8-31.	62 J.S. 42	\$ 8°	8-31.	Et In Beug	
Savannah	54.18	229	30,274	102.1	109	29,152	
Hawaii							
Honolulu	75.76	32	5,211	114.8	56	15,998	
Idaho							
Boise	51.05	262	37,517	94.7	160	40,992	
Idaho Falls	37.88	302	71,248	84.4	248	62,410	
Illinois							
Aurora	45.05	293	52,613	82.4	258	67,116	
Blue Island	67.00	79	10,784	103.0	102	28,080	
Chicago	84.47	16	1,693	120.1	42	12,452	
Elgin	51.81	257	35,684	90.1	191	49,784	
Evanston	98.14	5	178	156.0	9	800	
Hinsdale	88.98	10	1,006	143.8	17	3,213	
Joliet	54.75	219	29,086	100.7	124	31,196	
Melrose Park	81.21	25	2,815	121.8	38	11,514	
Peoria	53.34	241	32,110	83.7	252	64,122	
Rockford	52.80	248	33,364	89.6	196	50,829	
Springfield	51.99	254	35,274	79.7	278	73,709	
Urbana	56.49	198	25,626	89.5	197	50,960	
Bloomington	50.19	269	39,599	83.7	251	63,921	
Indiana							
Evansville	53.84	236	30,994	78.3	284	77,352	
Fort Wayne	48.22	282	44,500	74.3	295	87,625	
Gary	50.57	265	38,676	84.6	242	61,777	
Indianapolis	58.95	166	21,205	97.5	143	36,232	
Lafayette	46.37	288	49,227	82.8	257	66,189	
Muncie	59.04	164	21,053	88.2	212	53,799	
Munster	58.35	177	22,218	88.4	208	53,326	
South Bend	55.86	200	26,857	80.5	272	71,874	
Terre Haute	55.20	209	28,165	87.5	221	55,134	
lowa							
Cedar Rapids	51.26	260	37,018	83.1	254	65,448	
Davenport	52.87	247	33,195	92.5	178	45,244	
Des Moines	63.31	117	14,739	80.1	275	72,864	
Dubuque	48.86	277	42,881	90.3	190	49,461	
Iowa City	58.46	173	22,038	99.2	130	33,467	
Mason City	64.06	108	13,784	74.8	293	86,261	
Sioux City	52.45	250	34,190	66.5	304	107,711	
Waterloo	60.16	147	19,267	76.4	288	82,157	
Kansas							
Topeka	52.06	252	35,108	91.7	183	46,732	
Wichita	61.20	138	17,704	76.0	289	83,066	
Kentucky							
Covington	58.65	169	21,705	89.7	193	50,596	
Lexington	57.45	190	23,831	84.4	247	62,409	
Louisville	59.64	156	20,075	103.0	101	27,982	

New Part of the second secon
New problemNew proble
Comensboro         40.91         300         63,343         87.5         223         55,232           Paducah         50.25         267         39,460         80.6         271         71,490           Louisiana         V         V         V         V         S6,27         249         33,666         86.9         231         56,477           Baton Rouge         52.67         249         33,666         86.9         231         56,477           Houma         36.97         303         73,608         88.9         200         52,305           Lafayette         48.16         283         44,645         81.9         262         68,309           Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Owensboro40.9130063,34387.522355,232Paducah50.2526739,46080.627171,490LouisianaAlexandria59.4615920,37094.116342,227Baton Rouge52.6724933,66686.923156,477Houma36.9730373,60888.920052,305Lafayette48.1628344,64581.926268,309Lake Charles43.9429555,48383.025565,630Metairie68.46689,542158.65632Monroe49.8927040,33080.027673,096
Paducah50.2526739,46080.627171,490LouisianaAlexandria59.4615920,37094.116342,227Baton Rouge52.6724933,66686.923156,477Houma36.9730373,60888.920052,305Lafayette48.1628344,64581.926268,309Lake Charles43.9429555,48383.025565,630Metairie68.46689,542158.65632Monroe49.8927040,33080.027673,096
LouisianaAlexandria59.4615920,37094.116342,227Baton Rouge52.6724933,66686.923156,477Houma36.9730373,60888.920052,305Lafayette48.1628344,64581.926268,309Lake Charles43.9429555,48383.025565,630Metairie68.46689,542158.65632Monroe49.8927040,33080.027673,096
Alexandria         59.46         159         20,370         94.1         163         42,227           Baton Rouge         52.67         249         33,666         86.9         231         56,477           Houma         36.97         303         73,608         88.9         200         52,305           Lafayette         48.16         283         44,645         81.9         262         68,309           Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Baton Rouge         52.67         249         33,666         86.9         231         56,477           Houma         36.97         303         73,608         88.9         200         52,305           Lafayette         48.16         283         44,645         81.9         262         68,309           Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Houma         36.97         303         73,608         88.9         200         52,305           Lafayette         48.16         283         44,645         81.9         262         68,309           Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Lafayette         48.16         283         44,645         81.9         262         68,309           Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Lake Charles         43.94         295         55,483         83.0         255         65,630           Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Metairie         68.46         68         9,542         158.6         5         632           Monroe         49.89         270         40,330         80.0         276         73,096
Monroe 49.89 270 40,330 80.0 276 73,096
New Orleans 59.43 161 20,404 138.6 22 4,889
Shreveport 47.94 284 45,197 97.0 148 37,042
Slidell 46.72 287 48,334 105.4 91 25,085
Maine
Bangor 65.36 90 12,312 94.3 161 41,800
Portland 73.00 41 6,554 111.4 66 18,946
Maryland
Baltimore 82.65 23 2,263 145.6 16 2,697
Salisbury 62.64 126 15,651 114.6 58 16,154
Takoma Park 92.25 7 656 156.4 8 764
Massachusetts
Boston 84.67 12 1,644 151.4 12 1,346
Springfield 71.87 47 7,221 114.9 55 15,862
Worcester 81.18 26 2,826 117.6 49 14,025
wichigan
Ann Arbor 66.28 81 11,435 105.9 86 24,502
Dearborn 60.86 142 18,199 97.7 142 35,890
Detroit 61.19 139 17,713 99.0 132 33,788
Filmt 71.64 48 7,361 78.8 281 76,099
Grand Rapids 57.42 192 23,877 84.5 245 62,179
Kalamazoo 60.22 146 19,173 93.2 173 43,767
Lansing 67.98 75 9,927 93.3 172 43,569
Marquette 59.51 157 20,276 82.9 256 65,938
Muskegon         63.70         113         14,239         82.1         260         67,876
Petoskey 65.25 92 12,425 91.5 185 47,048
Pontiac 84.20 17 1,772 146.5 15 2,435
Royal Oak 102.91 2 23 160.9 3 563
Saginaw 59.86 153 19,731 85.1 240 60,810
St. Juseph         St. UX         180         22,691         93.9         167         42,479           Tempered City         70.42         50         8.020         60.0         60.00
naverse City 70.13 56 8,338 98.9 133 33,880
Duruuri         03.30         00         0,003         00.3         233         38,000           Minscandia         67.05         76         0.654         97.4         990         55.005
Willingapons         01.30         10         3,901         61.4         220         35,395           Dependenter         70.42         54         9.420         440.5         70         40.740
Nuclester         70.43         34         0,139         110.3         70         19,718           St Cloud         64.58         101         13.454         77.2         297         90.007
St Paul 80.43 28 3143 91.9 181 46.239

HESTA REALTARESTON	Peted Careful	Real of Real	5 4 ² 4 ² 4 ² 4 ² 4 ² 4 ² 4 ² 4 ²	RAP RAP SPECE	SPecialists Room of Residu	CLC ^R L SPECTRE
Mississippi						
Gulfport	46.05	280	50.040	112.0	62	17.601
Hattioshurg	40.05	209	59 094	97.2	220	55.008
	42.39	251	24 525	01.2	223	55,990
Maridian	54.00	201	34,000	70.4	239	77,000
Ovford	50.20	224	29,941	70.1	260	77,880
Uxiola	30.20	208	50,042	0.10	200	00,051
Missouri	40.05	290	50,042	69.6	302	99,001
Missouri	49.42	270	42.077	70.0	077	72.000
Cape Gilaideau	40.43	219	43,977	79.9	211	73,223
	59.44	100	20,390	0.08	237	56,592
Konsos City	55.00	0.4	12 595	03.1	203	22 070
National City	00.09	94	12,000	39.5	129	32,910
Springrieia	55.72	205	27,134	104.7	282	76,502
Si LOUIS	03.49	110	14,501	104.7	95	20,922
Montana	04.00	00	40.740	400.0	400	00.000
Billings	64.96	96	12,716	100.8	122	30,930
Great Fails	01.01	133	10,033	104.4	97	20,287
Nebreeke	04.20	107	13,535	110.0	50	14,711
lineolo	50.00	100	25.020	70.7	200	06 706
Omehe	50.55	199	20,939	10.1	300	90,790
Umana	58.65	170	21,706	88.7	202	52,631
	47.40	296	46 522	00.0	210	E2 676
Las vegas	47.42	200	40,032	00.2	210	53,676
New Hampshire	59.64	100	20,074	107.0	81	23,301
	74.20	25	5.040	11/ 2	50	16.264
Manahastar	74.20	102	0,940	114.3	59	10,304
Now Jorsov	04.44	103	13,319	110.7	60	19,569
Comdon	72.40	20	6 202	126.0	22	0.527
Haakanaaak	00.02	30	104	172.1	33	3,337
Mackensack	99.92	4	104	142.5	10	294
Now Brungwick	03.13	19	2.246	142.0	19	7 724
	02.10	22	2,210	110.3	21 AE	1,134
Paterson	60.05	33	0,094	104.9	40	25 765
Ridgewood	05.00	14	1,092	150.2	94	610
New Mexico	04.04	14	1,001	109.0	4	010
Albuquerque	71.01	52	7 755	108.5	74	21 697
New York	71.01	52	1,100	100.0	14	21,007
Albany	66 23	82	11 480	118.5	47	13 421
Binghamton	58 54	172	21 894	102.9	103	28 108
Brony	66.71	20	11 045	112.3	61	17 230
Buffalo	67.07	78	10 717	108.1	76	22 106
Elmira	59.07	163	21 005	113.4	60	17 162
East Long Jeland	06.25	103	21,000	15/ 2	10	0/0
	84.64	12	1 651	150.0	10	343 1 603
Pochostor	72 56	10	6.807	100.0	13	21,005
Ruchester	12.50	43	0,007	108.3	15	21,900

ion		/	/		ocialists	/ /	cialists
deta Ress	metal	ists diff	Sr reið	at att	She.	n steeld	10 K.
1050jel Pee	and the second second	ant of Res	1.05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05 .05	archite of Self	ant of Res	test Sach	<i>*</i>
4.	4.	4.	A. P. Hor	40	4.	A. 1. 80.	
Syracuse	57.73	186	23,301	102.0	110	29,292	
White Plains	105.06	1	0	200.8	1	0	
Ashavilla	67.57	77	10.280	101.1	110	20.404	
Charlotto	52.20	242	22 422	04.0	165	12 262	
Durham	53.56	243	31 612	100.8	123	31.038	
Greensboro	55 19	210	28 185	92.9	175	44 307	
Greenville	51.95	255	35.348	93.1	174	44.057	
Hickory	47.70	285	45,826	80.9	270	70,753	
Raleigh	53.94	234	30,773	92.8	176	44,528	
Wilmington	53.99	230	30,666	98.8	135	34,017	
Winston-Salem	49.10	275	42,290	87.9	217	54,394	
North Dakota							
Bismarck	54.41	223	29,784	88.7	204	52,729	
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	60.40	145	18,895	68.8	303	101,767	
Grand Forks	65.82	86	11,870	71.8	299	93,975	
Minot	69.10	63	9,053	88.4	207	53,239	
Ohio							
Akron	65.27	91	12,404	101.0	119	30,657	
Canton	54.25	227	30,124	84.6	244	61,969	
Cincinnati	64.76	100	12,944	110.2	71	20,045	
Cleveland	71.03	51	7,742	120.6	41	12,156	
Columbus	57.90	184	22,996	87.5	222	55,206	
Dayton	55.28	208	28,006	80.3	2/4	72,308	
Elylia	76.72	21	4 791	90.1	51	40,290	
Toledo	63.56	115	4,701	100.1	127	31 087	
Youngstown	66 14	83	11 563	95.7	127	39 227	
Oklahoma	00.11	00	11,000	00.1	102	00,221	
Lawton	62.65	125	15.641	81.5	267	69.282	
Oklahoma City	57.97	181	22,881	90.8	188	48,508	
Tulsa	62.84	124	15,377	87.7	220	54,873	
Oregon							
Bend	60.16	148	19,271	101.6	113	29,886	
Eugene	70.10	57	8,359	96.8	149	37,450	
Medford	62.52	130	15,817	92.2	180	45,795	
Portland	68.01	74	9,902	107.6	78	22,637	
Salem	57.45	191	23,832	98.0	139	35,414	
Pennsylvania							
Allentown	64.00	109	13,856	101.4	114	30,166	
Altoona	53.25	242	32,328	84.5	246	62,243	
Danville	60.94	141	18,092	94.8	159	40,942	
Erie	54.18	228	30,272	93.9	166	42,442	
Harrisburg	65.58	87	12,098	93.7	168	42,871	
Johnstown	66.05	84	11,647	101.0	120	30,677	
Lancaster	59.27	162	20,669	87.7	219	54,866	

enor	/		/	in l	Decialists	/	COECIA HPR
asenalt	enerali	asjon	ener	alisto nalt alected	or Joseji	JI Collect	ed st to
Hospital	Ratedio	Q31Hoth	(1) S.	Benchi age of St	Q ant of the	Eterson and	innatu
	<b>`</b>		1 0. Hr.			×	
Philadelphia	89.39	8	948	147.4	14	2,193	
Pittsburgh	64.49	102	13,251	110.6	69	19,638	
Reading	62.37	131	16,032	91.4	186	47,205	
Sayre	58.11	179	22,639	89.5	198	50,991	
Scranton	09.64	59	8,674	104.9	93	25,623	
Vilkes-balle	64.22	29	3,929	107.4	00	22,843	
Phodo Island	04.33	106	13,445	0.00	233	57,201	
Rilode Island	72.40	44	6.002	122.7	26	11.069	
South Carolina	72.40	44	0,902	122.1	30	11,000	
Charleston	57.90	183	22 00/	108.7	73	21 545	
Columbia	55.00	211	28.378	05.0	151	38.026	
Elorence	50.03	263	37 807	72.0	208	03 535	
Greenville	58.84	167	21 380	04.2	162	/1 08/	
Spartanburg	51 37	258	36 737	84.6	2/3	61 779	
South Dakota	51.57	230	30,737	04.0	243	01,775	
Rapid City	71.60	49	7 387	88.6	205	52 957	
Sioux Falls	63 63	114	14.326	74.8	292	86 136	
Tennessee	00.00		11,020	11.0	LUL	00,100	
Chattanooga	55.78	203	27.016	92.5	177	45,182	
Jackson	54.99	214	28.592	72.1	297	93.183	
Johnson City	72.05	46	7,114	103.5	99	27,442	
Kingsport	62.54	129	15,800	88.7	203	52,650	
Knoxville	60.15	149	19,283	91.0	187	48,063	
Memphis	49.50	274	41,288	87.9	215	54,369	
Nashville	57.65	189	23,453	98.1	136	35,232	
Texas							
Abilene	55.78	202	27,011	88.1	213	53,991	
Amarillo	53.98	232	30,695	86.4	234	57,649	
Austin	62.58	127	15,737	103.4	100	27,550	
Beaumont	55.74	204	27,090	93.5	171	43,238	
Bryan	58.73	168	21,574	77.9	286	78,376	
Corpus Christi	55.08	212	28,406	87.7	218	54,691	
Dallas	53.97	233	30,712	100.3	125	31,703	
El Paso	41.61	299	61,527	87.9	216	54,380	
Fort Worth	52.96	245	32,976	87.5	225	55,298	
Harlingen	34.02	305	81,334	58.1	305	129,698	
Houston	53.37	240	32,046	101.2	116	30,384	
Longview	48.91	276	42,766	81.7	264	68,862	
Lubbock	54.53	221	29,534	87.4	227	55,469	
Mcallen	33.78	306	81,956	46.7	306	159,637	
Odessa	36.38	304	75,153	78.4	283	77,058	
San Angelo	50.72	264	38,317	95.4	153	39,823	
San Antonio	55.85	201	26,866	107.5	79	22,761	
Temple	44.89	294	53,043	70.4	301	97,511	
Tyler	57.91	182	22,987	95.1	154	40,278	

Regon	1	. /		M (55	ecialists	58°5°148
Referra	, Generalis	Region	Generality	natt selected	Region	Selecteo ding.
HODIA	Rateo	Ranto	64055 200 Berls	Rateon	Ranko	Excess 5.3 nonna
Victoria	54.93	215	28,712	90.1	192	49,917
Waco	54.86	218	28,852	86.0	238	58,656
Wichita Falls	60.06	150	19,423	102.4	108	28,777
Utah						
Ogden	41.67	298	61,359	84.1	249	63,014
Provo	43.51	296	56,600	81.6	266	69,200
Salt Lake City	48.31	281	44,271	99.1	131	33,537
Vermont						
Burlington	74.03	36	6,024	106.6	83	23,735
Virginia						
Arlington	70.18	55	8,307	119.6	44	12,739
Charlottesville	63.10	120	15,022	110.7	67	19,528
Lynchburg	53.63	237	31,476	82.0	261	68,101
Newport News	62.33	132	16,088	105.9	87	24,561
Norfolk	63.10	121	15,027	115.1	54	15,754
Richmond	63.72	112	14,212	98.0	138	35,372
Roanoke	62.99	122	15,166	101.2	117	30,435
Winchester	51.23	261	37,075	98.9	134	33,926
Washington						
Everett	65.14	93	12,532	97.1	145	36,861
Olympia	62.98	123	15,188	95.1	156	40,420
Seattle	80.89	27	2,942	119.7	43	12,680
Spokane	65.82	85	11,865	94.9	158	40,671
Tacoma	59.79	154	19,843	102.8	104	28,312
Yakima	63.73	111	14,190	88.1	214	54,013
West Virginia						
Charleston	65.52	88	12,154	89.5	199	51,101
Huntington	61.51	136	17,257	94.1	164	42,239
Morgantown	64.85	99	12,834	97.0	146	36,986
Wisconsin						
Appleton	58.40	175	22,132	75.2	291	85,239
Green Bay	51.92	256	35,419	81.3	268	69,763
La Crosse	60.81	143	18,278	86.8	232	56,720
Madison	69.08	65	9,066	88.8	201	52,562
Marshfield	68.21	73	9,735	91.5	184	47,033
Milwaukee	64.41	104	13,352	109.5	72	20,717
Neenah	56.97	193	24,724	96.4	150	38,109
Wausau	65.04	95	12,641	92.3	179	45,550
Wyoming						
Casper	69.65	58	8,672	100.2	126	31,926
United States						
НМО	46.22	0	49,600	80.1	0	72,898
United States	65.03	0	12,646	108.4	0	21,841

PHYSICIAN APPENDIX TABLE B This table contains the rates of full time equivalent physicians specializing in anesthesiology, cardiology, emergency care, general surgery, neurosurgery, obstetrics/gynecology, ophthalmology, orthopedic surgery, pathology, radiology, and urology per 100,000 residents of hospital referral regions. All rates are age and sex adjusted and corrected for out of area use. See the Appendix on Methodology for details.

### Physician Appendix Table B

## Number of Specialists per 100,000 Residents of Hospital Referral Regions (1996)

Region	/	/	/ /	cine		/ /	/ /	ecologists		ons	/ /	/
Relation	siologi		ancy Med	Sulden	12 III BEOLE	- dists	icianGY	ine imploye	olic Sul	36	dists	.55
HOSOILA	Anesthe	Catdiolo	Energeralists	General	Neurost	Neurolos	Obstehl	Ophthan	Orthope	Patholos	Radiolos	Urologis
Alabama			5.									
Risminghom	0.1	<b>E E</b>	5.0	0.4	1.5	2.0	10.2	4.4	6.2	4.2	7.2	2.4
Dothon	0.1	0.0	5.0	0.4	0.6	2.0	10.0	4.4 5.2	6.5	4.2	6.5	2.1
Huntovillo	2.0	2.6	5.0	7.7	1.6	1.5	10.5	3.2	6.2	4.5	5.0	2.1
Mahila	0.0	5.0	5.0	10.1	1.0	2.0	10.5	5.2	7.6	2.1 E 0	0.1	2.0
Montgomony	9.2	1.6	2.0	11.2	1.0	1.0	P 0	1.0	6.4	2.0	9.1 5.7	3.0
Tuscaloosa	4.0	2.0	1.2	9.5	1.5	2.5	7.4	4.0	6.0	2.5	6.7	2.5
Alaska	4.5	2.9	4.2	0.5	1.5	5.5	7.4	5.4	0.0	2.0	0.7	2.5
Anchorage	9.0	3.2	7.8	10.6	1.0	2.0	0.5	6.6	10.1	2.5	7.0	3.0
Arizona	5.0	5.2	7.0	10.0	1.0	2.0	3.5	0.0	10.1	2.5	1.0	5.0
Mesa	9.7	4.4	6.5	65	0.9	2.0	10.0	53	6.0	25	5.9	25
Phoenix	12.4	6.3	7.3	7.6	1.3	3.4	11 1	5.2	7.3	3.9	7.7	2.3
Sun City	13.5	3.5	6.4	9.2	1.0	4.4	19.7	7.7	12.1	5.0	7.0	2.5
Tucson	12.4	4.6	6.6	6.6	1.5	2.8	12.0	5.0	61	3.4	8.1	2.0
Arkansas	12.1	1.0	0.0	0.0	1.0	2.0	12.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	2
Fort Smith	91	4.5	53	74	11	31	8.0	34	53	28	6.5	33
Jonesboro	6.2	37	27	8.4	1.6	2.0	8.4	3.6	5.6	5.8	7 1	3.2
Little Rock	9.2	4.5	5.0	8.2	1.8	2.6	97	5.2	6.9	4.3	8.3	2.8
Springdale	7.1	3.0	5.9	9.2	1.3	17	7.8	4 1	5.7	22	7.8	2.8
Texarkana	7.2	4.0	5.4	6.3	1.2	1.5	10.0	3.8	5.7	3.8	7.1	3.0
California									-			
Orange Co.	13.0	7.1	7.3	8.4	1.5	3.5	13.9	6.5	9.1	4.1	9.0	3.6
Bakersfield	9.9	4.1	6.2	7.5	1.1	2.5	11.5	5.5	5.6	3.4	6.4	2.4
Chico	11.2	3.3	8.7	9.2	1.6	2.9	11.9	6.6	9.2	3.2	11.9	3.7
Contra Costa Co.	13.6	5.1	9.0	10.0	1.2	3.9	14.9	8.3	8.6	4.3	10.3	3.8
Fresno	9.5	4.5	5.8	9.3	1.4	2.5	9.7	5.2	5.0	2.5	7.5	1.9
Los Angeles	11.4	7.2	5.7	8.1	1.5	3.4	11.9	6.5	7.2	4.5	8.8	3.3
Modesto	10.2	4.2	6.4	7.1	1.4	2.2	9.8	4.4	6.2	3.1	6.7	2.4
Napa	13.0	5.3	12.0	15.3	1.8	3.2	17.5	7.2	12.0	4.5	12.3	3.7
Alameda Co.	8.6	5.7	9.9	7.8	1.4	4.0	13.1	6.9	8.2	4.8	9.2	3.1
Palm Spr/Rancho Mir	14.0	7.4	11.8	10.3	1.7	2.6	14.6	5.1	10.0	5.4	10.2	3.1
Redding	12.6	2.5	12.4	8.5	2.2	2.7	9.6	5.5	10.3	5.5	10.0	3.4
Sacramento	11.7	4.8	8.0	7.1	1.4	2.9	11.7	5.8	8.0	4.5	8.3	2.6
Salinas	11.4	5.6	6.0	10.5	1.8	2.8	13.1	8.7	8.9	3.3	8.7	4.4
San Bernardino	8.5	4.2	4.6	7.1	1.0	2.1	9.3	4.4	5.8	2.7	6.3	2.7
San Diego	11.9	6.2	7.4	7.5	1.4	3.3	11.3	7.3	8.7	4.3	8.3	3.2
San Francisco	12.7	8.1	11.4	9.3	2.2	5.5	12.1	8.2	9.1	6.0	12.3	3.2
San Jose	9.6	7.1	5.3	7.4	1.5	3.3	14.0	7.1	7.8	3.6	7.7	3.1
San Luis Obispo	12.9	5.6	12.8	9.7	2.5	3.8	10.7	7.5	11.0	3.2	12.5	3.4
San Mateo Co.	12.5	9.4	6.3	7.7	2.0	4.0	13.4	8.1	8.6	6.1	11.0	2.7
Santa Barbara	11.4	6.4	9.6	9.4	1.8	4.0	11.6	6.8	10.6	2.8	10.1	3.2

and a start		/	/		/	/	/	cologists	/	15	/	/
Relender		ologists	55 JS	Mediciti	geons d	aons is	\$	nGynecu	ogists	Sugeon	42 (d	5
HOSIDA	Anesthes	Cardiolos	Emergerial	General -	Neurosu	Neurology	Obsterit.	Optinally	Orthopeu	Patholog	Radiology	Ulologist
Santa Cruz	14.5	5.3	16.1	7.8	1.7	2.5	13.5	6.8	9.3	2.9	8.1	3.8
Santa Rosa	13.1	5.8	12.8	8.0	1.6	2.9	13.0	7.6	10.5	4.0	8.7	3.5
Stockton	10.1	6.2	4.6	7.2	1.2	1.9	11.7	4.6	7.1	3.0	6.3	1.8
Ventura	11.6	6.4	6.0	8.5	1.9	3.1	11.4	7.7	9.6	3.5	7.5	3.2
Colorado												
Boulder	12.5	2.9	15.8	6.8	1.6	3.1	11.8	10.5	9.0	2.5	7.1	2.9
Colorado Springs	8.2	4.5	8.4	10.3	1.2	2.2	10.1	6.3	8.9	3.8	7.3	2.8
Denver	11.9	5.2	7.2	7.4	1.5	3.1	11.9	6.4	8.6	4.4	8.7	2.6
Fort Collins	9.5	4.7	6.1	6.7	2.0	2.0	9.0	6.8	9.4	2.4	6.4	4.3
Grand Junction	13.3	2.2	8.6	9.3	1.5	3.0	9.5	5.4	11.8	4.7	8.0	2.9
Greeley	10.3	3.6	7.3	9.0	1.0	2.7	11.4	6.9	9.0	3.9	6.4	3.7
Pueblo	8.5	4.1	6.7	8.2	2.0	5.0	10.5	6.6	10.4	4.2	7.2	2.5
Connecticut												
Bridgeport	13.0	7.5	6.1	9.6	3.2	3.8	19.2	9.4	10.4	6.0	11.4	4.1
Hartford	12.0	7.5	5.8	9.6	1.5	2.9	15.7	7.3	9.3	5.0	11.2	3.7
New Haven	11.3	8.1	6.0	10.4	2.0	4.1	16.2	8.0	9.3	6.2	12.3	3.5
Delaware												
Wilmington	7.3	6.3	6.4	9.2	1.9	3.6	10.5	5.8	6.6	3.3	8.5	3.4
District of Colum	nbia											
Washington	12.6	10.1	7.5	10.9	2.0	6.4	17.2	9.3	8.6	8.1	12.3	4.9
Florida												
Bradenton	10.4	6.4	8.0	6.8	1.2	2.7	16.6	4.2	6.0	3.6	8.6	2.8
Clearwater	9.8	5.8	9.1	6.8	1.4	3.5	15.0	4.6	7.7	4.9	12.2	3.2
Fort Lauderdale	12.6	7.4	7.6	9.0	1.7	4.0	16.3	7.2	9.8	5.2	10.3	4.0
Fort Myers	8.9	5.1	8.9	7.3	2.2	3.4	15.3	5.4	7.0	4.8	9.3	2.8
Gainesville	10.6	4.6	5.8	6.5	1.6	3.6	7.4	4.3	5.6	3.3	10.0	2.5
Hudson	8.5	5.2	7.6	6.5	1.5	2.8	15.5	4.3	7.4	5.8	8.4	3.0
Jacksonville	11.0	8.1	7.6	8.2	1.6	2.8	11.2	5.7	6.2	3.9	8.6	4.0
Lakeland	9.3	4.9	5.5	8.0	1.2	2.2	10.7	5.0	5.7	3.0	6.3	2.3
Miami	11.3	10.0	5.7	9.9	1.7	4.3	13.0	7.8	7.6	5.8	10.1	3.9
Ocala	9.1	4.4	6.0	8.0	1.5	2.6	12.4	3.4	5.9	3.4	10.6	2.8
Orlando	10.2	5.1	6.3	7.4	1.2	2.8	12.7	4.9	7.9	3.8	8.0	3.4
Ormond Beach	10.0	3.5	7.4	7.5	1.1	2.2	10.0	5.0	9.9	4.5	9.6	2.8
Panama City	7.2	3.3	3.4	10.1	1.2	2.8	11.6	4.9	7.5	3.1	6.3	3.7
Pensacola	9.7	5.1	7.6	11.3	1.4	2.9	11.2	5.3	7.0	3.6	9.6	2.9
Sarasota	14.3	6.4	9.8	7.9	2.0	2.7	16.3	7.0	10.2	5.1	12.6	3.6
St Petersburg	10.8	6.2	8.0	7.5	1.6	4.5	14.0	5.8	8.2	5.1	13.4	2.9
Tallahassee	7.6	3.8	5.6	8.9	1.8	2.8	9.7	5.0	5.3	4.2	7.5	2.9
Tampa	10.3	6.3	6.5	6.4	1.4	3.9	11.0	5.5	7.2	5.5	9.7	3.0
Georgia												
Albany	5.3	2.7	5.3	6.3	1.8	2.3	8.8	4.3	5.0	2.4	7.1	3.4
Atlanta	9.7	5.4	6.2	7.8	1.2	2.8	13.0	5.3	6.6	3.1	7.0	3.7
Augusta	9.4	7.2	4.3	9.4	2.0	4.0	11.2	4.9	5.5	4.4	9.0	3.5
Columbus	6.6	3.9	3.0	7.4	1.0	1.8	9.3	4.2	8.4	3.9	7.3	2.9
Macon	9.3	3.3	6.4	11.9	1.4	3.0	13.6	5.4	6.3	4.4	8.4	3.6
Rome	8.5	4.0	5.7	9.5	1.5	3.0	14.2	4.0	6.3	2.8	8.0	2.8

asijon		/	/		/	/	/	cologists	/	ans.	/	/
osterialt		ologists	a ¹⁵	Medicit.	10 ^{e0n5}	eons	\$  ;	MGYNEU		Sulgeon	\$ .2	
LOSPIEIT	anesthesi	cardiolog	E nergenu	dis ceneral S	Neurosur	s Neurologi	Obstetrici	Ophnalmu	Othopeo	o atholog	(0.3diolog)	Hologists
<b>X</b>	(·		¥588	Ŭ	N ²		0				N.	ľ
Savannah	8.5	4.8	7.3	10.7	1.1	2.3	14.8	4.8	6.6	2.9	7.5	3.9
Hawali	0.9	4.7	0.0	0.4	0.0	2.0	15 1	7.0	6.0	2.6	0.2	2.0
Idaho	9.0	4.7	0.2	9.4	0.9	2.9	15.1	1.2	0.9	3.0	0.3	3.0
Boise	8.0	3.2	8.1	8.4	17	2.0	10.7	5.4	8.0	2.6	77	3.0
Idaho Falls	9.2	2.4	4.8	8.5	2.1	1.9	11.4	5.2	7.2	2.0	5.9	1.8
Illinois	5.2	2.7	4.0	0.0	2.1	1.5	11.4	5.2	1.2	2.0	0.0	1.0
Aurora	67	4.6	2.5	9.0	23	13	8.9	54	7 1	31	47	2.5
Blue Island	11.4	7.1	6.9	8.8	1.3	3.1	13.4	4.8	6.4	4.0	7.6	2.9
Chicago	9.7	7.8	8.7	8.1	1.7	4.0	13.6	6.1	5.4	6.3	8.8	2.8
Elgin	11.2	4.9	6.7	7.8	1.4	2.2	10.7	5.9	6.4	3.0	4.8	2.6
Evanston	18.7	9.4	10.9	10.6	1.5	5.5	20.7	8.4	9.8	7.1	14.8	4.2
Hinsdale	25.5	12.6	9.8	10.1	2.2	3.0	14.6	6.8	6.3	7.5	16.0	5.1
Joliet	12.1	6.0	8.3	9.8	1.6	2.2	13.5	4.7	6.1	3.3	7.6	2.8
Melrose Park	13.6	7.8	8.8	9.2	1.7	3.7	14.6	6.6	7.2	6.7	8.9	3.8
Peoria	9.9	4.2	6.9	7.5	0.9	2.9	9.5	3.5	5.3	4.2	6.7	3.2
Rockford	10.7	4.5	5.3	7.9	1.6	1.6	10.2	4.6	6.1	4.0	6.5	2.7
Springfield	6.6	4.0	7.1	8.3	1.4	2.5	8.6	3.9	4.8	3.4	6.4	2.4
Urbana	7.9	4.7	7.4	8.0	1.0	3.0	8.3	4.3	4.9	4.4	6.8	3.3
Bloomington	10.9	5.5	6.2	8.3	1.3	2.4	6.4	5.4	4.5	3.5	7.3	2.2
Indiana												
Evansville	9.2	4.2	4.4	8.1	1.5	1.7	8.9	3.3	5.6	2.6	7.2	2.2
Fort Wayne	8.5	4.4	5.2	7.9	1.0	1.8	7.1	3.5	5.2	2.7	7.5	2.7
Gary	8.5	5.5	4.7	8.1	1.8	2.3	10.1	4.2	6.9	3.5	6.6	2.4
Indianapolis	11.4	6.2	6.6	7.3	1.2	3.5	9.3	4.6	6.7	3.9	8.4	2.9
Lafayette	11.4	4.6	5.9	5.7	1.1	2.5	7.4	4.6	5.5	3.7	7.3	2.6
Muncie	11.5	3.3	5.4	8.0	1.7	2.5	6.5	3.7	6.4	7.8	6.5	3.2
Munster	9.5	5.8	4.0	8.6	1.0	2.4	12.4	5.0	5.4	3.4	7.2	2.5
South Bend	9.7	3.8	6.7	7.5	1.0	2.1	9.0	3.7	5.4	3.4	7.3	2.5
Terre Haute	10.7	5.6	4.9	8.0	2.8	2.4	9.9	4.5	6.2	4.2	7.6	2.8
lowa												
Cedar Rapids	9.1	2.7	6.0	4.7	1.3	2.1	6.6	4.8	7.3	5.1	8.0	2.5
Davenport	10.1	3.5	5.5	9.0	1.5	2.5	10.7	6.2	6.4	4.3	7.3	2.9
Des Moines	9.4	4.0	2.9	8.1	0.9	2.6	7.2	3.8	6.2	4.5	7.2	2.5
Dubuque	5.8	3.3	6.8	8.0	1.0	4.1	8.2	7.0	8.0	4.4	7.5	3.2
Iowa City	9.8	3.9	4.1	7.7	1.6	4.8	9.5	7.2	5.9	6.2	12.5	3.0
Mason City	6.3	3.7	2.6	9.4	1.1	2.5	6.1	4.1	5.9	3.4	8.3	2.2
Sloux City	5.5	3.2	3.3	7.9	1.6	2.4	5.4	2.6	4.9	4.1	6.3	2.6
/vaterloo	10.5	2.6	2.6	7.8	0.9	2.3	7.2	3.7	5.4	4.8	6.3	2.2
Nansas		0.0	10	0 -	0.0	0.0	7.6	0.7			0.0	6.0
lopeka Niebite	5.6	3.8	4.6	6.7	0.8	2.6	7.9	3.7	5.7	4.7	8.3	2.9
Vontuoler	/.6	3.2	2.8	9.1	0.7	1.8	ŏ.1	3.1	5.8	3.9	7.3	2.1
Certington	0.0	0.0	7.5	6.0	4.5	1.0	10.0	4.0	6.4	2.5	7.0	2.0
Lovington	8.9	2.9	7.5	6.9	1.5	1.2	10.8	4.2	6.1	3.5	7.2	3.0
Lexington	9.2	4.1	4.9	8.8	0.7	2.2	9.0	4.6	5.1	3.7	6.6	2.7
Louisville	12.3	5.1	7.0	9.9	1.5	2.3	10.4	4.8	6.3	4.3	7.6	2.7

Tra Region	/	dels		Medicine	18015			GYRECOLOGISTS	11 ¹⁵	ungeons		/ /
Hospia Refe	Anesthesi	cardiologie	Energe all	General Su	Neurosuros	Neurologist	Obserior	Ophramos Ophramos	oritopedi	Patrologi	Radiologist	Urologists
Owensboro	9.4	3.6	7.1	9.2	3.3	2.2	9.2	3.2	7.2	2.5	8.0	2.8
Paducah	6.8	3.3	4.1	9.7	1.8	1.8	10.6	3.7	5.8	4.6	8.5	3.1
Louisiana												
Alexandria	8.1	6.6	4.4	10.6	1.4	1.4	10.3	5.5	6.6	3.6	6.7	3.9
Baton Rouge	7.0	4.5	4.7	7.4	1.5	2.5	10.8	6.1	5.1	3.0	5.8	3.3
Houma	6.6	8.6	4.3	10.0	1.3	1.3	10.5	5.5	6.5	3.1	4.8	4.8
Lafayette	7.2	4.4	3.3	8.7	1.1	1.6	11.9	5.0	5.6	3.4	6.7	3.7
Lake Charles	5.3	6.7	5.1	7.7	1.0	0.7	11.9	4.7	5.9	4.1	7.3	2.5
Metairie	14.0	9.4	12.9	14.1	2.0	5.4	18.9	11.9	9.0	5.7	12.7	5.8
Monroe	8.4	2.4	5.5	6.5	1.2	2.2	8.9	3.8	6.0	5.4	6.8	3.4
New Orleans	10.1	9.7	7.0	10.9	2.6	5.5	13.4	9.2	9.7	6.8	12.3	4.7
Shreveport	9.2	5.2	5.0	9.8	1.6	2.2	11.7	5.1	6.9	4.2	7.7	3.8
Slidell	11.1	5.2	9.5	9.0	2.4	1.7	13.9	6.7	7.6	5.1	8.7	3.3
Maine												
Bangor	9.2	3.8	8.5	10.1	1.3	2.7	8.9	5.0	8.8	4.0	7.4	2.7
Portland	10.4	4.9	9.4	9.6	1.6	3.0	11.0	5.2	9.7	4.8	8.8	2.7
Maryland												
Baltimore	13.9	8.3	6.2	12.3	2.1	5.3	17.8	7.9	8.5	6.8	11.3	3.7
Salisbury	10.1	6.7	8.2	12.0	1.3	3.4	14.4	6.3	7.7	4.2	7.2	3.1
Takoma Park	14.3	12.5	7.3	11.9	1.4	6.5	16.8	9.7	7.6	9.1	11.1	5.9
Massachusetts												
Boston	14.3	9.3	6.9	10.6	1.8	6.7	14.3	7.7	8.7	7.8	13.9	3.2
Springfield	11.3	6.3	7.7	10.9	1.3	2.8	12.5	5.6	7.4	4.3	9.6	3.1
Worcester	10.5	8.3	10.1	7.9	1.1	5.0	11.7	4.6	7.7	5.0	8.3	3.0
Michigan												
Ann Arbor	8.2	6.0	7.7	8.2	1.1	3.5	10.4	6.2	4.9	3.8	8.6	3.7
Dearborn	7.6	5.1	6.0	9.0	1.4	2.9	14.2	5.9	5.9	4.8	8.4	3.0
Detroit	6.9	6.0	6.7	9.0	1.3	3.4	12.7	5.4	5.7	5.0	8.7	2.4
Flint	8.4	4.8	4.3	8.9	0.7	2.4	7.9	4.2	4.1	3.7	7.9	2.8
Grand Rapids	7.5	2.9	8.2	8.0	1.3	1.8	10.7	4.4	6.4	3.4	6.3	2.8
Kalamazoo	7.5	5.3	7.2	9.9	1.4	3.0	9.4	4.7	6.4	3.1	6.6	2.4
Lansing	8.3	6.6	7.6	7.1	1.0	1.5	9.7	4.6	6.3	4.1	8.4	2.8
Marquette	5.2	3.1	7.7	9.0	1.7	2.7	7.6	3.8	6.2	3.7	7.6	2.7
Muskegon	7.9	3.2	10.2	5.8	1.0	1.7	9.1	4.2	7.4	4.4	6.1	3.2
Petoskey	8.5	2.9	10.8	10.7	1.2	2.3	11.1	4.1	8.3	2.5	7.5	2.6
Pontiac	17.7	8.7	12.1	14.7	1.8	3.3	16.3	8.5	6.0	5.4	13.8	3.9
Royal Oak	12.0	10.3	11.1	12.1	1.1	6.0	21.0	9.4	7.8	7.3	16.2	3.8
Saginaw	9.0	4.1	6.1	8.8	1.7	1.7	10.2	4.6	5.1	3.3	8.0	2.7
St Joseph	9.8	8.0	6.6	9.6	1.1	1.4	11.0	5.2	5.9	2.8	7.8	3.0
Traverse City	8.6	3.6	9.9	9.5	1.2	1.9	10.3	5.1	7.4	3.7	9.8	3.6
Minnesota												
Duluth	6.8	2.9	8.3	7.8	1.5	2.6	8.2	5.6	6.8	4.9	6.9	2.0
Minneapolis	7.3	3.8	4.8	6.9	1.0	4.2	8.6	5.3	6.8	3.7	7.2	2.5
Rochester	7.7	11.0	1.9	8.0	1.4	9.4	7.2	4.8	6.3	5.8	11.8	2.3
St Cloud	7.6	3.7	4.9	7.6	1.1	1.9	7.8	3.6	6.1	3.8	4.9	3.0
St Paul	7.4	4.3	4.7	7.5	1.0	4.4	8.5	6.9	7.8	4.7	6.9	1.9

Apple Part of the stand of the sta	asijon		/	/	ine	/	/	/	cologists	/	ans.	/	/
off         off <th>Referant</th> <th></th> <th>blogists</th> <th></th> <th>Medici</th> <th>geons (d</th> <th>eons is</th> <th>5</th> <th>WGYNer nd</th> <th>ogists</th> <th>5 SUIDED ist</th> <th>5 J.2</th> <th>\$ 5</th>	Referant		blogists		Medici	geons (d	eons is	5	WGYNer nd	ogists	5 SUIDED ist	5 J.2	\$ 5
Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi         Assissipi           Gulport         6.3         4.2         9.2         11.4         2.4         4.2         14.4         6.7         7.4         7.4         8.8         3.8           Jackson         9.2         3.3         3.8         6.7         2.1         2.8         9.5         5.1         5.3         5.0         7.2         3.0           Meridian         6.9         4.0         3.2         9.1         2.1         1.3         5.4         5.5         6.5         2.7           Meridian         6.5         2.4         3.4         9.1         1.1         1.3         5.4         5.5         2.6         2.7         2.1         3.3         4.0         3.2         5.2         5.2         1.5         1.2         3.0         1.1         5.3         4.4         7.6         5.2         2.6           More         7.1         3.7         5.2         9.6         1.4         3.8         8.4         4.7         3.7         7.5         2.0         1.5         1.2         8.4         8.6         8.6         8.6	Hospital	Anesthes	Catholos	Energent	Sereral S	Neurosuit	Neurologi	Obstetric	Ophhalm.	Othopeu	Patholog	Radiology	Unologist
Mixessippin         Unitable	Minningiani	,		ૈક્ષ્	-						·	Ì	
Sounport         0.0         4.2         9.2         11.4         2.4         4.2         14.4         0.7         1.4         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.6         0.7         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5         0.5 <th0.5< th="">         0.5         0.5         0</th0.5<>	Culturent	6.2	4.0	0.0	44.4	2.4	4.0	44.4	6.7	7.4	7.4	0.0	2.0
name         name <th< td=""><td>Guiiport</td><td>0.3</td><td>4.2</td><td>9.2</td><td>0.0</td><td>2.4</td><td>4.2</td><td>14.4</td><td>0.<i>1</i></td><td>6.2</td><td>7.4</td><td>0.0</td><td>3.8</td></th<>	Guiiport	0.3	4.2	9.2	0.0	2.4	4.2	14.4	0. <i>1</i>	6.2	7.4	0.0	3.8
signs         signs <th< td=""><td>lackson</td><td>0.2</td><td>3.0</td><td>3.9</td><td>9.0</td><td>2.1</td><td>3.0</td><td>0.6</td><td>5.1</td><td>5.2</td><td>5.0</td><td>7.2</td><td>3.1</td></th<>	lackson	0.2	3.0	3.9	9.0	2.1	3.0	0.6	5.1	5.2	5.0	7.2	3.1
Instruction         0.5         1.0         1.2         1.1         1.1         2.4         0.3         0.1         0.1         0.30           Orderd         7.5         4.0         5.2         9.1         1.1         1.1         5.4         5.5         3.6         5.5         2.7           Topelo         5.6         2.4         3.4         8.9         1.8         2.2         10.1         3.3         4.0         3.2         5.3         2.5           Cope Ginardean         7.1         3.7         5.2         9.6         1.4         3.3         8.8         3.4         4.3         6.6         5.6         2.6           Cope Ginardean         7.1         3.7         5.2         9.6         1.4         3.3         8.8         3.4         4.3         6.6         5.6         2.6           Cope Ginardean         9.4         5.1         6.9         7.5         1.2         0.0         1.5         1.0         1.0         5.7         6.9         5.8         6.6         2.3           Stansolv         9.4         3.7         7.2         1.0         1.1         2.8         1.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5 <td>Moridian</td> <td>9.2</td> <td>4.0</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>0.1</td> <td>2.1</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>9.0</td> <td>4.2</td> <td>1.9</td> <td>3.0</td> <td>6.1</td> <td>3.0</td>	Moridian	9.2	4.0	2.0	0.1	2.1	1.0	9.0	4.2	1.9	3.0	6.1	3.0
Oxford         1.5         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00         0.00 <t< td=""><td>Oxford</td><td>7.5</td><td>4.0</td><td>5.2</td><td>9.1</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.5</td><td>11.3</td><td>4.Z</td><td>4.0</td><td>3.6</td><td>5.6</td><td>2.7</td></t<>	Oxford	7.5	4.0	5.2	9.1	1.0	1.5	11.3	4.Z	4.0	3.6	5.6	2.7
National         No.         No	Tupelo	5.6	2.4	3.4	8.9	1.5	2.2	10.1	3.3	4.0	3.2	5.3	2.5
Number         7.1         3.7         5.2         9.6         1.4         3.3         8.8         3.4         4.7         3.7         6.5         2.6           Columbia         7.8         3.9         5.2         8.2         0.8         2.3         8.4         4.3         6.6         5.6         7.5         2.4           Jopin         6.7         3.6         6.5         9.0         1.5         1.5         1.8         4.4         6.6         6.7         5.2         2.0           Springfield         7.9         3.3         6.9         8.0         1.0         2.5         8.2         3.4         5.7         3.3         7.1         2.3           St Lois         9.6         6.0         5.3         9.1         1.5         3.9         1.30         5.7         6.8         9.6         2.8           Montan         1.5         3.7         7.2         1.0         1.1         2.8         11.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5         2.7           Great Falls         11.5         3.7         7.7         9.9         3.3         2.8         11.8         5.4         8.7         2.1           Donla	Missouri	0.0	2.1	0.1	0.0	1.0	<b>L</b> .L	10.1	0.0	1.0	0.2	0.0	2.0
Columbia         7.8         3.9         5.2         8.2         0.8         2.3         8.4         4.3         6.6         5.6         7.5         2.4           Jopin         6.7         3.6         6.5         9.0         1.5         1.5         12.8         4.6         6.1         2.7         7.5         2.0           Kansa City         9.4         5.1         6.9         7.5         1.2         3.0         1.0         5.8         6.4         4.8         8.0         2.9           St Louis         9.6         6.0         6.3         9.1         1.5         3.9         13.0         5.7         6.9         5.8         9.6         2.8           Montan         T         7.2         10.0         1.1         2.8         11.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5         2.7           Great Fails         11.5         3.1         1.1         2.6         2.9         11.1         6.5         3.5         2.4         7.7         2.4           Nebraska         L         1.1         2.7         1.0.4         3.7         5.2         2.4         7.7         2.4           Ron         1.3         5.8	Cape Girardeau	7.1	3.7	5.2	9.6	1.4	3.3	8.8	3.4	4.7	3.7	6.5	2.6
Jopin6.73.66.59.01.51.51.2.84.66.12.77.52.0Kansas City9.45.16.97.51.23.010.15.86.44.88.02.9Springfield7.93.36.98.01.02.58.23.45.73.37.12.30StLouis9.66.05.39.11.53.913.05.76.95.89.62.8Montana0.53.77.210.01.12.811.44.89.34.48.52.7Great Falls11.53.47.79.93.32.811.85.48.62.99.63.4Missoula13.04.31.11.12.62.911.16.510.94.99.13.5Mersoka1.33.45.77.71.11.66.34.15.33.45.72.1Marbasit5.85.35.51.12.79.15.16.25.68.62.2Nevada1.35.86.37.11.12.79.16.16.33.45.72.1Las logas11.35.86.37.11.12.79.16.16.37.82.87.72.4Rono13.75.38.610.41.52.811.96.38.34.67.7<	Columbia	7.8	3.9	5.2	8.2	0.8	2.3	8.4	4.3	6.6	5.6	7.5	2.4
Kansa City         94         5.1         6.9         7.5         1.2         3.0         10.1         5.8         6.4         4.8         8.0         2.9           Springfield         7.9         3.3         6.9         8.0         1.0         2.5         8.2         3.4         5.7         3.3         7.1         2.3           St Louis         9.6         6.0         5.3         9.1         1.5         3.9         13.0         5.7         6.9         5.8         9.6         2.8           Montana         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N         N <th< td=""><td>Joplin</td><td>6.7</td><td>3.6</td><td>6.5</td><td>9.0</td><td>1.5</td><td>1.5</td><td>12.8</td><td>4.6</td><td>6.1</td><td>2.7</td><td>7.5</td><td>2.0</td></th<>	Joplin	6.7	3.6	6.5	9.0	1.5	1.5	12.8	4.6	6.1	2.7	7.5	2.0
Springfield         7.9         3.3         6.9         8.0         1.0         2.5         8.2         3.4         5.7         3.3         7.1         2.3           St Louis         9.6         6.0         5.3         9.1         1.5         3.9         13.0         5.7         6.9         5.8         9.6         2.8           Montan         U         U         1.1         3.3         2.8         11.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5         2.7           Great Fails         11.5         3.4         7.7         9.9         3.3         2.8         11.4         4.8         8.5         2.7         Great Fails         5.4         8.5         2.9         9.6         3.4           Missoula         13.0         4.3         11.1         11.2         2.6         2.9         11.1         6.5         10.9         4.9         9.1         3.5           Nethaska         U         U         1.1         2.7         1.1         6.3         4.1         5.3         3.4         5.7         7.7         5.9         7.5         2.9           Nevada         U         U         3.7         1.1         2.7 <t< td=""><td>Kansas City</td><td>9.4</td><td>5.1</td><td>6.9</td><td>7.5</td><td>1.2</td><td>3.0</td><td>10.1</td><td>5.8</td><td>6.4</td><td>4.8</td><td>8.0</td><td>2.9</td></t<>	Kansas City	9.4	5.1	6.9	7.5	1.2	3.0	10.1	5.8	6.4	4.8	8.0	2.9
Si Louis       9.6       6.0       5.3       9.1       1.5       3.9       13.0       5.7       6.9       5.8       9.8       2.8         Montana	Springfield	7.9	3.3	6.9	8.0	1.0	2.5	8.2	3.4	5.7	3.3	7.1	2.3
Montana           Billings         10.5         3.7         7.2         10.0         1.1         2.8         11.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5         2.7           Great Falls         11.5         3.4         7.7         9.9         3.3         2.8         11.8         5.4         8.6         2.9         9.6         3.4           Missoula         13.0         4.3         11.1         11.2         2.6         2.9         11.1         6.5         10.9         4.9         9.1         3.5           Nebraska         4.3         3.6         7.7         1.1         1.6         6.3         4.1         5.3         3.4         5.7         2.1           Omaha         8.1         5.6         3.5         8.5         1.1         2.7         9.1         5.1         6.2         5.6         8.6         2.2           Nevbraska         1.3         5.8         6.3         7.1         1.1         2.7         1.0.4         3.7         5.2         2.4         7.7         2.9         7.5         2.9           Menchestr         8.8         6.3         7.0         1.0         3.9         10.2         5.7	St Louis	9.6	6.0	5.3	9.1	1.5	3.9	13.0	5.7	6.9	5.8	9.6	2.8
Billings         10.5         3.7         7.2         10.0         1.1         2.8         11.4         4.8         9.3         4.4         8.5         2.7           Great Falls         11.5         3.4         7.7         9.9         3.3         2.8         11.8         5.4         8.6         2.9         9.6         3.4           Missoula         13.0         4.3         11.1         11.2         2.6         2.9         11.1         6.5         10.9         4.9         9.1         3.5           Nebraska             5.1         1.7         7.1         1.6         6.3         4.1         5.3         3.4         5.7         2.1           Omaha         8.1         5.6         3.5         1.1         2.7         9.1         5.1         6.2         5.6         8.6         2.2           Nexada           3.7         1.1         2.7         10.4         3.7         5.2         2.4         7.7         2.4           Reno         13.7         5.3         8.6         10.4         1.5         2.8         11.9         6.3         8.3         4.6         7.4	Montana												
Great Fails       11.5       3.4       7.7       9.9       3.3       2.8       11.8       5.4       8.6       2.9       9.6       3.4         Missoula       13.0       4.3       11.1       11.2       2.6       2.9       11.1       6.5       10.9       4.9       9.1       3.5         Nebraska          5.6       3.5       7.7       1.1       1.6       6.3       4.1       5.3       3.4       5.7       2.1         Omaha       8.1       5.6       3.5       8.5       1.1       2.7       9.1       5.3       3.4       6.7       2.1         Nevada          3.7       5.3       8.6       10.4       1.5       2.8       11.9       6.3       8.3       4.6       7.4       2.9         New Hampshire	Billings	10.5	3.7	7.2	10.0	1.1	2.8	11.4	4.8	9.3	4.4	8.5	2.7
Missoula       13.0       4.3       11.1       11.2       2.6       2.9       11.1       6.5       10.9       4.9       9.1       3.5         Nebraska       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       .       . <t< td=""><td>Great Falls</td><td>11.5</td><td>3.4</td><td>7.7</td><td>9.9</td><td>3.3</td><td>2.8</td><td>11.8</td><td>5.4</td><td>8.6</td><td>2.9</td><td>9.6</td><td>3.4</td></t<>	Great Falls	11.5	3.4	7.7	9.9	3.3	2.8	11.8	5.4	8.6	2.9	9.6	3.4
Nebraska         Lincoln         6.3         2.8         2.5         7.7         1.1         1.6         6.3         4.1         5.3         3.4         5.7         2.1           Omaha         8.1         5.6         3.5         8.5         1.1         2.7         9.1         5.1         6.2         5.6         8.6         2.2           Nevada           5.3         8.6         10.4         1.5         2.8         11.9         6.3         8.3         4.6         7.4         2.9           New Hampshire            5.7         7.7         5.9         7.5         2.9           Manchester         8.8         6.3         7.8         8.8         1.3         3.7         12.5         5.7         9.4         3.5         7.0         3.1           New Jarsey            3.6         16.6         6.6         7.9         4.3         10.3         4.0           Hackensack         2.11         11.6         5.8         12.4         1.4         6.1         2.9         9.8         8.6         6.7         13.2         4.7           Morristown         13.8<	Missoula	13.0	4.3	11.1	11.2	2.6	2.9	11.1	6.5	10.9	4.9	9.1	3.5
Lincoln       6.3       2.8       2.5       7.7       1.1       1.6       6.3       4.1       5.3       3.4       5.7       2.1         Omaha       8.1       5.6       3.5       8.5       1.1       2.7       9.1       5.1       6.2       5.6       8.6       2.2         Nevada <th< td=""><td>Nebraska</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	Nebraska												
Omaha         8.1         5.6         3.5         8.5         1.1         2.7         9.1         5.1         6.2         5.6         8.6         2.2           Nevada         II.3         5.8         6.3         7.1         1.1         2.7         10.4         3.7         5.2         2.4         7.7         2.4           Reno         13.7         5.3         8.6         10.4         1.5         2.8         11.9         6.3         8.3         4.6         7.4         2.9           New Hampshire         U         U         U         U         10.2         5.7         7.7         5.9         7.5         2.9           Manchester         8.8         6.3         7.8         8.8         1.3         3.7         12.5         5.7         9.4         3.1         3.4           New Jersey         U         U         U         U         U         1.3         3.6         16.6         6.6         7.9         4.3         10.3         4.0           Machensack         21.1         11.6         5.8         12.4         1.4         6.1         20.9         9.8         6.6         6.7         13.2         4.7	Lincoln	6.3	2.8	2.5	7.7	1.1	1.6	6.3	4.1	5.3	3.4	5.7	2.1
Nevada         Las Vegas       11.3       5.8       6.3       7.1       1.1       2.7       10.4       3.7       5.2       2.4       7.7       2.4         Reno       13.7       5.3       8.6       10.4       1.5       2.8       11.9       6.3       8.3       4.6       7.4       2.9         New Hampshire	Omaha	8.1	5.6	3.5	8.5	1.1	2.7	9.1	5.1	6.2	5.6	8.6	2.2
Las Vegas11.35.86.37.11.12.710.43.75.22.47.72.4Reno13.75.38.610.41.52.811.96.38.34.67.42.9New HampshireLebanon10.84.68.010.61.03.910.25.77.75.97.52.9Manchester8.86.37.88.81.33.712.55.79.43.57.03.1New JerseyCanden12.38.76.610.91.33.616.66.67.94.310.34.0Hackensack21.111.65.812.41.46.120.99.88.66.713.24.7Moristown13.89.76.611.81.13.918.49.09.45.013.24.4New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9Ridgewood17.111.24.811.11.91.17.37.35.28.54.4Paterson8.57.23.510.00.62.912.76.67.03.95.63.9New Mexico1.4 <td>Nevada</td> <td></td>	Nevada												
Reno         13.7         5.3         8.6         10.4         1.5         2.8         11.9         6.3         8.3         4.6         7.4         2.9           New Hampshire         Iebanon         10.8         4.6         8.0         10.6         1.0         3.9         10.2         5.7         7.7         5.9         7.5         2.9           Manchester         8.8         6.3         7.8         8.8         1.3         3.7         12.5         5.7         9.4         3.5         7.0         3.1           New Jersey         Image: Control of the second of t	Las Vegas	11.3	5.8	6.3	7.1	1.1	2.7	10.4	3.7	5.2	2.4	7.7	2.4
New Hampshire           Lebanon         10.8         4.6         8.0         10.6         1.0         3.9         10.2         5.7         7.7         5.9         7.5         2.9           Manchester         8.8         6.3         7.8         8.8         1.3         3.7         12.5         5.7         9.4         3.5         7.0         3.1           New Jersey         V         V         V         V         V         V         V         V         V           Camden         12.3         8.7         6.6         10.9         1.3         3.6         16.6         6.6         7.9         4.3         10.3         4.0           Hackensack         21.1         11.6         5.8         12.4         1.4         6.1         20.9         9.8         8.6         6.7         13.2         4.7           Morristown         13.8         9.7         6.6         11.8         1.1         3.9         18.4         9.0         9.4         5.0         13.2         4.4           New Brunswick         12.5         10.1         5.7         9.4         1.2         3.9         16.1         7.2         7.9         5.0         9.0 <td>Reno</td> <td>13.7</td> <td>5.3</td> <td>8.6</td> <td>10.4</td> <td>1.5</td> <td>2.8</td> <td>11.9</td> <td>6.3</td> <td>8.3</td> <td>4.6</td> <td>7.4</td> <td>2.9</td>	Reno	13.7	5.3	8.6	10.4	1.5	2.8	11.9	6.3	8.3	4.6	7.4	2.9
Lebanon10.84.68.010.61.03.910.25.77.75.97.52.9Manchester8.86.37.88.81.33.712.55.79.43.57.03.1New JerseyCamden12.38.76.610.91.33.616.66.67.94.310.34.0Hackensack21.111.65.812.41.46.120.99.88.66.713.24.7Morristown13.89.76.611.81.13.918.49.09.45.013.24.4New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9Newark10.48.33.610.11.23.914.57.87.35.28.54.4Paterson8.57.23.510.00.62.912.76.67.03.95.63.9Ridgewood17.111.24.811.31.64.219.79.19.44.711.04.6New MexicoMathematica9.94.58.79.21.42.611.25.98.64.47.53.0New MoxicoAlbany11.36.37.19.91.53.512.76.27.45.110.23.9Binghamton8.9 <td>New Hampshire</td> <td></td>	New Hampshire												
Manchester         8.8         6.3         7.8         8.8         1.3         3.7         12.5         5.7         9.4         3.5         7.0         3.1           New Jersey	Lebanon	10.8	4.6	8.0	10.6	1.0	3.9	10.2	5.7	7.7	5.9	7.5	2.9
New JerseyCamden12.38.76.610.91.33.616.66.67.94.310.34.0Hackensack21.111.65.812.41.46.120.99.88.66.713.24.7Morristown13.89.76.611.81.13.918.49.09.45.013.24.4New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9Newark10.48.33.610.11.23.914.57.87.35.28.54.4Paterson8.57.23.510.00.62.912.76.67.03.95.63.9Ridgewood17.111.24.811.31.64.219.79.19.44.711.04.6New MexicoHabuquerque9.94.58.79.21.42.611.25.98.64.47.53.0New YorkAlbany11.36.37.19.91.53.512.76.27.45.110.23.9Binghamton8.94.56.59.91.41.711.95.37.43.49.13.0Bronx8.27.62.98.71.04.210.66.23.94.98.73.5Buffalo10.45.6 <td< td=""><td>Manchester</td><td>8.8</td><td>6.3</td><td>7.8</td><td>8.8</td><td>1.3</td><td>3.7</td><td>12.5</td><td>5.7</td><td>9.4</td><td>3.5</td><td>7.0</td><td>3.1</td></td<>	Manchester	8.8	6.3	7.8	8.8	1.3	3.7	12.5	5.7	9.4	3.5	7.0	3.1
Camden12.38.76.610.91.33.616.66.67.94.310.34.0Hackensack21.111.65.812.41.46.120.99.88.66.713.24.7Morristown13.89.76.611.81.13.918.49.09.45.013.24.4New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9Newark10.48.33.610.11.23.914.57.87.35.28.54.4Paterson8.57.23.510.00.62.912.76.67.03.95.63.9Ridgewood17.111.24.811.31.64.219.79.19.44.711.04.6New MexicoAlbuquerque9.94.58.79.21.42.611.25.98.64.47.53.0New YorkAlbany11.36.37.19.91.53.512.76.27.45.110.23.9Binghamton8.94.56.59.91.41.711.95.37.43.49.13.0Bronx8.27.62.98.71.04.210.66.23.94.98.73.5Buffalo10.45.64.712.71.	New Jersey												
Hackensack21.111.65.812.41.46.120.99.88.66.713.24.7Morristown13.89.76.611.81.13.918.49.09.45.013.24.4New Brunswick12.510.15.79.41.23.916.17.27.95.09.03.9Newark10.48.33.610.11.23.914.57.87.35.28.54.4Paterson8.57.23.510.00.62.912.76.67.03.95.63.9Ridgewood17.111.24.811.31.64.219.79.19.44.711.04.6New MexicoMorristown9.94.58.79.21.42.611.25.98.64.47.53.0New YorkAlbany11.36.37.19.91.53.512.76.27.45.110.23.9Binghamton8.94.56.59.91.41.711.95.37.43.49.13.0Bronx8.27.62.98.71.04.210.66.23.94.98.73.5Buffalo10.45.64.712.71.93.412.55.65.96.010.23.9Bronx8.27.62.71.41.8 <td>Camden</td> <td>12.3</td> <td>8.7</td> <td>6.6</td> <td>10.9</td> <td>1.3</td> <td>3.6</td> <td>16.6</td> <td>6.6</td> <td>7.9</td> <td>4.3</td> <td>10.3</td> <td>4.0</td>	Camden	12.3	8.7	6.6	10.9	1.3	3.6	16.6	6.6	7.9	4.3	10.3	4.0
Morristown         13.8         9.7         6.6         11.8         1.1         3.9         18.4         9.0         9.4         5.0         13.2         4.4           New Brunswick         12.5         10.1         5.7         9.4         1.2         3.9         16.1         7.2         7.9         5.0         9.0         3.9           Newark         10.4         8.3         3.6         10.1         1.2         3.9         14.5         7.8         7.3         5.2         8.5         4.4           Paterson         8.5         7.2         3.5         10.0         0.6         2.9         12.7         6.6         7.0         3.9         5.6         3.9           Ridgewood         17.1         11.2         4.8         11.3         1.6         4.2         19.7         9.1         9.4         4.7         11.0         4.6           New Mexico         New Mexico         New Mork         New York         New York         New York         New Soci	Hackensack	21.1	11.6	5.8	12.4	1.4	6.1	20.9	9.8	8.6	6.7	13.2	4.7
New Brunswick         12.5         10.1         5.7         9.4         1.2         3.9         16.1         7.2         7.9         5.0         9.0         3.9           Newark         10.4         8.3         3.6         10.1         1.2         3.9         14.5         7.8         7.3         5.2         8.5         4.4           Paterson         8.5         7.2         3.5         10.0         0.6         2.9         12.7         6.6         7.0         3.9         5.6         3.9           Ridgewood         17.1         11.2         4.8         11.3         1.6         4.2         19.7         9.1         9.4         4.7         11.0         4.6           New Mexico         New Mexico         New Mork         New York         New York         New York         New York         New State         New State </td <td>Morristown</td> <td>13.8</td> <td>9.7</td> <td>6.6</td> <td>11.8</td> <td>1.1</td> <td>3.9</td> <td>18.4</td> <td>9.0</td> <td>9.4</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>13.2</td> <td>4.4</td>	Morristown	13.8	9.7	6.6	11.8	1.1	3.9	18.4	9.0	9.4	5.0	13.2	4.4
Newark         10.4         8.3         3.6         10.1         1.2         3.9         14.5         7.8         7.3         5.2         8.5         4.4           Paterson         8.5         7.2         3.5         10.0         0.6         2.9         12.7         6.6         7.0         3.9         5.6         3.9           Ridgewood         17.1         11.2         4.8         11.3         1.6         4.2         19.7         9.1         9.4         4.7         11.0         4.6           New Mexico         New Mexico         New Mexico         New York         New York         New York         New State	New Brunswick	12.5	10.1	5.7	9.4	1.2	3.9	16.1	7.2	7.9	5.0	9.0	3.9
Paterson       8.5       7.2       3.5       10.0       0.6       2.9       12.7       6.6       7.0       3.9       5.6       3.9         Ridgewood       17.1       11.2       4.8       11.3       1.6       4.2       19.7       9.1       9.4       4.7       11.0       4.6         New Mexico       New Mexico       New York       New York       New York       New Solution       S.5       7.1       9.9       1.5       3.5       12.7       6.2       7.4       5.1       10.2       3.0         Binghamton       8.9       4.5       6.5       9.9       1.4       1.7       11.9       5.3       7.4       3.4       9.1       3.0         Binghamton       8.9       4.5       6.5       9.9       1.4       1.7       11.9       5.3       7.4       3.4       9.1       3.0         Bronx       8.2       7.6       2.9       8.7       1.0       4.2       10.6       6.2       3.9       4.9       8.7       3.5         Buffalo       10.4       5.6       4.7       12.7       1.9       3.4       12.5       5.6       5.9       6.0       10.2       3.9	Newark	10.4	8.3	3.6	10.1	1.2	3.9	14.5	7.8	7.3	5.2	8.5	4.4
Ridgewood       17.1       11.2       4.8       11.3       1.6       4.2       19.7       9.1       9.4       4.7       11.0       4.6         New Mexico	Paterson	8.5	7.2	3.5	10.0	0.6	2.9	12.7	6.6	7.0	3.9	5.6	3.9
New Mexico       9.9       4.5       8.7       9.2       1.4       2.6       11.2       5.9       8.6       4.4       7.5       3.0         New York	Ridgewood	17.1	11.2	4.8	11.3	1.6	4.2	19.7	9.1	9.4	4.7	11.0	4.6
Albuquerque       9.9       4.5       8.7       9.2       1.4       2.6       11.2       5.9       8.6       4.4       7.5       3.0         New York       New York         Albany       11.3       6.3       7.1       9.9       1.5       3.5       12.7       6.2       7.4       5.1       10.2       3.9         Binghamton       8.9       4.5       6.5       9.9       1.4       1.7       11.9       5.3       7.4       3.4       9.1       3.0         Bronx       8.2       7.6       2.9       8.7       1.0       4.2       10.6       6.2       3.9       4.9       8.7       3.5         Buffalo       10.4       5.6       4.7       12.7       1.9       3.4       12.5       5.6       5.9       6.0       10.2       3.9         Elmira       12.1       3.8       6.2       11.4       1.8       2.7       13.9       4.8       7.8       4.0       9.8       3.7         East Long Island       15.1       9.1       5.0       12.4       1.3       5.2       19.3       9.2       8.2       6.5       12.3       4.5	New Mexico												
New York         11.3         6.3         7.1         9.9         1.5         3.5         12.7         6.2         7.4         5.1         10.2         3.9           Binghamton         8.9         4.5         6.5         9.9         1.4         1.7         11.9         5.3         7.4         3.4         9.1         3.0           Bronx         8.2         7.6         2.9         8.7         1.0         4.2         10.6         6.2         3.9         4.9         8.7         3.5           Buffalo         10.4         5.6         4.7         12.7         1.9         3.4         12.5         5.6         5.9         6.0         10.2         3.9           Elmira         12.1         3.8         6.2         11.4         1.8         2.7         13.9         4.8         7.8         4.0         9.8         3.7           East Long Island         15.1         9.1         5.0         12.4         1.3         5.2         19.3         9.2         8.2         6.5         12.3         4.5	Albuquerque	9.9	4.5	8.7	9.2	1.4	2.6	11.2	5.9	8.6	4.4	7.5	3.0
Floary       11.3       0.3       7.1       9.9       1.5       3.5       12.7       0.2       7.4       5.1       10.2       3.9         Binghamton       8.9       4.5       6.5       9.9       1.4       1.7       11.9       5.3       7.4       3.4       9.1       3.0         Bronx       8.2       7.6       2.9       8.7       1.0       4.2       10.6       6.2       3.9       4.9       8.7       3.5         Buffalo       10.4       5.6       4.7       12.7       1.9       3.4       12.5       5.6       5.9       6.0       10.2       3.9         Elmira       12.1       3.8       6.2       11.4       1.8       2.7       13.9       4.8       7.8       4.0       9.8       3.7         East Long Island       15.1       9.1       5.0       12.4       1.3       5.2       19.3       9.2       8.2       6.5       12.3       4.5		11.2	6.2	7.1	0.0	15	25	12.7	6.2	7.4	5.1	10.2	2.0
Bronx       8.2       7.6       2.9       8.7       1.0       4.2       10.6       6.2       3.9       4.9       8.7       3.5         Buffalo       10.4       5.6       4.7       12.7       1.9       3.4       12.5       5.6       5.9       6.0       10.2       3.9         Elmira       12.1       3.8       6.2       11.4       1.8       2.7       13.9       4.8       7.8       4.0       9.8       3.7         East Long Island       15.1       9.1       5.0       12.4       1.3       5.2       19.3       9.2       8.2       6.5       12.3       4.5	Binghamton	80	0.5	6.5	9.9	1.0	1.7	11.0	5.2	7.4	3.1	0.1	3.9
Long Ka         0.2         7.0         2.5         0.7         1.0         4.2         10.0         0.2         5.9         4.9         8.7         3.5           Buffalo         10.4         5.6         4.7         12.7         1.9         3.4         12.5         5.6         5.9         6.0         10.2         3.9           Elmira         12.1         3.8         6.2         11.4         1.8         2.7         13.9         4.8         7.8         4.0         9.8         3.7           East Long Island         15.1         9.1         5.0         12.4         1.3         5.2         19.3         9.2         8.2         6.5         12.3         4.5	Brony	0.9	4.0	2.0	9.9	1.4	4.2	10.6	6.2	2.0	4.0	9.1	3.0
Elmira         12.1         3.8         6.2         11.4         1.8         2.7         13.9         4.8         7.8         4.0         9.8         3.7           East Long Island         15.1         9.1         5.0         12.4         1.3         5.2         19.3         9.2         8.2         6.5         12.3         4.5	Buffalo	10.4	5.6	2.9	12 7	1.0	3.4	12.5	5.6	5.9	4.9	10.2	3.0
East Long Island         15.1         9.1         5.0         12.4         1.3         5.2         19.3         9.2         8.2         6.5         12.3         4.5	Elmira	12.1	3.8	6.2	11.4	1.8	2.7	13.9	4.8	7.8	4.0	9.8	37
	Fast Long Island	15.1	9.1	5.0	12.4	1.3	5.2	19.3	9.2	8.2	6.5	12.3	4.5
New York 10.4 9.9 3.2 10.9 1.4 6.2 13.5 8.6 5.6 6.3 10.6 4.0	New York	10.4	9.9	3.2	10.9	1.4	6.2	13.5	8.6	5.6	6.3	10.6	4.0
Rochester 11.6 5.8 3.3 8.9 1.1 3.3 14.1 6.7 7.2 4.4 9.6 2.9	Rochester	11.6	5.8	3.3	8.9	1.1	3.3	14.1	6.7	7.2	4.4	9.6	2,9

asijon		/	/	an.	/	/	/	cologists	/	215	/	/
Relation		ologists		Medici Su	10 ^{80/15}	aons dis		mGynec und	ogists	C SUIDED	3 ⁵	
Hospita	Anesthe	Catololo	Emergeria	General General	Neurosu	Neurolos	Obstettu	Ophhan	Othope	Patholos	Radiolos	Urologis
Syracuse	11.5	5.7	5.0	9.1	1.3	2.4	11.9	5.2	8.1	4.5	10.1	3.4
White Plains	19.2	10.7	6.5	15.4	1.8	5.4	22.7	12.1	9.7	6.8	14.8	5.4
North Carolina												
Asheville	8.4	3.5	9.1	9.7	1.1	2.1	10.4	4.8	9.6	3.3	10.0	3.6
Charlotte	7.0	4.2	8.2	8.2	1.1	2.5	12.1	4.9	6.9	3.1	7.2	3.5
Durham	8.2	4.6	5.7	6.9	1.1	3.4	9.7	5.1	6.2	5.2	10.5	3.6
Greensboro	7.0	4.9	3.7	7.1	1.9	2.5	11.8	5.5	6.8	3.8	8.5	3.9
Greenville	6.3	5.2	7.1	8.7	0.9	2.5	12.7	4.8	6.3	3.7	6.9	3.3
Hickory	6.6	2.8	7.7	9.3	2.2	1.7	12.4	3.5	6.1	3.1	7.8	2.8
Raleigh	5.7	4.8	6.7	8.1	1.3	2.7	10.8	4.8	5.8	3.0	7.2	3.6
Wilmington	6.9	5.4	8.0	10.2	1.6	3.1	12.8	4.4	6.7	3.2	7.9	3.0
Winston-Salem	8.0	4.4	5.3	7.8	1.1	2.9	10.8	3.8	5.1	4.3	8.3	3.0
North Dakota												
Bismarck	9.9	4.0	7.5	9.6	2.1	3.9	7.4	4.5	5.2	4.6	6.6	3.0
Fargo Moorhead -Mn	4.6	1.4	3.3	8.7	1.3	2.4	6.4	4.8	4.9	2.0	5.4	1.8
Grand Forks	5.2	1.5	3.3	8.1	1.5	2.1	8.3	4.6	4.5	2.1	5.4	2.1
Minot	8.4	3.3	3.3	10.4	2.7	2.1	10.1	4.3	8.5	5.1	11.6	3.1
Ohio												
Akron	8.4	4.3	13.4	8.3	0.7	2.7	11.0	4.6	8.3	4.6	8.1	3.2
Canton	7.8	4.7	6.4	7.1	1.1	1.2	11.1	5.5	6.5	3.9	8.4	2.6
Cincinnati	9.8	5.7	7.9	8.0	2.0	2.4	13.3	5.0	7.5	4.9	8.5	3.3
Cleveland	13.9	7.6	8.2	10.0	1.6	3.9	12.9	6.2	7.5	6.8	12.1	2.7
Columbus	8.6	4.9	7.1	8.5	1.1	2.1	9.4	4.6	6.2	4.1	7.0	2.5
Dayton	7.3	4.4	6.8	7.8	1.6	2.4	9.3	3.6	5.2	3.8	6.0	2.8
Elyria	11.7	7.4	7.4	7.5	1.4	3.5	10.2	3.7	6.8	4.5	8.7	2.5
Kettering	12.6	6.1	12.7	9.1	1.5	1.7	12.0	5.6	8.1	6.3	11.5	3.6
Toledo	11.6	5.7	8.8	8.7	1.4	2.4	12.1	5.6	5.9	5.1	8.2	3.6
Youngstown	9.7	4.5	7.8	10.5	1.3	2.3	11.4	4.4	6.2	4.3	10.0	2.6
Oklahoma												
Lawton	6.1	2.2	7.3	9.3	1.7	2.7	10.6	4.0	6.3	3.2	7.7	3.3
Oklahoma City	9.9	4.6	5.5	7.4	1.3	2.4	8.8	5.1	6.4	4.6	7.5	3.7
Tulsa	9.1	5.0	5.0	8.1	1.9	2.4	9.8	4.2	6.3	3.3	8.3	2.7
Oregon												
Bend	10.1	2.9	9.8	9.3	2.9	2.9	11.1	6.0	7.3	2.5	9.0	3.5
Eugene	10.3	2.8	7.2	7.5	2.0	3.3	10.7	5.2	8.3	3.1	6.6	3.1
Medford	9.2	3.0	9.0	7.1	1.6	2.5	10.3	5.5	10.2	3.1	6.1	3.0
Portland	11.8	4.5	8.8	7.7	1.8	3.4	11.9	5.5	7.5	3.9	8.2	3.1
Salem	11.6	2.2	6.6	8.4	2.0	1.8	9.7	5.1	7.5	3.0	8.1	2.6
Pennsylvania												
Allentown	9.8	6.9	6.0	9.1	1.5	2.7	11.3	5.9	7.1	3.7	8.7	3.2
Altoona	8.1	3.9	8.1	7.8	1.0	2.2	11.7	3.9	6.7	4.4	8.3	2.6
Danville	7.8	5.6	9.2	8.1	1.2	2.9	8.0	4.6	6.2	4.8	11.2	3.5
Erie	8.2	4.2	7.8	10.1	1.7	2.4	9.6	4.2	7.9	3.0	9.0	3.3
Harrisburg	10.1	4.7	6.0	8.1	1.4	2.0	11.0	4.7	7.0	4.4	9.2	3.0
Johnstown	10.4	4.5	11.5	11.5	2.1	3.1	11.6	4.4	6.4	5.2	9.7	3.4
Lancaster	8.9	5.3	6.0	6.0	1.3	1.8	8.7	5.7	6.5	3.2	9.0	2.9

a Pegion			/	alicine	015		/	-unecologists	.d5	USON5			/
HOSIN RADI	Anesthesi	Cardologiste	Energencial	Mc General Su	Neurosuros	Neurologist	Obsetticie	Ophnalmole	ortroped	Pathologe	Radiologist	5 Urologists	
Philadelphia	12.0	11.1	7.9	10.4	1.7	5.8	15.6	7.4	8.2	7.7	14.1	3.9	
Pittsburgh	10.7	6.9	9.3	9.9	1.8	3.3	11.5	4.9	6.6	6.3	12.3	3.0	
Reading	9.9	4.4	4.6	7.6	1.1	2.1	11.9	5.3	6.6	4.8	8.4	2.7	
Sayre	8.2	5.1	7.4	8.8	1.2	2.0	9.0	4.3	6.5	2.8	6.9	3.1	
Scranton	7.5	6.0	6.1	10.4	2.4	3.9	10.8	5.2	6.4	4.0	10.7	2.7	
Wilkes-Barre	8.1	6.2	7.1	8.9	1.9	2.4	13.2	6.6	6.4	5.6	11.0	4.7	
York	11.7	3.7	7.9	7.5	1.5	1.3	10.5	4.5	5.7	3.4	7.2	3.0	
Rhode Island													
Providence	9.3	7.6	6.6	11.5	2.1	4.1	12.5	5.8	9.3	6.9	10.7	3.8	
South Carolina													
Charleston	11.1	4.3	8.7	9.5	1.6	3.1	10.2	6.8	6.7	5.4	7.7	4.5	
Columbia	8.9	5.1	6.4	9.2	1.0	1.7	10.4	6.2	5.2	4.5	6.5	3.1	
Florence	6.2	3.4	4.7	9.0	0.8	1.7	9.1	3.1	5.0	2.4	5.5	3.4	
Greenville	9.0	3.6	7.2	8.7	1.4	1.8	11.6	5.5	8.1	2.9	8.2	3.5	
Spartanburg	6.8	2.7	4.3	11.8	1.8	2.5	11.7	3.7	7.2	4.3	7.3	3.7	
South Dakota													
Rapid City	4.8	4.1	3.7	13.4	1.6	3.0	7.2	5.4	6.1	3.5	10.5	3.0	
Sioux Falls	5.4	3.1	2.8	9.7	0.8	2.3	7.5	4.2	6.0	4.2	6.5	2.9	
Tennessee													
Chattanooga	10.6	4.0	6.6	7.1	1.3	1.4	12.2	5.5	7.2	3.1	8.6	2.3	
Jackson	5.6	2.5	3.4	9.2	1.6	1.2	8.5	4.2	5.3	3.8	6.9	3.3	
Johnson City	9.3	4.8	8.6	9.8	1.2	2.8	11.3	5.2	9.5	6.8	8.5	3.4	
Kingsport	6.7	3.8	6.7	10.8	0.9	2.6	11.7	3.7	6.6	4.7	8.4	3.1	
Knoxville	7.8	5.4	5.6	7.6	1.5	2.3	11.6	4.0	6.5	3.9	8.7	2.7	
Memphis	9.6	4.5	3.3	7.7	2.4	2.5	10.2	4.6	5.0	4.1	7.9	3.1	
Nashville	9.1	5.2	5.6	9.4	1.4	2.3	10.8	5.4	6.9	4.6	8.9	3.4	
Texas													
Abilene	9.2	4.4	3.8	8.6	1.8	2.5	13.1	3.9	6.2	4.3	5.9	2.6	
Amarillo	8.5	4.3	4.2	10.8	1.2	2.4	11.4	3.1	5.7	3.2	6.9	2.8	
Austin	9.1	4.5	6.3	7.5	1.5	3.2	9.7	7.1	6.4	2.8	5.5	2.6	
Beaumont	10.7	5.0	5.1	8.4	1.4	2.3	12.4	4.7	6.4	5.2	7.1	3.2	
Bryan	8.2	4.4	2.5	6.3	1.2	1.5	9.4	3.6	5.4	4.4	7.4	3.5	
Corpus Christi	11.8	4.5	5.2	7.0	1.1	2.1	11.4	5.0	7.1	3.2	6.0	2.6	
Dallas	12.1	5.7	4.1	8.6	1.2	2.8	11.2	5.2	7.0	4.3	8.0	3.2	
El Paso	9.9	5.0	5.9	6.7	2.1	1.9	9.3	4.2	6.1	4.1	4.8	2.5	
Fort Worth	9.9	4.0	4.7	6.9	1.5	2.3	10.8	4.8	6.5	3.5	7.1	2.3	
Harlingen	4.3	2.8	2.8	6.9	1.2	1.2	7.3	4.7	2.9	2.8	3.5	2.0	
Houston	11.4	6.7	3.6	7.7	1.2	3.9	10.7	5.7	6.0	5.2	7.6	3.3	
Longview	8.2	3.0	4.7	6.4	1.2	2.3	12.2	4.2	5.3	2.4	6.3	2.1	
Lubbock	9.9	4.3	2.9	10.6	1.3	1.8	9.6	4.5	7.2	3.5	6.9	3.4	
Mcallen	5.3	2.3	1.3	5.0	0.6	0.5	5.7	3.0	2.8	1.8	3.0	1.5	
Odessa	8.0	4.1	4.7	7.0	1.5	1.2	11.5	4.8	5.3	3.4	4.5	2.8	
San Angelo	12.2	5.0	10.1	6.6	1.4	3.3	10.2	4.1	7.4	3.0	7.0	2.7	
San Antonio	12.7	5.5	5.9	8.7	1.7	3.5	10.1	6.0	6.4	5.5	9.4	3.3	
Temple	6.0	3.0	6.2	6.9	0.3	2.4	6.5	4.6	4.5	3.5	6.2	2.0	
Tyler	10.2	3.1	5.7	10.1	1.5	2.2	13.2	4.8	6.5	3.5	7.7	3.3	

Appendix	ria Resion	/	155		Aedicine	18015			GYRECOLOGISTS	11515	ungeons		
Victoria         11.6         3.0         3.5         7.6         2.0         2.4         10.9         3.9         6.1         6.8         8.1         2.3           Waco         9.1         3.5         4.6         7.4         1.9         1.8         9.4         4.6         5.4         4.5         7.3         3.2           Wehnb Fails         9.1         3.4         4.5         10.8         0.8         0.8         4.4         5.0         6.7         4.3         4.3         7.7         3.2           Oppen         11.0         3.6         4.9         5.8         1.2         1.1         1.6         5.0         7.5         2.8         6.1         2.3         1.3         1.0         1.6         5.0         6.6         4.2         5.1         2.7         2.7         2.4         6.0         6.0         6.6         4.2         3.5         3.6           Virginia         7.3         2.7         2.4         6.6         1.6         2.4         1.00         4.6         6.3         3.9         7.4         3.0           Virginia         7.3         2.7         2.4         6.6         1.6         2.7         1.3         3.0 <td>Hospita Refe</td> <td>Anesthesit</td> <td>Galdoogist</td> <td>Energenal</td> <td>Several Su</td> <td>Neurosurge</td> <td>Neurologis</td> <td>Obseticie</td> <td>Opthalmi</td> <td>Orthoped</td> <td>Patrologi</td> <td>Raliologic Radiologic</td> <td>Urologists</td>	Hospita Refe	Anesthesit	Galdoogist	Energenal	Several Su	Neurosurge	Neurologis	Obseticie	Opthalmi	Orthoped	Patrologi	Raliologic Radiologic	Urologists
Waco9.13.54.67.41.91.89.44.65.44.57.33.2Wichia Fails9.13.44.51.00.83.01.03.47.73.43.4UahUah3.64.95.81.21.11.165.07.22.05.12.1Orgon1.23.04.86.11.31.59.45.06.72.84.13.0SatLake CVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVVV <th< td=""><td>Victoria</td><td>11.6</td><td>3.0</td><td>3.5</td><td>7.6</td><td>2.0</td><td>2.4</td><td>10.9</td><td>3.9</td><td>6.1</td><td>5.8</td><td>8.1</td><td>2.3</td></th<>	Victoria	11.6	3.0	3.5	7.6	2.0	2.4	10.9	3.9	6.1	5.8	8.1	2.3
Webha Fails         9.1         3.4         4.5         10.8         0.8         3.6         10.9         4.4         7.3         4.3         7.7         3.4           Utah	Waco	9.1	3.5	4.6	7.4	1.9	1.8	9.4	4.6	5.4	4.5	7.3	3.2
Ubh         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U         U <thu< th="">         U         U         U</thu<>	Wichita Falls	9.1	3.4	4.5	10.8	0.8	3.6	10.9	4.4	7.3	4.3	7.7	3.4
Ogén         1.0         3.6         4.9         5.8         1.2         1.1         1.16         5.0         7.2         2.0         5.1         2.1           Provo         8.2         3.0         4.8         6.1         1.3         1.5         9.4         6.0         6.7         2.8         4.1         3.0           SatLake CV         1.2         4.0         7.1         7.9         1.4         2.1         10.8         5.1         6.7         2.8         3.4         6.1         2.8         3.4         6.0         6.7         3.4         6.1         2.8         3.6         Viginia         3.8         1.1         7.1         8.2         4.1         8.1         3.8         3.1         2.3         8         1.41         7.1         8.2         4.1         8.1         3.8           Viginia         7.3         2.7         2.4         8.6         1.6         2.4         10.0         1.6         6.4         6.3         3.9         7.4         3.0         1.0         1.0         1.4         1.3         1.1         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0         1.0	Utah												
Provo8.23.04.86.11.31.59.45.06.72.84.13.0Salt Lake City1.24.07.17.91.42.110.85.17.52.84.13.0Salt Lake City1.24.96.610.52.03.29.96.06.64.28.33.6Wrigina9.69.45.18.27.11.36.010.75.46.55.811.23.4Lynchburg7.32.72.48.61.62.410.04.66.33.97.43.0Newport News9.65.47.78.81.47.18.86.43.16.64.0Norlok9.35.79.61.01.63.913.66.26.55.77.33.79.63.1Rehmond7.16.84.47.91.23.810.55.77.33.79.63.1Rehmond7.16.84.47.91.23.810.55.77.33.79.63.1Rehmond7.16.86.76.90.92.311.24.98.63.37.12.9Washingtow9.04.87.60.90.92.311.24.98.63.37.12.9Ohrmal1.27.96.61.62.79.95.67.21.8 </td <td>Ogden</td> <td>11.0</td> <td>3.6</td> <td>4.9</td> <td>5.8</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>1.1</td> <td>11.6</td> <td>5.0</td> <td>7.2</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>5.1</td> <td>2.1</td>	Ogden	11.0	3.6	4.9	5.8	1.2	1.1	11.6	5.0	7.2	2.0	5.1	2.1
Salit Lake Oly       12.2       4.0       7.1       7.9       1.4       2.1       10.8       5.1       7.5       3.4       6.1       2.7         Varmont       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U       U	Provo	8.2	3.0	4.8	6.1	1.3	1.5	9.4	5.0	6.7	2.8	4.1	3.0
Vermont         Vermont         Verginia         9.6         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         6.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0         7.0	Salt Lake City	12.2	4.0	7.1	7.9	1.4	2.1	10.8	5.1	7.5	3.4	6.1	2.7
Burlington         9.6         4.9         6.6         10.5         2.0         3.2         9.9         6.0         6.6         4.2         8.3         3.6           Virgina                    Alington         0.1         6.7         6.3         8.3         1.2         3.8         1.4.1         7.1         8.2         4.1         8.1         3.8           Charlotteville         9.4         5.1         8.2         7.1         1.3         6.0         10.7         5.4         6.5         5.8         11.2         3.4           Newport News         9.6         5.4         7.4         8.7         1.4         2.2         1.4.7         5.8         6.4         3.1         6.6         4.0           Nerdink         9.3         5.7         7.8         3.7         9.6         3.1           Renowle         9.0         4.8         7.6         10.1         1.3         3.0         11.6         5.4         6.1         5.1         10.7         3.4         8.0         3.0           Winchesite         2.4 <th3.1< th="">         7.2         7.6</th3.1<>	Vermont												
Virginia       Virginia <th< td=""><td>Burlington</td><td>9.6</td><td>4.9</td><td>6.6</td><td>10.5</td><td>2.0</td><td>3.2</td><td>9.9</td><td>6.0</td><td>6.6</td><td>4.2</td><td>8.3</td><td>3.6</td></th<>	Burlington	9.6	4.9	6.6	10.5	2.0	3.2	9.9	6.0	6.6	4.2	8.3	3.6
Arington       10.1       6.7       6.3       8.3       1.2       3.8       1.4.1       7.1       8.2       4.1       8.1       3.8         Charlottesville       9.4       5.1       8.2       7.1       1.3       6.0       10.7       5.4       6.5       5.8       11.2       3.4         Lynchburg       7.3       2.7       2.4       8.6       1.6       2.4       1.0       4.6       6.3       3.9       7.4       3.0         Newport News       9.6       5.4       7.4       8.7       1.4       2.2       1.4       7.5       8.6       4.6       4.0         Norfolk       9.3       5.7       9.6       11.0       1.6       3.9       13.6       6.2       6.8       3.5       7.3       4.3         Reanoke       9.0       4.8       7.6       10.1       1.3       3.0       11.6       5.4       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1       6.1	Virginia												
Charlottesville       9.4       5.1       8.2       7.1       1.3       6.0       10.7       5.4       6.5       5.8       11.2       3.4         Lynchburg       7.3       2.7       2.4       8.6       1.6       2.4       10.0       4.6       6.3       3.9       7.4       3.0         Newport News       9.6       5.4       7.4       8.7       1.4       2.2       1.47       5.8       6.4       3.1       6.6       4.0         Norlok       9.3       5.7       7.3       3.7       9.6       3.1         Rehmond       7.1       6.8       4.4       7.9       1.2       3.8       10.5       5.7       7.3       3.7       9.6       3.1         Rehmond       7.1       6.8       7.6       10.1       1.3       3.0       11.6       5.4       6.1       5.7       7.3       3.7       9.6       3.1       10.0       9.7       3.4       6.3       3.1       10.7       3.4       6.3       3.1       2.2       1.8       8.0       3.0       3.0         Weshington       2.2       9.6       6.6       1.6       2.7       9.9       5.6       7.2       1.8<	Arlington	10.1	6.7	6.3	8.3	1.2	3.8	14.1	7.1	8.2	4.1	8.1	3.8
Lynchburg         7.3         2.7         2.4         8.6         1.6         2.4         10.0         4.6         6.3         3.9         7.4         3.0           Newport News         9.6         5.4         7.4         8.7         1.4         2.2         14.7         5.8         6.4         3.1         6.6         4.0           Nortolk         9.3         5.7         9.6         11.0         1.6         3.9         13.6         6.2         6.8         3.5         7.3         4.3           Reanoke         9.0         4.8         7.6         10.1         1.3         3.0         11.6         5.4         6.1         5.1         10.7         3.4           Winchester         8.7         4.1         8.3         10.0         0.9         2.9         12.4         5.7         7.7         3.4         6.3         4.1           Winchester         8.7         4.1         8.3         10.0         0.9         2.3         11.2         4.9         8.6         8.3         7.1         8.0         3.0           Opmpia         2.1         7.9         7.9         1.6         3.7         1.0         5.1         7.7         3.1	Charlottesville	9.4	5.1	8.2	7.1	1.3	6.0	10.7	5.4	6.5	5.8	11.2	3.4
Newport News         9.6         5.4         7.4         8.7         1.4         2.2         14.7         5.8         6.4         3.1         6.6         4.0           Norlok         9.3         5.7         9.6         11.0         1.6         3.9         13.6         6.2         6.8         3.5         7.3         4.3           Richmod         7.1         6.8         4.4         7.9         1.2         3.8         10.5         5.7         7.3         3.7         9.6         3.1           Wachester         8.7         4.1         8.3         10.0         9.9         12.4         5.7         7.7         3.4         6.3         4.1           Washington           1.4         7.9         6.6         1.6         2.7         9.9         5.6         7.2         1.8         8.0         3.0           Seatle         14.3         4.7         7.9         7.9         1.6         3.7         10.9         6.1         8.8         4.5         10.1         3.6           Spokane         10.0         4.2         7.8         7.2         1.7         2.4         9.1         5.1         8.5         7.7	Lynchburg	7.3	2.7	2.4	8.6	1.6	2.4	10.0	4.6	6.3	3.9	7.4	3.0
Norfolk         9.3         5.7         9.6         11.0         1.6         3.9         13.6         6.2         6.8         3.5         7.3         4.3           Richmond         7.1         6.8         4.4         7.9         1.2         3.8         10.5         5.7         7.3         3.7         9.6         3.1           Reanoke         9.0         4.8         7.6         10.1         1.3         3.0         11.6         5.4         6.1         5.1         10.7         3.4           Winchester         8.7         4.1         8.3         10.0         0.9         2.9         12.4         5.7         7.7         3.4         6.3         4.1           Winchester         12.4         4.3         6.7         6.9         0.9         2.3         11.2         4.9         8.6         3.3         7.1         2.9           Olympia         12.1         2.7         9.6         6.6         1.6         2.7         9.9         5.6         7.2         1.8         8.0         3.0           Seattle         14.3         4.7         7.9         7.9         1.6         3.7         1.0.9         5.1         5.5         5.1	Newport News	9.6	5.4	7.4	8.7	1.4	2.2	14.7	5.8	6.4	3.1	6.6	4.0
Richmond       7.1       6.8       4.4       7.9       1.2       3.8       10.5       5.7       7.3       3.7       9.6       3.1         Reanoke       9.0       4.8       7.6       10.1       1.3       3.0       11.6       5.4       6.1       5.1       10.7       3.4         Winchester       8.7       4.1       6.3       10.0       0.9       2.9       12.4       5.7       7.7       3.4       6.3       4.1         Washington       U       U       4.3       6.7       6.9       0.9       2.3       11.2       4.9       8.6       7.3       3.7       2.9       0.6       7.2       1.8       8.0       3.0         Seatle       14.3       4.7       7.9       7.9       1.6       3.7       10.9       6.1       8.8       4.5       10.1       3.6         Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       7.7       3.1       8.2       2.4         Tacoma       12.2       4.1       6.9       5.9       1.3       3.1       10.2       5.1       7.7       3.1       8.2       2.4         <	Norfolk	9.3	5.7	9.6	11.0	1.6	3.9	13.6	6.2	6.8	3.5	7.3	4.3
Roanoke       9.0       4.8       7.6       10.1       1.3       3.0       11.6       5.4       6.1       5.1       10.7       3.4         Winchester       8.7       4.1       8.3       10.0       0.9       2.9       12.4       5.7       7.7       3.4       6.3       4.1         Washington       Everett       12.4       4.3       6.7       6.9       0.9       2.3       11.2       4.9       8.6       3.3       7.1       2.9         Olympia       12.1       2.7       9.6       6.6       1.6       2.7       9.9       5.6       7.2       1.8       8.0       3.0         Seattle       14.3       4.7       7.9       7.9       1.6       3.7       10.9       6.1       8.8       4.5       10.1       3.6         Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       8.5       2.7       9.1       3.0         Yeima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         Weist Virginia       7.7       7.7       7.5 <t< td=""><td>Richmond</td><td>7.1</td><td>6.8</td><td>4.4</td><td>7.9</td><td>1.2</td><td>3.8</td><td>10.5</td><td>5.7</td><td>7.3</td><td>3.7</td><td>9.6</td><td>3.1</td></t<>	Richmond	7.1	6.8	4.4	7.9	1.2	3.8	10.5	5.7	7.3	3.7	9.6	3.1
Winchester       8.7       4.1       8.3       10.0       0.9       2.9       12.4       5.7       7.7       3.4       6.3       4.1         Washington       Evenett       12.4       4.3       6.7       6.9       0.9       2.3       11.2       4.9       8.6       3.3       7.1       2.9         Olympia       12.1       2.7       9.6       6.6       1.6       2.7       9.9       5.6       7.2       1.8       8.0       3.0         Seattle       14.3       4.7       7.9       7.9       1.6       3.7       10.9       6.1       8.8       4.5       10.1       3.6         Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       7.7       3.4       8.2       2.4         Tacoma       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia       7.7       4.7       7.5       11.0       1.1       2.1       10.7       4.4       5.1       5.4       8.3       3.4         Morganown       8.3       6.0       6.7       <	Roanoke	9.0	4.8	7.6	10.1	1.3	3.0	11.6	5.4	6.1	5.1	10.7	3.4
Washington           Everett         12.4         4.3         6.7         6.9         0.9         2.3         11.2         4.9         8.6         3.3         7.1         2.9           Olympia         12.1         2.7         9.6         6.6         1.6         2.7         9.9         5.6         7.2         1.8         8.0         3.0           Seatile         14.3         4.7         7.9         7.9         1.6         3.7         10.9         6.1         8.8         4.5         10.1         3.6           Spokane         10.0         4.2         7.8         7.2         1.7         2.4         9.1         5.1         7.7         3.1         8.2         2.4           Tacoma         12.2         4.1         6.9         5.9         1.3         3.1         10.2         5.1         8.5         2.7         9.1         3.0           Yakma         5.8         4.6         9.4         7.9         1.9         1.1         2.4         7.3         1.7         5.8         3.5           West Virginia         C         C         7.7         1.7         7.5         11.0         1.1         2.1         10.6         <	Winchester	8.7	4.1	8.3	10.0	0.9	2.9	12.4	5.7	7.7	3.4	6.3	4.1
Everett         12.4         4.3         6.7         6.9         0.9         2.3         11.2         4.9         8.6         3.3         7.1         2.9           Olympia         12.1         2.7         9.6         6.6         1.6         2.7         9.9         5.6         7.2         1.8         8.0         3.0           Seattle         14.3         4.7         7.9         7.9         1.6         3.7         10.9         6.1         8.8         4.5         10.1         3.6           Spokane         10.0         4.2         7.8         7.2         1.7         2.4         9.1         5.1         7.7         3.1         8.2         2.4           Tacoma         12.2         4.1         6.9         5.9         1.3         3.1         10.2         5.1         8.5         2.7         9.1         3.0           Yakima         5.8         4.6         9.4         7.9         1.9         1.1         10.5         4.7         7.3         1.7         5.8         3.5           West Virginia         7.4         7         7.5         11.0         1.1         2.1         1.6         4.3         7.2         3.6	Washington												
Olympia       12.1       2.7       9.6       6.6       1.6       2.7       9.9       5.6       7.2       1.8       8.0       3.0         Seattle       14.3       4.7       7.9       7.9       1.6       3.7       10.9       6.1       8.8       4.5       10.1       3.6         Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       7.7       3.1       8.2       2.4         Tacoma       12.2       4.1       6.9       5.9       1.3       3.1       10.2       5.1       8.5       2.7       9.1       3.0         Yakima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia       Virginia       Virginia       0.7       4.7       7.5       11.0       1.1       2.1       10.7       4.4       5.0       4.3       7.2       3.6         Hunigton       7.8       6.0       6.7       9.8       1.6       1.9       11.2       4.4       5.1       6.5       3.2       6.8       2.5         Green Bay       8.0 <t< td=""><td>Everett</td><td>12.4</td><td>4.3</td><td>6.7</td><td>6.9</td><td>0.9</td><td>2.3</td><td>11.2</td><td>4.9</td><td>8.6</td><td>3.3</td><td>7.1</td><td>2.9</td></t<>	Everett	12.4	4.3	6.7	6.9	0.9	2.3	11.2	4.9	8.6	3.3	7.1	2.9
Seattle       14.3       4.7       7.9       7.9       1.6       3.7       10.9       6.1       8.8       4.5       10.1       3.6         Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       7.7       3.1       8.2       2.4         Tacoma       12.2       4.1       6.9       5.9       1.3       3.1       10.2       5.1       8.5       2.7       9.1       3.0         Yakima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia       .5       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia       .5       6.0       6.7       9.8       1.6       1.9       11.2       4.4       5.1       5.4       8.3       3.4         Morgantown       8.3       4.5       8.0       9.2       1.0       4.2       10.6       4.8       6.5       5.7       9.8       4.2         Wisconsin          1.4       6.1	Olympia	12.1	2.7	9.6	6.6	1.6	2.7	9.9	5.6	7.2	1.8	8.0	3.0
Spokane       10.0       4.2       7.8       7.2       1.7       2.4       9.1       5.1       7.7       3.1       8.2       2.4         Tacoma       12.2       4.1       6.9       5.9       1.3       3.1       10.2       5.1       8.5       2.7       9.1       3.0         Yakima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia          1.1       2.1       10.7       4.4       5.0       4.3       7.2       3.6         Hunington       7.8       6.0       6.7       9.8       1.6       1.9       11.2       4.4       5.1       5.4       8.3       3.4         Morgantown       8.3       4.5       8.0       9.2       1.0       4.2       10.6       4.8       6.5       5.7       9.8       4.2         Wisconsin         9.1       1.4       6.1       3.7       5.8       3.9       5.9       2.5         Green Bay       8.0       2.9       6.0       8.0       1.4       3.1       6.8       4.5 <td>Seattle</td> <td>14.3</td> <td>4.7</td> <td>7.9</td> <td>7.9</td> <td>1.6</td> <td>3.7</td> <td>10.9</td> <td>6.1</td> <td>8.8</td> <td>4.5</td> <td>10.1</td> <td>3.6</td>	Seattle	14.3	4.7	7.9	7.9	1.6	3.7	10.9	6.1	8.8	4.5	10.1	3.6
Tacoma       12.2       4.1       6.9       5.9       1.3       3.1       10.2       5.1       8.5       2.7       9.1       3.0         Yakima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia                                                                                   .	Spokane	10.0	4.2	7.8	7.2	1.7	2.4	9.1	5.1	7.7	3.1	8.2	2.4
Yakima       5.8       4.6       9.4       7.9       1.9       1.1       10.5       4.7       7.3       1.7       5.8       3.5         West Virginia <td>Tacoma</td> <td>12.2</td> <td>4.1</td> <td>6.9</td> <td>5.9</td> <td>1.3</td> <td>3.1</td> <td>10.2</td> <td>5.1</td> <td>8.5</td> <td>2.7</td> <td>9.1</td> <td>3.0</td>	Tacoma	12.2	4.1	6.9	5.9	1.3	3.1	10.2	5.1	8.5	2.7	9.1	3.0
West Virginia         Charleston       7.7       4.7       7.5       11.0       1.1       2.1       10.7       4.4       5.0       4.3       7.2       3.6         Huntington       7.8       6.0       6.7       9.8       1.6       1.9       11.2       4.4       5.1       5.4       8.3       3.4         Morgantown       8.3       4.5       8.0       9.2       1.0       4.2       10.6       4.8       6.5       5.7       9.8       4.2         Wisconsin	Yakima	5.8	4.6	9.4	7.9	1.9	1.1	10.5	4.7	7.3	1.7	5.8	3.5
Charleston       7.7       4.7       7.5       11.0       1.1       2.1       10.7       4.4       5.0       4.3       7.2       3.6         Huntington       7.8       6.0       6.7       9.8       1.6       1.9       11.2       4.4       5.1       5.4       8.3       3.4         Morgantown       8.3       4.5       8.0       9.2       1.0       4.2       10.6       4.8       6.5       5.7       9.8       4.2         Wisconsin       U       U       U       1.4       6.1       3.7       5.8       3.9       5.9       2.5         Green Bay       8.0       2.9       6.0       8.0       1.4       1.5       9.5       5.1       6.5       3.2       6.8       2.5         La Crosse       7.1       3.5       4.5       8.0       1.4       3.1       6.8       4.9       6.5       3.9       9.5       2.9         Madison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       6.9       5.4       6.8       4.5       8.0       2.3         Maison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       11.3	West Virginia												
Huntington7.86.06.79.81.61.911.24.45.15.48.33.4Morgantown8.34.58.09.21.04.210.64.86.55.79.84.2WisconsinAppleton7.54.16.27.21.81.46.13.75.83.95.92.5Green Bay8.02.96.08.01.41.59.55.16.53.26.82.5La Crosse7.13.54.58.01.43.16.84.96.53.99.52.9Madison7.43.65.76.21.43.56.95.46.84.58.02.3Marshfield8.83.64.88.40.84.88.85.57.34.89.02.8Milwaukee13.45.76.68.41.43.511.35.58.15.010.12.8Neenah8.84.56.97.71.34.17.94.08.63.411.73.5Wausau7.44.27.38.71.14.28.44.96.94.79.93.4WomingCasper11.93.08.611.81.83.311.04.110.35.18.33.6United States10.45.96.48.91.43.3 <th< td=""><td>Charleston</td><td>7.7</td><td>4.7</td><td>7.5</td><td>11.0</td><td>1.1</td><td>2.1</td><td>10.7</td><td>4.4</td><td>5.0</td><td>4.3</td><td>7.2</td><td>3.6</td></th<>	Charleston	7.7	4.7	7.5	11.0	1.1	2.1	10.7	4.4	5.0	4.3	7.2	3.6
Morganown         8.3         4.5         8.0         9.2         1.0         4.2         10.6         4.8         6.5         5.7         9.8         4.2           Wisconsin	Huntington	7.8	6.0	6.7	9.8	1.6	1.9	11.2	4.4	5.1	5.4	8.3	3.4
Wisconsin           Appleton         7.5         4.1         6.2         7.2         1.8         1.4         6.1         3.7         5.8         3.9         5.9         2.5           Green Bay         8.0         2.9         6.0         8.0         1.4         1.5         9.5         5.1         6.5         3.2         6.8         2.5           La Crosse         7.1         3.5         4.5         8.0         1.4         3.1         6.8         4.9         6.5         3.9         9.5         2.9           Madison         7.4         3.6         5.7         6.2         1.4         3.5         6.9         5.4         6.8         4.5         8.0         2.3           Marshfield         8.8         3.6         4.8         8.4         0.8         4.8         8.8         5.5         7.3         4.8         9.0         2.8           Milwaukee         13.4         5.7         6.6         8.4         1.4         3.5         11.3         5.5         8.1         5.0         10.1         2.8           Neenah         8.8         4.5         6.9         7.7         1.3         4.1         7.9         4.0	Morgantown	8.3	4.5	8.0	9.2	1.0	4.2	10.6	4.8	6.5	5.7	9.8	4.2
Appleton       7.5       4.1       6.2       7.2       1.8       1.4       6.1       3.7       5.8       3.9       5.9       2.5         Green Bay       8.0       2.9       6.0       8.0       1.4       1.5       9.5       5.1       6.5       3.2       6.8       2.5         La Crosse       7.1       3.5       4.5       8.0       1.4       3.1       6.8       4.9       6.5       3.9       9.5       2.9         Madison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       6.9       5.4       6.8       4.5       8.0       2.3         Marshfield       8.8       3.6       4.8       8.4       0.8       4.8       8.8       5.5       7.3       4.8       9.0       2.8         Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1	Wisconsin												
Green Bay       8.0       2.9       6.0       8.0       1.4       1.5       9.5       5.1       6.5       3.2       6.8       2.5         La Crosse       7.1       3.5       4.5       8.0       1.4       3.1       6.8       4.9       6.5       3.9       9.5       2.9         Madison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       6.9       5.4       6.8       4.5       8.0       2.3         Marshfield       8.8       3.6       4.8       8.4       0.8       4.8       8.8       5.5       7.3       4.8       9.0       2.8         Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States        11.9       3.0       8.6 <td>Appleton</td> <td>7.5</td> <td>4.1</td> <td>6.2</td> <td>7.2</td> <td>1.8</td> <td>1.4</td> <td>6.1</td> <td>3.7</td> <td>5.8</td> <td>3.9</td> <td>5.9</td> <td>2.5</td>	Appleton	7.5	4.1	6.2	7.2	1.8	1.4	6.1	3.7	5.8	3.9	5.9	2.5
La Crosse       7.1       3.5       4.5       8.0       1.4       3.1       6.8       4.9       6.5       3.9       9.5       2.9         Madison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       6.9       5.4       6.8       4.5       8.0       2.3         Marshfield       8.8       3.6       4.8       8.4       0.8       4.8       8.8       5.5       7.3       4.8       9.0       2.8         Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States       United States       United States       10.3       5.1       8.3       3.6         HMO       7.8       2.3       10.3       4.4       0.4       1.8       8.8       4.5       4.5	Green Bay	8.0	2.9	6.0	8.0	1.4	1.5	9.5	5.1	6.5	3.2	6.8	2.5
Madison       7.4       3.6       5.7       6.2       1.4       3.5       6.9       5.4       6.8       4.5       8.0       2.3         Marshfield       8.8       3.6       4.8       8.4       0.8       4.8       8.8       5.5       7.3       4.8       9.0       2.8         Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States       United States       United States       11.9       3.0       8.6       11.8       1.8       3.3       11.0       4.1       10.3       5.1       8.3       3.6         United States       10.4       5.9       6.4       8.9       1.4       3.3       12.0       5.8       7.1       4.6       8.8       3.2	La Crosse	7.1	3.5	4.5	8.0	1.4	3.1	6.8	4.9	6.5	3.9	9.5	2.9
Marshfield       8.8       3.6       4.8       8.4       0.8       4.8       8.8       5.5       7.3       4.8       9.0       2.8         Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States         HMO       7.8       2.3       10.3       4.4       0.4       1.8       8.8       4.5       4.5       2.1       6.8       2.8         United States       10.4       5.9       6.4       8.9       1.4       3.3       12.0       5.8       7.1       4.6       8.8       3.2	Madison	7.4	3.6	5.7	6.2	1.4	3.5	6.9	5.4	6.8	4.5	8.0	2.3
Milwaukee       13.4       5.7       6.6       8.4       1.4       3.5       11.3       5.5       8.1       5.0       10.1       2.8         Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States         HMO       7.8       2.3       10.3       4.4       0.4       1.8       8.8       4.5       4.5       2.1       6.8       2.8         United States       10.4       5.9       6.4       8.9       1.4       3.3       12.0       5.8       7.1       4.6       8.8       3.2	Marshfield	8.8	3.6	4.8	8.4	0.8	4.8	8.8	5.5	7.3	4.8	9.0	2.8
Neenah       8.8       4.5       6.9       7.7       1.3       4.1       7.9       4.0       8.6       3.4       11.7       3.5         Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming       United States         United States       11.0       4.1       10.3       5.1       8.3       3.6         United States       10.4       5.9       6.4       8.9       1.4       3.3       12.0       5.8       7.1       4.6       8.8       3.2	Milwaukee	13.4	5.7	6.6	8.4	1.4	3.5	11.3	5.5	8.1	5.0	10.1	2.8
Wausau       7.4       4.2       7.3       8.7       1.1       4.2       8.4       4.9       6.9       4.7       9.9       3.4         Wyoming	Neenah	8.8	4,5	6.9	7.7	1.3	4,1	7.9	4.0	8.6	3.4	11.7	3,5
Wyoming       Casper       11.9       3.0       8.6       11.8       1.8       3.3       11.0       4.1       10.3       5.1       8.3       3.6         United States       HMO       7.8       2.3       10.3       4.4       0.4       1.8       8.8       4.5       4.5       2.1       6.8       2.8         United States       10.4       5.9       6.4       8.9       1.4       3.3       12.0       5.8       7.1       4.6       8.8       3.2	Wausau	7.4	4.2	7.3	8.7	1 1	4.2	8.4	4.9	6.9	4 7	9.9	3.4
Casper         11.9         3.0         8.6         11.8         1.8         3.3         11.0         4.1         10.3         5.1         8.3         3.6           United States         HMO         7.8         2.3         10.3         4.4         0.4         1.8         8.8         4.5         4.5         2.1         6.8         2.8           United States         10.4         5.9         6.4         8.9         1.4         3.3         12.0         5.8         7.1         4.6         8.8         3.2	Wyoming	T.T		1.0	0.1			Ţ.Ţ	1.0	0.0		0.0	U.T
United States         10.3         0.0         11.0         10.0         0.1         0.3         0.0           United States         HMO         7.8         2.3         10.3         4.4         0.4         1.8         8.8         4.5         4.5         2.1         6.8         2.8           United States         10.4         5.9         6.4         8.9         1.4         3.3         12.0         5.8         7.1         4.6         8.8         3.2	Casper	11 9	3.0	8.6	11.8	1.8	33	11.0	41	10.3	51	83	36
HMO         7.8         2.3         10.3         4.4         0.4         1.8         8.8         4.5         4.5         2.1         6.8         2.8           United States         10.4         5.9         6.4         8.9         1.4         3.3         12.0         5.8         7.1         4.6         8.8         3.2	United States	11.3	0.0	0.0	11.0	1.0	0.0	11.0	7.1	10.0	0.1	0.0	0.0
United States 10.4 5.9 6.4 8.9 1.4 3.3 12.0 5.8 7.1 4.6 8.8 3.2	HMO	7.8	23	10.3	44	0.4	1.8	8.8	4.5	4.5	21	6.8	28
	United States	10.4	5.9	6.4	8 9	1.4	3.3	12.0	5.8	7 1	4.6	8.8	3.2

# Endnote

### **Chapter One**

Page 9

Figure 1.4. The intermediate projection of the trust fund balances (the bottom line) was taken from the 1996 Annual Report of the Board of Trustees of the Federal Hospital Insurance Trust Fund, and the Annual Report of the Board of Trustees of the Federal Supplementary Medical Insurance Trust Fund (both 104th Congress, Second Session, June 1996). The intermediate projections correspond to the Trust Fund Panel's best estimate of future "economic and demographic trends." The hypothetical trust fund balance (the top line) was calculated in Skinner J, Fisher E. Regional disparities in Medicare expenditures: an opportunity for reform, National Tax Journal, September 1997, in press. This was done by assigning to each HRR the average adjusted Medicare expenditure in Minneapolis, resulting in a decline of Medicare spending of just over 20%. (If adjusted Medicare expenditures in the HRR were lower than in Minneapolis, the HRR was not affected.) Medicare spending in 1998 and subsequent years was adjusted downward by the proportionate saving realized by reducing all HRRs to the level of Minneapolis. The new hypothetical combined (Part A and Part B) trust fund balances were then recalculated using estimated revenue and interest rates from the Trustees' Reports.

### Page 10

For further information on small area variation see:

Wennberg J, Gittelsohn A. Small area variations in health care delivery: a population-based health information system can guide planning and regulatory decision-making. Science. 1973;182:1102-1108.

Wennberg J, Gittelsohn A. Variations in medical care among small areas. Sci Amer. 1982;246(4):120-134.

### **Chapter Two**

Page 25

While the assumption that investments in a less expensive sector of the health care economy, for example home health care, will lead to savings in a more expensive sector, for example acute hospital care, is commonly held, it is not supported by small area analysis, at least in fee-for-service systems of care. See Wennberg JE, Cooper MM, editors, The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care. American Hospital Publishing, Inc., Chicago, IL 1996;72-73.

### Page 30

The estimates for price adjusted professional and laboratory services for 1993 contained in the first edition of The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care were in error. The data reported were for all Part B components. The correct estimates are available on the Dartmouth Atlas web page: www.dartmouth.edu/~atlas/

### **Chapter Three**

### Page 55

These unpublished correlations are based on data developed by Dr. John Baron and his colleagues for a national study of fractures among the Medicare population for the years 1987-92. The methods for constructing the database are described in Baron JA, Karagas M, Barrett J, Kniffin W, Malenka D, Mayor M, Keller RB. Basic epidemiology of fractures of the upper and lower limb among Americans over 65 years of age. Epidemiology. 1996;7:612-618.

### Page 57

For further description of the systematic coefficient of variation see: McPherson K, Wennberg JE, Hovind OB, Clifford P. Small-area variations in the use of common surgical procedures: an international comparison of New England, England and Norway. N Eng J Med. 1982;307:1310-1314.

#### Page 60

The finding that medical conditions exhibit greater variability in discharge rates than surgical conditions is consistent with previous reports.

Wennberg JE, McPherson K, Caper P. Will payment based upon diagnosis-related groups control hospital costs? N Eng J Med. 1984;311:295-300.

Wennberg JE. Small area analysis and the medical care outcome problem. In: Research Methodology: Strengthening Causal Interpretations of Nonexperimental Data. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research #PB90-101387, Rockville, MD, 1990;177-206.

#### Page 64

For further examples of the surgical signature phenomenon see:

Roos NP, Roos LL. High and low surgical rates: risk factors for area residents. Am J Publ Health. 1981;71:591-600.

Wennberg JE. Small area analysis and the medical care outcome problem. In: Research Methodology: Strengthening Causal Interpretations of Nonexperimental Data. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research #PB90-101387, Rockville, MD, 1990;177-206.

### Page 68

Published studies contrasting medical practice in Boston and New Haven include: Wennberg JE. Dealing with medical practice variations: a proposal for action. Health Affairs. 1984;3(2):6-32.

Wennberg JE, Freeman JL, Culp WJ. Are hospital services rationed in New Haven or over-utilized in Boston? Lancet. 1987;1(8543):1185-1188.

Wennberg JE, Freeman JL, Shelton RM, Bubolz TA. Hospital use and mortality among Medicare beneficiaries in Boston and New Haven. N Eng J Med. 1989;321:1168-1173.

Fisher ES, Wennberg JE, Stukel TA, Sharp SM. Hospital readmission rates for cohorts of Medicare beneficiaries in Boston and New Haven. N Eng J Med. 1994;331(15):989-95.

### **Chapter Four**

### Page 97

For further information on the role of capacity in influencing care in the last six months of life see: Mor V, Hiris J. Determinants of site of death among hospice cancer patients. J Health and Social Behav. 1983;24:375-385.

Moinpour C, Polissar L. Factors affecting place of death of hospice and non-hospice cancer patients. Am J Public Health. 1989;79(11):1549-1551.

### **Chapter Five**

Page 108

For a discussion of the flaws in the professional agency role that result in practice variations see: Wennberg JE, Barnes B, Zubkoff M. Professional uncertainty and the problem of supplier-induced demand. Soc Sci and Med. 1982;16:811-824.

### **Chapter Six**

### Page 141

The failure of population illness to explain small area variations is discussed in:

Wennberg JE: Small area analysis and the medical care outcome problem. In: Research Methodology: Strengthening Causal Interpretations of Nonexperimental Data. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research #PB90-101387, Rockville, MD, 1990;177-206.

The correlation between states with high Medicare spending and those with poor self-reported health is discussed in:

Ashby J, Fisher K, Gage B, Guertman BS, Kelley D, Lynch AM, Pettengill J. State variation in the resource costs of treating aged Medicare beneficiaries. Prospective Payment Assessment Commission Intramural Report. June 1996;I-96-01.

### **Chapter Seven**

Page 173

See:

Barry MJ, Fowler FJ, Mulley AG, Henderson JV, Wennberg JE. Patient reactions to a program designed to facilitate patient participation in treatment decisions for benign prostatic hyperplasia. Med Care. 1995;33:771-782.

Wagner EH, Barrett P, Barry MJ, Barlow W, Fowler FJ. The effect of a shared decisionmaking program on rates of surgery for benign prostatic hyperplasia: pilot results. Med Care. 1995;33:765-770.

Barry MJ, Cherkin DC, Chang YC, Fowler FJ, Skates S. A randomized trial of a multimedia shared deci-

sion-making program for men facing a treatment decision for benign prostatic hyperplasia. Disease Management and Clinical Outcomes. 1997;1:5-114.

For a broader discussion of the role of outcomes research and shared decision making in resolving surgical practice variations for benign prostatic hyperplasia and prostate cancer see:

Prostate Disease Patient Outcomes Research Team (PORT) Final Report. Agency for Health Care Policy and Research (AHCPR) Pub. No. 95-N010; July 1995:1-59.

Page 174

See:

Morgan MW, Deber RB, Llewellyn-Thomas HA, Gladstone P, Cusimano RJ, O'Rourke K, Detsky AS. A randomized trial of the ischemic heart disease shared decision making program: an evaluation of a decision aid. The Toronto Hospital, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario. Journal of Gen Intern Med. April 1997 (supp.);12:62.

Abstract presented at Society of General Internal Medicine 20th Annual Meeting, Washington, DC, May 1-3, 1997.

Page 178

See:

Flood AB, Wennberg JE, Nease RF Jr, Fowler FJ, Ding J, Hynes LM, and Members of the Prostate PORT. The importance of patient preference in the decision to screen for prostate cancer. J General Internal Medicine. 1996;11:342-349.

Page 179

See:

Onel E, Hammond CS, Wasson JH, Berlin BB et al. An assessment of the feasibility and impact of shared decision-making in prostate cancer. Urology. in press.

Page 181

See:

Wennberg JE, Freeman JL, Culp WJ. Are hospital services rationed in New Haven or over-utilized in Boston? Lancet. 1987;1(8543):1185-1188.

Wennberg JE, Freeman JL, Shelton RM, Bubolz TA. Hospital use and mortality among Medicare beneficiaries in Boston and New Haven. N Eng J Med. 1989;321:1168-1173.

Fisher ES, Wennberg JE, Stukel TA, Sharp SM. Hospital readmission rates for cohorts of Medicare beneficiaries in Boston and New Haven. N Eng J Med. 1994;331(15):989-95.

For a discussion of the implications of reducing hospital capacity for health care rationing see: Fisher ES, Welch HG, Wennberg JE. Prioritizing Oregon's hospital resources: an example based on variations in discretionary medical admission rates. JAMA. 1992;267:1925-1931. Page 186 This chapter and the Appendix on the Physician Workforce in the United States use the definition "selected specialists." Selected specialists are restricted to those who were employed by the benchmark HMO during 1993. This restriction is imposed in order to make comparisons between staffing patterns of HMOs and geographic regions. In addition to the twelve specialists listed in Figure 7.4, the selected specialities include allergy/immunology, dermatology, gastroenterology, hematology/oncology, otolaryngology, plastic and reconstructive surgery, psychiatry, pulmonary medicine, and rheumotology. For further information see the Appendix on Methods and

Goodman DC, Fisher ES, Bubolz TA, Mohr JE, Poage JF, Wennberg JE. Benchmarking the U.S. physician workforce: an alternative to needs or demand based planning. JAMA. 1996;276:1811-1817.

### Page 194

For further discussion of the implications of transfer payments for efficiency and equity in health care markets, see:

Wennberg JE. Should the cost of insurance reflect the cost of use in local hospital markets? N Eng J Med. 1982;307:1374-1381.

### Appendix on Methods

Radany MH, Luft HS. Estimating hospital admission patterns using Medicare data. Social Science and Medicine. 1993;37(12):1431-9.

Pope GC, Welch WP, Zuckerman S, Henderson MG. Cost of practice and geographic variation in Medicare fees. Health Affairs. 1989;8(3):117-28.

Breslow NE, Day NE. Statistical Methods in Cancer Research. Volume II - The Design and Analysis of Cohort Studies. Lyon: IARC, 1987.

HCFA. Medicare Current Beneficiary Survey Public Use Documentation. In: Health Care Financing Administration, 1992.

Naylor CD, DeBoer DP. Coronary artery bypass grafting, variations in selected surgical procedures and medical diagnoses by year and region. In Goel V, Williams JI, Anderson GM, Blackstien-Hirsch P, Fooks C, Naylor CD, editors. Patterns of Health Care in Ontario. The ICES Practice Atlas. 2nd Edition. Canadian Medical Association, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada 1996;99-103. The Dartmouth Atlas of Health Care is based, in part, on data supplied by The American Hospital Association The American Medical Association The American Osteopathic Association The Health Care Financing Administration The National Center for Health Statistics The United States Census The United States Department of Defense Claritas, Incorporated

Data analyses were performed using Software developed by the Center for the Evaluative Clinical Sciences using SAS[®] on HP[®] equipment running the UNIX[®] system software

Maps and map databases were generated using MapInfo[®] software Highway map coordinates from MapInfo[®] ZIP Code map coordinates from GDT[®] Claritas 3H. Custom Dataset for US ZIP Codes from Claritas[®]

Atlas design and print production by

Jonathan Sa'adah and Elizabeth Adams Intermedia Communications, Hartford, Vermont http://www.intermedia-home.com